
AGENDA 
COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 
TUESDAY, APRIL 12, 2022 

6:00 P.M. 
COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, OLD JAIL BUILDING 

 
 

1. Call to Order  
 

2. Roll Call  
 
3. Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance  
 
4. Approval of Minutes 

a) Regular Meeting March 1, 2022 
 

5. Awards and Recognitions 
a) Colleton County Fire-Rescue – South Carolina EMS System of the Year Award 
b) Proclamation – Gregory Kinsey 
c) Proclamation – Patrick Thomas 

 
6. Appearances & Public Presentations 

a) Walterboro-Colleton Chamber of Commerce – Mark Wysong, President  
 

7. Administrator’s Briefing  
 

8. Public Hearing 
 
9. Old Business 

a) 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-03, To Amend Title 9 – Public Peace and Welfare, 
Chapter 9.02 – Public Nuisance Generally and Chapter 9.04 – Littering, To Coincide 
With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton County Comprehensive Plan 

 
b) 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-04, To Amend Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, 

Chapter 13.04 – Construction Codes Adopted, Chapter 13.12 – Flood Damage 
Prevention, Chapter 13.16 – Manufactured Homes and Chapter 13.20 – Uniform 
Ordinance Summons, To Coincide With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton 
County Comprehensive Plan 

 
c) 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-05, To Amend Title 14 – Land Management, Chapter 

14.04 – Land Development Regulations And Chapter 14.08 – Zoning, To Coincide 
With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton County Comprehensive Plan 

 
10. New Business  

a) 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-06, By Title Only, To Provide for the Levy of Taxes in 
Colleton County, South Carolina, for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2022 through June 30, 



2023 to Provide for All Other Appropriations Thereof; and to Provide for Other 
Matters Related Thereto 
 

b) 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-07, By Title Only, To Authorize the Acquisition of 
Certain Real Estate and Appurtenant Interests by Colleton County, South Carolina by 
Mortgage Financing in the Amount of Not Exceeding $750,000; the Execution and 
Delivery of Certain Instruments, Including a Mortgage Note by Colleton County; and 
Other Matters Relating Thereto 
 

c) Resolution 22-R-13, To Accept the Grant for the Colleton County Summer Feeding 
Program for 2022 

 
d) Resolution 22-R-14, To Declare April as Fair Housing Month 
 
e) Resolution 22-R-15, To Approve a Policy of Non-Discrimination on the Basis of 

Disability Status and to Designate an ADA Coordinator 
 
f) Resolution 22-R-16, To Establish Priorities for the 2022 Annual CDBG County 

Needs Assessment 
 
g) Resolution 22-R-17, To Authorize a Five-Year Sole Source Purchasing Arrangement 

for Kenworth Trucks 
 
h) Resolution 22-R-18, To Award the Contract for the Resurfacing of South Carolina 

Department of Transportation Roadways and Colleton County Roadways 
 
i) Resolution 22-R-19, To Authorize the Submittal of a Grant Application for the 

Bulletproof Vest Partnership (BVP) FY 2021 Award for the Purchase of Bulletproof 
Vests 

 
j) Resolution 22-R-20, To Advertise Board Vacancies 

 
k) Resolution 22-R-21,  To Appoint Members to Board Vacancies  
 
l) Resolution 22-R-22, To Declare April Child Abuse Prevention and Sexual Assault 

Awareness Month 
 
m) Resolution 22-R-23, To Approve Amendment of the Agreement for Development of 

a Joint County Industrial Park, by and between Charleston County, South Carolina 
and Colleton County, South Carolina, Providing for the Development of a Jointly 
Owned and Operated Industrial/Business Park, so as to Include Additional Property in 
Charleston County as Part of the Joint County Industrial Park 

 
n) Resolution 22-R-24, To Approve Amendment of the Agreement for the 

Establishment of a Multi-County Industrial/Business Park for Properties Located in a 
Redevelopment Project Area, by and between Charleston County, South Carolina and 
Colleton County, South Carolina, Providing for the Development of a Multi-County 



Industrial/Business Park, so as to Include Additional Property in Charleston County 
as Part of the Multi-County Industrial/Business Park 

 
11. Items for Information and Public Record  

 
12. Public Comments (3 minutes per person/max time 20 min.) 

 
13. Council Time 

 
14. Executive Session 

a) Real Estate – Easement Green Pond Railway 
b) Legal – CPST Referendum Procedures 
c) Personnel – Library 
d) Personnel – Fire-Rescue 
e) Economic Development – Project Ruby 
 

15. Adjournment 
 

16. Informal Meeting of the Whole  
 

 
COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING ON April 12, 2022 

 
Colleton County Council will hold a regular meeting on Tuesday, April 12, 2022, at 6:00 pm. 
The public will be able to stream the meeting from a link on the County’s home page or by going 
to www.colletoncounty.org/live. Individuals who would like to participate in public comment 
can do so at www.colletoncounty.org/comment. 
 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

1 
 

MINUTES 
TUESDAY, MARCH 1, 2022 

VIRTUAL REGULAR MEETING  
6:00 P.M. 

 
Colleton County Council  
Council Chambers, Old Jail Building 
109 Benson Street 
Walterboro, SC 29488 
 
Present: Chairman Steven Murdaugh called the meeting to order with Council Members Dr. Joseph 
Flowers, Art Williams, Gene Whetsell and Phillip Taylor in attendance.  
 
Others Included: Kevin Griffin, Sean Thornton, Meagan Utsey, Jon Carpenter, Joshua Rowland. 
 
Phillip Taylor gave the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
A. Capital Projects Sales Tax County Project Ranking January 19, 2022—Dr. Flowers moved 

to approve the minutes of the Capital Projects Sales Tax County Project Ranking Meeting 
held on January 19, 2022. The motion was seconded by Councilman Taylor and the motion 
carried unanimously.  

B. Special Meeting – Opioid Litigation January 24, 2022—Councilman Whetsell moved to 
approve the minutes of the Special Meeting – Opioid Litigation Meeting held on January 
24, 2022. The motion was seconded by Councilman Williams and the motion carried 
unanimously. 

C. Special Meeting – Redistricting Public Hearing January 26, 2022—Councilman Taylor 
moved to approve the minutes of the Special Meeting – Redistricting Public Hearing 
Meeting held on January 26, 2022. The motion was seconded by Councilman Whetsell and 
the motion carried unanimously. 

D. Regular Meeting February 1, 2022—Dr. Flowers moved to approve the minutes of the 
Regular Meeting held on February 1, 2022. The motion was seconded by Councilman 
Taylor and the motion carried unanimously. 
 

Awards and Recognitions 
 
A. Colleton County Risk Management received the 2021 Outstanding Safety 

Achievement Award from the South Carolina Counties Workers’ Compensation 
Trust— Chairman Murdaugh read the award aloud.  

Mr. Griffin: Stated that Mr. Welch has done a fine job and we do appreciate the work that he is 
doing with the risk management.  

***All Council members congratulated the Risk Management team on a job well done. 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

2 
 

Administrator’s Briefing  
 
Mr. Griffin stated that the first three items listed under new business are related to our 10 year 
update to the Colleton County comprehensive plan. The next step is the update to the Colleton 
County zoning ordinance. Those three items will pertain to that by title only. We will have a full 
review of that for you at the next council meeting. Next, we have put out for bid the public defender 
services. Ashley Hudson has resigned and moved on to do different things. We were able to, with 
a lot of help from the county attorney, negotiate with the public defender’s office for services. 
Also, there is a change order for the venture park waste water improvement project. They had a 90 
day reservation on pipe and other construction items, with the time that it took to get through both, 
the state and especially the EDA regulations, we’ve got until about 110-120 days. So, that pricing 
had to go back out for bid, which calls for a price increase. We did have the funds within the grant 
project so there would be no impact on the general fund. With all that being said, I would like to 
introduce our new Planning and Development director, Josh Rowland. He has been hired since 
Mr. Montgomery moved back to Arizona.  
 
Mr. Rowland stated that he wanted to thank Mr. Griffin, County Council, and staff for this 
opportunity, it is an honor to serve Colleton County and its residents. In regards to the zoning 
ordinance, the staff has been working diligently to review these codes and review recent trends 
happening not only in Colleton County, but within the state to ensure that we are ready to handle 
certain development trends long term. To my knowledge an update has not happened since a 
previous ordinance in 2010 other than a few minor updates along the way. The goal of this was to 
look at the comprehensive plan for future land use to identify those trends of whether it is industrial 
areas. There has been a few areas of UDI 1 and UDI 2 for urban developments. They really did 
not address certain types of recreation, from an aspect of commercial recreation. We have looked 
at a lot of the flood plan items and have coordinated with FEMA and DNR to be sure we have 
stayed within compliance. They did have a few comments that the planning commission did review 
three times already, and we will be taking it back this month again to review these final changes 
that our staff has made. We should have it together and ready for council next month.  
 
Mr. Griffin stated that the final item that we did under council time is the county mask requirement. 
I know there are a number of things both local jurisdiction, state, and federal that are looking at 
lifting those requirements. We did put that item on the agenda for council discussion. 
 
Councilman Williams stated that he appreciates the administrator taking his time and explaining 
to us why the change order took place, because you know I am a stickler for change orders.  
 
Dr. Flowers made a motion to move into public hearing. The motion was seconded by Councilman 
Whetsell. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
Public Hearing 
 

A. CDBG (Community Development Block Grant) & HOME Public Hearing 
Concerning Needs Assessment 

 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

3 
 

Michelle Knight stated that I am here to run through the program, so that hopefully at the next 
meeting council can rank their priorities. This public hearing is for our 2022 program year.  
 
***Ms. Knight discussed the information provided on the slide show attached.  
 
Ms. Knight stated that is all I have for my formal comments. I will be glad to answer any 
questions. I did pull the county’s priority list from last year, so if you all are interested in what 
you all ranked last year. I don’t know if you all typically go back and discuss that as a 
committee with staff and then rank them at your next meeting. I will be glad to call out what 
was identified last year if you would like to know.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated that I would like to get a copy of the presentation and go through 
that in detail as there is a lot of information there. For me personally I would like to go through 
the slide before we prioritize them. There seemed to be some new stuff in there that I am not 
familiar with.  
 
Councilman Williams agrees with the Chairman. 
 
Ms. Knight stated that the biggest new thing is they are upping the maximum grant 
requirements and their neighborhood program, if you are doing water and sewer activity, and 
then with the streetscape. They’ve upped their maximum grant amount for special projects, 
because when we originally started it was $150,000 set aside per project which is really not a 
lot of money to do anything even back then. So, those were the big things money wise. As far 
as the actual activities, they haven’t really changed a lot in the last couple of years. If you have 
any questions after reviewing the hard copy of the slide send me an email or give me a call.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh asked if it would put us at some disadvantage if we do not rank these 
items tonight. 
 
Ms. Knight stated no, and the reason it won’t is because Gadsden Loop will not close before 
the middle of April.   
 
Councilman Williams stated that he would like to take Michelle up on the offer to share with 
us the ranking of last year’s projects. I would like the community to be able to hear, as well as, 
myself.  
 
Ms. Knight stated that last year’s ranking is as follows, first priority was public facilities and 
infrastructure described as landfill recycling, boat landing upgrades, Walterboro and rural 
water and sewer implementation, technology research, library technology upgrades, 
technology center expansion upgrades, and educational classrooms technology upgrades. The 
second priority was Economic Development which included the development of product, 
infrastructure, rail access, roads, water, sewer, and airport improvements. The third priority 
was public safety. This included fire sub stations, fire training facilities, Sheriff sub-stations, 
and corona virus preparedness, response, and recovery. The fourth priority was road, bridges, 
and drainage which included continued road drainage improvements, dirt road improvements, 
and culvert repairs. The fifth priority was recreation which included pedestrian bike trails, boat 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

4 
 

ramp improvements and parks. The sixth priority was transportation which is described as the 
I-95 intersection improvements at exit 62-mcleod road, street improvements and sidewalks.  
The seventh priority is for tourism and marketing described as beautification and litter control, 
billboard and other signage, and video advertisement. The eighth priority was housing and you 
talked about USC Salk student housing and affordable housing. Now, that was a very long 
prioritization which is fine as it was general enough that we could make things work. However, 
typically when you get ready to rank you will be looking at for the coming year with CDBG 
your top three. That is not to say you shouldn’t list all these because there could be a reason to 
go to a lower priority and skip to it.  
 
Councilman Taylor asked Ms. Knight, “When you talk about the Gadsden loop Project being 
open, you’re saying that we will not be in the position to make any other applications until that 
is complete, even though that is neighborhood revitalization?” 
 
Ms. Knight stated that is correct, because it is over 30 months old. We are in the last final leg 
of it. I think the sidewalk is the very last piece that we have there to do.  
 
Councilman Taylor stated that I have spoken with the contractor today and he mentioned that 
there may be something with the park and the driveway, but I am not sure what he was referring 
to. In relation to that, will we be eligible for a fall round? 
 
Ms. Knight replied that you should be able to because I think the schedule is such that everyone 
is anticipating that we should be eligible no later than fall round, and possibly before which 
means if the County had some project that was ready to go that they’ve done some initial work 
on that we might be able to do something on.  
 
Dr. Flowers stated that we need to move away from this and do our ranking at the next meeting.  
 
Councilman Murdaugh stated that he has not received any public comments.  
 
Ms. Utsey stated yes we have one public comment by Stacey See from In His Name Colleton. 
 
Public Comment: I am with In His Name Colleton and we want to know more about the 
affordable housing plan for the homeless and low income. We have clients that we deal with 
every day that are in need of affordable housing. We have several clients that have been looking 
for housing for several months and have not been able to find any. 
 
Ms. Knight stated that from our stand point the home ARPA money, the American Rescue 
Plan Act money, we are receiving through HUD. We’re in the process of trying to get together 
a substantial amendment to be able to start utilizing those funds. We are getting ready to engage 
a consultant to help us get through the amendment process. We will be having some meetings 
on that in the future separate from this. Also, Kimberly and I talked and we are going to try 
and set up a meeting with In His Name-Colleton just to see what some of their needs are and 
to see if there are some places where we can work together on some things.  
 
No further discussion.  



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

5 
 

 
Councilman Taylor made a motion to move out of public hearing. The motion was seconded 
by Councilman Williams. The motion carried unanimously.  

 
Old Business 
 
A. 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-01, An Ordinance Authorizing The Execution And 

Delivery Of A Fee-In-Lieu Of Tax Agreement By And Between Colleton County And 
An Industry Currently Known To The County As “Project Ruby,” Whereby Colleton 
County Will Enter Into A Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes Arrangement With Project Ruby; 
Providing For Payment By Project Ruby Of Certain Fees In Lieu Of Ad Valorem 
Taxes; Providing For Assignment Of Certain Existing Economic Development 
Incentives To Project Ruby; Providing For Certain Special Source Revenue Or 
Infrastructure Credits; To Further Amend The Multi-County Industrial/Business 
Park Agreement Between Colleton County, South Carolina And Hampton County, 
South Carolina, Providing For The Development Of A Jointly Owned And Operated 
Industrial/Business Park, So As To Include Additional Property In Colleton County 
As Part Of The Park; Providing For The Allocation Of Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes Paid By 
Project Ruby Under The Agreement For Establishment Of Multi-County 
Industrial/Business Park; And Other Matters Relating Thereto. 

 
 Councilman Taylor moved to approve the 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-01, An Ordinance 

Authorizing The Execution And Delivery Of A Fee-In-Lieu Of Tax Agreement By And 
Between Colleton County And An Industry Currently Known To The County As “Project 
Ruby,” Whereby Colleton County Will Enter Into A Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes Arrangement 
With Project Ruby; Providing For Payment By Project Ruby Of Certain Fees In Lieu Of 
Ad Valorem Taxes; Providing For Assignment Of Certain Existing Economic 
Development Incentives To Project Ruby; Providing For Certain Special Source Revenue 
Or Infrastructure Credits; To Further Amend The Multi-County Industrial/Business Park 
Agreement Between Colleton County, South Carolina And Hampton County, South 
Carolina, Providing For The Development Of A Jointly Owned And Operated 
Industrial/Business Park, So As To Include Additional Property In Colleton County As 
Part Of The Park; Providing For The Allocation Of Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes Paid By Project 
Ruby Under The Agreement For Establishment Of Multi-County Industrial/Business Park; 
And Other Matters Relating Thereto. The motion was seconded by Councilman Whetsell. 
The motion was carried unanimously.  

 
B. 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-02, Authorizing the Execution of a Temporary Lease 

Agreement Between Colleton County and Causie Contracting, Inc. for the Staging of 
Personnel and Equipment related to the I-95 Construction and Repaving from St. 
George to Point South. 
 
Councilman Taylor moved to approve the 2nd Reading Ordinance 22-O-02, Authorizing 
the Execution of a Temporary Lease Agreement Between Colleton County and Causie 
Contracting, Inc. for the Staging of Personnel and Equipment related to the I-95 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

6 
 

Construction and Repaving from St. George to Point South. The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Whetsell. The motion was carried unanimously. 
 

New Business 
 
A. 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-03, By Title Only, To Amend Title 9 – Public Peace and 

Welfare, Chapter 9.02 – Public Nuisance Generally and Chapter 9.04 – Littering, To 
Coincide With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton County Comprehensive Plan 

 Councilman Whetsell moved to approve the 22-O-03, By Title Only, To Amend Title 9 – 
Public Peace and Welfare, Chapter 9.02 – Public Nuisance Generally and Chapter 9.04 – 
Littering, To Coincide With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton County Comprehensive 
Plan. This motion was seconded by Councilman Taylor. The motion carried unanimously.  

B. 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-04, By Title Only, To Amend Title 13 – Buildings and 
Construction, Chapter 13.04 – Construction Codes Adopted, Chapter 13.12 – Flood 
Damage Prevention, Chapter 13.16 – Manufactured Homes and Chapter 13.20 – 
Uniform Ordinance Summons, To Coincide With The Ten Year Update Of The 
Colleton County Comprehensive Plan 

Dr. Flowers moved to approve the 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-04, By Title Only, To 
Amend Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, Chapter 13.04 – Construction Codes 
Adopted, Chapter 13.12 – Flood Damage Prevention, Chapter 13.16 – Manufactured 
Homes and Chapter 13.20 – Uniform Ordinance Summons, To Coincide With The Ten 
Year Update Of The Colleton County Comprehensive Plan. The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Whetsell. The motion carried unanimously.  

 
C. 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-05, By Title Only, To Amend Title 14 – Land 

Management, Chapter 14.04 – Land Development Regulations And Chapter 14.08 – 
Zoning, To Coincide With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton County 
Comprehensive Plan 
 
Councilman Taylor moved to approve 1st Reading Ordinance 22-O-05, By Title Only, To 
Amend Title 14 – Land Management, Chapter 14.04 – Land Development Regulations 
And Chapter 14.08 – Zoning, To Coincide With The Ten Year Update Of The Colleton 
County Comprehensive Plan. The motion was seconded by Councilman Whetsell. The 
motion carried unanimously. 

 
D. Resolution 22-R-09, To Approve a Change Order for the Venture Park Water and 

Wastewater Improvements Project 
 
Councilman Whetsell moved to approve Resolution 22-R-09, To Approve a Change Order 
for the Venture Park Water and Wastewater Improvements Project. The motion was 
seconded by Dr. Flowers. The motion carried unanimously. 
 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

7 
 

E. Resolution 22-R-10, To Award the Contract For Magistrates Court Public Defender 
Services 
 
Councilman Whetsell moved to approve Resolution 22-R-10, To Award the Contract For 
Magistrates Court Public Defender Services. The motion was seconded by Councilman 
Williams. The motion carried unanimously. 

 
F. Resolution 22-R-11 To Advertise Board Vacancies 

Councilman Williams moved to approve Resolution 22-R-11 To Advertise Board 
Vacancies. The motion was seconded by Dr. Flowers. The motion carried unanimously. 

Chairman Murdaugh stated that we have three vacancies on the Colleton County Library 
Board of Trustees and five vacancies on the Keep Colleton Beautiful Board. 

Councilman Taylor asked, “Is there any reason that…are there any more members on Keep 
Colleton Beautiful that we have five vacancies, do we have zero members?” 

Chairman Murdaugh stated I don’t know if we have any.  

Ms. Brinson stated that we do have some members.  

Chairman Murdaugh asked if that is a seven or nine member board? 

Ms. Brinson stated that it is a nine member board if I am not mistaken.  

Councilman Williams asked Ms. Brinson, “Are those folks notified when their time limit 
is up?” 

Ms. Brinson stated that they have been notified by letter.  

No further discussion.  

G. Resolution 22-R-12  To Appoint Members to Board Vacancies  

Councilman Williams stated that he recommends taking a look at one of the applicants 
closely.  

Dr. Flowers stated that one of them is not a resident of Colleton County.  

Chairman Murdaugh stated that he did notice that earlier today and I called and spoke with 
Mr. Griffin. This Accommodations Advisory Board is not created by Resolution of Council 
or Ordinance of Council. It is a statutory created board and that statute does not require the 
board members to be residents of the county. That does not mean that we can’t require it, 
but it does have to be in that specific industry. Mr. Griffin if you can kind of highlight the 
statute.  

Mr. Griffin stated that we did have some wrestle with staff when we first looked at this. It 
is not a board created by Resolution or Ordinance; it is created by state law and is not a 
board but an advisory committee in regard to the accommodations tax funds. The advisory 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

8 
 

committee consists of seven members with a majority being selected from the hospitality 
industry of the municipality or county receiving the revenue. At least two of the hospitality 
industry members must be from the lodging industry where applicable. It does not say 
anything about residency, however that is certainly up to council if they would like to 
require the person reside in the county. My understanding is that this person works for two 
individuals who own a number of lodging establishments within the county, but those two 
individuals did not feel like they had the time for the requirements of the board. Therefore, 
they designated this person to apply to the board and represent them. Certainly that is within 
council’s purview with which way they want to go with it.  

Councilman Taylor stated I served on that accommodations tax committee years ago and I 
do recall working with people who are in hospitality and own hotels in different parts of 
the state and other communities and they have them here and they’ve been on there. So, I 
didn’t see the major issue because I realized it was going on before.  

Mr. Griffin stated that we are having a really hard time getting applicants to fill those 
statutory positions as well, and we have some money that we have to appropriate to some 
projects by July 1 or we are going to lose the funds.  

Councilman Williams stated my biggest concern is once we….you know we always talk 
about the state running Colleton County from Columbia…and now is an opportunity where 
we are to yield to appointing someone that doesn’t live in the county. However, I do realize 
that it is a unique situation because of where they work but I would hope that there is 
someone from some form of management from some of the hospitality industries that are 
applying for this that they could appoint someone that lives in the county to serve.  

Chairman Murdaugh asked if there were any further comments.  

Councilman Taylor stated there is not a motion of the floor yet. Appoint the members by 
acclamation to the Accommodation Tax Advisory Committee, Steven Dorner and Jennie 
Smith; and the Colleton County Library Board of Trustees, Olivia Padgett.  

Councilman Williams stated that he preferred this to be separated.  

Councilman Taylor moved that the Accommodations Advisory Tax Committee vacancies 
be filled by applicants Steven Dorner and Jennie Smith. Dr. Flowers seconded the motion.   

Councilman Williams stated that for point of discussion since I requested to separate them. 
I will be in support of Ms. Jennie Smith but I will not be in support of Steven Dorner that 
does not live in the county.  

Chairman Murdaugh stated to clarify the vote everyone except Councilman Williams is in 
favor of Steven Dorner and there is a unanimous vote for Ms. Jennie Smith 

All councilmembers are in favor except Councilman Williams of Steven Dorner and there 
is a unanimous vote on Ms. Jennie Smith.  



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

9 
 

Chairman Murdaugh made a motion to appoint Mr. Steven Dorner to the Accommodations 
Tax Advisory committee. Councilman Taylor seconded that motion. All in favor say “I”, 
Dr. Flowers and Councilman Whetsell said “I”. All opposed, Councilman Williams stated 
“Nah”.  

Chairman Murdaugh made a motion to appoint Ms. Jennie Smith to the Accommodations 
Tax Advisory Committee. Councilman Williams seconded that motion. The motion carried 
unanimously.  

Councilman Taylor made a motion to appoint Ms. Olivia Padgett to the Library Board of 
Trustees. Councilman Williams seconded that motion. The motion carries unanimously.  

Mr. Griffin stated that he would like to ask that we add another item to executive session, 
Real Estate for Voter Registration office.   

Chairman Murdaugh asks if anyone would like to make a motion to amend executive 
session.  

Councilman Williams made a motion to amend the agenda to add real estate for voter’s 
registration to executive session. Councilman Taylor seconded the motion. The motion 
carried unanimously.  

Chairman Murdaugh stated we will add that as line item “d”.  

Public Comment 

Sabrina Johnson: This is a request that the minutes from the Wednesday, January 19, 2022, Special 
Meeting – Capital Projects Sales Tax, 5:30 PM Meeting be amended to include the Capital Sales 
Tax Priority List votes from each of the Colleton County Council members.  The individual priority 
lists are important to reflect the Councilmen’s priorities for Colleton County and should be in the 
public record.      
Thanks, 
Sabrina L.W. Johnson 
 
Council Time 
 
Chairman Murdaugh: We have a couple of items here item “a”, County Mask Requirements and 
item “b”, CPST Referendum. We have some discussion in executive session so I am going to hold 
that item until we come out of executive session. However, we do have the county mask 
requirement. Mr. Griffin would you like to speak to that. It seems like a lot of people are doing 
away with this mask requirement. 
 
Mr. Griffin stated that both the State and Federal requirements have been relaxed within the last 
week to two weeks. I believe the school board is also considering this at their next school board 
meeting this week as well. We have had a lot of requests by citizens within the county to remove 
this requirement within the buildings. Hopefully we are at the point where this pandemic is 
receding somewhat. I wanted to bring this to council for review. This would also put us back to in 
person council meetings.  



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

10 
 

Dr. Flowers stated that he tinks it is time to relax it. I have seen so much covid now and I think it’s 
time to understand we will not get rid of it, we are going to have to live with it. We are going to 
have to let people individually take care of their own health and not require it. 
 
Councilman Taylor and Councilman Whetsell concur.  
 
Councilman Williams stated that if we are going to do that I recommend that we start back having 
public meetings…open meetings in a public setting.  
 
Councilman Taylor stated that he concurs.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh asks Mr. Griffin if the last Ordinance that was adopted had a sunset. 
 
Mr. Griffin stated that he does not believe so.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh asks if this was done by resolution or ordinance.   
 
Ms. Utsey: Neither.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh asks if council would like to make a motion to rescind the mask requirement.  
 
Dr. Flowers made a motion to rescind the mask requirement within county buildings. Councilman 
Whetsell seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated that before we go into executive session I want to read into the record 
an email sent to me by Councilman Phillip Taylor.  
 
“Dear Honorable Chairman Steve Murdaugh, 
 
Please accept notice that I must recuse myself from the matter on the agenda for executive session 
with the Colleton Sheriff's Office. 
 
Please ensure that this notice is read for the minutes. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Phillip M Taylor, Sr. 
Vice Chairman  
Colleton County Council” 
 
Councilman Williams stated that before we go into executive session, since it is council time, I 
have two requests that I would like for consideration. First, I would like for us to set up a meeting 
for all municipalities within Colleton County and maybe even including the school district. 
Secondly, I would like for us to reconsider reentering the Lake Marion water project process along 
the I-95 corridor.  
 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

11 
 

Chairman Murdaugh asked, “Are you wanting to have an informal meeting?” 
 
Councilman Williams stated, “Yes, an informal meeting.” 
 
Chairman Murdaugh asked, “Are you wanting to do this as part of our regular council meeting?” 
 
Councilman Williams replied, “No, I think we should schedule something separate. I just think we 
are all in the same county and we very rarely have us and the municipalities discussing anything. 
We should have the same common goals, but then sometimes I question that. Not council, just 
speaking of all the municipalities and the school district. I don’t see us growing until we get on the 
same page. 
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated I do not have a problem with meeting. I believe we have more 
involvement with the City of Walterboro because they are right here and we have members that 
serve on boards. Definitely the smaller municipalities we don’t have any communication with 
them. I do not have any opposition to meeting. I am just trying to think of what is the most 
convenient.  
 
Councilman Williams stated I was thinking we all sit around the table and have a conversation that 
is if they are willing. If we extend the offer and they don’t take the offer, then silence gives consent 
and we will move on and do our thing and they do their thing. I think at some point we need to 
start a conversation and work together if we are hoping to develop Colleton County. I believe that 
since we are County Council that maybe we need to be the ones to extend the olive branch.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated that what you’re envisioning is if we can get everyone together.  
 
Councilman Williams replied yes, if we can find a 5th Monday any time coming up or one of those 
unusual dates that no one would normally have plans for.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated that maybe we can set a date and ask all the municipalities. We will 
have to do this somewhere like the farmer’s market in order to accommodate all those individuals.  
 
 Mr. Griffin stated I met with Iris from the Town of Edisto last week. I have been working back 
and forth with her as they would like to have a joint council meeting as well to discuss some issues. 
Are we discussing each individual municipality or all of them in one meeting? 
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated that I think Councilman Williams suggested we get them all together 
at one time. It might benefit them to hear each other’s problems and solutions.  
 
Dr. Flowers stated if we are going to have a meeting I think we need to have some outline of what 
we are going to discuss. We need to look at what we are trying to accomplish rather than just 
having a meeting.  
 
Councilman Williams stated I agree and if I need to be the one who gets with the county 
administrator to work on points of emphasis that is fine with me.  
 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

12 
 

Chairman Murdaugh stated that I think we should extend the invitation to the municipalities and 
ask them to send us a list of topics they would like to discuss, and then from that list we can form 
an agenda. If Kaela can contact all the municipalities…do we want to pick a date with all of us 
here? 
 
Mr. Griffin stated let us work the Calendar and we’ll coordinate back with council on a date in late 
March early April.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated as far as the second item, Lake Marion Water process. We looked at 
this once before and I don’t mind us discussing it again if we have some legitimate area or need 
for it. The cost of that thing just escalated to the point it was almost cost prohibited. Particularly 
now that we actually have water and sewer quality and it seems the infrastructure for sewer is more 
difficult than the water. I am certainly open to us discussing it if they want to have a representative 
come meet with us. We need to assess what need we would have to get back into that arrangement.  
 
Councilman Williams stated one of the main needs that I see is, where does the City of Walterboro 
provide services beyond the city limits? You’ve got some a little bit outside of the city, but there 
are other areas up and down the I-95 from Dorchester County to Hampton County that we don’t 
address. I think at some point in order for us to be in a position to develop and grow economically 
we are going to have to plan beyond what limitations that the city provides for us.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated I certainly understand that, but I think back when we first actually 
talked with them we didn’t have our own water and sewer authority, which we do now. However, 
I am open to the discussion if they want to tell us how they can benefit the county and make it cost 
effective. I do have some concerns, because the last time we had this discussion it got so cost 
prohibited.  
 
Councilman Taylor stated one thing I will mention is I have spent a great deal of time talking with 
the rural infrastructure authority, Ms. Bonnie and several others. Dorchester County has done some 
very innovative things working with the project of late. They’re encouraging regional 
development, and multiple counties to work on projects together. So, there has been some 
conversations and Mr. Griffin has received some information. In fact we talked a little earlier this 
morning. I was waiting to bring it out until I read through it, but I am glad Councilman Williams 
brought it out. I was not here when the county initially looked at the Lake Marion project. There 
is what they call tranches of funds coming down from the feds to do infrastructure projects. We 
would be remiss if we don’t take the time to look at the opportunities that may exist and to work 
together regionally. We have some real critical issues, housing is deplorable and peoples water 
quality, tap and feeds, and to get water across the street is almost $6000. How does a family of low 
to moderate income get $6000 to get a water tap? So, we need to look at a solution and maybe this 
will be a way for us to do it.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated I hear what you all are saying and I have no problem with us looking 
into it again to see. When they developed it before they had different phases of development and 
you had to buy in each phase. So then the next phase would come along and people who were 
buying in, the people of the first phase would say we paid all this cost upfront so you have to pay 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

13 
 

all this to get in. So by the time it was all done…what we would have to evaluate is what can they 
provide us, water cost per unit, to what we can do ourselves.  
 
Dr. Flowers stated Mr. Chairman we can’t solve all this tonight. I think we need to have them send 
us a representative and listen to what they have to say and that’s fine, but before we thought it was 
cost prohibitive.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated I think we can certainly can reach out to them. Mr. Griffin if you want 
to reach out to them.  
 
Councilman Whetsell stated that the last time we discussed this there was a lot of development 
going on around Cottageville and this pipeline coming down, the water is not going to help 
Cottageville at all. I mean you’re going to have to run a long way through the power lines that go 
through the western section of the county to get down to Cottageville, that is a pretty long pull. 
They decided they could put a well at Cottageville that would serve that area down there a lot 
cheaper than bringing water from anywhere else if they had to have it down there.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated we could still see what they have to say. Also, since we are in council 
time, the request that was made by Ms. Johnson about the individual council members and how 
they ranked the projects, does anyone have a problem with it being released? 
 
Councilman Taylor stated I just asked the chairman this week for us to reconsider re-ranking the 
projects. I had some consolation after leaving the meeting, I don’t mind if they are shared, but I 
felt kind of hurried and on the spot with it. I felt like we could look at it in a greater way. If we 
could have a chance to go through and have a walkthrough of the detention center. The request 
came through and we talked about doing it. We can have a greater look…eyes on project so we 
can see how we can work with these projects. Maybe the Council can reconsider and really look 
at some of the things the community wants.  
 
No further discussion.  
 
Executive Session 
 
Councilman Williams moved to go into executive session. Councilman Whetsell seconded the 
motion.  The motion carried unanimously.  
 
Councilman Williams moved to exit executive session.  Councilman Whetsell seconded the 
motion, which carried unanimously.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh stated that we were back in open session, during Executive Session we 
discussed a real estate matter involving an easement of the Green Pond Railway, Legal matter 
involving the Lowcountry Community Action Agency, opioid litigation settlement, Capital Project 
sales tax referendum, a personnel matter involving the Sheriff’s Office, and a real estate matter 
involving the voter’s registration. Are there any legal actions to take at this time?  
 



County Council Meeting 
April 4, 2022 
 

14 
 

Dr. Flowers moves to move the Capital Project Sales Tax Referendum to the next election cycle. 
Councilman Williams seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
Chairman Murdaugh made a motion that we transfer from the general funds to the Sheriff 
Department’s budget, $200,588.00 to allow for personnel adjustments to the Sheriff’s Department. 
Councilman Williams seconded the motion. I would like to note for the record that Councilman 
Taylor recused himself from this.  
 
Councilman Whetsell stated that he is also recusing himself.  
 
The motion carried 3 votes and 2 that recused themselves, zero opposed.  
 
Adjournment 
Dr. Flowers moved to adjourn the meeting, Councilman Williams seconded the motion, which 
carried unanimously.  
 
This ___ day of April, 2022.      ______________________________ 
       Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
ATTEST:  
 
______________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Clerk to Council 
 
 
**The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.  





 

Proclamation for Colleton County Council’s Recognition and Appreciation of 
Mr. Gregory Kinsey and his Service to Colleton County 

 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Gregory Kinsey, affectionately known as “Coach Kinsey” was one of the most well-
loved administrators of the Colleton County School District; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Kinsey worked as a coach, teacher, and administrator. His life left an unforgettable 
impact for many students who grew to respect him and his values; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Kinsey was a Walterboro High School Varsity letterman during 1982-1983. After 
college, he returned and served as the head coach at Ruffin High School (1996-2001) and was named 
Region VIII-A Coach of the Year during that time period. Kinsey served as an assistant head coach and 
assistant athletic director at Colleton County High School (2002-06); and 

WHEREAS, Coach Kinsey was a pillar of the academic and athletic community, serving to greatly impact 
and influence the youth of Colleton County; and 

WHEREAS, Colleton County High School Class of 2007 honored his legacy by creating a scholarship to 
provide annual tuition assistance for high school students in the community; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, in grateful recognition for a distinguished record of 
outstanding leadership in Colleton County, Colleton County Council does hereby proclaim September 22, 
2022, as “Gregory Kinsey Day” in Colleton County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, Colleton County Council does hereby proclaim its appreciation for Gregory 
Kinsey and his service to the many adolescents of Colleton County.     
 
 
Adopted this ____ day of April, 2022. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________   BY: ___________________________ 
      Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk                       Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 



 

 
Proclamation for Colleton County Council’s Recognition and Appreciation of 

Mr. Patrick Thomas and his Service to Colleton County 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Patrick Thomas, affectionately known to many as “Mr. T” graduated from Walterboro 
High School, Class of 1991; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Thomas attended South Carolina State University where he graduated with a Bachelor’s 
in English Education, and was continuing his education at the University of South Carolina Columbia in 
Educational Leadership; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Thomas began his twenty-five year teaching career with the the Colleton County School 
District at Ruffin High School in 1996. He then continued on to become a member of the faculty at 
Colleton County High School where he had been since Walterboro High and Ruffin High Schools merged 
in 2002; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Thomas was the advisor to the Walterboro Kappa League, the Men of Distinction, 
Junior and Senior Classes, the Prom Committee, and a coach. Most of all, he served as a mentor, even a 
father figure, to so many young people, from athletes to the top scholars; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Thomas received one of the most-deserving highlights of his career when he was named 
the 2013-2014 Teacher of the Year for the Colleton County School District; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Thomas was actively involved in community service through his fraternity. He 
maintained that involvement as a member of the Walterboro Alumni Chapter of Kappa Alpha Psi 
Fraternity, Inc., Sunlight Lodge #221, among other community organizations and events. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in grateful recognition for a distinguished record of outstanding leadership in 
Colleton County, Colleton County Council does hereby proclaim its appreciation for Mr. Patrick Thomas, 
and his service to Colleton County residents.  

 

Adopted this ____ day of April, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________   BY: ___________________________ 
      Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk                       Steven M. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 



Sponsor(s)                                    :  County Council 
First Reading                                :  March 1, 2022       I, ____________________, 
Committee Referral                      :  N/A                                                                                  Council Clerk, certify that this 
Committee Consideration Date    :  N/A                                                                    Ordinance was advertised for 
Committee Recommendation       :  N/A                                                                     Public Hearing on  _______. 
Second Reading                            :  April 5, 2022 
Public Hearing                              :  May 3, 2022 
Third Reading                               :  May 3, 2022 
Effective Date                               :  Immediately 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-03 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
[TO AMEND TITLE 9 – PUBLIC PEACE AND WELFARE, CHAPTER 9.02 – PUBLIC 
NUISANCE GENERALLY AND CHAPTER 9.04 – LITTERING, TO COINCIDE WITH 
THE TEN YEAR UPDATE OF THE COLLETON COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Title 9 – Public Peace and Welfare, Chapter 9.02 – Public Nuisance Generally and Chapter 

9.04 – Littering, of the Colleton County Code of Ordinances were reviewed by the Planning 
Commission on August 24, 2020 and October 26, 2020; and 
 

2. Chapters 9.02 and 9.04 were edited for legal sufficiency, redundancy and/or unnecessary 
words and phrases, and updated and clarified simplified phrases in order to be current with 
the accepted American Planning Association (APA) principles and practices; and  

 
3. County Council believes it is in the best interest of the citizens of Colleton County to approve 

the changes set forth herein.  
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL, DULY 
ASSEMBLED, THAT: 
  
1. Title 9 – Public Peace and Welfare, Chapter 9.02 – Public Nuisances Generally, of the 

Colleton County Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the Originating and 
Amending Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in its totality to 
read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 9.02. - PUBLIC NUISANCES GENERALLY  
 
Sections: 
 
       9.02.010. - Public nuisances—General.  

9.02.020. - Definitions.  
9.02.030. - Unlawful property nuisance.  
9.02.040. - Public nuisance declared.  
9.02.050. - Responsibility for property maintenance.  



9.02.060. - Right to enter property to inspect or abate. 
9.02.070. - Abatement procedure/compliance order.  
9.02.080. - Voluntary correction.  
9.02.090. - Demolition permit fee waiver. 
9.02.100. - Mobile home moving permit—Fee waived for salvage.  
9.02.110. - Abatement by county.  
9.02.120. - Penalties.  
9.02.130. - Exemptions.  
9.02.140. - Means of appeal.  
 

9.02.010. - Public nuisances—General.  
 
Public nuisances can substantially degrade residential and business areas, decrease 
property values, and promote rural blight and deterioration and often violate health and 
sanitation requirements. This law has been adopted for Colleton County residents to 
provide for steady and consistent improvement of the general health, safety, and welfare, 
in the unincorporated areas of Colleton County.  
    
9.02.020. - Definitions.  
 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning:  
 
Abatement means action to terminate, stop, cease, repair, rehabilitate, replace, demolish, 
remove, correct or otherwise remedy or cure nuisance activity, conditions, premises or 
conduct by such means as to bring the nuisance into compliance with the codes of 
Colleton County and/or the State in such a manner as is necessary to promote the general 
health, safety and welfare of the public.  
 
Compliance officer means the county planning and development director (hereinafter 
director), zoning administrator, code enforcement officer, litter control officer, floodplain 
administrator, sheriff’s deputies, and fire marshal, or anyone qualified that the director 
designates to act in such capacity on his behalf, or anyone designated as such by the 
county administrator.  
 
County means Colleton County, South Carolina.  
 
Minor means any person under 18 years of age, and who is not emancipated. 
 
Motor vehicle means every vehicle that is self-propelled, to include automobiles, 
airplanes, motorcycles, watercraft, tractor trailer rigs, heavy equipment, farm tractors and 
equipment, and/or other such mechanized devices. 
 
Owner means the owner or owners of any premises or real or personal property.  
 



Premises means any location, building or structure, lot, parcel, property, land or portion 
thereof. 
 
Public nuisance means any condition, activity or device located on premises, which 
constitutes a health or safety hazard and/or which is or may be unsafe or dangerous or 
which may reasonably be expected to attract children to the premises and risk injury by 
their playing with, in, or on it.  

 
Responsible party or person means any individual, business or entity responsible for 
creating, causing, maintaining or permitting the nuisance activity, premises, condition or 
conduct; and includes, but is not limited to, the property owner, tenant, lessee, possessor, 
or occupant, the president or officers of a corporation or business.  
    
9.02.030. - Unlawful property nuisance.  
 
It is unlawful for any person owning, renting, leasing, occupying, managing or having 
charge of, or possessing any real property in the county to maintain such premises in such 
a manner that any of the following conditions exist thereon:  
 

A. An abandoned house or manufactured home such as:  
 
1. An unoccupied and unsecured house or manufactured home that allows access 

into the dwelling;  
 

2. A partially set up, reconstructed, or demolished house or manufactured home 
where work is abandoned for 120 consecutive days;  

 
3. A damaged or partially destroyed house or manufactured home not removed 

or repaired within 120 days after the damage or destruction;  
 

4. A house or manufactured home that is extensively deteriorated, does not have 
approved and/or operable utilities, such as water, and/or septic service.  

 
B. Property maintained in a condition so defective, unsightly, or in a state of such 

deterioration, disrepair or neglect that it causes a health, safety or fire hazard or a 
public nuisance to children or others such as:  
 
1. The accumulation of dirt, litter, refuse, trash or debris in carports, parking 

areas, driveways, front, side, or rear yards, vestibules, doorways, roofs, or on 
an adjoining sidewalk, easement, access-way, or alley;  

 
2. Storage of personal property (other than items designed for outdoor use) in the 

front, side, or rear yards visible from public roads or neighboring properties, 
including, but not limited to, abandoned, unregistered, inoperative, broken, 
dismantled, or discarded motor vehicles or parts, building materials not 
currently being used for the construction of improvements on the site, 



appliances, household furniture or furnishings, equipment, tools, machinery, 
garbage bags or cans, boxes, trash, debris, or rubbish.  

 
C. Any type of vegetation which is rotted, dead, decayed, diseased, overgrown, or 

likely to fuel a fire, harbor rats, snakes, insect infestations, or other vermin, or 
which is detrimental to neighboring properties and property values. This 
subsection shall be applicable to every property where any type of building, 
facility or other structure is located, regardless of the condition of the structure. 
This subsection shall not apply to:  
 
1. Property in its natural, undisturbed and unimproved state, or property devoid 

of any structures that hasn’t been improved or occupied for at least 15 years;  
 

2. Property used primarily for agricultural purposes;  
 

3. Natural wildlife areas, open fields, swamps, marshes, glades, or other similar 
types of natural settings.  

 
D. The discharge of sewage or untreated wastewater into any body of water, yard, 

open ditch, storm sewer or onto any abutting property.  
 

E. A motor vehicle that is unlicensed, unregistered, inoperable, abandoned, and/or 
derelict upon any street, road, thoroughfare, or property.  

 
F. Any clothing, linen, towels, laundry, rugs, mattresses, and other similar material 

hung, placed, or attached to power lines, trees, bushes, fences, buildings, railings, 
or walls and visible from public roads or neighboring properties.  

 
G. Any violation of the zoning codes, such as using property in violation of the 

provisions of any zoning district, conditional use, special exception, planned 
development, variance or any other land use entitlement or permit.  

 
H. Any house, manufactured home, property, condition or activity which is deemed a 

"public nuisance" as defined by the State of South Carolina.  
 
9.02.040. - Public nuisance declared.  
Any property found to be in violation of any of the provisions of section 9.02.030 is declared 
a public nuisance and shall be abated pursuant to the procedures set forth herein which shall 
not be exclusive nor limit or restrict the county from enforcing other county ordinances or 
abating public nuisances in any manner provided by law.  
   
9.02.050. - Responsibility for property maintenance.  
Every responsible party who owns or occupies property within the county is required to 
maintain such property in a manner that does not violate the provisions of this chapter.  
    
9.02.060. - Right to enter property to inspect or abate.  



Any compliance officer of the county must secure permission from the property owner to 
inspect or abate any premises whenever necessary to secure compliance with, or prevent 
violation of, any provision of this chapter. Where a violation is in clear view from a public 
road or any surrounding property, on which permission has been granted to enter, the 
compliance officer may issue a summons for the violation. 
    
9.02.070. - Abatement procedure/compliance order.  
 

A. Whenever the compliance officer determines that any property is maintained in 
violation of any of the provisions of this chapter, they shall serve upon one or more of 
the responsible parties a written compliance order citing:  

 
1. The date and location of the violation(s);  

 
2. The section(s) of the code(s) violated and a brief description of the violation(s);  

 
3. The actions required to correct the violation(s) or abate the condition(s);  

 
4. The time period after which the county will enter the property to abate the 

condition(s).  
 

B. The time period for abatement shall be at least 30 days, unless determined by the 
compliance officer that the conditions constitute an imminent threat to the public 
health, safety or welfare. The compliance officer may grant an extension of up to 180 
days upon good cause, provided the responsible party signs a written agreement to 
voluntarily abate the nuisance by a date certain. The zoning board of appeals may 
grant a one-time extension of up to 180 additional days to the time provided by the 
compliance officer, where the board deems such extension is warranted.  

 
C. Service under this section may be accomplished by direct personal delivery to such 

persons, but if the whereabouts of the responsible persons cannot be ascertained 
through reasonable diligence, the serving of the compliance order may also be made 
by publishing it once each week for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the county and notice shall be posted on the property and allowed to 
remain for up to 30 days and shall indicate the nature of the violation, identification 
of the property affected, with date of posting, and contact information.  

  
9.02.080. - Voluntary correction.  
 

A. Applicability. This section applies when the county compliance officer determines 
that a violation of county codes or regulations has or is occurring.  
 
1. General. The compliance officer shall pursue a reasonable attempt to secure 

voluntary correction by causing written notice to be given to the violator where 
possible, or to the owner of record at the assigned E-911 address, explaining the 
violation(s), the abatement required with deadline, and the appeals process.  



 
2. Issuance of voluntary correction agreement. A voluntary correction agreement 

may be entered into between the violator and the county, acting through the 
director.  

 
B. Content of voluntary correction agreement. The voluntary correction agreement is a 

contract, between the county, represented by the director, and the violator, under 
which the violator agrees to abate the violation within a specified time and according 
to specified conditions. The timeframe shall be as short as possible, not to exceed 180 
days, and may have measurable milestones at a maximum of 45-day intervals. The 
voluntary correction agreement shall include the following:  
 
1. The name and address of the violator;  

 
2. The E-911 street address, property/parcel TMS number, or a description sufficient 

for identification of the premises, house, manufactured home, property, or land 
upon or within which the violation(s) has or is occurring;  

 
3. A description of the violation(s) and a reference to the provision of the county 

Code section(s) or regulation(s) which have been violated;  
 

4. The necessary corrective action(s) to be taken, and a date certain by which 
correction(s) must be completed, phased if necessary, with defined requirements 
for task completion at specific intervals;  

 
5. An agreement by the violator that the county may abate the violation(s) and 

recover its costs and expenses and a monetary penalty pursuant to this chapter 
from the violator, if the terms of the voluntary correction agreement are not met; 
and  

 
6. An agreement that by entering into the voluntary corrective agreement, the 

violator waives the right to an administrative appeal of the violation(s) and/or the 
required corrective action.  

 
C. Right to a hearing waived. The violator waives the right to an administrative appeal 

of the violation(s) and the required corrective action upon entering into a voluntary 
corrective agreement.  

 
D. Abatement by the county. The county may abate the violation(s) if the terms of the 

voluntary corrective agreement are not met, in accordance with section 9.02.110.  
   
9.02.090. - Demolition permit fee waiver.  
 
The demolition permit fee charged by Colleton County is waived for any responsible party 
who is correcting a condition citable under this chapter.  
 



A. Any county resident who loses a house or mobile home in a fire may dispose of the 
fire debris at the Colleton County Landfill at no charge.  This fee waiver does not 
apply to any commercial building or structure. 

 
B. Any metal from the burned house or mobile home must be separated from the debris, 

and if brought to the landfill, be deposited in the metal recycling area. 
 

C. No hazardous materials or regular household waste/garbage may be included with the 
fire debris.   

 
9.02.100. - Mobile home moving permit—Fee waived for salvage.  
 
The delinquent tax office is authorized to waive the permit fee for moving a mobile home for 
the purpose of salvage. Such permits shall be issued only when the mobile home is being 
dismantled in a salvage operation, and the permit shall include the name, address, and 
telephone number of the salvage company; the address where the mobile home is being 
moved from; the name, address, and telephone number of the current owner of the mobile 
home; and any other information required by the delinquent tax office.  
   
9.02.110. - Abatement by county.  
 

A. Should any property owner, agent or occupant fail to comply with an order to abate 
violations of such property, the county reserves the right, in addition to other 
penalties, to cause by proper means such property to be abated of violations. The cost 
of such abatement shall be billed to the owner, agent, or occupant to be paid in full 
within 30 days. In addition, an administrative fee of $50.00 or 15 percent of the actual 
cost of abatement, whichever is greater, shall be applied to the cost. Whenever said 
bill has not been paid within the prescribed time period, the county shall apply all 
costs as a lien on the property; and/or such costs shall be applied to the annual tax 
levied and shall be collected by the county in addition to annual property tax; or 
collection shall be achieved by other means, as may be available, and provided by 
law.  

 
B. Payment of such liens placed by the county against abated property may be 

negotiated by the director when such negotiation is deemed to be in the best interest 
of the county. The director shall be authorized to waive up to 50 percent of the lien 
within the first five years after the recording of the lien, and up to 25 percent within 
five to seven years after recording. No negotiation shall occur for any lien waivers 
beyond seven years from recording. Such negotiated liens must be paid in full.    

 
9.02.120. - Penalties.  
 

A. Any person who violates any provision of this chapter is guilty of a misdemeanor 
and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than $500.00 per violation and/or be 
imprisoned for not less than two days nor more than 30 days. No fine imposed 
pursuant to this chapter may be suspended to less than $250.00. No sentence of 



imprisonment imposed pursuant to this chapter may be suspended. Any punishment 
including fines imposed pursuant to a criminal conviction for a violation of this 
chapter shall be separate and apart from any inspection costs and cleanup or 
abatement costs incurred by the county in abating said nuisances; and shall be in 
addition to all other remedies available to the county under state law and local 
ordinances.  

 
B. Each day that the nuisance continues to exist shall constitute a new and separate 

violation.  
    
9.02.130. - Exemptions.  
 

A. The motor vehicle provisions of this chapter shall not apply to the following:  
 
1. Authorized salvage yards and other related businesses duly operated, regulated, 

and in compliance with all other county ordinances.  
 

2. Vehicles which bear current "antique" license plates as issued by the state 
department of motor vehicles.  

 
3. Any motor vehicle which is in relatively good condition, can be moved under its 

own power, and can pass a vehicle safety inspection, yet does not have current 
license plates due to owner's illness or other reasonable and verifiable causes as 
determined by the director or his designated compliance officer.  

 
4. Motor vehicles properly stored within an enclosed building or an opaque fence or 

enclosure, so as not to be visible, as determined by the director or his designated 
compliance officer.  

 
5. Where a permit has been attained from the planning and development department 

for vehicles for sale, when such vehicles are operable but don’t bear current 
license plates (such permit should not exceed 120 days).  

 
6. Authentic/verifiable stock, dirt track, or drag race cars or other relevant race cars 

or motor vehicles which are being used on a regular basis, are able to move under 
their own power, and have been determined by the director or his designated 
compliance officer to be true race cars or motor vehicles.  

 
B. This chapter shall not be applicable to farm storage vessels, such as school buses or 

storage containers, when such containers are screened from public view, used 
primarily for agricultural purposes, and are clearly used regularly.  

 
 
 

     
 



9.02.140. - Means of appeal.  
 

A. The zoning board of appeals, established in section 14.08-7.010, shall hear all appeals 
originating from actions taken pursuant to this chapter.  

 
B. Application for appeal. Any person directly affected by a decision of the compliance 

officer or a notice or order issued under this chapter shall have the right to appeal to 
the board of appeals, provided that a written application for appeal is filed within 30 
days after the day the decision, notice, or order was served at the property, to the 
person responsible, or to the owner. An application for appeal shall be based on a 
claim that the true intent of this Code or the rules legally adopted hereunder have 
been incorrectly interpreted, the provision(s) of this Code do not fully apply, or the 
requirements of this Code are adequately satisfied by other means, or that the strict 
application of any requirement of this Code would cause undue hardship.  

 
C. Notice of meeting. The board shall hear the appeal at their next regularly scheduled 

monthly meeting, where enough time exists to publish the required public notice in 
advance of the meeting.  

 
D. Open hearing. All hearings before the board shall be open to the public and be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation 15 days prior to the hearing. The 
appellant, the appellant's representative, the compliance officer, and any person 
whose interests are affected shall be given an opportunity to be heard. A quorum shall 
consist of a majority of the five member board.  

 
E. Procedure. The board shall adopt and make available to the public, through the 

secretary, procedures under which a hearing shall be conducted. The procedures shall 
not require compliance with strict rules of evidence, but shall mandate that only 
relevant information be received, as determined by the director.  

 
F. Board decision. The board may uphold, modify, or reverse the decision of the 

compliance officer or grant a one-time extension of no more than 180 days additional 
to the days already granted by the compliance officer for abatement. Such decisions 
shall only be made by a concurring vote of a majority of the board members present.  

 
G. Records and copies. The decision of the board shall be recorded. Copies shall be 

furnished to the appellant and to the director.  
 

H. Administration. The director shall cause the compliance officer to take immediate 
action in accordance with the decision of the board.  

 
I. Court review. Any person, whether or not a previous party of the appeal, shall have 

the right to appeal to the circuit court.  
 



J. Stays of enforcement. Appeals of notice and orders (other than imminent danger 
notices) shall stay the enforcement of the notice and order until the appeal is heard by 
the appeals board.  

 
2. Title 9 – Public Peace and Welfare, Chapter 9.04 – Littering, of the Colleton County 

Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the Originating and Amending 
Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in its totality to read as 
follows: 

 
CHAPTER 9.04. - LITTERING  
 
Sections: 
 
 9.04.010. – Definitions.  

9.04.020. – Control of litter.  
9.04.030. - Enforcement.  
9.02.040. - Penalities.  

 
9.04.010. - Definitions. 
 
For the purposes of this chapter, the following terms, phrases, or words shall have the 
meanings stated herein unless their use in the text of this chapter clearly demonstrates a 
different meaning.  
 
Compostable trash means every waste accumulation of biological vegetation that is free of 
dirt, rocks, non-compostable trash and bulky items.  
 
Construction site means any property upon which a new building is being constructed, or 
repairs, additions or the demolition of an existing structure is taking place.  
 
Cover means any device, equipment, container, tarp, chain, rope, wire, or line used to prevent 
any part of a vehicle’s load from shifting or escaping in any manner from the vehicle.  
 
Derelict property means any property which has been left abandoned or unprotected from the 
elements, including but not limited to, wrecked or partially dismantled motor vehicles and 
parts, trailers, machinery, appliances, building materials, and other articles.  
 
Elements means the natural elements which are a reasonably foreseeable means of carrying 
litter from one place to another. Elements shall include, but not be limited to, wind, fire, rain, 
water current and animals.  
 
Garbage, litter and/or refuse means garbage, litter, rubbish, refuse, and trash collectively 
which includes any man-made, nature-made, animal or vegetable waste byproducts of any 
kind or nature whatsoever that can decompose, rot and/or decay, that attracts vermin and/or 
insects and creates a public health, safety, or fire hazard, or any other kind of a public 
nuisance. 



 
Handbill means any paper, poster, circular, coupon, advertisement, or pamphlet to be 
circulated for the purpose of making some announcement, except newspapers.  
 
Loading or unloading dock means any dock or area used in the process of receiving, 
shipping, and/or transporting goods, wares, commodities, and persons.  
 
Newspaper means any newspaper of general circulation, as defined by general law, and in 
addition thereto, any periodical or current magazine regularly published with not less than 
four issues per year and sold or distributed to the public.  
 
Person means any individual, owner or lessee, firm, business, partnership, sole 
proprietorship, association, corporation, company, not-for-profit organization, or any 
governmental entity.  
 
Private property means any land, dwelling, building or other structure belonging to, or 
restricted for the use or enjoyment of particular persons. Public property means any land, 
property, street, road, highway, alley, public right-of-way or easement, median, sidewalk, 
path, bridge or other way, building, or structure in which the public has a right to use, 
whether publicly or privately owned.  

    
9.04.020. - Control of litter.  
 

A. Littering prohibited. It is unlawful for any person to throw, discard, or deposit garbage, 
compostable trash, or derelict property in any manner or amount in or upon any property, 
highway, street, body of water, ditch, creek, park, etc., within the county except in 
receptacles authorized and provided for that purpose.  

 
B. Loads on vehicles. No person shall drive, move, park, or in any other way operate any 

vehicle within the county unless said vehicle is loaded so as to prevent any of its load 
from shifting or escaping therefrom.  

 
1. Any vehicle transporting or hauling material such as garbage, compostable trash, or 

derelict property or any other material that could escape the vehicle, must be covered 
and/or secured with a tarp or other appropriate cover or tie-down, as defined herein.  

 
2. Any driver or other person in direct control of any vehicle from which any materials 

or objects have escaped shall immediately cause said material to be cleaned up at 
his/her own expense. 

 
3. When any litter is thrown or discarded from any type of motor vehicle the operator or 

owner, or both, shall be deemed in violation of this section. 
 

C. Handbills. No person shall cause any handbill to be thrown, scattered, deposited or 
distributed upon any public or private motor vehicle, sidewalk, street, lane, alley, ground, 
pole, tree, fence, structure or building within the county., It shall not be unlawful to 



distribute handbills to private residences, offices, or mercantile establishments if they are 
handed in at the door or securely fastened to reasonably prevent them from being 
scattered about by the elements or as otherwise specifically allowed by other 
ordinance(s).  

 
D. Maintenance of property and receptacles.  

 
1. All persons shall store their garbage in leak-free, covered containers to eliminate the 

elements from spreading the debris and unsightly garbage about the property owned, 
managed, or controlled by them. Spillage and overflow around containers shall be 
cleaned up as quickly as possible after it occurs.  

 
2. No person shall sweep or deposit any accumulation of garbage or derelict property 

into any gutter, street, parking lot, water body or waterway, or other property within 
the county.  

 
3. All construction and demolition sites shall maintain on-site receptacles throughout the 

duration of the work being performed as a means to secure any loose debris, building 
material wastes, and other garbage and derelict property from being scattered about 
the site, if the materials are not otherwise properly disposed of on a regular basis.  

 
4. It shall be the responsibility of every owner, manager, or occupant of any public or 

private property or place to provide, and maintain adequate and suitable receptacles 
and/or containers capable of containing any garbage or derelict property until proper 
final disposal is accomplished. 

 
5. Any unauthorized accumulation of uncontained garbage, compostable trash, and/or 

derelict property on any public or private property is a violation of this chapter.  
 

6. The owner, operator, or manager of a loading or unloading dock shall constantly 
maintain the dock area in such a manner that litter will be prevented from being 
carried by the elements to adjoining premises, streets, etc.  

 
7. The owner, manager, or operator of any commercial-residential, commercial, or 

industrial public place, shall constantly maintain the premises clean of all litter and 
take measures to contain said litter on the property. It is unlawful to permit the 
uncontained accumulation of litter thereon or the dispersion of litter therefrom.  

 
E. Convenience sites and dumpsters.  

 
1. Except where specifically authorized by formal council agreement, Colleton County 

convenience sites are restricted for use by Colleton County residents only. Any non-
resident caught in the act or caught through prima facie evidence shall be found in 
violation of this chapter.  

 



2. Any person who improperly uses any Colleton County dumpster by placing the 
wrong materials not specifically called for disposal in said dumpster, such as placing 
metal in a “plastics only” dumpster, is in violation of this chapter.  

 
3. Any person who shall deposit trash on the ground instead of in a dumpster is in 

violation of this chapter.  
 

4. All commercial developments shall use their assigned garbage collection containers 
and maintain them in a clean, and aesthetically pleasing condition. All such 
containers shall be located on a site as and where approved by the collection agency, 
which shall be outside of any public right-of-way.  

 
5. It is unlawful for any person to allow a refuse container to remain unemptied for more 

than ten consecutive days.  
 

A violation of this section may be abated by the county; provided, however, that the 
container in question may be impounded and a lien may be executed against any property 
held in connection with the business of collecting refuse, waste, or garbage by the person 
alleged to be in violation of this section.    

 
9.04.030. - Enforcement.  
 

A. All county animal, environmental, and litter control officers, and code enforcement 
officers, and all certified sheriff's deputies are considered compliance officers and they 
are empowered to enforce the provisions of this chapter.  

 
 

B. Only Sheriff’s deputies can execute warrants for arrest, but all compliance officers are 
empowered to issue citations, and other processes issued by the courts in enforcing the 
provisions of this chapter. In addition, the mailing by certified return-receipt-requested 
mail of such process to the violator’s last place of residence shall be deemed as personal 
service upon the person charged.  

 
C. Prima facie evidence.  

 
1. If the throwing, dumping, or depositing of litter was done from a motor vehicle, 

except a motor bus, it shall be prima facie evidence that the throwing, dumping, or 
depositing was done by the driver of the motor vehicle.  

 
2. If discarded litter can be identified with a person's name, it shall be prima facie 

evidence that the throwing, dumping, or depositing was done by the person whose 
name appears in the discarded litter.  

 
 
   
 



9.04.040. - Penalties.  
 

A. Any person who violates any provision of this chapter is guilty of a misdemeanor and, 
upon conviction, must be fined not more than $500.00 and/or be imprisoned for a period 
of not less than two days nor more than 30 days. No fine imposed pursuant to this section 
may be suspended to less than $250.00. No sentence of imprisonment imposed pursuant 
to this section may be suspended.  

 
B. In addition to the fine or term of imprisonment, the court may also impose eight hours of 

litter-gathering labor for a first conviction, 16 hours for a second conviction, and 24 hours 
for a third or subsequent conviction, all under the supervision of the court; or such other 
term of litter-gathering labor or public service as the court deems appropriate.  

 
C. Any punishment including fines imposed pursuant to a conviction for a violation of this 

chapter shall be separate and apart from any cleanup or abatement costs incurred by the 
county in abating said littering; and shall be in addition to all other remedies available to 
the county under state law and local ordinances.  

    
3. Severability: 
 

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is 
held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Ordinance 
which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application and to this end, the 
provisions of this Ordinance are severable. 

 
4. Conflict: 
 

Provisions in other County Ordinances, Resolutions, policies, or by-laws in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 
 
 
ATTEST:     SIGNED: 
 
 
 
________________________                          __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk                               Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
                                                                                             
                                                                                             
 
 
____________________________   COUNCIL VOTE:  
Approved as to Form     OPPOSED: 
Sean Thornton, County Attorney 



Sponsor(s)                                    :  County Council 
First Reading                                :  March 1, 2022       I, ____________________, 
Committee Referral                      :  N/A                                                                                  Council Clerk, certify that this 
Committee Consideration Date    :  N/A                                                                    Ordinance was advertised for 
Committee Recommendation       :  N/A                                                                     Public Hearing on  _______. 
Second Reading                            :  April 5, 2022 
Public Hearing                              :  May 3, 2022 
Third Reading                               :  May 3, 2022 
Effective Date                               :  Immediately 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-04 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
[TO AMEND TITLE 13 – BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION, CHAPTER 13.04 – 
CONSTRUCTION CODES ADOPTED, CHAPTER 13.12 – FLOOD DAMAGE 
PREVENTION, CHAPTER 13.16 – MANUFACTURED HOMES AND CHAPTER 13.20 
– UNIFORM ORDINANCE SUMMONS, TO COINCIDE WITH THE TEN YEAR 
UPDATE OF THE COLLETON COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, Chapter 13.04 – Construction Codes Adopted, 

Chapter 13.12 – Flood Damage Prevention, Chapter 13.16 – Manufactured Homes and 
Chapter 13.20 – Uniform Ordinance Summons, of the Colleton County Code of Ordinances 
were reviewed by the Planning Commission on October 26, 2020, November 23, 2022 and 
March 28, 2022; and 
 

2. Chapters 13.04, 13.12, 13.16 and 13.20 were edited for legal sufficiency, redundancy and/or 
unnecessary words and phrases, and updated and clarified simplified phrases in order to be 
current with the accepted American Planning Association (APA) principles and practices; 
and  

  
3. County Council believes it is in the best interest of the citizens of Colleton County to approve 

the changes set forth herein.  
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL, DULY 
ASSEMBLED, THAT: 
  
1. Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, Chapter 13.04 – Construction Codes Adopted, of 

the Colleton County Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the Originating 
and Amending Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in its totality 
to read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 13.04. – BUILDING CODES ADOPTED  

 
Sections: 
 

  13.04.010. – Adoption by reference. 



 
 
 
 

 13.04.010. – Adoption by reference.  
 

A. 1. The following codes are adopted by reference as though they were copied herein 
fully:  

 
International Building Code—2018 Edition (IBC 2018), including Chapter 1;  
International Energy Conservation Code—2009 Edition;  
International Fire Code—2018 Edition (IFC 2018);  
International Fuel Gas Code—2018 Edition (IFGC 2018);  
International Mechanical Code—2018 Edition (IMC 2018);  
International Plumbing Code—2018 Edition (IPC 2018);  
International Residential Code—2018 Edition (IRC 2018), including Chapter 1; 
and    
International Swimming Pool and Spa Code—20182 Edition (ISPSC 2018);  
            (International Codes will include South Carolina Modifications) 
National Electrical Code—2014 Edition;  
NFPA 70 – National Electric Code 2017 (NEC 2017) 
NFPA 101 Life Safety Code—2015 Edition;  
Standard for Residential Construction in High-Wind Regions ICC 600—2008 
Edition;  
Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1—2009 Edition.  
 
2. Accessory structure exemption wording is removed within the IBC and the 

IRC and replaced with the following language:  
 
One-story detached accessory structures used as tool and storage sheds, 
playhouses, and similar uses, provided the floor area does not exceed 225 
square feet are exempt from permits.  

 
B. Within said codes, when reference is made to the duties of a certain official 

named therein, that designated official of Colleton County, shall be responsible 
for enforcing the provisions of said code(s).  

 
C. Areas not affected. This chapter shall not affect any incorporated areas of the 

County of Colleton, unless an intergovernmental agreement exists between the 
County and the incorporated area, nor any parcel of land owned by the State of 
South Carolina or the federal government, or any buildings or installations placed 
thereon.  

 
D. Areas affected. Except for those portions of land excluded under subsection C 

above, this chapter shall cover all unincorporated portions of Colleton County.  
 



E. Contractor's licenses required. Every contractor or builder who shall make 
contracts for the construction or repair of buildings for which a county permit is 
required, and/or subletting the same or any part thereof, shall be required to 
secure a license from Colleton County. Applicants desiring to be licensed with the 
county as a general, residential, or mechanical contractor must file an application 
with the planning and development department, accompanied by the current 
license fee, and show proof of licensure by the State of South Carolina. 

 
F. Building code fees. Fees as established and updated periodically by county 

council, usually in the annual budget ordinance, shall apply as set forth in such 
ordinance.  

 
G. Violation of the construction codes as adopted by Colleton County is punishable 

by a $500.00 fine and/or up to 30 days in jail.  Performing construction activities 
that require a Building, Zoning, or other required Permit, before acquiring the 
appropriate Permit(s), shall be punishable by a Double Permit Fee for each Permit 
required. Each day’s violation of any of provisions of these codes shall constitute 
a new and separate offense. 

   
2. Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, Chapter 13.12 – Flood Damage Prevention, of 

the Colleton County Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the Originating 
and Amending Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in its totality 
to read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 13.12. - FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION  

  
ARTICLE 13.12-1. - GENERAL PROVISIONS  

  
Sections: 

  
13.12-1.010. - Statutory authorization.  
13.12-1.020. - Findings of fact.  
13.12-1.030. - Statement of purpose and objectives.  
13.12-1.040. - Lands to which this chapter applies.  
13.12-1.050. - Permit required.  
13.12-1.060. - Compliance.  
13.12-1.070. – Interpretation. 
13.12-1.080. - Partial invalidity and severability. 
13.12-1.090. – Warning and Disclaimer of Liability.  
13.12-1.100. – Penalty.  

 
13.12-1.010. - Statutory authorization.  
The Legislature of the State of South Carolina has in S.C. Code 1976, title 4, chapters 9 
(article 1), 25, and 27, and amendments thereto, delegated the responsibility to local 
governmental units to adopt regulations designed to promote the public health, safety, 



and general welfare of its residents. Therefore, the Colleton County council (governing 
body) of Colleton County, Walterboro, South Carolina, does ordain as follows.  

    
13.12-1.020. - Findings of fact.  
The special flood hazard areas (SFHAs) of Colleton County are subject to periodic 
inundation which results in loss of life and property; health and safety hazards; disruption 
of commerce and governmental services; extraordinary public expenditures of flood 
protection and relief, and impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the 
public health, safety, and general welfare.  
 
Furthermore, these flood losses are caused by the cumulative effect of obstructions in 
floodplains causing increases in flood heights and velocities, and by the occupancy in 
SFHAs by uses vulnerable to floods or hazardous to other lands which are inadequately 
elevated, floodproofed, or otherwise unprotected from flood damages.  
    
13.12-1.030. - Statement of purpose and objectives.  

A. It is the purpose of this chapter to promote the public health, safety, and general 
welfare and to minimize public/private losses due to flood conditions in specific 
areas by provisions designed to:  
1. Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, and property 

due to water or erosion hazards, or which result in damaging increases in 
erosion or in flood heights or velocities;  
 

2. Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including facilities which serve such 
uses, be protected against flood damage at the time of initial construction;  
 

3. Control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural 
protective barriers which are involved in the accommodation of flood waters;  
 

4. Control filling, grading, dredging, and other development which may increase 
erosion or flood damage; and  
 

5. Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally 
divert flood waters or which may increase flood hazards to other lands.  

 
B. The objectives of this chapter are:  

1. To protect human life, health, and public and private property;  
 

2. To minimize expenditure of public money for costly flood control projects; 
rescue and relief efforts; prolonged business interruptions; damage to public 
facilities  and utilities such as water and gas mains, electric, telephone, and 
sewer lines; and streets and bridges located in floodplains; 

 
3. To help maintain a stable tax base providing for the sound use and 

development of flood prone areas in such a manner as to minimize future 
flood blight areas; and  



 
4. To insure that potential home buyers are notified that property is in a special 

flood hazard area (SFHA).  
    
13.12-1.040. - Lands to which this chapter applies.  
This chapter shall apply to all SFHAs within the jurisdiction of Colleton County as 
identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in its Flood 
Insurance Study (FIS), dated December 21, 2017, with accompanying maps and other 
supporting data that are hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this 
chapter. Upon annexation any SFHAs identified by FEMA in its Flood Insurance Study 
for the unincorporated areas of Colleton County, with accompanying map and other data 
are adopted by reference and declared part of this chapter.   
 
13.12-1.050. - Permit required.  
A building or zoning permit shall be required to be in conformance with the provisions of 
this chapter prior to the commencement of any development activities.  
   
13.12-1.060. - Compliance.  
No structure or land shall hereafter be located, extended, converted, or structurally altered 
without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.    
 
13.12-1.070. - Interpretation.  
In the interpretation and application of this chapter all provisions shall be considered as 
minimum requirements, liberally construed in favor of the governing body, and deemed 
neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state law. This chapter is not 
intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed 
restrictions. However, where this chapter and another conflict or overlap, whichever 
imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail.  
 
13.12-1.080. - Partial invalidity and severability.  
If any part of this chapter is declared invalid, the remainder of the chapter shall not be 
affected and shall remain in force.  

  
13.12-1.090. - Warning and disclaimer of liability.  
The degree of flood protection required by this chapter is considered reasonable for 
regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and engineering consideration. Larger 
floods can and will occur on rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by man-
made or natural causes. This chapter does not imply that land outside the SFHAs or uses 
permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood damages. This chapter 
shall not create liability on the part of Colleton County or by any officer or employee 
thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance on this chapter or any 
administrative decision lawfully made hereunder.   
  
13.12-1.100. – Penalty. 
Any person violating or failing to comply with the provisions of this Chapter shall be 
deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined not more than 



$500.00 or imprisoned for not more than 30 days for each such violation.  Each day on 
noncompliance with the provisions of this Chapter shall constitute a separate offense. 

 
ARTICLE 13.12-2. - DEFINITIONS  

   
 Sections:  
  

13.12-2.010. - General.  
13.12-2.020. - Definitions.  

 
13.12-2.010. - General.  
Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this chapter shall be 
interpreted so as to give them the meaning they have in common usage and to give this 
chapter it’s most reasonable application.  

    
13.12-2.020. - Definitions.  
Accessory structure (appurtenant structure) means structures that are located on the same 
lot as the principal structure and the use of which is incidental to the use of the principal 
structure; used for parking or storage only; walled and roofed; and small (less than 600 
sq. ft. in A and AE flood zones and less than 100 sq. ft. in V and VE flood zones). 
Accessory structures should constitute a minimal investment, may not be used for human 
habitation, and be designed to have minimal flood damage potential. Examples of 
accessory structures are detached garages, carports, storage sheds, tool sheds, and small 
boathouses.  
 
Addition (to an existing building) means an extension or increase in the floor area and/or 
height of a building or structure and which shall comply with the requirements for new 
construction regardless as to whether the addition is a substantial improvement or not. 
Where a firewall or load-bearing wall is provided between the addition and the existing 
building, the addition shall be considered a separate building, and must comply with the 
standards for new construction.  
 
Agricultural structure (aquaculture structure farming conducted in water) means a 
structure used solely for agricultural purposes in which the use is exclusively in 
connection with the production, harvesting, storage, drying, or raising of agricultural 
commodities, including the raising of livestock. Agricultural structures are considered 
“walled and roofed” when the structure includes at least two outside rigid walls and a 
fully secured roof.  Structures used for human habitation; employment or entertainment; 
multiple or mixed purposes, do not satisfy the “exclusive use” requirement. Agricultural 
structures are not exempt from the provisions of this chapter.  
 
Appeal means a request for a review of the floodplain administrator's or CFM’s 
interpretation of any provision of this chapter.  
 
Area of shallow flooding means a designated AO or VO zone on a community's FIRM 
with base flood depths of one to three feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist, 



where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate, and where velocity flow 
may be evident.  
 
Area of special flood hazard (SFHA) means the land in the floodplain within a 
community subject to a one percent or greater chance of being equaled or exceeded in 
any given year.  
 
Base flood; Base Flood Elevation (BFE) means the flood having a one percent chance 
of being equaled or exceeded in any given year.  BFE is the computed elevation to which 
floodwater is anticipated to rise during the Base Flood. 
 
Basement means any enclosed area of a building that is below grade on all sides.  
 
Building means any structure built for support, shelter, or enclosure for any occupancy or 
storage. 
  
Breakaway wall is a wall that is not part of the structural support of a building that is 
intended through   its design and construction to collapse under specific lateral loading 
forces without causing damage to the elevated portion of the building or the supporting 
foundation systems. 
 
CFM is a Certified Flood Manager. 
 
Coastal high hazard area means a SFHA extending from offshore to the inland limit of 
the primary frontal dune along an open coast and any other area subject to velocity wave 
action from storms or seismic sources.  
 
Critical development means development critical to the community's public health and 
safety, is essential to the orderly functioning of a community, it stores and/or produces 
highly volatile, toxic, or water-reactive materials, or it houses occupants that may be 
insufficiently mobile to avoid loss of life or injury. Examples of critical developments 
include jails, hospitals, schools, fire stations, nursing homes, wastewater treatment 
facilities, water plants, and gas/oil/propane storage facilities. 
  
Design Flood Elevation (DFE) is the base flood elevation (BFE) plus freeboard of three 
(3) feet. 
 
Development means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, 
including, but not limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, 
grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations, or storage of equipment or materials. 
Development includes the following; any change in the intensity of use of the land; 
previous man-made wetland or of any natural resource area; agriculture and forestry 
operations. 
 



Elevated building means a non-basement building constructed to have the lowest floor 
elevated above the ground level by means of fill, solid foundation perimeter walls, 
pilings, columns, piers, or shear walls parallel to the flow of water.  
 
Enclosure, (enclosed space or area) means any space below the BFE and enclosed on all 
sides by walls or partitions. A V-zone building elevated on an open foundation without 
an enclosure or other obstructions below the BFE, is said to be free-of-obstruction, such 
that the space below the BFE is surrounded by insect screening, louvered slats (wooden 
or plastic lattice, slats, or shutters are permissible if at least 40 percent of their area is 
open and that lattice can be no thicker than ½ inch, or that slats and shutters can be no 
thicker than one inch), or open wood lattice.  
 
Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management). Issued by President Carter in 1977, 
this order requires that no federally assisted activities be conducted in or have the 
potential to affect identified SFHAs, unless there are no feasible alternatives. 
 
Existing construction means, for the purposes of determining rates, structures for which 
the start of construction commenced before April 14, 1987.  
 
Existing manufactured home park or subdivision means an existing manufactured home 
park or subdivision that was completed before April 7, 1987.  
 
Expansion to an existing manufactured home park or subdivision means adding more 
spaces to, and enlarging the park or subdivision which includes roads and utilities.  
 
FEMA is the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 
 
Flood means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 
normally dry land areas from the overflow of inland or tidal waters, or the unusual and 
rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source.  
 
Flood hazard boundary map (FHBM) means an official map of a community, issued by 
FEMA, where the boundaries of the SFHAs have been defined as Zone A.  
 
Flood insurance rate map (FIRM) means an official map of a community, on which 
FEMA has delineated both the SFHAs and the risk premium zones applicable to the 
community.  
 
Flood insurance study (FIS) means the official report provided by FEMA which 
contains flood profiles, as well as the flood boundary floodway map and the water 
surface elevation of the base flood.  
 
Floodplain & Flood Prone Area means any land area susceptible to being inundated by 
water from any source. 
 



Floodplain management is the operation of an overall program of corrective and 
preventative measures for reducing flood damage with floodplain management 
regulations. 
 
Floodplain management regulations is such federal, state, and local regulations, which 
provide standards for the purpose of flood damage prevention and reduction. 
 
Flood-resistant material means any building material capable of withstanding direct and 
prolonged contact (minimum 72 hours) with floodwaters without sustaining damage that 
requires more than low-cost cosmetic repair. Please refer to Technical Bulletin 2, current 
edition, Flood-Resistant Materials for Buildings Located in SFHAs in Accordance with 
the NFIP document number FIA-TB-2, current edition, and available from FEMA. Class 
4 and 5 materials, referenced therein, are acceptable flood-resistant materials.  
 
Floodway means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas 
that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively 
increasing the water surface elevation more than one foot.  
 
Flood Zones – Special Flood Hazard Areas  
 

"A"-zone. Areas subject to inundation by the one-percent-annual-chance flood 
event. Because detailed hydraulic analyses have not been performed, no base 
flood elevations (BFEs) or flood depths are shown. 
 
"AE" zone. Areas subject to inundation by the one-percent-annual-chance flood 
event determined by detailed methods. BFEs are shown within these zones. 
 
"VE" zone. High risk areas subject to inundation by at least a one-percent-annual-
chance flood event as determined by detailed methods, and where wave action is 
expected with wave heights of more than 3.0 feet. BFEs or base flood depths are 
shown within these zones. 
 
"X" zone (shaded). Moderate risk areas within the 0.2-percent-annual-chance 
floodplain, areas of one-percent-annual-chance flooding where the average depths 
are less than one foot. No BFEs or base flood depths are shown within these 
zones. 
 
"X" zone (unshaded). Minimal risk areas outside the one-percent and 0.2-percent-
annual-chance floodplains. No BFEs or base flood depths are shown within these 
zones. 

 
Freeboard means a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above the established (BFE) 
for purposes of floodplain management. "Freeboard" tends to compensate for the many 
unknown factors that could contribute to flood heights greater than the height calculated 
for a selected size flood and floodway conditions, such as wave action, bridge openings, 
and the hydrological effect of urbanization of the watershed.  



 
Functionally dependent facility means a facility which cannot be used for its intended 
purpose unless it is located or carried out in close proximity to water, such as a docking 
or port facility necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, 
shipbuilding, ship repair, or seafood processing facilities. The term does not include long-
term storage, manufacture, sales, or service facilities.  
 
Highest adjacent grade (HAG) means the highest natural elevation of the ground 
surface, prior to construction, next to the proposed walls of the structure.  
 
Historic structure means any structure that is:  
A. Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by 

the U.S. Department of the Interior (DOI)) or preliminarily determined by the 
Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing on the 
National Register;  

 
B. Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing 

to the historical significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminarily 
determined by the secretary to qualify as a registered historic district;  

 
C. Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places;  
 
D. Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in communities with historic 

preservation programs that have been certified:  
1. By an approved state program as determined by the Secretary of Interior; or  

 
2. Directly by the Secretary of Interior in states without approved programs. Some 

structures/districts listed on the state or local inventories may not be "historic" as 
cited above, but have been included on the inventories since it is believed that the 
structures or districts have the potential for meeting the "historic" structure criteria 
of the DOI. In order for these structures to meet NFIP historic structure criteria, it 
must be demonstrated and evidenced that the South Carolina Department of 
Archives and History has individually determined the structure or district meets 
DOI historic structure criteria.  

 
Increased cost of compliance (ICC). Applies to all new and renewed flood insurance 
policies effective on and after June 1, 1997. The NFIP shall enable the purchase of 
insurance to cover the cost of compliance with land use and control measures established 
under section 1361. It provides coverage for payment of a claim to help pay the cost to 
comply with State or community floodplain management laws or ordinances after a flood 
in which a building has been declared substantially or repetitively damaged.  
 
Limited storage means an area used for storage and intended to be limited to incidental 
items that can withstand exposure to the elements and have low flood damage potential. 
Such an area must be of flood resistant or breakaway material, void of utilities except for 
essential lighting and cannot be temperature controlled. If the area is located below the 



BFE in an A, AE and A1-A30 zone it must meet the requirements of section 13.12-
4.010(E) of this chapter. If the area is located below the BFE in a V, VE and V1-V30 
zone it must meet the requirements of section 13.12-4.060.  
 
Lowest adjacent grade (LAG) is an elevation of the lowest ground surface that touches 
any of the exterior walls of a building or proposed building walls.  
 
Lowest floor means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area. Any unfinished or flood 
resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or storage in an 
area other than a basement area is not considered a building's lowest floor provided that 
such an enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of other provisions 
of this chapter.  
 
Manufactured/mobile home means a structure designed to be a dwelling unit that is 
transportable in one or more sections, built on a permanent chassis, and designed to be 
used with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities. 
The term "manufactured/mobile home" does not include a recreational vehicles, travel 
trailers or motorized homes registered for travel on highways, nor modular buildings.  
 
Manufactured home park or subdivision means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land 
divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale. The term does not 
include the premises where unoccupied manufactured homes, whether new or used, are 
parked for the purpose of inspection, sale, storage or repair, or recreational vehicle parks. 
Mean sea level means for the purposes of this chapter, the National Geodetic Vertical 
Datum (NGVD) of 1929, North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988, or other 
datum, to which the BFEs listed is shown on a community's FIRM. 
 
National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) means, as corrected in 1929, elevation 
reference points set by National Geodetic Survey based on mean sea level.  
 
North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) means the North American Vertical Datum 
(NAVD) Vertical control, as corrected in 1988, used as the reference datum on the FIRM.  
 
New construction means a structure for which the start of construction commenced after 
April 7, 1987. The term also includes any subsequent improvements to such structure.  
 
New manufactured home park or subdivision means a manufactured home park or 
subdivision where construction was completed on or after April 7, 1987.  
 
Pre-Development is the conditions that existed prior to land disturbance or 
redevelopment activity at the time of the application. 
 
Primary frontal dune means a continuous or nearly continuous mound or ridge of sand 
with relatively steep seaward and landward slopes immediately landward and subject to 
erosion and overtopping from high tides and waves during coastal storms. The inland 



limit of the primary frontal dune occurs at the point where there is a distinct change from 
a relatively steep slope to a relatively mild slope.  
 
Recreational vehicle means a vehicle which is: built on a single chassis; 400 square feet 
or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection; designed to be self-propelled 
or permanently towable by a light-duty truck; and, designed primarily not for use as a 
permanent dwelling, but as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, travel, or 
seasonal use. 
 
Repetitive loss means a building covered by a contract for flood insurance that has 
incurred flood-related damages on two occasions during a ten-year period ending on the 
date of the event for which a second claim is made, in which the cost of repairing the 
flood damage, on the average, equaled or exceeded 25 percent of the market value of the 
building at the time of each such flood event.  
 
Section 1316 of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968. The act provides that no new 
flood insurance shall be provided for any property found by FEMA to have been declared 
by a state or local authority to be in violation of state or local ordinances.  
 
Severe repetitive loss (SRL) property is flood-related damage property that has at least 
four claims for buildings and/or contents exceeding $5,000 or at least two building-only 
payments that cumulatively exceeds the market value of the building. 
 
Stable natural vegetation. The first place on the waterfront where plants such as sea oats 
hold sand in place.  
 
Start of construction (for other than new construction or substantial improvements 
under the Coastal Barrier Resources Act (P.L. 97-348)), includes substantial 
improvement, and means the date the building permit was issued, provided the actual 
start of construction was within 180 days of the permit issue date. The actual start means 
the first placement of permanent construction of a structure (including a manufactured 
home) on a site, such as the pouring of slabs or footings, installation of piles, construction 
of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation or the placement of a 
manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include the 
following: land preparation; clearing, grading, and filling; nor does it include the 
installation of streets and/or walkways; excavation for footings, piers or foundations, or 
the erection of temporary forms; the installation of accessory buildings, such as garages 
or sheds. For a substantial improvement, the actual start of construction means the first 
alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the building, whether or 
not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building.  
 
Structure means a walled and roofed building, a manufactured/mobile home, including a 
gas or liquid storage tank, or other man-made facility or infrastructure that is principally 
above ground.  
 



Substantial damage means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the 
cost of restoring the structure to its before-damaged condition would equal or exceed 49 
percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. Such repairs 
may be undertaken successively and their costs counted cumulatively. Please refer to the 
definition of "substantial improvement."  
 
Substantial improvement means any repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or 
other improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds 49 percent of the 
market value of the structure before the start of construction of the improvement. This 
term includes structures that have incurred substantial damage, regardless of the actual 
repair work performed. The term does not, however, include either:  

1. Any project of improvement to a structure to correct existing violations of state or 
local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by 
the local code enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to 
assure safe living conditions (does not include American with Disabilities Act 
compliance standards); or  

 
2. Any alteration of a historic structure, provided that the alteration will not preclude 

the structure's continued designation as a historic structure;  
 

3. Permits shall be cumulative for a period of eight years. If the improvement project 
is conducted in phases, the total of all costs associated with each phase, beginning 
with the issuance of the first permit, shall be utilized to determine whether 
"substantial improvement" will occur.  

 
Substantially improved existing manufactured home park or subdivision means, where 
the repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of the streets, utilities and pads 
equals or exceeds 49  percent of the value of the streets, utilities and pads before the 
repair, reconstruction, or improvement commenced.  
 
Variance means a grant of relief from the requirements of this chapter as provided under 
the provisions of sections 13.12-5.030 Historic Structures and 13.12-5-050 Agricultural 
Structures only.  
 
Violation means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with 
these regulations.  
 
Watersheds is a land area that channels rainfall and snowmelt to creeks, streams, and 
rivers, and eventually to outflow points such as reservoirs, bays, and the ocean. The 
watershed consists of surface water--lakes, streams, reservoirs, and wetlands--and all the 
underlying groundwater. 

 
ARTICLE 13.12-3. - ADMINISTRATION  
 
Sections: 
 



 13.12-3.010. - Designation of floodplain administrator. 
  13.12-3.020. - Adoption of letter of map revisions (LOMR).  
  13.12-3.030. – Reserved.   

13.12-3.040. - Permitting and certification requirements.  
13.12-3.050. – Duties and Responsibilities of the floodplain administrator and 
Certified Floodplain Manager. 
13.12-3.060. – Administrative Procedures 

 
13.12-3.010. - Designation of floodplain administrator.  
The planning and development director (director), the floodplain administrator, Certified 
Floodplain Manager (CFM) or director’s designee are hereby appointed to administer and 
implement the provisions of the ordinance codified in this chapter.  

    
13.12-3.020. - Adoption of letter of map revisions (LOMR).  
Adopt all LOMRs that are issued in the areas identified in section 13.12-1.040.  
 
13.12-3.040. - Permitting and certification requirements.  
 
A. Building/zoning permit applications shall be made to the floodplain administrator on 

appropriate forms prior to any development activities. The permit application shall 
include, but not be limited to, two sets of plans drawn to scale showing: the nature, 
location, dimensions, and elevations of the area in question; existing or proposed 
structures; and the location of fill materials, storage areas, and drainage facilities. 
Specifically, the following information is required:  

 
1. A plot plan that shows the 100-year floodplain contour or a statement that the 

entire lot is within the floodplain must be provided by the permit applicant when 
the lot is within or appears to be within the floodplain as mapped by FEMA or the 
floodplain identified pursuant to either subsection 13.12-3.050(K) or sections 
13.12-4.030 and 13.12-4.040. The plot plan must be prepared by or under the 
direct supervision of a registered land surveyor or professional engineer and 
certified by same.   

 
2. Where BFE data is provided as set forth in section 13.12-1.040 or subsection 

13.12-3.050(K), the application for a permit within the SFHA shall show:  
 

a) The elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the lowest floor of all new and 
substantially improved structures; and  

 
b) If the structure will be floodproofed in accordance with subsection 13.12-

4.020(B) requirements of the elevation (in relation to mean sea level) to which 
the structure will be floodproofed.  

 
3. Where BFE data is not provided. If no BFE data is provided as set forth in section 

13.12-1.040 or subsection 13.12-3.050(K), then the provisions of section 13.12-
4.040 must be met.  



 
4. Alteration of watercourse. Where any watercourse will be altered or relocated as a 

result of proposed development, the permit application   shall include: a 
description of the extent of watercourse alteration or relocation; an engineering 
report on the effects of the proposed project on the flood-carrying capacity of the 
watercourse and the effects to properties located both upstream and downstream; 
and, a map showing the location of the proposed watercourse alteration or 
relocation.  

 
B. Certifications.  
1. Floodproofing certification. When a structure is floodproofed, the applicant shall 

provide certification from a registered, professional engineer that the nonresidential, 
floodproofed structure meets the floodproofing criteria in the non-residential 
construction requirements of subsection 13.12-4.020(B).  

 
2. Elevation Certification (EC).   Each EC submission must pass inspection in order to 

proceed to the next phase of the project. 
 

a) Before structural development. First construction drawing EC is submitted based 
on the structural blueprints and detailed site plans.  This submission is required in 
order to review the permit application. 
 

b) During construction. A lowest floor elevation (building under construction EC) or 
floodproofing certification is required after the lowest floor is completed. As soon 
as possible after completion of the lowest floor and before any further vertical 
construction commences, or floodproofing by whatever construction means, 
whichever is applicable, it shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to the 
floodplain administrator a certification of the elevation of the lowest floor, or 
floodproofed elevation, whichever is applicable, as built, in relation to mean sea 
level. Said certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a 
registered land surveyor or professional engineer. Any work done prior to 
submission of the certification shall be at the permit holder's risk. The floodplain 
administrator shall review the floor elevation survey data submitted. The permit 
holder immediately and prior to further progressive work being permitted to 
proceed shall correct deficiencies detected by such review. Failure to submit the 
survey or failure to make said corrections required hereby shall be cause to issue a 
stop work order for the project.  
 

c) Final grading and completed structure. The final EC should be completed after 
final grading is completed and before the call to inspect to get a CO and request 
for permanent power. 

 
3. V-Zone certification. When a structure is located in zones V, VE, or V1-30, 

certification shall be provided from a registered professional engineer, separate from 
submitted plans, that new construction and substantial improvement meets the criteria 



for the coastal high hazard areas outlined in section 13.12-4.060, Coastal High 
Hazard Areas (V-Zones).  

 
4. As-built certification. Upon completion of the development a registered professional 

engineer, or land surveyor, in accordance with SC law, shall certify according to the 
requirements of subsections 13.12-3.040(B)(1), (B)(2), and (B)(3) of this section that 
the development is built in accordance with the submitted plans and previous pre-
development certifications.  

     
 

13.12-3.050. - Duties and responsibilities of the floodplain administrator and 
Certified Floodplain Manager (CFM).  
Duties of the floodplain administrator and CFM shall include, but not be limited to:  

 
A. Permit review. Review all building and zoning permits located within a SFHA to 

assure that the requirements of this chapter have been satisfied.  
 

B. Requirement of federal and/or state permits. Advise permittee that additional federal 
or state permits may be required, and if specific federal or state permits are known, 
require that copies of such permits be provided and maintained on file with the 
building permit.  

 
C. Watercourse alterations.  

 
1. Notify adjacent communities and the South Carolina Department of Natural 

Resources (SCDNR), Land Resources and Conservation Districts Division, State 
Coordinator for the NFIP, prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse, 
and submit evidence of such notification to FEMA  

 
2. In addition to the notifications required, watercourse alterations per subsection 

13.12-3.050(C)(1), written reports of maintenance records must be maintained to 
show that maintenance has been provided within the altered or relocated portion 
of said watercourse so that the flood-carrying capacity is not diminished. This 
maintenance must consist of a comprehensive program of periodic inspections, 
and routine channel clearing and dredging, or other related functions. The 
assurance shall consist of a description of maintenance activities, frequency of 
performance, and the local official responsible for maintenance performance. 
Records shall be kept on file for FEMA inspection.  

 
3. If the proposed project will impact the configuration of the watercourse, 

floodway, or BFE for which a detailed flood insurance study has been developed, 
the applicant shall apply for and must receive approval for a conditional letter of 
map revision (CLOMR) with FEMA prior to the start of actual construction.  

 



4. Within 60 days of completion of an alteration of a watercourse, referenced in the 
certification requirements of subsection 13.12-3.040(B)(4), the applicant shall 
submit as-built certification, by a registered professional engineer, to FEMA.  

 
D. Floodway encroachments. Prevent encroachments within floodways unless the 

certification and flood hazard reduction provisions of subsection 13.12-4.020(E) are 
met.  

 
 

E. Adjoining floodplains. Cooperate with neighboring communities with respect to the 
management of adjoining floodplains and/or flood-related erosion areas in order to 
prevent aggravation of existing hazards.  

 
F. Notifying adjacent communities. Notify adjacent communities prior to permitting 

substantial commercial developments and large subdivisions to be undertaken in 
SFHAs and/or flood-related erosion hazards.  

 
G. Certification requirements.  

 
1. Obtain and review actual elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the lowest 

floor of all new or substantially improved structures, in accordance with 
administrative procedures outlined in subsection 13.12-3.040(B)(2) or the coastal 
high hazard area requirements outlined in subsection 13.12-4.060(E).  

 
2. Obtain the actual elevation (in relation to mean sea level) to which the new or 

substantially improved structures have been floodproofed, in accordance with the 
floodproofing certification outlined in subsection 13.12-3.040(B)(1).  

 
3. When floodproofing is utilized for a particular structure, obtain certifications from 

a registered professional engineer in accordance with the nonresidential 
construction requirements outlined in subsection 13.12-4.020(B).  

 
4. A registered professional engineer shall certify that the design, specifications and 

plans for construction are in compliance with the provisions contained in the 
coastal high hazard area requirements outlined in subsections 13.12-4.060(D), (F) 
and (H) of this chapter.  

 
H. Map interpretation. Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location of 

boundaries of the SFHA (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a 
mapped boundary and actual field conditions), the floodplain administrator shall 
make the necessary interpretation. The person contesting the location of the boundary 
shall be given a reasonable opportunity to appeal the interpretation as provided in 
subsection 13.12-3.050(L).  

 
I. Prevailing authority. Where a map boundary showing an SFHA and field elevations 

disagree, the BFEs for flood protection elevations (as found on an elevation profile, 



floodway data table, etc.) shall prevail. The correct information should be submitted 
to FEMA as per the map maintenance activity requirements outlined in subsection 
13.12-4.020(G).  

 
J. Use of best available data. When BFE data or floodway data has not been provided in 

accordance with section 13.12-1.040, obtain, review, and reasonably utilize best 
available BFE and floodway data available from a federal, state, or other source, 
including data developed pursuant to the standards for subdivision proposals outlined 
in section 13.12-4.040 in order to administer the provisions of this chapter. Data from 
preliminary, draft, and final flood insurance studies constitutes best available data 
from a federal, state, or other source. Data must be developed using hydraulic models 
meeting the minimum requirement of NFIP approved model. If an appeal is pending 
on the study in accordance with 44 CFR ch. 1, parts 67.5 and 67.6, the data does not 
have to be used.  

 
K. Special flood hazard area/topographic boundaries conflict. When the exact location of 

boundaries of the SFHAs conflict with the current, natural topography information at 
the site the property owner may apply and be approved for a letter of map amendment 
(LOMA) by FEMA. The floodplain administrator in the permit file will maintain a 
copy of the LOMA issued from FEMA.  

 
L. On-site inspections. Make on-site inspections of projects in accordance with the 

administrative procedures outlined in subsection 13.12-3.060(D).  
 

M. Administrative notices. Serve notices of violations, issue stop work orders, revoke 
permits and take corrective actions in accordance with the administrative procedures 
in section 13.12-3.060.  

 
N. Records maintenance. Maintain all records pertaining to the administration of this 

chapter and make these records available for public inspection.  
 

O. Annexations and detachments. Notify the South Carolina Department of Natural 
Resources (SCDNR) Land, Water and Conservation Division, within six months, of 
any annexations or detachments that include SFHAs.  

 
P. Federally funded development. The President issued Executive Order 11988, 

Floodplain Management May 1977. E.O. 11988 directs federal agencies to assert a 
leadership role in reducing flood losses and losses to environmental values served by 
floodplains. Proposed developments must go through an eight-step review process. 
Evidence of compliance with the executive order must be submitted as part of the 
permit review process.  

 
Q. Substantial damage determination. Perform an assessment of damage from any origin 

to the structure using FEMA’s Residential Substantial Damage Estimator (RSDE) 
software or another approved method (SCDNR Application) to determine if the 



damage equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the 
damage occurred.  

 
R. Substantial improvement determinations. Perform an assessment of permit 

applications for improvements or repairs to be made which equals or exceeds 49  
percent of the market value of the structure before the improvement or repair is 
started. Cost of work counted for determining if and when substantial improvement to 
a structure occurs shall be cumulative for a period of eight  years. If the improvement 
project is conducted in phases the total cost of all phases shall be used to determine 
whether "substantial improvement" will occur.  

 
S. Methods of market value determination. Market values shall be determined by one of 

the following:  
 

1. The current assessed building value determined by the county assessor's office; or  
 

2. A certified appraisal from a registered professional licensed appraiser performed 
in accordance with South Carolina laws, within the past six months. The appraisal 
shall indicate actual replacement value of the building or structure in its pre-
improvement condition, less depreciation for functionality, obsolescence, and site 
improvements; or  

 
3. The Marshall and Swift Residential Cost Handbook may be used to determine 

costs for buildings or structures; or  
 

4. A real estate purchase contract within 06 months prior to the date of the 
application for a permit.  

    
 

13.12-3.060. - Administrative procedures.  
 
A. Inspections of work in progress. As the work progresses, the floodplain administrator 

shall make as many inspections of the work as needed to ensure the work is being 
done according to code and the terms of the permit. The floodplain administrator has 
a right, upon presentation of proper credentials, to enter on any premises within the 
county’s jurisdiction, at any reasonable hour, for the purposes of inspection or other 
enforcement action.  

 
B. Stop-work orders. Whenever a building or part thereof is being constructed, 

reconstructed, altered, or repaired in violation of this chapter, or without the proper 
permits, the floodplain administrator may order the work to be immediately stopped. 
The stop-work order shall be in writing, directed to the person doing the work, state 
the specific work to be stopped, the specific reasons for the stoppage, and the 
conditions under which the work may be resumed. Violation of a stop-work order 
constitutes a misdemeanor.  If the stop-work-order is issued due to a lack of permits 
being pulled for the work being performed, the violator shall be required to pay a 



double permit fee for each permit needed before work can recommence.  Failure to 
pay the double permit fees before work recommences shall initiate a citation where a 
court date will be assigned.  

 
C. Revocation of permits. The floodplain administrator may revoke and require the 

return of the development permit by notifying the permit holder in writing, stating the 
reason, such as: any substantial departure from the approved application, plans, or 
specifications; refusal or failure to comply with state or local laws; or, for false 
statements or misrepresentations made in securing the permit. Any permit mistakenly 
issued in violation of an applicable state or local law may also be revoked.  

 
D. Periodic inspections. The floodplain administrator and other designated county 

compliance officers shall have a right, upon presentation of proper credentials, to 
enter on any premises within the county’s jurisdiction, at any reasonable hour for the 
purposes of inspection or other enforcement action.  

 
E. Violations to be corrected. When the floodplain administrator finds violations of 

applicable state and local laws, it shall be their duty to notify the owner or occupant 
of the building of the violation. The owner or occupant shall immediately remedy 
each of the violations of law.  

 
F. Actions in event of failure to take corrective action. If the owner of a building or 

property fails to take prompt corrective action, the floodplain administrator shall give 
him written notice, by certified or registered mail to his last known address or by 
personal service, that:  

 
1. The building or property is in violation of this chapter and appropriate section;  

 
2. A hearing will be held before the floodplain administrator at a designated place 

and time, not later than ten days after the date of the notice, at which time the 
owner shall be entitled to be heard in person or by counsel and to present 
arguments and evidence pertaining to the matter; and  

 
3. Following the hearing, the floodplain administrator may issue such order to alter, 

vacate, or demolish the building; or to remove fill as appears appropriate.  
 

G. Order to take corrective action. If, upon a hearing held pursuant to the notice 
prescribed above, the floodplain administrator finds the building or development is in 
violation of this chapter, they shall make a written order to the owner, requiring them 
to remedy the violation within a period of not less than 60 days, unless the floodplain 
administrator finds that there is imminent danger to life or property, they may order 
that violation be remedied immediately, or in less than 60 days, as may be feasible.  

 
H. Appeal. Any owner who has received an order to take corrective action may appeal 

said order to the local elected governing body by giving written notice of appeal to 
the floodplain administrator and the clerk of council within ten days following 



issuance of the order. In the event no appeal is made within 10 days, the order shall 
be final. The local governing body shall hear an appeal within a reasonable time and 
may affirm, modify and affirm, or revoke the order.  

 
I. Failure to comply with order. If the owner fails to comply with an order of corrective 

action, where no appeal was taken, or fails to comply with an order of the governing 
body following an appeal, they shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and punished at the 
discretion of the court.  

 
J. Denial of flood insurance under the NFIP. If a structure remains in violation of this 

chapter after all other penalties are exhausted to achieve compliance, then the 
floodplain administrator shall notify FEMA to initiate a Section 1316 of the National 
Flood insurance Act of 1968, finding that the violator refuses to bring the violation 
into compliance with this chapter. If a violation has been remedied, the floodplain 
administrator shall notify FEMA and ask that the Section 1316 be rescinded.    

 
ARTICLE 13.12-4. - PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION  
 
Sections: 
 

13.12-4.010. - General standards.  
13.12-4.020. - Specific standards.  
13.12-4.030. – Standards for subdivision proposals.  
13.12-4.040. – Standards for streams without established BFEs and/or 
floodways.  
13.12-4.050. – Standards for streams with established BFEs but without 
floodways.  
13.12-4.060. – Coastal high hazard areas (V-zones).  

 
  13.12-4.010. - General standards.  

Development may not occur in the floodplain where alternative locations exist due to the 
inherent hazards and risks involved. Before a permit is issued, the applicant shall 
demonstrate that new structures cannot be located out of the floodplain and that 
encroachments into the floodplain are minimized. In all SFHAs the following provisions 
shall apply:  
 
A. Reasonably safe from flooding. Review all permit applications to determine whether 

proposed building sites will be reasonably safe from flooding.  
 

B. Anchoring. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be anchored to 
prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure.  

 
C. Flood resistant materials and equipment. All new construction and substantial 

improvements shall be constructed with flood resistant materials and use utility 
equipment resistant to minimize flood damage in accordance with Technical Bulletin 
2, current edition, Flood Damage Resistant Materials Requirements.  



 
D. Minimize flood damage. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be 

constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damages.  
 

E. Critical development. Shall be elevated to the 500-year flood elevation or the highest 
known historical flood elevation (where records exist), whichever is greater. If no 
data exists establishing either of the above, the applicant shall provide a hydrologic 
and hydraulic engineering analysis that generates 500-year flood elevation data.  

 
F. Utilities. All new and replacement electrical, ventilation, plumbing, heating and air 

conditioning equipment (including ductwork), and other service facilities shall be 
designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating within 
components during conditions of the base flood plus three  feet . This requirement 
does not preclude the installation of outdoor faucets for shower heads, sinks, hoses, 
etc., as long as cut off devices and back flow devices are installed to prevent 
contamination to the service components and thereby minimize any flood damages to 
the building. No utilities or components shall be attached to breakaway walls. 

 
G. Water supply systems. All new and replacement water supply systems shall be 

designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the system.  
 

H. Sanitary sewage systems. New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be 
designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the systems and 
discharges from the systems into floodwaters. On-site waste disposal systems shall be 
located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them 
during flooding.  

 
I. Gas or liquid storage tanks. All gas or liquid storage tanks, either located above 

ground or buried, shall be anchored to prevent flotation and/or lateral movement 
resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads.  

 
J. Alteration, repair, reconstruction, or improvements. Any alteration, repair, 

reconstruction, or improvement to a structure in compliance with this chapter, shall 
also meet the requirements of "new construction" as contained in this chapter, 
including post-FIRM development and structures.  

 
K. Nonconforming buildings or uses. Nonconforming buildings or uses may not be 

enlarged, replaced, or rebuilt unless such enlargement or reconstruction is 
accomplished in conformance with the provisions of this chapter. Provided, however, 
nothing in this chapter shall prevent the repair, reconstruction, or replacement of an 
existing building or structure located totally or partially within the floodway, 
provided that the building or structure located below the DFE in the floodway is not 
increased or expanded.  

 
L. American with Disabilities Act (ADA). A building is required to meet the specific 

standards for floodplain construction outlined in section 13.12-4.020, and all 



applicable ADA requirements. The ADA is not justification for issuing a variance or 
otherwise waiving these requirements. Also, the cost of improvements required to 
meet the ADA provisions shall be included in the costs of the improvements for 
calculating substantial improvement.  

 
13.12-4.020. - Specific standards.  
In all SFHAs (zones A, AE, V, and VE) where the DFE (BFE plus freeboard) is three (3) 
feet and the BFE data has been provided, as set forth in section 13.12-1.040 or outlined in 
section 13.12-3.050 the following provisions are required:  
 
A. Residential construction. New construction and substantial improvement of any 

residential structure (including manufactured homes) shall have the lowest floor 
elevated no lower than the DFE No basements are permitted. Should solid foundation 
perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings sufficient to facilitate the 
unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with the 
elevated buildings requirements in subsection 13.12-4.020(D).  

 
B. Nonresidential construction.  

 
1. New construction and substantial improvement of any commercial, industrial, or 

non-residential structure shall meet the same standards as residential construction. 
Structures located in A-zones may be floodproofed in lieu of being elevated, 
provided that all areas of the structure below the required elevation are watertight 
with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, using structural 
components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads 
and the effect of buoyancy.  

 
2. A registered, professional engineer shall certify that the standards of this 

subsection are satisfied. Such certifications shall be provided to the floodplain 
administrator as set forth in the floodproofing certification requirements in 
subsection 13.12-3.040(B)(1). A variance may be considered for wet-
floodproofing agricultural structures in accordance with the criteria outlined in 
section 13.12-5.040 if no other viable location for the structure can be found. 
Agricultural structures not meeting the criteria of section 13.12-5.040 must meet 
the nonresidential construction standards and all other applicable provisions of 
this chapter. Structures that are floodproofed are required to have an approved 
maintenance plan with an annual exercise. The floodplain administrator must 
approve the maintenance plan and receive notification of the annual exercises. 

 
C. Manufactured homes.  

 
1. Manufactured homes that are placed or substantially improved on sites 

located: outside a manufactured home park or subdivision; in a new 
manufactured home park or sub-division; in an expansion to an existing 
manufactured home park or subdivision; or, in an existing manufactured home 
park or subdivision must be elevated on a permanent foundation such that the 



lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated no lower than the DFE and 
be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist 
flotation, collapse, and lateral movement.  

 
 

2. Manufactured homes must be anchored to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral 
movement in accordance with Section 40-29-10 of the South Carolina 
Manufactured Housing Board Regulations, as amended. Additionally, when 
the elevation requirement would be met by an elevation of the chassis 36 
inches or less above the grade at the site, the chassis shall be supported by 
reinforced piers or an engineered foundation. When the elevation of the 
chassis is above 36 inches in height an engineering certification is required.  

 
3. An evacuation plan must be developed for evacuation of all residents of all 

new, substantially improved or substantially damaged manufactured home 
parks or subdivisions located within flood-prone areas. This plan shall be filed 
with and approved by the floodplain administrator and the local emergency 
preparedness coordinator.  

 
D. Elevated buildings. New construction and substantial improvements of elevated 

buildings that include fully enclosed areas that are usable solely for the parking of 
vehicles, building access, or limited storage in an area other than a basement, and 
which are subject to flooding shall be designed to preclude finished space and 
automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for 
the entry and exit of floodwaters.  
 
1. Designs for complying with this requirement must either be certified by a 

professional engineer or architect or meet the following minimum criteria:  
 
a) Provide a minimum of two openings on different walls having a total net 

area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area 
subject to flooding;  

 
b) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above the 

higher of the interior or exterior grade immediately under the opening;  
 

c) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other 
coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of 
floodwaters in both directions; and  

 
d) Fill placed around foundation walls must be graded so that the grade 

inside the enclosed area is equal to or higher than the adjacent grade 
outside the building on at least one side of the building.  

 
e) Only the portions of openings that are below the BFE can be counted 

towards the required net open area.  



 
2. Hazardous velocities. Hydrodynamic pressure must be considered in the 

design of any foundation system where velocity waters or the potential for 
debris flow exists. If flood velocities are in excess of five feet per second or 
greater, foundation systems other than solid foundations walls should be 
considered so that obstructions to damaging flood flows are minimized.  

 
3. Enclosures below BFE.  

 
a) Access to the enclosed area shall be the minimum necessary to allow for 

parking of vehicles (garage door) or limited storage of maintenance 
equipment used in connection with the premises (standard exterior door) 
or entry to the living area (stairway or elevator).  

 
b) The interior portion of such enclosed area shall not be partitioned or 

finished into separate rooms, except to enclose a single storage area and 
must be void of utilities except for essential lighting as required, and 
cannot be temperature controlled.  

 
c) One wet location switch and/or outlet connected to a ground fault interrupt 

breaker may be installed below the required lowest floor elevation 
specified in the specific standards outlined in subsections 13.12-4.020(A), 
(B) and (C) of this ordinance .  

 
d) All construction materials below the required lowest floor elevation 

specified in the specific standards outlined in subsections 13.12-4.020(A), 
(B) and (C) of this chapter should be of flood resistant materials.  

 
E. Floodways. Located within SFHAs established in section 13.12-1.040, are areas 

designated as floodways. The floodway is an extremely hazardous area due to the 
velocity of floodwaters that carry debris and potential projectiles and which could 
potentially cause erosion. The following provisions shall apply within such areas: 

 
1. No encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial 

improvements, additions, and/or other developments shall be permitted unless:  
 
a) It has been demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses 

and/or No-Impact performed by a registered professional engineer 
certifying that the proposed encroachment would not result in any increase 
in the flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood. Such 
certification and technical data shall be presented to the floodplain 
administrator; and/or, 
 

b) A CLOMR has been approved by FEMA. A letter of map revision must be 
obtained upon completion of the proposed development.  

 



2. If subsection 13.12-4.020(E)(1), Floodways, is satisfied, then all shall comply 
with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of article 13.12-4.  

 
3. No manufactured homes shall be permitted, except in an existing 

manufactured home park or subdivision. A replacement manufactured home 
may be placed on a lot in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision 
provided the anchoring and the elevation standards of subsection 13.12-
4.020(C) are met. 

 
4. Permissible uses within floodways may include general farming, pasture, 

outdoor plant nurseries, horticulture, forestry, wildlife sanctuary, game farm, 
and other similar agricultural, wildlife, and related uses. Also, lawns, gardens, 
play areas, picnic grounds, and hiking and horseback riding trails are 
acceptable uses, provided that they do not employ structures or fill. 
Substantial development of a permissible use may require a No-Impact 
certification. The uses listed in this subsection are permissible only if and to 
the extent that they do not cause any increase in BFEs or changes to the 
floodway configuration.  

 
F. Recreational vehicles, park model trailers and campers.  

 
1. A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is:  
 

a) On wheels or jacking system;  
 

b) Attached to the site only by quick-disconnect type utilities and security 
devices; and  

 
c) Has no permanently attached additions.  

 
2. Recreational vehicles placed on sites shall either be:  

 
a) On site for fewer than 90 consecutive days; and  

 
b) Be registered with SCDMV and ready for highway use, or meet the permit 

and certification requirements of section 13.12-3.040, general standards 
outlined in section 13.12-4.010, and manufactured homes standards in 
subsection 13.12-4.020(C).  

 
G. Map maintenance activities. The NFIP requires flood data to be reviewed and 

approved by FEMA. This ensures that flood maps, studies and other data 
identified in section 13.12-1.040 accurately represent flooding conditions so 
appropriate floodplain management criteria are based on current data, the 
following map maintenance activities are identified:  
 
1. Requirement to submit new technical data.  



 
a) For all development proposals that impact floodway delineations or BFEs, 

the community shall ensure that technical data reflecting such changes be 
submitted to FEMA within six months of the date such information 
becomes available. These development proposals include, but are not 
limited to:  

i. Floodway encroachments that increase or decrease BFEs or alter 
floodway boundaries;  

ii. Fill sites to be used for the placement of proposed structures where 
the applicant desires to remove the site from the SFHA;  

iii. Alteration of watercourses that result in a relocation or elimination 
of the SFHA, including the placement of culverts; and  

iv. Subdivision or large scale, residential or commercial development 
proposals requiring the establishment of BFEs in accordance with 
section 13.12-4.030.  

 
b) It is the responsibility of the applicant to have technical data, required in 

accordance with subsection 13.12-4.020(G), prepared in a format required 
for a CLOMR or LOMR and submitted to FEMA. Submittal and 
processing fees for these map revisions shall be the responsibility of the 
applicant.  

 
c) The floodplain administrator shall require a CLOMR prior to the issuance 

of a permit for:  
i. Proposed floodway encroachments that increase the BFE; and  

ii. Proposed development which increases the BFE by more than one 
foot in areas where FEMA has provided BFEs but no floodway.  

 
d) Permits approved by the floodplain administrator shall be conditioned 

upon the applicant obtaining a LOMR from FEMA for any development 
proposal subject to subsection 13.12-4.020(G).  

 
2. Right to submit new technical data. The floodplain administrator may request 

changes to any of the information shown on an effective map that does not 
impact floodplain or floodway delineations or BFEs, such as labeling or 
planimetric details. Such a submission shall include appropriate supporting 
documentation made in writing by the local jurisdiction and may be submitted 
at any time.  

 
H. Accessory structures.  

 
1. A detached accessory structure, with a value in excess of $3,000.00, must 

comply with the requirements of FEMA's Technical Bulletin 7, current 
edition, Wet Floodproofing Requirements, or be elevated in accordance with 
subsections 13.12-4.020(A) and (D), or be dry floodproofed in accordance 
with subsection 13.12-4.020(B).  



 
2. When accessory structures of $3,000.00 or less are placed in a SFHA, the 

following additional criteria shall be met:  
a) Accessory structures shall not be used for any type of human habitation 

such as work, sleeping, living, cooking or having restroom facilities or 
amenities; 

b) Accessory structure shall not be larger than a one-story two –car garage, 
approximately 600 sq. ft. in SFHAs other than coastal high hazard areas 
(A and AE) 

c) Accessory structure shall not be larger than 100 sq. ft. in coastal high 
hazard areas (V and VE) 

 
d) Accessory structures shall be designed, constructed, and placed on the 

building site to: have low flood damage potential; offer the minimum 
resistance to the flow of floodwaters; and be firmly anchored to prevent 
flotation, collapse or lateral movement. 

 
e) Service facilities such as electrical and heating equipment shall be 

installed in accordance with subsection 13.12-4.010(F); and  
 

f) Openings to relieve hydrostatic pressure during a flood shall be provided 
below BFE in conformance with subsection 13.12-4.020(D)(1).  

 
g) Accessory structures shall be built with flood resistance materials in 

accordance with technical Bulletin 2, Flood Damage-Resistant Materials 
Requirements, current edition, and available from FEMA Class 4 and 5 
materials, referenced therein are acceptable.  

 
3. Swimming pool utility equipment rooms. If the building cannot be built at or 

above the DFE because of functionality of the equipment, then a structure to 
house the pool equipment may be built below the DFE with the following 
provisions:  
 
a) Meet the requirements for accessory structures in subsection 13.12-4.020(H).  

 
b) The utilities must be anchored to prevent flotation and shall be designed to 

prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during 
conditions of the base flood.  

 
c) A variance may be granted to allow wet floodproofing of the structure.  

 
4. Elevators.  

 
a) Installing a float switch system or other system that provides the same level of 

safety is necessary for all elevators where there is a potential for the elevator 
cab to descend below the BFE during a flood per FEMA's Technical Bulletin 



4(TB-4) Elevator Installation for Buildings Located in Special Flood Hazard 
Areas, current edition.  

 
b) All equipment that must be installed below the BFE such as counter weight 

roller guides, compensation cable and pulleys, and oil buffers for traction 
elevators and the jack assembly for a hydraulic elevator must be constructed 
using flood-resistant materials where possible per FEMA's TB-4.  

 
I. Fill. An applicant shall demonstrate through a site plan drawn by a registered 

professional engineer that fill is the only alternative to raising the building to meet 
the residential and non-residential construction requirements of subsections 
13.12-4.020(A) and 13.12-4.020(B), and that the amount of fill used will not 
affect the flood storage capacity or adversely affect adjacent properties. The 
following provisions shall apply to all fill placed in the SFHA:  
 
1. Fill shall not be placed in the floodway unless it is in accordance with the 

requirements in subsection 13.12-4.020(E)(1);  
 

2. Fill shall not be placed in tidal or non-tidal wetlands without the required state 
and federal permits;  

 
3. Fill must consist of soil and rock materials only. A registered professional 

geotechnical engineer may use dredged material as fill only upon certification 
of suitability. Landfills, rubble fills, dumps, and sanitary fills are not permitted 
in the floodplain;  

 
4. Fill used to support structures must comply with ASTM Standard D-698, and 

its suitability to support structures certified by a registered, professional 
engineer;  

 
5. Fill slopes shall not have a slope ratio greater or steeper than two horizontal to 

one vertical, as designed by a registered professional engineer. Flatter slopes 
may be required where velocities may result in erosion;  

 
6. The use of fill shall not increase flooding or cause drainage problems on 

neighboring properties;  
 

7. Fill may not be used for structural support in the coastal high hazard areas; 
and  

 
8. The fill will meet the requirements of FEMA Technical Bulletin 10, current 

edition, Ensuring That Structures Built On Fill In Or Near Special Flood 
Hazard Areas Are Reasonably Safe From Flooding.  

 
13.12-4.030. - Standards for subdivision proposals.  
 



A. All subdivision proposals and other proposed new development shall be 
consistent with the need to minimize flood damage and are subject to all 
applicable standards in these regulations and in Title 14, Land Management, 
Chapters 14.04 and 14.08 as applicable for subdivisions.  

 
B. All subdivision and other proposed new development proposals shall have public 

utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems located and 
constructed to minimize flood damage.  

 
C. All subdivision and other proposed new development proposals shall have 

adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood damage.  
 

D. The applicant shall meet the requirement to submit technical data to FEMA in 
subsection 13.12-4.020(G) when a hydrologic and hydraulic analysis is completed 
that generates BFEs.  

   
13.12-4.040. - Standards for streams without established BFEs and/or floodways.  
Located within SFHAs (zones A and V) established in section 13.12-1.040, are small 
streams where no BFE data has been provided or where no floodways have been 
identified. The following provisions apply within such areas:  
 

A. In all SFHAs where BFE data is not available, the applicant shall provide a 
hydrologic and hydraulic engineering analysis that generates BFEs for all 
subdivision proposals and other proposed developments containing at least 50 lots 
or five acres, whichever is less.  

 
B. No encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements or 

new development shall be permitted within 100 feet of the stream bank unless 
certification with supporting technical data by a registered, professional engineer 
is provided demonstrating that such encroachments shall not result in any increase 
in flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood discharge.  

 
C. If subsection 13.12-4.040(A) is satisfied and BFE data is available from other 

sources, all new construction and substantial improvements within such areas 
shall comply with all applicable flood hazard ordinance provisions of article 
13.12-4 and shall be elevated or flood proofed in accordance with elevations 
established in subsection 13.12-3.030(K).  
1. Data from preliminary, draft, and final flood insurance studies constitutes best 

available data. Refer to FEMA Floodplain Management Technical Bulletin 1 
Use of Flood Insurance Study (FIS) Data as Available Data, current edition. If 
an appeal is pending on the study in accordance with 44 CFR ch. 1, parts 67.5 
and 67.6, the data does not have to be used.  

 
2. When BFE data is not available from a federal, state, or other source, one of 

the following methods may be used to determine a BFE. For further 
information regarding the methods for determining BFEs listed below, refer to 



FEMA's manual Managing Floodplain Development in Approximate Zone A 
Areas:  
a. Contour interpolation:  

i. Superimpose approximate Zone A boundaries onto a topographic 
map and estimate a BFE.  

ii. Add one-half of the contour interval of the topographic map that is 
used to the BFE.  

 
b. Data extrapolation. A BFE can be determined if a site within 500 feet 

upstream of a reach of a stream for which a 100-year profile has been 
computed by detailed methods, and the floodplain and channel bottom 
slope characteristics are relatively similar to the downstream reaches. No 
hydraulic structures shall be present.  

 
c. Hydrologic and hydraulic calculations. Perform hydrologic and hydraulic 

calculations to determine BFEs using FEMA approved methods and 
software.  

     
13.12-4.050. - Standards for streams with established BFEs but without floodways.  
Along rivers and streams where BFE data is provided without a floodway are identified 
for a SFHA on the FIRM or in the FIS. The following provisions apply within such areas:  
 

A. No encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements, or 
other development, shall be permitted unless certification with supporting 
technical data by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that 
the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other 
existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface 
elevation of the base flood more than one foot at any point within the community.    

 
13.12-4.060. - Coastal high hazard areas (V-zones).  
Located within the SFHAss established in section 13.12-1.040, Lands, or subsection 
13.12-3.050(K) are areas designated as coastal high hazard areas. These areas have 
special flood hazards associated with wave wash. The following provisions shall apply 
within such areas:  
 

A. All buildings or structures shall be located landward of the first line of stable 
natural vegetation and comply with all applicable DHEC and OCRM setback 
requirements.  

 
B. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be elevated so that the 

bottom of the lowest supporting horizontal structural member (excluding pilings 
or columns) of the lowest floor is located no lower than three foot above the BFE.  

 
C. All buildings or structures shall be securely anchored on pilings or columns, 

extending vertically below a grade of sufficient depth and the zone of potential 
scour, and securely anchored to the subsoil strata.  



 
D. All pilings and columns and the attached structures shall be anchored to resist 

flotation, collapse, lateral movement and scour due to the effect of wind and water 
loads acting simultaneously on all building components.  

 
E. A registered professional engineer shall certify that the design, specifications and 

plans for construction are in compliance with the provisions contained in 
subsections 13.12-4.060(C), (D), and (F).  

 
F. There shall be no fill used as structural support. Non-compacted fill may be used 

around the perimeter of a building for landscaping/aesthetic purposes provided the 
fill will wash out from storm surge, thereby rendering the building free of 
obstruction prior to generating excessive loading forces, ramping effects, or wave 
deflection. Only beach compatible sand may be used. The floodplain 
administrator shall approve design plans for landscaping/aesthetic fill only after 
the applicant has provided an analysis by an engineer, and/or soil scientist that 
demonstrates that the following factors have been fully considered:  
1. Particle composition of fill material does not have a tendency for excessive 

natural compaction;  
 

2. Volume and distribution of fill will not cause wave deflection to adjacent 
properties; and  

 
3. Slope of fill will not cause wave run-up or ramping.  

 
G. There shall be no alteration of sand dunes that would increase potential flood 

damage.  
 

H. All new construction and substantial improvements have the space below the 
lowest floor either free of obstruction or constructed with non-supporting 
breakaway walls, open wood lattice-work, or insect screening intended to collapse 
under wind and water loads without causing collapse, displacement, or other 
structural damage to the elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation 
system. For the purpose of this section, a breakaway wall shall have a design safe 
loading resistance of not less than ten and no more than 20 pounds per square 
foot. Breakaway wall enclosures shall not exceed 299 square feet. Only flood 
resistant materials shall be used below the required flood elevation specified in 
13.12-4.010(C). One wet location switch and/or outlet connected to a ground fault 
interrupt breaker may be installed below the required lowest floor elevation 
specified in 13.12-4.010(E).  

 
Use of breakaway walls which exceed a design safe loading resistance of 20 
pounds per square foot may be permitted only if a registered professional engineer 
certifies that the designs proposed meet the following conditions:  
1. Breakaway wall collapse shall result from water load less than that which 

would occur during the base flood.  



 
2. The elevated portion of the building and supporting foundation system shall 

not be subject to collapse, displacement, or other structural damage due to the 
effects of wind and water loads acting simultaneously on all building 
components (structural and nonstructural). The water loading shall be those 
values associated with the base flood. The wind loading values shall be those 
required by applicable IBC International Building Codes.  

 
3. Such enclosed space shall be useable solely for parking of vehicles, building 

access, or storage. Such space shall not be used for human habitation, finished 
or partitioned into multiple rooms, or temperature-controlled.  

 
I. No manufactured homes shall be permitted except in an existing manufactured 

home park or subdivision. A replacement manufactured home may be placed on a 
lot in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision provided the anchoring 
and elevation standards of subsection 13.12-4.020(C).  

 
J. Recreational vehicles shall be permitted in coastal high hazard areas provided that 

they meet the recreational vehicle criteria of subsection 13.12-4.020(F) and the 
provisions of subsection 13.12-4.020(I).  Recreational vehicles, park model 
trailers and campers are prohibited as a principal use on any single lot of record 
located within the unincorporated portions of Edisto Island.  

 
 

K. Accessory structures, below the required lowest floor elevation specified in 
subsection 13.12-4.060(B), are prohibited except for the following:  
1. Swimming pools.  

a. They are installed at-grade or elevated at or above the DFE so long as the 
pool will not act as an obstruction.  

 
b. They must be structurally independent of the building and its foundation.  

 
c. They may be placed beneath a coastal building only if the top of the pool 

and any accompanying decking or walkway are flush with the existing 
grade and only if the lower area remains unenclosed.  

 
d. As part of the certification process for V-zone buildings the design 

professional must consider the effects that any of these elements will have 
on the building in question and any nearby buildings.  

 
 

2. Access stairs attached to or beneath an elevated building:  
a. Must be constructed of flood-resistant material;  

 
b. Must be constructed as open staircases so they do not block flow under the 

structure in accordance with 44 CFR 60.3(e)(5).  



 
3. Decks.  

a. If the deck is structurally attached to a building then the bottom of the 
lowest horizontal member must be at or above the elevation of the 
buildings lowest horizontal member.  

 
b. If the deck is to be built below the BFE then it must be structurally 

independent of the main building and must not cause an obstruction.  
 

c. If an at-grade, structurally independent deck is proposed then a design 
professional must evaluate the design to determine if it will adversely 
affect the building and nearby buildings.  

 
 

L. Parking areas should be located on a stable grade under or landward of a 
structure. Any parking surface shall consist of gravel or aggregate.  

 
M. All new and replacement utility equipment and systems, which include water 

supply, sanitary sewage, electrical, and HVAC including ductwork, and other 
service facilities shall be designed and installed to minimize or eliminate 
infiltration of floodwaters into these systems or components, or discharges from 
these systems into floodwaters during conditions of the DFE. This requirement 
does not include the installation of outdoor faucets for shower heads, sinks, hoses, 
etc., as long as cut off devices and back flow devices are installed to prevent 
contamination and minimize flood damages to the building. No utilities or 
components shall be attached to breakaway walls.  

    
ARTICLE 13.12-5. - VARIANCE PROCEDURES  

  
Sections: 

 
13.12-5.010. - Establishment of the zoning board of appeals (ZBA).  
13.12-5.020. - Right to appeal.  
13.12-5.030. - Historic structures.  
13.12-5.040. – Functionally dependent uses.  
13.12-5.050. - Agricultural structures.  
13.12-5.060. - Considerations.  
13.12-5.070. - Findings.  
13.12-5.080. - Floodways.  
13.12-5.090. – Conditions.  
 

13.12-5.010. - Establishment of the zoning board of appeals (ZBA).  
The ZBA as established by the Colleton County council shall hear and decide requests for 
appeals and eligible variances from the requirements of this chapter.  

    
 



13.12-5.020. - Right to appeal.  
Any person aggrieved by the decision of the ZBA or any taxpayer may appeal such 
decision to the county circuit court.  
    
13.12-5.030. - Historic structures.  
Variances may be issued for the repair or rehabilitation of historic structures upon the 
determination that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's 
continued designation as a historic structure and the variance is the minimum necessary 
to preserve the historic character and design of the structure.  
     
13.12-5.040. - Functionally dependent uses.  
Variances may be issued for development necessary for the conduct of a functionally 
dependent use, provided the criteria in 13.12-5.050 are met, no reasonable alternative 
exist, and the development is protected by methods that minimize flood damage and 
create no additional threat to public safety.  
    
13.12-5.050. – Agricultural Structures.         
Variances may be issued to wet floodproof an agricultural structure provided it is used 
solely for agricultural purposes.  In order to minimize flood damages during the base 
flood and the threat to public health and safety, the structure must meet all of the 
conditions and considerations of 13.12-5.080., this section, and the following standards: 

 
A. Use of the structure must be limited to agricultural purposes as listed below: 

 
1. Pole frame buildings with open or closed sides used exclusively for the storage of 

farm machinery and equipment, 
 

2. Steel grain bins and steel frame corncribs, 
 

3. General-purpose barns for the temporary feeding of livestock that are open on at 
least one side; 

 
4. For livestock confinement buildings, poultry houses, dairy operations, and similar 

livestock operations, variances may not be issued for structures that were 
substantially damaged.  New construction or substantial improvement of such 
structures must meet the elevation requirements of 13.12-4.020(B) of this 
ordinance; and 

 
B. The agricultural structure must be built or rebuilt, in the case of an existing building 

that is substantially damaged, with flood-resistant materials for the exterior and 
interior building components and elements below the base flood elevation. 

 
C. The agricultural structure must be adequately anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, 

or lateral movement.  All of the structure's components must be capable of resisting 
specific flood-related forces including hydrostatic, buoyancy, hydrodynamic, and 
debris impact forces.  Where flood velocities exceed 5 feet per second, fast-flowing 



floodwaters can exert considerable pressure on the building's enclosure walls or 
foundation walls. 

 
D. The agricultural structure must meet the venting requirement of 13.12-4.020(D) of 

this ordinance. 
 
E. Any mechanical, electrical, or other utility equipment must be located at or above the 

DFE, or be contained within a watertight, floodproofed enclosure that is capable of 
resisting damage during flood conditions in accordance with 13.12-4.010(E) of this 
ordinance. 

 
F. The agricultural structure must comply with the floodway encroachment provisions of 

13.12-4.020(E) of this ordinance. 
 
G. Major equipment, machinery, or other contents must be protected.  Such protection 

may include protective watertight floodproofed areas within the building, the use of 
equipment hoists for readily elevating contents, permanently elevating contents on 
pedestals or shelves above the base flood elevation, or determining that property 
owners can safely remove contents without risk to lives and that the contents will be 
located to a specified site out of the floodplain. 

 
13.12-5.060. - Considerations.  
In passing upon such applications, the ZBA shall consider all technical evaluations, all 
relevant factors, all standards specified in other sections of this chapter, and:  
 

A. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others;  
 

B. The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage, and the safety 
of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency vehicles;  

 
C. The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and 

the effect of such damage on the individual owner;  
 

D. The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the 
community;  

 
E. The necessity of the facility to a waterfront location, (functionally dependent) 

where applicable;  
 

F. The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion 
damage, for the proposed use;  

 
G. The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development, 

and the relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and floodplain 
management program for that area;  

 



H. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of the 
floodwaters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site;  

 
I. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions 

including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, 
gas, electrical and water systems, and roads and bridges; and  

 
J. Agricultural structures must be located in wide, expansive floodplain areas, where 

no other alternative location for the agricultural structure exists. The applicant 
must demonstrate that the entire farm acreage, consisting of a contiguous parcel 
of land on which the structure is to be located, must be in the SFHA and no other 
alternative and viable locations for the structure are available.     

 
13.12-5.070. - Findings.  
Findings listed above shall be submitted to the ZBA, in writing, and included in the 
application for a variance. Additionally, comments from the SCDNR, OCRM, SCDHEC, 
state coordinator's office, and the Army Corps. Of Engineers (USACE), as appropriate, 
must be taken into account and included in the permit file.     
 
13.12-5.080. - Floodways.  
Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood 
levels, or changes in the floodway configuration during the base flood discharge would 
result unless a CLOMR is obtained prior to issuance of the variance. In order to insure 
the project is built in compliance with the CLOMR for which the variance is granted the 
applicant must provide a bond for 100 percent of the cost to perform the development.  
    
13.12-5.090. - Conditions.  
Upon consideration of the factors listed above and the purposes of this chapter, the ZBA 
may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to further 
the purposes of this chapter. The following conditions shall apply to all variances:  
 

A. Variances may not be issued when the variance will make the structure in 
violation of other federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or ordinances.  

 
B. Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the 

minimum necessary, considering the SFHA or floodway, to afford relief.  
 

C. Variances shall only be issued upon a showing of good and sufficient cause, a 
determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional 
hardship, and a determination that the granting of a variance will not result in 
increased flood heights, change in floodway configuration, additional threats to 
public safety, extraordinary public expense, create nuisance, cause fraud on or 
victimization of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances.  

 
D. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice 

specifying the difference between the BFE and the elevation to which the 



structure is to be built and a written statement that the cost of flood insurance will 
be commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest floor 
elevation. Such notification shall be maintained with a record of all variance 
actions.  

 
E. The floodplain administrator shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and 

report any variances to FEMA upon request.  
 

F. Variances shall not be issued for unpermitted development or other development 
that is not in compliance with the provisions of this chapter. Violations must be 
corrected in accordance with subsection 13.12-3.040(E).  

    
ARTICLE 13.12-6. - LEGAL STATUS PROVISIONS  
 
Sections: 
 

13.12-6.010. - Effect on rights and liabilities under the existing flood damage 
prevention ordinance.  
13.12-6.020. - Effect upon outstanding building permits.  
13.12-6.030. - Effective Date.  

 
13.12-6.010. - Effect on rights and liabilities under the existing flood damage 
prevention ordinance.  
This chapter in part comes forward by re-enactment of some of the provisions of the 
flood damage prevention ordinance enacted April 7, 1987, as amended October 7, 2008, 
and it is not the intention to repeal but rather to re-enact and continue to enforce without 
interruption of such existing provisions, so that all rights and liabilities that have accrued 
thereunder are reserved and may be enforced. The enactment of this chapter shall not 
affect any action, suit or proceeding instituted or pending. All provisions of the flood 
damage prevention ordinance of Colleton County enacted on April 7, 1987, as amended 
October 7, 2008, which are not reenacted herein, are repealed.  
    
 
13.12-6.020. - Effect upon outstanding building permits.  
Nothing herein contained shall require any change in the plans, construction, size or 
designated use of any building, structure or part thereof for which a building permit has 
been granted by the chief building inspector or his authorized agents before December 2, 
2001; provided, however, that when construction is not begun under such outstanding 
permit within a period of 60 days subsequent to passage of this chapter, construction or 
use shall be in conformity with the provisions of this chapter.  
   
13.12-6.030. - Effective Date.  
This chapter shall become effective October 7, 2008.  
    

3. Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, Chapter 13.16 – Manufactured/Mobile Homes, 
of the Colleton County Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the 



Originating and Amending Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in 
its totality to read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 13.16. – MANUFACTURED/MOBILE HOMES  
 
Sections: 
 

13.16.020. – Regulation of placement of certain manufactured or mobile homes.  
13.16.030. – Wind Zone Requirements.  
13.16.040. – Duty of owner to obtain a registration decal.  
13.16.050. – Installation.  
13.16.060. – Repair, alteration or modification.  
13.16.070. – Permits required.  
13.16.080. – Prerequisites for power.  
13.16.090. – Change of occupancy.  
13.16.100. – Temporary use permits.  
13.16.110. – Discretion of the director of planning and development and building 
official.  
13.16.120. – Penalty.  

 
13.16.020. - Regulation of placement of certain manufactured or mobile homes.  

A. For the purposes of this Chapter, home or homes shall mean mobile homes or 
manufactured homes, and manufactured homes shall mean mobile homes, and 
vice-versa. 

 
B. No mobile homes manufactured prior to June 15, 1976, which are not 

currently permitted by Colleton County, may be brought into and granted a 
permit for placement in Colleton County, South Carolina.  

 
C. Mobile homes manufactured prior to June 15, 1976, which are, as of the date 

of the passage of the ordinance codified in this chapter, situated and legally 
permitted to be located in Colleton County may remain and may be granted a 
permit for relocation within the county, if structurally sound for relocation.  

 
D. Homes that have not been correctly or legally registered; derelict or non-

habitable; deemed as no-value by the assessor's office; condemned by code 
enforcement; or otherwise removed from the tax rolls for any reasons, will be 
required to meet the guidelines within this chapter before said home can 
remain in the county. Such homes will require an inspection by the building 
department before power can be restored.  

    
13.16.030. - Wind zone requirements.  
 

A. Federal law defines wind zone 2 as all areas within the boundaries of Colleton 
County, South Carolina. All manufactured homes are required to be labeled to 
meet the minimum wind speed for the zone in which they are to be placed. 



Consequently, only homes built to wind zone 2 or 3 specifications, and 
labeled as wind zone 2 or 3 units, may be placed in Colleton County. The 
wind zone requirements are provisions of federal law, and no exceptions or 
variances are permitted; therefore, only wind zone 2 or 3 homes will be 
permitted to move and be placed within Colleton County.  

 
B. Wind zone 1 homes currently located and properly registered within the 

boundaries of Colleton County as of October 3, 2000, may continue to be 
occupied and used within the boundaries of Colleton County.  

    
13.16.040. - Duty of owner to obtain a registration decal.  
Each owner of a manufactured home located in Colleton County shall obtain and 
display a county registration decal as required by state law, within 15 days of 
purchase, or change of ownership, or if the manufactured home is relocated, except 
where:  
 

A. The unit is temporarily located within the county for the express 
predetermined purpose of conveyance outside the county within 30 days after 
arrival;  

 
B. The unit is held for display or exhibition purposes by a manufactured home 

dealer licensed by the state as such; or  
 

C. The unit is passing through the county on a public street, road, or highway for 
conveyance elsewhere.    

 
13.16.050. - Installation.  
The manufacturer's installation manual is the document to be used for the first 
placement of new manufactured homes; whereas subsequent installations must utilize 
the South Carolina Manufactured Housing Board regulations. Such written 
instructions must be available at the job site at the time of the inspection by the 
county building inspector. A manufactured home installer shall be liable to the 
purchaser of the manufactured home for failure to properly install/set up the 
manufactured home pursuant to the requirements of this chapter.  
    
 
13.16.060. - Repair, alteration, or modification.  

A. Renovations, repairs, or modifications to manufactured homes are performed 
under the jurisdiction of the local building authority where the home is 
located.  

 
B. Such work shall be performed in accordance with the requirements of the 

most recently adopted edition of the International Residential Code (IRC), 
except where such repairs are performed by a qualified manufacturer's 
technician during the warranty period. In that case, the repairs shall comply 
with the Federal Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards.  



 
C. A South Carolina manufactured home contractor or repairer, a licensed 

residential builder, a  licensed general contractor, a licensed retail dealer or 
manufacturer, or an employee thereof for homes sold or manufactured by 
them, or a registered residential specialty contractor (as long as the Residential 
Builders' Commission recognizes the specialty), are all permitted to repair, 
alter, and/or modify manufactured homes.  

 
13.16.070. - Permits required.  

A. A permit shall be required for the placement of any manufactured home 
within the unincorporated areas of Colleton County. Only a licensed dealer or 
installer of manufactured homes, or the unit's owner, if said owner is actually 
performing the installation, shall apply for the permit. It shall be unlawful for 
any person selling a manufactured home, or for a manufactured home mover, 
to deliver or place a unit upon any prospective temporary or permanent site 
without first having secured a manufactured home placement permit.  

 
B. No repair, renovation, or alteration to a manufactured home shall commence 

until a valid permit for such work has been applied for and issued by the 
planning and development department.  

 
C. Where work on a mobile home or its placement on a parcel has occurred prior 

to obtaining the required permit(s), any and all required permit fees shall be 
doubled, which may include the zoning permit, the manufactured home permit 
and/or building permit, as required. The payment of such doubled fee shall not 
relieve any persons from fully complying with the requirements of this 
chapter or with any other applicable codes in the execution of the work, nor 
from any other penalties prescribed.  Failure to pay the double permit fees 
before work recommences shall initiate a citation where a court date will be 
assigned. 

    
 
13.16.080. - Prerequisites for power.  

A. No electric service provider shall install a new connection of electricity to a 
manufactured home unless the director or assigned compliance officer has 
released permission to the provider. This includes manufactured homes where 
the power was turned off due to fire or other catastrophe, which requires a 
permit and inspection of the home prior to authorizing the power to be turned 
back on.  

 
B. If the electrical connection has been completed without proper inspections, the 

director or assigned compliance officer will require the provider to remove 
such service immediately, and the double permit fees and/or citation issuance 
defined in 13.16.070(C) above shall apply, as appropriate.  

 
 



    
13.16.090. - Change of occupancy.  

A. HUD labeled manufactured homes are constructed as single-family detached 
residences only. They are not designed or intended for use as, nor will they meet 
any building code requirements for, offices, stores/shops, class rooms, places of 
assembly, storage buildings, etc.  

 
B. A home-occupation may be conducted from a manufactured home, as long as that 

use is permitted in the zoning district where the home is located, there are no 
existing HOA CC&Rs prohibiting it, and such use meets the provisions of any 
applicable state or federal laws, and the principal use remains as a residence.  

    
13.16.100. - Temporary use permits.  
The following is the only instance for which a temporary permit may be considered for a 
manufactured home:  
 

A. Permitting the temporary set up of a manufactured home for the purpose of 
remodeling or bringing such unit up to building standards. In this case, no 
plumbing hookup or electrical permit will be approved. This permit will expire in 
90 days. Additional 30-day extensions may be requested from the director, but 
approval is not guaranteed.  

 
B. Nothing in this section exempts an applicant from securing all other required 

permits. Primary building permits must be applied for at the time the temporary 
use permit is approved.  

 
13.16.110. - Discretion of the director of planning and development and building 
official.  

A. The director has the authority to render interpretations of this chapter and to adopt 
policies and procedures to clarify the application of its provisions. Such 
interpretations, policies and procedures shall be in conformance with the intent 
and purpose of this chapter.  

 
B. It shall also be at the discretion of the building official, with approval by the 

director to request disconnection of power and/or utilities to a manufactured home 
that has been installed or set up illegally, improperly, or without proper authority, 
when a home is in violation of this chapter or any other applicable state or federal 
laws; or where necessary due to safety and/or hazardous conditions.  

 
13.16.120. - Penalty.  
Any person violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this chapter shall 
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined not more than 
$500.00 or imprisoned for not more than 30 days for each such violation. Each day of 
noncompliance with the provisions of this chapter shall constitute a separate offense.  

   



4. Title 13 – Buildings and Construction, Chapter 13.20 – Uniform Ordinance Summons, 
of the Colleton County Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the 
Originating and Amending Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in 
its totality to read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 13.20. - UNIFORM ORDINANCE SUMMONS  
 
Sections:  
 

13.20.010. - Ordinance summons form.  
13.20.020. - Department responsibilities.  
13.20.030. - Court and officer copies.  
13.20.040. - Record maintenance for annual audit of summons.  
13.20.050. - Violation—Penalty.  
13.20.060. - Custodial arrest and motor vehicle regulation enforcement excluded.  

 
13.20.010. - Ordinance summons form.  
There shall be made available to all county compliance officers (which includes code 
enforcement officers, litter control officers, building inspectors, zoning 
administrators, floodplain administrators, sheriff’s deputies, and the fire marshal) of 
this county an ordinance summons which complies with the requirements of S.C. 
Code 1976, § 56-7-80, as amended. The form shall be substantially the same as the 
form which is attached to the ordinance codified in this chapter and amended herein. 
The summons shall have the same affect whether served in person or sent by certified 
mail.  
    
13.20.020. - Department responsibilities.  
The planning and development department shall be responsible for having the 
summons books printed, issuing blank summons books, and keeping a record of the 
summons forms assigned to each individual compliance officer or in the case of fire-
rescue and sheriff’s deputies, the forms assigned to those departments.  
     
13.20.030. - Court and officer copies.  
Any compliance officer issuing an ordinance summons shall be responsible for 
forwarding the copy of the summons labeled "Court Copy" to the appropriate judicial 
office within 48 hours of issuing the summons. It shall also be the issuing officer's 
responsibility to keep the copy of the summons labeled "Officer Copy" until the 
appointed hearing time. After all action concerning the summons has been concluded, 
the issuing officer shall provide the "Officer Copy" of the summons to the director or 
the fire-rescue director (or their designees) within 48 hours.  
 
13.20.040. - Record maintenance for annual audit of summons.  
Planning and development and fire-rescue shall each be responsible for keeping the 
summons forms that have been turned in by their respective compliance officers in a 
manner which will allow for an annual audit of the summons forms.  
    



 
13.20.050. - Violation—Penalty.  

A. Any person who fails to appear before the court as required by a uniform 
ordinance summons, without first having posted such bond, as may be 
required, or without having been granted a continuance by the court, is guilty 
of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than $500.00 
and/or be imprisoned for not less than two days nor more than 30 days.  

 
B. Any person, who is issued a summons for violation of the provisions of the 

Public Nuisance, Building & Construction, Land Development, Zoning, Flood 
Damage Prevention, and/or Fire Codes as adopted by Colleton County, shall 
upon conviction of such violation, be guilty of a misdemeanor, and the 
penalties prescribed by the individual code, chapter, section or by Chapter 
1.08, General Penalty, of the Colleton County Code of Laws shall apply.  

   
13.20.060. - Custodial arrest and motor vehicle regulation enforcement excluded.  
The uniform ordinance summons may not be used to perform a custodial arrest. 
Further, no county ordinance regulating the use of motor vehicles on the public roads 
of the state can be enforced using this uniform ordinance summons. This chapter does 
not prohibit the county from enforcing ordinances by any other means allowed by 
law.  

 
5. Severability: 
 

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is 
held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Ordinance 
which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application and to this end, the 
provisions of this Ordinance are severable. 

 
6. Conflict: 
 

Provisions in other County Ordinances, Resolutions, policies, or by-laws in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 
ATTEST:     SIGNED: 
 
 
________________________                          __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk                               Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman                                                                                             
                                                                                             
 
 
____________________________   COUNCIL VOTE:  
Approved as to Form     OPPOSED: 
Sean Thornton, County Attorney 



1 
 

Sponsor(s)                                    :  County Council 
First Reading                                :  March 1, 2022       I, ____________________, 
Committee Referral                      :  N/A                                                                                  Council Clerk, certify that this 
Committee Consideration Date    :  N/A                                                                    Ordinance was advertised for 
Committee Recommendation       :  N/A                                                                     Public Hearing on  _______. 
Second Reading                            :  April 5, 2022 
Public Hearing                              :  May 3, 2022 
Third Reading                               :  May 3, 2022 
Effective Date                               :  Immediately 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-05 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
[TO AMEND TITLE 14 – LAND MANAGEMENT, CHAPTER 14.04 – LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS AND CHAPTER 14.08 – ZONING, TO COINCIDE 
WITH THE TEN YEAR UPDATE OF THE COLLETON COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Title 14 – Land Management, Chapter 14.04 – Land Development Regulations, of the 

Colleton County Code of Ordinances were reviewed by the Planning Commission on 
November 23, 2020, December 29, 2020 and March 28, 2022; and  
 

2. Title 14 – Land Management, Chapter 14.08 – Zoning, of the Colleton County Code of 
Ordinances were reviewed by the Planning Commission on December 29, 2020, January 25, 
2021 and March 28, 2022; and 
 

3. Chapters 14.04 and 14.08 were edited for legal sufficiency, redundancy and/or unnecessary 
words and phrases, and updated and clarified simplified phrases in order to be current with 
the accepted American Planning Association (APA) principles and practices; and  

  
4. County Council believes it is in the best interest of the citizens of Colleton County to approve 

the changes set forth herein.  
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL, DULY 
ASSEMBLED, THAT: 
  
1. Title 14 – Land Management, Chapter 14.04 – Land Development Regulations, of the 

Colleton County Code of Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the Originating and 
Amending Ordinances), and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in its totality to 
read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 14.04. - LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  
 
ARTICLE 14.04-1. - PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY  
 



2 
 

Sections: 
14.04-1.010. - Title.  
14.04-1.020. - Purpose and authority.  
14.04-1.030. - Jurisdiction.  

 
14.04-1.010. - Title.  
This chapter shall be known and may be cited as the Land Development Regulations of 
Colleton County, South Carolina.  
   
14.04-1.020. - Purpose and authority.  
The purpose of these land development regulations is to promote the public health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents and require the harmonious, orderly, controlled and 
sustainable development of land within the county. In furtherance of this general intent, 
the regulation of land development by the county is authorized by S.C. Code 1976, § 6-
29-1120 for the following purposes, among others:  
 
A. To encourage the development of economically sound and sustainable municipalities 

and counties;  
 

B. To assure the timely provision of required streets, utilities, and other facilities and 
services to new land developments;  

 
C. To assure the adequate provision of safe and convenient traffic access and circulation, 

for motorists, bicyclists and pedestrians, in and through new land developments;  
 

D. To assure the provision of needed public open spaces and building sites in new land 
developments through the dedication or reservation of land for recreational, 
educational, transportation, and other public purposes; and  

 
E. To assure, in general, wise, timely and sustainable development of new areas, and 

redevelopment of previously developed areas in harmony with the comprehensive 
plans of municipalities and counties.  

   
14.04-1.030. - Jurisdiction.  
The regulations contained herein shall govern each and every subdivision and installation 
of infrastructure within the county outside of the jurisdiction of any incorporated 
municipality, except those we have an intergovernmental agreement with to do their 
planning, zoning, building permitting and inspections.  
   
ARTICLE 14.04-2. - LEGAL PROVISIONS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.04-2.010. - Administration.  
 
 



3 
 

14.04-2.020. - General legal provisions.  
14.04-2.030. - Existing and future ordinances.  
14.04-2.040. - Severability and validity.  
14.04-2.050. - Violations and penalties.  
14.04-2.060. - Appeals.  
14.04-2.070. - Modifications.  
14.04-2.080. - Amendments.  
14.04-2.090. – Delegated authority to staff.  
14.04-2.100. - Abrogation.  
14.04-2.110. – Repeal of conflicting ordinances.  
14.04-2.120. – Effective date of adoption.  

 
14.04-2.010. - Administration.  
In accordance with S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-1150(C), the planning commission is 
responsible for the administration of the land development regulations. The planning 
commission hereby designates the director of planning and development hereinafter 
(director) or his designee to perform the duties as set forth herein.  

 
14.04-2.020. - General legal provisions.  
A. No subdivision plat, survey, or other land development plan within the jurisdiction of 

the county may be filed or recorded in the county office where deeds are recorded 
until it bears the stamp of approval and is properly signed by the director.  

B. No building permit may be issued until the plat or site plan is approved and properly 
signed by the authority designated in this chapter.  

C. If the developer defaults in installing required site improvements, the County can use 
the proceeds of the required surety bond or other security instrument posted by the 
developer to install the required improvements.  

14.04-2.030. - Existing and future ordinances.  
All proposed development of land must comply in all respects with the requirements of 
chapter 14.08, pertaining to zoning, chapter 13.12, pertaining to floodplain damage 
prevention, and, where applicable, any other officially adopted ordinances, plans or maps 
approved by the county.  
 
14.04-2.040. - Severability and validity.  
Should any section or provision of this chapter be decided by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the chapter as a whole or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be 
unconstitutional or invalid.  
 
14.04-2.050. - Violations and penalties.  
A. Complaints regarding violations. Whenever an alleged violation of this chapter 

occurs, the director or his designee shall investigate such complaint, and take such 
action as provided by this chapter. Complaints may be filed in writing or verbally, 
stating fully the cause and basis thereof.  



4 
 

 

B. Penalties for violations.  

1. Except as otherwise provided herein, the owner or agent of the owner of any land 
to be subdivided within the unincorporated portion of the county who transfers or 
sells the land by reference to or exhibition of or by other use of a plat of 
subdivision of the land before the plat has been approved by the director and/or 
the planning commission and recorded in the office of the register of deeds in and 
for the county, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, 
shall be punished in the discretion of the court; and the description by metes and 
bounds in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of 
selling or transfer shall not exempt the transaction from these penalties. The 
county may enjoin the transfer or sale or agreement by appropriate action.  

2. Where any building, structure, or sign is or is proposed to be erected, constructed, 
reconstructed, altered, converted, demolished, maintained, or be used in violation 
of this chapter, the director or his designated compliance officers may, in 
accordance with the provisions of S.C. Code 1976, § 56-7-80, as amended, issue a 
stop-work-order, an ordinance summons, or institute injunction, mandamus, or 
other appropriate action or proceeding to prevent such unlawful erection, 
construction, reconstruction, alteration, conversion, demolition, maintenance, or 
use; to correct or abate the violation or to prevent the occupancy of the building, 
structure, or land. Each day such unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, 
alteration, conversion, demolition, maintenance, or use continues shall be deemed 
a separate offense.  

3. Failure to apply for the appropriate and required permits, including building, 
zoning, sign and/or  floodplain permits, prior to commencing any work requiring 
a permit shall require the director or his         designated compliance officers to 
issue a stop-work-order.  The stop-work-order cannot be removed to        allow 
further work to commence until the applicant has submitted everything required 
for each required permit, received approval on all permits, and paid a double-
permit fee fine for all permits required.  Failure of the applicant to comply and/or 
pay the double-permit fee fine may cause the property owner to be fined up to 
$500.00 and serve up to 30 days in jail in accordance with Colleton County 
Codes, where each day’s violation of any provision of this chapter shall constitute 
a separate offense. 

14.04-2.060. - Appeals.  
A. Questions arising from the enforcement of these regulations by the director or his 

designated compliance officers may be appealed to the planning commission for 
consideration within 30 days of the decision. The planning commission will render a 
decision on the appeal within 60 days and the appellant will be notified, in writing, 
of such decision within seven business days.  

 



5 
 

B. Any party aggrieved by a decision of the planning commission regarding the 
standards enumerated in these regulations or a ruling on a requested modification 
may appeal the decision to the circuit court of the county. The aggrieved party shall 
file a petition with the clerk of court within 30 days of the planning commission 
decision.  

 
14.04-2.070. - Modifications.  
A. The planning commission may grant, upon written request, design modifications to 

the requirements of article 14.04-5 if the strict application of the requirements would 
create an undue hardship in the development of land. Such hardship cannot be 
created by the applicant or be requested for the sole purpose of increasing profitable 
gain. Design modification requests shall be prepared by the property owner, 
developer, or agent and address the criteria in subsection C of this section.  

 
B. Requests for design modifications shall be submitted at the same time the plat is 

submitted.  
 
C. Before granting the design modification, the planning commission shall state, for the 

record, that the following findings are satisfied. In reaching such conclusion, the 
commission may utilize the written request prepared by the applicant or other 
applicable information.  
1. The design modification is justified due to topographical or other special 

conditions unique to the property.  
 
2. The design modification will not compromise the intent or purpose of the 

regulations.  
 

14.04-2.080. - Amendments.  
A. The planning commission is responsible for the review and recommendation of 

amendments to the land development regulations to the county council for adoption.  
 
B. The county council may adopt amendments to this chapter by enacting an ordinance 

following a duly noticed public hearing.  
 
C. A public hearing for an amendment to this chapter shall have a minimum of 30 days' 

notice by publication in a newspaper of general circulation including the time and 
place of the hearing in accordance with S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-1130(B).  

 
14.04-2.090. - Delegated authority to staff.  
Pursuant to S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-1150, the planning commission delegates review and 
approval authority to the director of planning and development, hereinafter (director) or 
his designee for all exempt plats, minor and major subdivisions, summary plats, boundary 
surveys, final plats and commercial development projects. Only major subdivision 
preliminary plats require the approval of the planning commission. 
 
14.04-2.100. - Abrogation.  



6 
 

It is not intended that this chapter repeal, abrogate, annul, impair, or interfere with any 
existing easements, covenants, deed restrictions, agreements, rules, regulations, or 
permits previously adopted or issued pursuant to law. However, where this chapter 
imposes greater restrictions, the provisions of this chapter shall govern.  

 
14.04-2.110. - Repeal of conflicting ordinances.  
All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this chapter are repealed to the 
extent necessary to give this chapter full force and effect.  

 
14.04-2.120. - Effective date and adoption.  
The ordinance from which this chapter is derived shall take effect and be in force from 
and after May 3, 2022.  

  
ARTICLE 14.04-3. - SUBDIVISION TYPES AND REVIEW PROCEDURES  
 
Sections: 
 

14.04-3.010. - Purpose.  
14.04-3.020. - Land development types.  
14.04-3.030. - Minor subdivision process.  
14.04-3.040. - Major subdivision process.  
14.04-3.050. - Financial guarantees.  
14.04-3.060. - Commercial development projects.  

 
14.04-3.010. - Purpose.  
The purpose of this article is to establish an orderly subdivision process for the county. It 
is also the intent of this article to provide a clear and comprehensive approval process 
that is fair and equitable to all interests including the petitioners, affected neighbors, 
county staff, and related agencies. Approved plans shall be the guiding documents for 
final approval and permitting.  
 
14.04-3.020. - Land development types.  
A. Commercial development defined. Commercial development is any development 

other than a single or two family residential development on a single lot, not used for 
commercial gain, which excludes units for rent or lease or any owner/renter 
characteristics. Commercial developments include: residential or commercial 
subdivisions; multi-family apartment or condominium complexes; commercial retail 
or service businesses, offices, parks, or centers; industrial developments or parks; or, 
mobile home and RV parks or subdivisions.  

 
B. Subdivision defined. According to S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-1110(2), a subdivision is 

a division of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building sites or other 
divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, lease, or building 
development. It includes all division of land involving a new street or change in 
existing streets. It covers the alteration of streets or establishment of new streets 
within a subdivision previously approved or recorded. Subdivision also includes re-



7 
 

subdivision involving further division or relocation of lot lines of any lot or lots 
within a subdivision previously made and approved or recorded, and combinations of 
lots of record.  

 
C. Subdivision types. For all subdivisions of land, the following categories of 

subdivisions shall be used to determine the procedures required for review:  
1. Exempt subdivision.  

a. Exempt subdivisions are exempt from the design standards of this chapter; 
however, all lots are subject to the minimum requirements of chapter 14.08. 
An exempt subdivision:  
i. Involves the division of land into parcels of five acres or more where 

no new public or private street is involved;  
ii. Includes the combination or recombination of portions of previously 

platted lots where the total number of lots is not increased and the 
resultant lots are equal to the standards of this chapter and other 
applicable regulations;  

iii. Includes plats for the creation of cemetery lots; or  
iv. Includes a plat of a single pre-existing lot of record.  

 
b. The director shall, when an exempt plat is submitted for recording, review 

said plat to determine if it is in fact exempt from the requirements of this 
chapter. An exempt subdivision shall be drawn to meet the Minimum 
Standards Manual for the Practice of Land Surveying in South Carolina.  

 
c. If the plat is found not to be exempt from the requirements of this chapter, 

the applicant shall be instructed to submit the plat to the director for 
approval and processing.  

 
2. Minor subdivision.  

a. A minor subdivision is one which does not involve:  
i. The creation of more than 15 lots fronting onto an approved, existing 

public or private road or street right-of-way; or  
ii. The creation of any new public or private street.  

 
b. The minor subdivision process shall not be used twice within three years 

anywhere within the original property boundaries if the total number of lots 
exceeds 15 or a new public or private street is created, which then requires 
the major subdivision process to be used.  

 
3. Major subdivision. A major subdivision is any subdivision other than an exempt 

or minor subdivision.  
 
4. Planned development district (PDD) subdivision.  

a. A PDD subdivision is a major subdivision located within a PDD zoning 
classification as regulated in section 14.08-2.140. It is intended to allow for 



8 
 

flexibility to improve the design, character, and quality of new mixed use 
developments and preserve natural and scenic features of open spaces.  

 
b. Design standards set out in this chapter may be waived or modified for 

PDDs provided the intent of this chapter is not nullified or lessened and 
sufficient proof is given substantiating the adequacy of the alternative 
design.  

 
5. Conservation development subdivision. A conservation development 

subdivision is a type of residential subdivision that allows smaller than 
minimum lot sizes and setbacks with dwelling units clustered in smaller areas to 
preserve larger areas for open space and environmental resources developed in 
accordance with section 14.08-3.020(H).  

  
 
14.04-3.030. - Minor subdivision process.  

            The following chart illustrates the Minor Subdivision process:  
 

 
A. Step 1: Pre-application meeting and sketch plan (recommended).  



9 
 

1. To secure advice in the formative stages of development, expedite applications, 
and reduce development costs, the developer may request a pre-application 
meeting and/or sketch plan review.  

 
2. If requested, the director shall schedule a pre-application meeting to discuss all 

applicable subdivision development requirements and provisions of the 
comprehensive plan, land development options, what is required of the 
applicant, and any other pertinent information. The director may invite or 
consult with other department heads and/or affected agencies.  

 
3. In addition or as an alternative to the pre-application meeting, the applicant may 

request an informal review of a sketch plan for the proposed subdivision.  
 
B. Step 2: Applicant submits final plat. Applicants shall submit to the director four 

copies and a digital PDF version of the final plat drawn to the requirements of the 
Minimum Standards Manual for the Practice of Land Surveying in South Carolina, 
the final plat requirements of article 14.04-4 of this chapter, and the required fee.  

 
C. Step 3: Director review of final plat. The director shall review the plat for 

compliance with this chapter, chapter 14.08, any other applicable regulations, and if 
found to be in compliance, will instruct the applicant to prepare a final plat for 
recording, including surveyor certification.  

 
D. Step 4: Review and recommendation by other applicable agencies. The director 

may at his discretion require public agencies concerned with the new development to 
review and make recommendations on the plat; however, the county issued building 
permit does not waive any other outside agency permitting requirements. All 
recommendations should be forwarded to the director within 30 days from date of 
receipt. Said public agencies may include, but not be limited to, the following:  
1. South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT), Department of Health 

and Environmental Control (SCDHEC), or Department of Natural Resources 
(SCDNR).  

 
2. County Fire Marshal, County Engineer, or Department of Roads and Bridges.  
 
3. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers or Office of Coastal Resource Management 

(OCRM).  
 
4. City of Walterboro utilities or other City Departments.  
 
5. Any other agency or official designated by the director.  

 
E. Step 5: Applicant revision period. The applicant shall revise the plat in accordance 

with the director's review. All necessary revisions shall be made prior to approval.  
 
F. Step 6: Director approves final plat.  



10 
 

1. Following successful revision of the final plat by the applicant, the director shall 
approve the final plat by obtaining the applicable signatures as required by 
section 14.04-4.030.  

 
2. Final plat approval shall confer upon the applicant the following rights:  

a. To record the plat with the register of deeds within six months of final plat 
approval; and  

 
b. To proceed with the sale and/or transfer of lots and parcels.  

 
3. If the final plat is not recorded within six months, it shall become void.  

   
14.04-3.040. - Major subdivision process.  
The following chart illustrates the Major Subdivision process:  
 

 
 



11 
 

A. Step 1: Pre-application meeting and sketch plan (recommended).  
1. To secure advice in the formative stages of development, expede applications, 

and reduce development costs, the developer may request a pre-application 
meeting and/or sketch plan review.  

 
2. If requested, the director shall schedule a pre-application meeting to discuss all 

applicable subdivision development requirements and provisions of the 
comprehensive plan, land development options, what is required of the 
applicant, and any other pertinent information. The director may invite or 
consult with other department heads and/or affected agencies.  

 
3. In addition or as an alternative to the pre-application meeting, the applicant may 

request an informal review of a sketch plan for the proposed subdivision.  
 

B. Step 2: Applicant submits preliminary plat and supporting documentation. 
Applicants shall submit to the director 12 copies and a digital PDF version of the 
preliminary plat, two copies and a digital PDF version of the construction plans, the 
required fee, and all materials stipulated by section 14.04-4.030.  

 
C. Step 3: Director review of preliminary plat. The director shall review the plat for 

compliance with the requirements of this chapter, chapter 14.08, and any other 
applicable regulations.  

 
D. Step 4: Review and recommendation by other applicable agencies. The director 

may at his discretion require public agencies concerned with the new development to 
review and make recommendations on the plat; however, the county issued building 
permit does not waive any other outside agency permitting requirements. All 
recommendations should be forwarded to the director within 30 days from date of 
receipt. Said public agencies may include, but not be limited to, the following:  
1. South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT), Department of Health 

and Environmental Control (SCDHEC), or Department of Natural Resources 
(SCDNR).  

 
2. County Fire Marshal, County Engineer, or Department of Roads and Bridges.  
 
3. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers or Office of Coastal Resource Management 

(OCRM).  
 
4. City of Walterboro utilities or other City Departments.  
 
5. Any other agency or official designated by the director.  

 
E. Step 5: Applicant revision period. The applicant shall revise the plat in accordance 

with the director's review.  
 
F. Step 6: Review and approval of preliminary plat by planning commission.  



12 
 

1. Upon completion of the revised plat, the director shall forward the preliminary 
plat and all staff and agency recommendations to the planning commission.  

 
2. The planning commission shall act on the application at their next regularly 

scheduled monthly meeting. In its deliberation, the planning commission may 
approve, approve conditionally, require resubmittal, or deny approval.  

 
3. If the preliminary plat is disapproved or approved conditionally, all reasons shall 

be conveyed to the applicant, referring specifically to those parts of the 
comprehensive plan or ordinances to which the plat does not conform. The 
commission may also require the applicant to resubmit the preliminary plat with 
all recommended changes made, before approving said plat.  

 
4. If the preliminary plat is found to conform to all requirements of the county 

comprehensive plan and applicable subdivision codes, approval shall be granted 
by the planning commission. One copy shall be retained by the planning office 
and one copy provided to the applicant.  

 
5. Preliminary plat approval shall confer upon the applicant the following rights for 

one year from the date of approval, unless extended by the planning 
commission:  
a. To proceed under the supervision of the county, with the installation of site 

improvements; and  
 
b. Upon installation or guarantee in accordance with section 14.04-3.050, to 

proceed with the preparation of a final or bonded final plat.  
 
6. Preliminary plat approval shall not authorize the applicant to sell or otherwise 

transfer lots or parcels.  
 
G. Step 7: Applicant submits final or bonded final plat. 

1. Final plat approval is an administrative action and does not require planning 
commission action. No public notice or hearing is required for approval of the 
final plat.  

2. Applicants shall submit to the director four copies and a digital PDF version of 
the final plat drawn to the requirements of the Minimum Standards Manual for the 
Practice of Land Surveying in South Carolina, the final plat requirements of 
article 14.04-4, and the required fee.  

3. The final or bonded final plat shall show all streets and utilities in exact location, 
identifying those portions already installed and, where approved by the planning 
commission, those to be installed and/or certified in the amount of improvement 
guarantees required to assure completion of those improvements not yet installed 
in accordance with section 14.04-3.050.  



13 
 

H. Step 8: Director review of final plat. The director shall review the plat for 
compliance with the requirements of the approved preliminary plat, this chapter, 
chapter 14.08, and any other applicable regulations, and if found to be in compliance, 
will instruct the applicant to prepare a final plat for recording, including surveyor 
certification.  

 
I. Step 9: Applicant revision period. The applicant shall revise the plat in accordance 

with the director's review. All necessary revisions shall be made prior to approval.  
 
J. Step 10: Director approves final plat.  

1. Following successful revision of the final plat by the applicant, the director shall 
approve the final plat by obtaining the applicable signatures as required by 
section 14.04-4.030.  

 
2. Final plat approval shall be granted or denied within 45 days after submission of 

a complete application to the director or within such further time as consented to 
by the applicant.  

 
3. No subdivision or land development plat, portion, or phase thereof shall be 

accepted for filing by the register of deeds until it has been approved by the 
director, and so indicated on the plat by the signature of the authorized agent. No 
such signature shall be affixed to the plat until the developer has completed all 
required improvements or has posted a letter of credit and agreement in 
accordance with section 14.04-3.050.  

 
4. Final plat approval shall confer upon the applicant the following rights:  

a. To record the plat with the register of deeds within six months of final plat 
approval; and  

 
b. To proceed with the sale and/or transfer of lots and parcels.  

 
5. If the final plat is not recorded within six months, then it shall become void.  

   
 

14.04-3.050. - Financial guarantees.  
A. General.  

1. Financial guarantees may be posted in lieu of completing improvements required 
by these regulations to the bonding of a subdivision project prior to bonded final 
plat approval and shall authorize the sale, conveyance, or transfer of lots within the 
subdivision, in addition to the use of the lots as legal building sites.  

 
2. Acceptance of financial guarantees is discretionary and the county reserves the 

right to refuse a financial guarantee for any remaining improvements and require 
that such improvements be completed before the recording of a bonded final plat or 
issuance of building permits. Acceptance of a financial guarantee by the county 



14 
 

shall not to be construed as an obligation to any other agency, utility or property 
owner within affected developments.  

 
B. Submittal.  

1. A cost estimate prepared by a licensed engineer for financial guarantees shall be 
submitted to the director and follow the procedures enumerated below. Failure to 
follow these procedures may delay the approval of such guarantee and recording of 
a bonded final plat or issuance of building permits.  

 
2. An itemized cost estimate shall be submitted for the improvements that the 

financial guarantee will cover. Such estimate shall bear the original signature of the 
estimator, be on company letterhead, and be in a form acceptable to the director. 
Cost estimates may include, but are not limited to, the following:  
a. Water and sewer systems.  
 
b. Storm drainage systems and erosion control measures.  
 
c. Street improvements including curbs, gutters, sidewalks, pavements, temporary 

cul-de-sac turn-arounds, and required grassing or landscaping within rights-of-
way or easements.  

 
d. State road right-of-way improvements upon agreement between the county and 

the state department of transportation.  
 
e. Street monuments.  
 
f. Street intersection lighting.  

 
3. The director will determine if the proposed cost estimate is consistent with the 

prevailing costs for construction materials and determine if the cost estimate is 
acceptable as a financial guarantee for the proposed amount, and if so determined, 
it may be submitted.  

 
C. Acceptance of financial guarantees.  

1. The director and county finance department may accept a letter of credit as a 
financial guarantee to ensure the completion of public improvements in accordance 
with the requirements enumerated below.  

 
2. Approved guarantees shall be independent of the development project's 

construction loan. The director will not accept any guarantee that requires draw-
downs for monthly expenditures. Payment of monthly expenditures is the sole 
responsibility of the developer and does not affect the amount of money held by the 
county.  

 
3. Approved letters of credit shall adhere to the following standards. See article 14.04-

7 for an example letter of credit.  



15 
 

a. Be equal to 125 percent of the approved cost estimate.  
 
b. Be issued for an initial coverage period not less than 12 months from the date 

that the final plat is submitted for recording.  
 
c. Be irrevocable, unconditional and subject to presentation for drawing within 

the state. Upon consent of the issuing institution and the county finance 
department, facsimile drawing may be permitted. In no instance shall a letter of 
credit only include a facsimile number for the purpose of potential drawing.  

 
d. Be payable to Colleton County.  
 
e. The original letter of credit shall be submitted. All originals are the property of 

the county with all signatures in blue ink.  
 
4. Renewals for letters of credit may be made upon approval of the planning 

commission. Once approved, all renewals must be presented and accepted by the 
director and finance department no later than 30 days prior to expiration. Failure to 
adhere to this deadline will require the immediate draw on the original letter of 
credit.  

 
14.04-3.060. - Commercial development projects.  
A. Commercial development site plan required. No building permit shall be issued for 

a commercial development unless and until an applicant for such use submits to the 
director the following:  
1. A site plan with date and scale, showing the actual shape and dimensions of the 

lot to be built upon; the size, height, and location on the lot of existing and 
proposed buildings and structures; the intended use of each building, the number 
or units the building is designed to accommodate; landscaped areas; flood and 
wetland areas; all proposed on-site signage showing locations; proposed 
parking, driveways, and interior circulation pattern; building elevations; and 
contiguous off-site development.  

 
2. Stormwater plan.  
 
3. Tree survey.  
 
4. Copies of permits required and obtained from other state and local agencies, 

where requested.  
 
B. Commercial development site plan submittal requirements.  

1. Three full-size paper copies (additional prints shall be provided when deemed 
necessary).  

 
2. Digital copy in PDF format.  

 



16 
 

C. Project design criteria.  
1. The director shall evaluate the application in relation to the following design and 

improvement criteria:  
a. The commercial development project is consistent and compatible with the 

comprehensive plan.  
 
b. All of the requirements of chapter 14.08 and other applicable regulations are 

met.  
 
c. Ingress and egress to the project site shall be designed to maximize 

automotive and pedestrian safety and facilitate traffic flow.  
 
d. Off-street parking, off-street loading, refuse, signage, and service areas shall 

be designed to minimize their visual and physical impact on neighboring 
property.  

 
e. Street right-of-way, sidewalks and pavement construction shall be adequate 

to accommodate the type and volume of traffic anticipated.  
 
f. The project shall be designed in harmony with its physical surroundings and 

in such a manner as to ensure land use compatibility.  
 
g. Where the project will create a need for off-site improvements, including 

improvements to streets, drainage systems, sidewalks, and curbs, the 
director may require the installation of such improvements as a condition of 
approval.  

 
h. If, upon review of these standards, the project is determined to be in 

compliance, the director shall approve the land development application and 
cause the issuance of a building permit.  

 
2. Any proposed changes to an approved project shall be resubmitted and 

reevaluated in light of the above.   
 

ARTICLE 14.04-4. - SUBDIVISION PLAN REQUIREMENTS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.04-4.010. - Purpose.  
14.04-4.020. - Sketch plan submittal requirements.  
14.04-4.030. - Plat submittal requirements.  
14.04-4.040. - Construction drawing requirements.  

 
14.04-4.010. - Purpose.  
The purpose of this article is to establish the requirements for plat and plan submittal for 
subdivisions in accordance with the processes set forth in article 14.04-3.  



17 
 

 
14.04-4.020. - Sketch plan submittal requirements.  
A. Sketch plan submittal requirements. If the applicant chooses to submit a sketch plan 

for review, then three copies and a digital PDF version of the sketch plan shall be 
provided.  

 
B. Plan labeling. A sketch plan shall be scaled and show the approximate proposed 

layout of streets, lots, buildings, landscaping, signage, open spaces, and other 
features in relation to existing conditions (the director may waive any information 
required by this section). It shall also include the following information:  
1. Name of the proposed development.  
 
2. North arrow.  
 
3. A vicinity map including north arrow.  
 
4. Boundaries of the tract and the portion of the tract to be subdivided.  
 
5. Parcel number(s) of the lot(s) to be subdivided.  
 
6. Adjacent property owners and tax map numbers.  
 
7. Zoning classification of the tract and of adjacent properties.  
 
8. Total acreage to be subdivided.  
 
9. Estimated and proposed uses of the land within the subdivision and the existing 

uses of land adjoining it.  
 
10. Existing and proposed road layout with approximate pavement and right-of-way 

width, lot layout and size of lots.  
 
11. Name, address, email address, and telephone number of the owner.  
 
12. Roads and lots of adjacent developed or platted properties.  
 
13. Existing topographic conditions of the property.  
 
14. Watercourses, floodplains, and preserved areas.  

 
14.04-4.030. - Plat submittal requirements.  
 
A. Preliminary plat submittal requirements for major subdivisions only.  

1. Twelve full-size paper copies (additional prints shall be provided when deemed 
necessary)  

 



18 
 

2. Digital copy in PDF format.  
 
B. Major and minor final plat submittal requirements.  

1.  Four full size paper copies for review.  
 
2. Digital copy in PDF format.  

 
C. Plat labeling requirements for preliminary and final plats.  

1. Labeling matrix. The preliminary and (bonded) final plats shall depict or 
contain the information indicated in the following matrix. An X indicates that 
the information is required. Preliminary plat information is only required for 
major subdivisions. Exempt subdivisions and subdivision of one lot into two lots 
are only required to meet Minimum Standards Manual for the Practice of Land 
Surveying in South Carolina.  

 

Title Block Information:  Preliminary  
Plat  

Final  
Plat  

a)  Subdivision name  x  x  
b)  Name of owner  x  x  
c)  Name of the subdivider/developer  x  x  
d)  Tax map number(s)  x  x  
e)  Location (including township, county and state)  x  x  
f)  Bar graph scale and north arrow  x  x  
g)  Deed reference  x  x  

    

Plat Preparation Information:  Preliminary 
Plat  

Final 
Plat  

a)  

All information required of general property surveys, in accordance 
with the Minimum Standards Manual for the Practice of Land 
Surveying in South Carolina, as promulgated by S.C. Code 1976, title 
40, chapter 21.  

x  x  

b)  
Names and addresses of all owners, mortgagees, registered land 
surveyors, land planners, architects, landscape architects, utility 
planners, and professional engineers responsible for the subdivision. 

x  x  

    

Property and Site Calculation Information:  Preliminary 
Plat  

Final 
Plat  

a)  Vicinity map with north arrow showing the relationship between the 
proposed subdivision and surrounding area  x  x  

b)  Corporate limits, extraterritorial jurisdiction and county lines if on x  x  



19 
 

the subdivision tract  

c)  Boundaries of the tract or portion thereof to be subdivided, distinctly 
and accurately represented with all bearings and distances shown  x   

d)  
Exact boundary lines of the tract to be subdivided, fully 
dimensioned by lengths and bearings, and the location of existing 
boundary lines of adjoining lands  

 x  

e)  Adjoining property information including owner name, zoning 
classification, and subdivision name  x  x  

f)  Minimum building setback lines  x  x  
g)  Zoning classifications of the tract(s) to be subdivided  x  x  
h)  Total acreage in the tract to be subdivided  x  x  

i)  Acreage in parks and recreation and open space areas and other 
nonresidential uses  x  x  

j)  Total number of parcels created  x  x  
k)  Acreage in the smallest lot in the subdivision  x  x  
l)  Linear feet in roads  x  x  

m)  Existing structures, watercourses, railroads, bridges, culverts, storm 
drains  x  x  

n)  Proposed lot lines, lot and block numbers, and approximate 
dimensions  x  x  

o)  The lots numbered consecutively throughout the subdivision in a 
manner using only numeric symbols  x  x  

p)  Marshes, swamps, rock outcrops, ponds or lakes, streams or stream 
beds and any other natural features affecting the site  x   

q)  
The location of all special flood hazard areas, floodways and 
floodway fringe areas from the county's official flood maps, and 
community panel number if applicable  

x  x  

    

Streets, Infrastructure, and Open Space Information:  Preliminary 
Plat  

Final 
Plat  

a)  Right-of-way location and dimensions  x  x  
b)  Road surface width  x   
c)  Road profiles  x   

d)  Existing and platted roads on adjoining properties and in the 
proposed subdivision  x  x  

e)  Approved E911 Road names (Sheriff's Office)  x  x  



20 
 

f)  Type of road dedication; all roads must be designated either 
"public" or "private".  x  x  

g)  Utility plan showing proposed connections  x   

h)  Drainage, access-way, and utility easement locations and 
dimensions x  x  

i)  Fire hydrants, if applicable  x   
j)  Drainage plan and calculations (See section 14.04-5.070(L))  x  x  
k)  Buffer strips (where applicable)  x  x  
l)  Pedestrian or bicycle paths (where applicable)  x   
m)  Open space areas (where applicable)  x  x  

n)  Areas to be used for purposes other than residential with the 
purpose of each stated with dimensions. x  x  

  

Agency Approvals:  Preliminary 
Plat  

Final 
Plat  

a)  SCDOT approval of driveway permits and road construction 
drawings (where applicable)  x   

b)  DHEC-Health (septic or engineered system approval) 
(Subdivisions of eight lots or less are exempt)  x  x  

c)  SCDHEC/OCRM Stormwater approval (see section 14.04-
5.070(L))  x   

d)  US Army Corps of Engineers approval for wetlands  x   
e)  City of Walterboro or other applicable utilities  x   
f)  All certifications required below  x  x  

  
2. Certificates and statements for preliminary plats.  

a. Certificate of survey and accuracy. As required by the Minimum Standards 
Manual for the Practice of Land Surveying in South Carolina.  

 
b. Certificate of approval for major subdivision preliminary plats only. I 

hereby certify that the preliminary plat for the major subdivision shown hereon 
has been found to comply with the Land Development Regulations of Colleton 
County, South Carolina, and that this plat was approved by the planning 
commission on ____________ / ____________ / ____________.  

_____ _____ 
Date  Director of Planning and Development  

  
3. Certificates and statements for final plats.  



21 
 

a. Certificate of ownership and dedication. I (We) hereby certify that I am (we 
are) the owner(s) of the property shown and described hereon and that I (we) 
hereby adopt this plat of subdivision with my (our) free consent, establish the 
minimum building lines, and dedicate all streets, school sites, recreation areas, 
and other public services and facilities as noted on this plat.  

_____ _____ 
Date  Owner  

  
b. Certificate of survey and accuracy. As required by the Minimum Standards 

Manual for the Practice of Land Surveying in South Carolina.  
 
c. Certificate of approval stamp by the director of planning and 

development.  
 

14.04-4.040. - Construction drawing requirements.  
A. Construction drawing submittal requirements.  

1. Construction drawings for major subdivisions and commercial developments 
larger than two acres shall be submitted after the existing conditions survey 
(section 14.04-5.030) is approved by the director. 

 
2. Two full sets and a digital PDF version of sealed construction drawings shall be 

submitted with the major subdivision preliminary plat, or the final plat for all 
other subdivisions.  

 
3. Construction drawings shall be prepared for all required improvements by a 

registered South Carolina engineer at a convenient scale of not less than one 
inch equals 100 feet.  

 
B. Construction drawing labeling requirements. Construction drawings shall include 

the following information:  
1. Profiles showing existing and proposed elevations along the center lines of all 

new roads. The elevation along the center line of existing roads shall be shown 
within 100 feet of their intersection with new roads. Radii of all curves, lengths 
of tangents, and central angles on all streets shall also be shown;  

 
2. Plans and profiles showing the locations and typical cross section of street 

pavements, including curbs and gutters, sidewalks, drainage easements, rights-
of-way, manholes, and catch basins; the locations of street trees, street lighting 
standards, and street signs; the location, size, and invert elevations of existing 
and proposed sanitary sewers, stormwater drains, and fire hydrants, showing 
connection to any existing or proposed utility systems; and exact location and 
size of all water, gas, or other underground utilities or structures;  

 
3. Location, size, elevation, and other appropriate description of any existing 

facilities or utilities, including, but not limited to, existing streets, sewers, drains, 



22 
 

water mains, easements, water bodies, streams, and other pertinent features such 
as swamps, railroads, buildings, at the point of connection to proposed facilities 
and utilities within the subdivisions. The water elevations of adjoining lakes or 
streams at the date of the survey, and the approximate 100-year flood elevations 
of the lakes or streams. All public water and/or public sewers are to be installed;  

 
4. The acreage of each drainage area affecting the proposed subdivision;  
 
5. Topography at a contour interval of two feet, referred to sea level datum when 

public water and/or public sewers are to be installed;  
 
6. All specifications and references required by the construction standards and 

specifications of the county, any other local government providing any utility, 
and the SCDHEC and the SCDOT;  

 
7. A site grading plan showing proposed finished contours when any major contour 

changes or filling for flood protection are proposed in the subdivision; and  
 
8. Title, name, address, telephone, and signature of South Carolina licensed 

professional engineer and/or surveyor responsible for the plans and date, 
including revision dates.  

 
ARTICLE 14.04-5. - SUBDIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.04-5.010. - Purpose.  
14.04-5.020. - General provisions.  
14.04-5.030. - Environmental assessment and suitability of land.  
14.04-5.040. - Lots.  
14.04-5.050. - Open space requirements.  
14.04-5.060. - Easements.  
14.04-5.070. - Road standards.  
14.04-5.080. - Utilities standards.  
14.04-5.090. - Emergency management.  
14.04-5.100. - Surveying and markers.  
14.04-5.110. - Construction procedures.  

 
14.04-5.010. - Purpose.  
The purpose of this article is to establish the requirements for subdivision lot 
configuration, lot access, roadway layout, easements, and utilities to ensure sustainable 
and adequate subdivision design.  
 
14.04-5.020. - General provisions.  



23 
 

A. Each subdivision shall contain the improvements specified in this article, which shall 
be installed in accordance with the requirements of this chapter and paid for by the 
developer, unless other means of financing are specifically approved.  

 
B. Land shall be dedicated and reserved in each subdivision as specified in this article.  
 
C. Each subdivision shall be constructed in accordance with any county, state and 

federal regulation or permitting requirement where applicable.  
 
D. The name of the subdivision and the names of the roads within the subdivision shall 

not duplicate nor closely approximate the name of an existing subdivision, nor any 
existing roads within the county.  

 
E. Design standards set out in this chapter may be waived or modified for PDDs 

provided that the intent of these regulations is not nullified or lessened and provided 
that sufficient proof is given substantiating the adequacy of the alternative design 
and given that the requirements of PDDs within chapter 14.08 are met.  

 
14.04-5.030. - Environmental assessment and suitability of land.  
A. Preservation of trees and natural features for commercial developments and major 

subdivisions.  
1. Significant forest stands, specimen/protected trees, severe topography, drainage 

features and watercourses shall be preserved where reasonable and practical 
while not reasonably prohibiting development.  

 
2. Forested and vegetated areas whose settings render them unsuitable for 

development should be used as conservation or open space areas. When portions 
of wooded sites and forested stands must be developed, consideration should be 
given to preserve wooded perimeters and/or the most desirable features to retain 
the aesthetic character of the site. Isolated pockets of existing trees or 
specimen/protected trees shall be protected whenever possible.  

 
C. Existing conditions survey. Existing conditions surveys are required at the preliminary 

plat stage for major subdivisions and commercial developments larger than two acres 
prior to submittal of the site construction plans. Existing trees, known endangered 
species, wetlands, streams, creeks, floodplains, dams, potential locations for community 
wells, and topographical features shall be identified prior to the construction site plans to 
enable the preservation of distinctive natural features and protection for previously 
documented endangered species habitats. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 



24 
 

FIG. 5.1 EXAMPLE OF AN EXISTING CONDITIONS SURVEY*  

 
*Figures 5.1 and 5.2 Source: Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
(SEWRPC). "Conservation Subdivision Design." 2002.  
 
C. Flood damage prevention.  

1. For areas located within a special flood hazard area (SFHA) or floodway, the 
requirements of chapter 13.12, pertaining to flood damage prevention, shall be 
met to minimize flood damage to property, buildings and structures and public 
utilities and facilities.  

 
2. Base flood elevation data shall be provided for subdivisions and commercial 

developments in accordance with chapter 13.12, section-4.030, standards for 
subdivision proposals.  

 
3. If the area being developed, or any part thereof, is located within the boundary 

of a designated SFHA or floodway, as delineated on FEMA maps for the 
county, adequate plans and specifications for protection from flooding shall be 
provided as herein required:  
a. Any subdivision or commercial development which contains land subject to 

flooding shall be accompanied by evidence that no appreciable expansion of 
the area subject to flooding would result from the proposed land 
development, and that the proposed development will be adequately 
protected from inundation without appreciable interference with the flow of 
any watercourse or into an impounding basin (approved drainage plan or 
separate engineer certification will fulfill this requirement).  

 
b. In no case shall any fill, levee, or other protective works be approved unless 

sufficient compensating adjustments of waterways, ditches, or impounding 



25 
 

basins are made to prevent any appreciable expansion of flood hazard areas, 
as determined by a licensed professional engineer.  

 
c. The centerline of all streets should be at least on the ten-year flood line.  

 
D. General safety.  

1. Land which has been determined by the director, based on engineering or other 
expert surveys, to pose a danger to life or property by reason of its unsuitability 
for the use proposed, shall not be platted for that purpose, unless and until the 
developer has taken the necessary measures to correct and/or eliminate said 
dangers.  

 
2. Areas that have been used for disposal of solid waste shall not be subdivided 

unless tests by the county health department, a structural engineer and a soils 
expert determine that the land is suitable for the proposed use.  

 
3. Areas previously used for domestic sludge application shall have a soils test 

performed by a certified testing laboratory prior to subdivision or development 
which must confirm that the land is safe for the proposed use.  

   
 
14.04-5.040. - Lots.  
A. Lot size.  

1. Minimum lot size requirements and setbacks are contained in chapter 14.08. It is 
not permitted to average the lot areas in a subdivision to meet the minimum lot 
area requirements. However, conservation subdivisions shall be allowed in 
accordance with the requirements of section 14.08-3.020(H). See figures 5.2 and 
5.3 below for examples.  

 
FIG. 5.2 CONVENTIONAL SUBDIVISION EXAMPLE*  

 
 
 



26 
 

FIG. 5.3 CONSERVATION SUBDIVISION EXAMPLE*  

 
 
2. All lots shall be accessible by a public street, except for:  

a. Lots in an approved PDD, as provided for in chapter 14.08;  
b. Lots on approved private access easements; and  
c. Lots in new subdivisions with private street(s). All private streets must meet 

the requirements of section 14.04-5.070(K).  
 
3. Emergency responders and public utilities shall be uninhibited and have access 

to all lots by their emergency response vehicles fire trucks and public utility 
vehicles.  

 
4. Lot size, width, depth, shape, grade, and orientation shall be in proper relation to 

street and block design, to existing and proposed topographical conditions, and 
for the type of development and use contemplated.  

 
5. Residential subdivisions involving new public streets, where proposed for areas 

adjacent and parallel to primary state and federal highways, shall be denied 
direct access to and separated from such highways by double or reverse frontage 
lots. Elsewhere, double frontage lots shall be prohibited. Residential reverse 
frontage lots shall have a minimum rear yard of 50 feet, next to the arterial street 
or highway, measured from the shortest distance of the proposed back building 
line to the street right-of-way and shall within such rear yard and immediately 
adjacent to the right-of-way, have a non-access planting screen easement at least 
20 feet deep.  

 
6. Side lot lines shall be aligned at approximately right angles to straight street 

lines and radial to curved street lines.  
 
7. Following are the requirements for flag lots created from an existing lot of 

record.  



27 
 

 
 
a. Flag lots are not permitted in the suburban residential (RS) zone.  
 
b. The original lot must meet all zoning requirements specified for the 

respective zone in which it is located, both before and after subdivision.  
 
c. The maximum flagpole length shall be 300 feet.  
 
d. The minimum flagpole width shall be 30 feet with a ten-foot curve radius 

on each side on an approved private or public road, with a minimum of fifty 
feet (50’-0”) of frontage at the right-of-way.  

 
e. The front setback shall be measured from where the lot meets the district 

minimum width requirements.  
 
f. The flagpole portion of the lot is not used to calculate area, width, or 

setbacks of the lot or to provide off-street parking.  
 
8. Flag lots created in new subdivisions.  

a. All requirements in subsection A.7 of this section, except subsection A.7.c.  
 
b. Flag lots in new subdivisions are permitted only in the RC-1, RC-2, RD-1, 

RD-2 and UD-2 zones.  
 
c. Flag lot access driveways, single or combined, shall be separated by a 

minimum of 100 feet.  
 
d. Not more than two flag lot access driveways can connect at any one point.  
 



28 
 

e. Any minor or major subdivision with more than 25 percent of the total 
number of lots as flag lots requires planning commission approval.  

 
f. When a flag lot has less than 50 feet of road frontage and is less than two 

acres, the pole portion of the lot cannot exceed 400 feet.  
   
14.04-5.050. - Open space requirements.  
A. Applicability. The requirements of this section apply to multifamily projects and 

mobile home parks consisting of seven or more units or land subdivisions of 100 
dwelling units or more in the RS, UD-1, and UD-2 districts. Subdivisions with all 
lots being five acres or more are exempt from this provision.  

 
B. General provisions for open space.  

1. Land designated as open space on the approved development plan shall be 
maintained as open space and may not be separately sold, subdivided, or 
developed.  

 
2. Access from a public street shall be provided to all designated open spaces with 

a minimum 15-foot-wide access including lakes or ponds within the subdivision 
used as open space.  

 
3. Open space shall be contiguous wherever possible.  
 
4. The county comprehensive plan and other plans, particularly park and open 

space plans, shall be considered when evaluating proposals for dedication.  
 
C. Minimum open space dedication.  

1. A minimum of five percent of the total development area for subdivisions shall 
be dedicated as open space, and 15 percent shall be dedicated for all other 
projects.  

 
2. Conservation development minimum open space dedication shall meet the 

requirements of section 14.08-3.020(H).  
 
D. Types of open space. The developer has the option to choose the types of open space 

dedicated for the development to satisfy the minimum open space requirements for 
this section. Dedicated open space shall fit into one or more of the following 
categories and be classified as private common area or public open space. The 
existing conditions survey (if required by section 14.04-5.030(B)) should be used as 
a guide to determine the most appropriate open space type and location.  

 
1. Playground. Playgrounds are for active recreational use and provide play areas 

and equipment for children as well as shelters with benches. Playgrounds may 
also be part of other types of open space, such as parks.  
Minimum size: 10,000 square feet.  
Maximum size: 20,000 square feet.  



29 
 

 
 

2. Square. Squares are areas for passive recreational use. Squares are encouraged 
to be entirely bounded on all sides by streets, but they can be bounded by streets 
on at least 50 percent of their perimeter.  Squares shall have canopy trees 
planted along all street frontages.  
Minimum size: 2,000 square feet.  
Maximum size: one acre.  
 

 
 

3. Park. Parks may be for passive or active recreational use and be bounded by 
streets on at least ten percent of their perimeter. Large parks should create a 
central open space which services an entire neighborhood; or incorporates 
physical features which are an asset to the community (i.e., lake or river 
frontage, high ground, significant stands of trees). Undergrowth should be 
limited with landscaping installed that promotes attractiveness and safety. Parks 
may be combined with greenways and greenbelts and may include golf courses 
and community gardens.  
Minimum size: one acre.  

 



30 
 

4. Greenway. Greenways are large, irregular open spaces designed to incorporate 
natural settings such as creeks and significant stands of trees within and between 
neighborhoods. Greenways are typically more natural and may contain irregular 
topography. Greenways shall incorporate active recreational uses such as, trails 
for walking, jogging, and biking. Greenways shall connect points of interest in 
the community.  

 
 
5. Nature preserve. Nature preserves shall be left largely undisturbed except for 

the optional clearing of underbrush for a walking trail (mulch or other natural 
material only). Nature preserves are encouraged to protect large stands of trees, 
wildlife, and natural water features, and they are the preferred form of open 
space for steeply sloped terrain.  
Minimum size: three acres.  

 
 

E. Open space ownership and maintenance.  
1. Open space may be owned by any legal means, and the owner(s) are responsible 

for the proper and continued upkeep and maintenance of the dedicated open 
space into perpetuity. 

  
 
2. The developer shall place in a conspicuous manner upon the final plat a notation 

concerning control of the open space.  
 



31 
 

3. The developer shall provide proof of registration of the articles of incorporation 
with the appropriate state agency for the formation of the homeowners' 
association to the director.  

 
4. Homeowners' associations or similar legal entities (HOAs) responsible for the 

maintenance and control of open spaces and common areas shall be established 
by the developer who shall record in the register of deeds a declaration of 
covenants and restrictions that will govern the HOA prior to any final or bonded 
final plat approval. A copy of the recorded document shall be provided to the 
director and such document shall at a minimum, include the following:  
a. Provision for the establishment of the HOA is required before any lot in the 

development is sold or any building occupied and membership shall be 
mandatory for each current and future homeowner.  

 
b. The HOA has clear legal authority to maintain and exercise control over 

such common open space areas.  
 
c. The HOA has the power to compel contributions from all homeowners to 

cover their proportionate shares of the costs associated with the 
maintenance and upkeep of such common areas. Further, assessments levied 
can become a lien on the property if allowed in the master deed establishing 
the HOA. 

 
d. The open space restrictions must remain permanent into perpetuity, and not 

just for a period of years.  
 
e. The HOA must be responsible for liability insurance, applicable taxes and 

the maintenance of open space and other facilities under their control.  
 
f. The HOA must be able to adjust the assessment to meet changing needs.  
 
g. The HOA shall be responsible for maintaining all public storm water 

drainage systems and easements within the subdivision not being 
maintained by the county, state or other approved entity.  

 
h. It shall be expressly stated within the restrictive covenants/HOA documents 

that it will be the responsibility of the developer or successors or assigns to 
enforce such covenants or restrictions until such time as control has been 
transferred to the HOA board of directors. It shall be the sole responsibility 
of the developer, successor or assigns to correct any deficiencies prior to 
transfer of control over to the HOA board of directors.  

 
F. Payment in lieu of open space dedication.  

1. If open space within a development is physically impractical due to unusual 
conditions then the county may accept a fee paid in lieu of dedication.  

 



32 
 

2. Fees collected in lieu of dedications and any proceeds from such transactions or 
sales shall be accounted for by the county finance department, and the funds 
shall be used by the county for the purposes of acquiring and developing 
recreation, greenway and open space areas as encouraged in the comprehensive 
plan or in any parks and recreation and greenway/bikeway master plans, and for 
no other purposes. The depository for such funds may be the same as permitted 
other funds of the county, pending their expenditure in accordance with the 
terms of this code; such funds may be invested as other funds of the county. The 
county may, at its discretion, add additional monies to the fund for the purposes 
of purchasing open space and recreational land to be used for recreational 
purposes.  

 
3. Refunds shall not be granted to the developer should the project not be 

constructed after recording of final plat or if a reduction in density occurs.  
 
4. Such payment in lieu of dedication shall be the product of the current assessed 

market value of the land to be subdivided (as established in subsection F.5 
below) multiplied by the number of acres to be dedicated.  

 
5. The current assessed market value of the gross land area of the development or 

subdivision at the time of submission of the required plan and/or plat shall be 
used to determine the land value. The current assessed market value shall be the 
appropriate value as determined by and maintained on file in the county 
assessor's office. The average value per gross acres shall be calculated from this 
total value and applied to the required recreational land area in order to 
determine the land value.  

 
Total market value of undeveloped property  

x  Acres of required open space  =  Payment  
Total acres of undeveloped property  
   
 
14.04-5.060. - Easements.  
A. Drainage easements. Drainage easements shall be provided whenever a 

development contains a watercourse, drainage-way, channel, or stream, conforming 
with the lines of such watercourse, and not less than 15 feet wide or of sufficient 
width, as determined by the county engineer, to carry off stormwater and allow for 
maintenance and improvements.  

 
B. Utility easements. Utility easements, where required, shall be not less than 15 feet 

wide.  The location of utility easements shall be coordinated with the utility provider.  
 
C. Private access easements. Private access easements are permitted only in the RC-1, 

RC-2, RD-1, RD-2 and UD-1 districts, provided:  
1. The easement shall be not less than 30 feet wide with a minimum of fifty feet of 

frontage onto a public right-of-way;  



33 
 

 
2. The easement shall provide access to only one lot, except in subdivisions of 

three lots or less in which all lots are at least one acre in size;  
 
3. The lot(s) to be accessed must be subdivided separate and apart from the lots for 

which the easement is being provided, and not run through these lots; and  
 
4. Access Easements are exempt from the requirements of section 14.04-5.070, 

road standards. 
 
D. Maintenance of easements.  

1. All easements are owned and shall be maintained by the property owner and no 
structures or trees may be placed within an easement.  Easements may be used 
to satisfy yard and building setback requirements. 

 
2. Covenant restrictions placed on a lot which contains an easement shall stipulate 

that the county, service provider or utility company shall have full right of 
access to said easement;  

 
3. The county shall maintain only those easements specifically accepted for public 

maintenance and use.  
   
14.04-5.070. - Road standards.  
A. Relationship to transportation plan. The provision of road rights-of-way shall 

conform to the requirements of the SCDOT Statewide Transportation Improvement 
Program (STIP) and Plans, the comprehensive plan, and any other adopted county 
transportation plans.  

 
B. General provisions.  

1. New streets in major subdivisions “shall” be, and streets in minor subdivisions 
“may” be located within a platted public right-of-way dedicated to the county or 
the SCDOT or within a platted private right-of-way deeded fee simple to a 
specific HOA, POA, HPR, or similar entity.  

 
2. The design criteria contained in this section applies to roads to be accepted into 

the county road maintenance system which shall be constructed to comply with 
the design standards required by SCDOT.  

 
3. Street systems shall be designed to permit the safe, efficient, and orderly 

movement of traffic; to have a simple and logical pattern; to respect natural 
features and topography; to present an attractive streetscape; and to permit 
linkage of major collector streets and subdivisions.  

 
4. Proposed streets shall be coordinated with the surrounding area’s existing road 

network, where possible, to provide for the continuation of existing streets 
abutting the development.  



34 
 

 
5. All streets shall be opened to the exterior property lines of the development 

unless permanently terminated by a cul-de-sac or intersection with another 
street.  

 
6. Reserve strips controlling access to public streets are prohibited except where 

their control is approved by county council, under conditions approved by the 
planning commission.  

 
7. No half streets shall be permitted.  
 
8. For new developments, the minimum rights-of-way shall conform to the design 

standards established herein. Developments encompassing an existing county 
road shall provide the standard right-of-way required herein. Developments 
located on only one side of an existing county road, shall provide half of the 
required right-of-way, measured from the centerline of the existing road.  

 
9. Access/driveway permit required. It is the responsibility of the owner of any lot 

fronting onto a state-maintained highway to obtain an SCDOT encroachment 
permit to create access, and for any lot fronting on a county-maintained road to 
comply with the policies adopted by the county department of roads and bridges 
to create access.  

 
C. Subdivision access. The planning commission may allow alternatives where access 

points cannot meet the minimum separation distance required by the SCDOT 
regulations.  

 
D. Alleys. Paved alleys are recommended in commercial and industrial developments 

for service access, off-street loading and unloading, and parking adequate for the use 
proposed. Paving is optional for residential alleys. See subsection J of this section for 
alley width requirements.  

 
E. Culs-de-sac.  

1. Dead-end streets designed to be closed at one end shall not exceed 1,700 linear 
feet measured from the right-of-way centerline to the center point of the 
turnaround with turnaround points every 800 feet.  

 
2. Turnarounds shall have a minimum turning radius of 50 feet.  
 
3. When a stub-out or temporary dead-end street is created as a result of 

development phasing, a temporary all weather surfaced 50 foot turning radius 
turnaround shall be required when the dead-end street exceeds 150 feet.  

 
F. Intersections.  

1. No more than two streets shall intersect at any one point.  
 



35 
 

2. All streets shall intersect as nearly as possible at 90-degree right angles.  
 
3.  Streets entering upon opposite sides of a given street shall have their center lines 

either directly opposite or offset a minimum distance of 200 feet, measured 
between the centerlines of the streets.  

 
4. Street intersections shall be located at least 200 feet from the right-of-way of 

any railroad track, measured from the center point of the intersection to the 
railroad right-of-way line nearest the intersection.  

 
F. Connectivity. Where deemed necessary and beneficial for interconnectivity of 

developments, proposed public roads shall be extended by dedication to the boundary of 
the developing property and a temporary turnaround provided in compliance with 
subsection E.3 of this section. The road shall be designated and constructed as a public 
road except when it is determined that:  
 

1. Physical barriers or environmentally sensitive areas to be crossed exist, such as 
railroads, watercourses, steep topography, or flood areas.  

 
2. There is a large discrepancy in the size of the adjacent parcel. (A smaller parcel 

being subdivided may not have to provide a stub to a much larger parcel, if 
other, more desirable, interconnections are available to the large parcel.)  

 
3. The stub road would connect to property designated for a public purpose and 

access to the property is not desirable for orderly development of the road 
network.  

 
4. The stub road, if extended, would cause the existing road(s) to exceed the 

capacity allowed on that roadway.  
 
H. Road names and signs.  

1. All proposed road names must be approved by Colleton County E-911 
Addressing.  

 
2. Design and placement of traffic signs shall conform to SCDOT standards. 

Responsibility for installation shall rest with the developer.  
 
3. At least two street name signs shall be placed at each four-way street 

intersection, and one at each "T" intersection. Signs shall be installed under 
streetlights, where possible, and free of visual obstruction. The design of street 
name signs shall be approved by the sheriff's office.  

 
I. Sidewalks. Sidewalks are optional but recommended. The following shall apply if a 

developer chooses to install sidewalks:  
1. When a major subdivision lies within 1,500 feet (property line to property line) 

of an existing public school, library, or park, or where an adjoining subdivision 



36 
 

already has sidewalks in place, sidewalks should be on the same side of the 
street as the existing sidewalks or on one side of any new or existing roads.  

 
2. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet wide to meet ADA standards, and be 

a minimum of four inches thick.  
 

 
 

FIG. 5.4 SIDEWALK CONSTRUCTION 
 
3. Sidewalks shall be placed in the right-of-way, unless a development plan calls 

for a different location.  
 
J. Public road construction standards.  

1. The minimum street and right-of-way widths shall be as follows:  

Street  
Classification  

Width  

Right-of-Way  Street/  
Travelway  

Minor street  50'  20'  
Major street  66'  24'  
Alley  20'  12'  



37 
 

  
2. All public streets and roads to be dedicated for public use shall be constructed in 

accordance with the South Carolina Standard Specifications for Highway 
Construction Manual. 

 
3. Road dedication process.  

a.  Prepare a letter addressed to the County Administrator requesting the road 
be accepted for County maintenance. Include with the letter the following: 

i. Petition signed by all the property owners whose land adjoins the 
road agreeing to the request.  

 
ii. If it exists, a copy of a plat noting property ownership along the 

road.  
 
b.  The County will reply by letter to the person making the request indicating 

that an inspection was performed and what improvements are required 
before the County can accept the road. The minimum design standards to 
accept any road is as follows:  

i. The minimum amount of land needed for any road is 50 feet. If the 
roadway width including the drainage ditches is less than 50 feet, 
those property owners whose land is adjoining will have to give over 
to the County enough land to meet the 50 foot requirement. 
 

ii. The road must have the proper drainage in place before it can be 
accepted. This includes ditches, culverts, pipes or retention ponds. 

  
iii. The roadbed is to be 28 feet wide measured from shoulder to 

shoulder and have a 2.5” crown to allow for runoff into the ditches. 
All ditches must have a 0.5% grade to outfall points. 

  
c.  If the road meets these standards, the County Administrator will submit a 

request to County Council for acceptance. Once approved, legal documents 
at the property owner’s cost will have to be provided to the County 
Administrator’s Office deeding the 50 foot road right-of-way to the County. 
Once the deed is recorded at the Register of Deeds Office, the road will 
become a part of the county’s maintenance system.  

 
d.  If the road does not meet these standards, the property owners may choose 

to improve the road to comply with the design standards themselves or pay 
to the County the cost of improving the road, and permit the County to 
perform the necessary work. At completion, the County Administrator will 
request County Council accept the road into the maintenance system 
conditioned on the proper legal documents being submitted by the property 
owners dedicating the road over to the County.  

 
       K. Private road construction standards.  



38 
 

1. Use and maintenance of private roads.  
a. A private road is permitted by right in subdivisions with less than 50 lots. 

Subdivisions with more than 50 lots shall be publicly owned and maintained 
unless approval by the planning commission is granted at preliminary plat 
review for conversion to private ownership and maintenance.  

 
b. Roads within gated communities may be private roads, regardless of 

number of lots. Access information shall be provided to emergency 
personnel so that the community can be accessed in the event of an 
emergency.  

 
c. The guarantees of right of access and maintenance of private roads in the 

subdivision shall run with the land. The guaranteeing instrument shall be 
reviewed and approved by the director prior to approval of the final plat. A 
verified certificate, signed by the owner of the subdivided land, attesting 
these facts shall be placed on the final plat submitted for approval.  

 
Example: Certificate of Subdivision Lots Accessed by a Private Road 
Certificate of Private Road Maintenance and Disclosures  

 
I, ____________, certify that an instrument will be recorded 

simultaneously with the recordation of this approved final plat that 
guarantees:  
 
a. A right of access to any private road in the subdivision by all lots 

served by the road; and  
 
b. Maintenance of any private road in the subdivision at the standards 

set for approval.  
These guarantees of right of access and maintenance of the   
subdivision roads shall run with the land.  
 
______________    ___________ 
Owner(s)     Date 

  
2. Minimum construction standards for private roads.  

a. General standards and specifications for private roads. All private roads 
approved and constructed in the county must meet these general standards 
and specifications.  

Private Road Standards and 
Specifications  Requirements  

Total Number of Lots 1 Served By the 
Private Road  

Less Than  50 
Lots  

Greater Than  
50 lots  Nonresidential  

Right-of-way width  50 ft.  50 ft.  50 ft.  
Travel-way width  18 ft.  24 ft.  24 ft.  



39 
 

Lane width  9 ft.  12 ft.  12 ft.  

Private road surface/travel-way material  Dirt, gravel, 
or paved  

Dirt, gravel, 
or paved  

Paved SCDOT 
Standards  

SCDOT road geometry and specifications  Yes  Yes  Yes  
Professional surveyor certification of road in 
platted right-of-way required  Yes  Yes  Yes  

 1 Total number of lots served shall include the residual acreage of the tract being 
subdivided, where such residual acreage will be accessed by the private road.  

 
b. Private road maintenance. Maintenance of the private road shall be provided 

by the lot owners served by the road or an established HOA. A road 
maintenance agreement and declaration between the lot owners is required 
to insure the cost is shared, and a mechanism for maintenance is set up 
where a homeowners association is not created. The responsibility for 
maintenance is the property owners', and not the state nor the county.  

 
c. Road maintenance agreement requirements. The developer shall have an 

instrument recorded simultaneously with the final plat substantially in the 
form of the county's standard road maintenance agreement in article 14.04-
7.  

 
L. Stormwater drainage facilities.  

1. The internal storm drainage system shall be designed to accommodate the 
appropriate design storm based on the location of the street/development. The 
roadway drainage system (the road surface, curb and gutter where provided) 
must be designed for a ten-year storm return frequency design and shall follow 
the design criteria as outlined in the South Carolina Stormwater Management 
and Sediment Control Handbook (SCSMSCH), current edition, for all 
unincorporated properties in the county.  

 
2. Any off-site stormwater runoff onto the proposed development must be 

accommodated. Design parameters and coefficients used in all calculations for 
off-site stormwater shall be based on the projected build-out of the basin. The 
design storm shall be dictated by these standards with due consideration given to 
downstream system capacity.  

 
3. In general, ditches shall be constructed to provide drainage from the road and 

adjacent areas. The ditches shall be built with sufficient depth and width to carry 
the expected volume of water. The side slopes shall be graded so they can be 
stabilized and prevent vehicles from becoming stuck if they enter them.  

 
4. All development shall be subject to the provisions of the SCSMSCH, current 

edition. Developers of any proposed commercial development or subdivision 
must obtain a permit from the SCDHEC and OCRM offices, where required.  

 



40 
 

5. If an SCDHEC Stormwater permit is not required, then any residential 
development with an overall density of two dwelling units per acre or higher and 
all commercial developments require a drainage plan which meets OCRM 
design standards. All other projects are exempt.  

 
6. An approved OCRM drainage plan fulfills the requirements of this section.  
 
7. All drainage plans shall be certified by a South Carolina licensed professional 

engineer.  
  
 
14.04-5.080. - Utilities standards.  
A. Community water and sewer (public and private).  

1. All subdivisions and commercial developments shall be provided with water 
supplies and sanitary sewer systems approved by the SCDHEC.  

 
2. The water supply system shall be adequate to handle the domestic demand, plus 

the fire flow, based on the completed development.  
 

3. The sanitary sewer system shall be adequate to handle the necessary flow based 
on the completed development and peak usage.  

 
4. Said facilities shall be "stubbed out" prior to road surfacing.  

 
5. If the subdivision is to have a water or sewer system other than one connected to 

a public system, said systems are required to receive approval from the 
SCDHEC prior to preliminary plat submittal.  

 
6. Where a central water system is provided for a development, three-way fire 

hydrants shall be installed by the developer in accordance with section 14.04-
5.090(A) with two 2½-inch and one 4½-inch fire department connections (NST).  

 
7. Community water and/or sewer systems shall be installed prior to final plat 

approval unless such installation is guaranteed in accordance with section 14.04-
3.050.  

 
B. Wells and septic tanks.  

1. A subdivision or commercial development using individual septic systems 
and/or wells shall conform to those requirements as set forth by SCDHEC. It is 
not required for a well or septic system to be installed prior to the sale of any lot.  

 
2. A private septic system may be located off site for conservation subdivisions 

provided that the location of such system is noted on the final plat as a septic 
field utility easement.  

 
C. Street lighting (optional).  



41 
 

1. Where street lighting is proposed, the following standards shall apply.  
 
2. Street lighting shall be Light-Emitting-Diode (LED) where possible, and 

provided at all public street intersections, and midway between intersections 
located more than 800 feet apart; provided such spacing shall not be less than 
400 feet between streetlights.  

 
3. The maximum height of streetlights shall be 25 feet.  
 
4. Street lighting shall be properly shielded so as not to create a hazard to drivers 

or a nuisance to residents.  
   
 
14.04-5.090. - Emergency management.  
A. Fire hydrants.  

1. Where sufficient water flow and pressure exist, as determined by the county fire 
marshal and approved by the appropriate water provider, the developer shall 
install fire hydrants throughout each subdivision or commercial development to 
maintain a maximum 500-foot radius between hydrants, as approved by the fire 
marshal.  

 
2. Unless no practicable alternative is available, water lines shall be looped 

wherever possible and not contain dead-end lines for pressure and volume 
equalization throughout the system.  

 
B. Fire suppression requirements.  

1. For any subdivision or commercial development without a fire suppression rated 
water system, that has access to an adequate permanent surface water supply 
(100,000 gallon storage in a 50-year drought), the applicant shall install a dry 
fire hydrant system. An all-weather access road for firefighting equipment shall 
be provided by the applicant to this permanent surface water supply.  

 
2. Where the subdivision or commercial development is neither served by a public 

water system nor has access to an adequate permanent surface water supply, 
such systems shall be reviewed by the director and fire marshal to determine 
alternative measures to ensure adequacy of fire protection.  

 
14.04-5.100. - Surveying and markers.  
All land developments within the jurisdiction of this chapter shall be surveyed, platted, 
and marked in accord with the Minimum Standards Manual for the Practice of Land 
Surveying in South Carolina, as promulgated by S.C. Code 1976, title 40, chapter 21. 
This manual is hereby adopted by reference and is as much a part of this chapter as if 
contained herein.  
 
14.04-5.110. - Construction procedures.  



42 
 

A. No construction or installation or improvements shall commence in a proposed 
subdivision or commercial development until the preliminary plat, existing 
conditions survey, site plan and construction drawings have been approved by all 
appropriate authorities.  

 
B. No building, zoning or other permits shall be issued for erection of a structure in any 

subdivision or commercial development until all the requirements of this chapter 
have been met. The approving authorities having jurisdiction or their representatives 
shall inspect and approve all completed work prior to release of any sureties.  

   
 
ARTICLE 14.04-6. - DEFINITIONS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.04-6.010. - Purpose.  
14.04-6.020. - Interpretation.  
14.04-6.030. - Acronyms.  
14.04-6.040. - Definitions.  

 
14.04-6.010. - Purpose.  
For the purpose of interpreting chapter 14.04 and chapter 14.08, certain words, concepts, 
and ideas are defined herein. Except as defined herein, all other words used in these 
chapters shall have their everyday meaning as determined by their dictionary definition.  

 
14.04-6.020. - Interpretation.  
A. Words not defined herein shall have the meanings stated in the Standard Building, 

Plumbing, Electrical, Gas, or Fire Prevention Codes. Words not defined in the 
standard codes shall have the meanings in Webster's Tenth Edition Collegiate 
Dictionary, as revised.  

B. Words in the present tense include the future tense and vice-versa. Words used in the 
singular include the plural, and vice-versa.  

C. The terms "shall" or “must” are always mandatory.  

D. The terms "may" or “can” are permissive.  

E. The term "lot" includes the word "plot" or "parcel."  

F. The term "person" includes a firm, association, organization, partnership, trust 
company, or corporation, as well as an individual.  

G. The term "planning commission" refers to the county planning commission.  

H. The term "council" refers to the county council.  

I. Any word denoting gender includes the female and the male.  



43 
 

J. The term "structure" shall include the word "building."  

K. The term "street" shall include the word "road."  

L. The term “zoning board of appeals” refers to the county zoning board of appeals. 

M. The term “used” or “occupied” as applied to any land or building shall be construed 
to imply that said land or building is in actual use or occupancy and shall be 
construed to include the words "intended," "arranged," or “designed” to be used or 
occupied. 

N. The term “map” or “zoning map” shall mean the official zoning map of Colleton 
County, South Carolina. 

 14.04-6.030. - Acronyms.  

Following is a list of acronyms (other than zoning districts) and their meanings found 
throughout chapter 14.04 and chapter 14.08:  
 
BFE  Base flood elevation  
DUA  Dwelling units per acre  
FEMA  Federal Emergency Management Agency  
FIRM  Flood insurance rate maps  
HOA  Any legal type of Home Owners Association  
ROW  Right-of-way / Rights-of-way 
OCRM  Ocean and Coastal Resource Management  
SC  South Carolina  
SCDHEC / DHEC South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control  
SCDOT / DOT South Carolina Department of Transportation  
US / USA United States of America  
   
 
14.04-6.040. - Definitions.  
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in chapter 14.04 and chapter 14.08, 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly 
indicates a different meaning:  

 
Abutting means sharing a common border; physically touching.  
 
Agricultural production/activity means land used exclusively as a bonafide 

agricultural operation by the owner and/or tenant. The use of land for agricultural 
purposes including farming, fish culture, bees for honey production, animal and poultry 
husbandry, and the necessary accessory uses for packing, treating, curing or storing the 



44 
 

produce or product, provided that the operation of the accessory use is clearly incidental 
to the agricultural activity.  Uses which shall not be classified as agricultural production 
or uses, for the purposes of this chapter, include zoos, kennels, or riding stables and 
academies. 
 
         Agricultural support services includes the operation, management, conservation, 
improvement, and maintenance of a farm and the structures on the farm, including 
building repair, replacement, expansion, and construction incidental to the farming 
operation; and/or the marketing and selling of agricultural products, agro-tourism, the 
storage and use of materials for agricultural purposes, packing, treating, processing, 
sorting, storage, and other similar activities performed to add value to crops, livestock, 
and agricultural items produced on the farm.  
 

Airport elevation means the established elevation of the highest point on the usable 
landing area.  

 
Airport hazard means any structure, tree, or use of land which obstructs the airspace 

required for, or is otherwise hazardous to the flight of aircraft in landing or taking off at 
the airport.  

 
Airport reference point means the point established and designated as the 

appropriate geographic center of the airport landing areas.  
 

Animal production means the dairying, raising, management, care, and training of 
livestock, including horses, bees, poultry, and other animals for individual and public use, 
consumption, and marketing.  

 
Animal services means a public or private facility for medical or surgical treatment, 

grooming, breeding, selling, or boarding of animals. Unless outdoor kennels are 
specifically allowed, all facilities associated with animal services shall be located 
indoors.  
 

Automotive services means any building, premises, and land, in or upon which the 
primary use of land is a business which involves the maintenance, servicing or sale of 
new or used automobiles, motorcycles, boats or other motor vehicles generally and 
including recreation vehicles and any vehicle leasing, rental, parking service, preparation 
or repair work conducted. The term "automotive services" includes but is not limited to 
auto dealerships, auto body shops, auto service stations, boat repair or sales, car washes, 
convenience stores, gas stations, truck stops, and oil/lube servicing. This does not include 
the sale of parts or related products (i.e., auto parts store).  

 
Bed and breakfast inn means any owner-occupied dwelling or portion thereof 

offering rooms and meals at breakfast to transient lodgers in return for compensation.  
 

Buildable area means that portion of any lot which may be used or built upon in 
accordance with the regulations governing the zoning district within which the lot is 



45 
 

located when the front, side and rear yard, open space, and applicable buffer area 
requirements have been met.  

 
Building/structure, accessory, means a subordinate structure on the same lot as the 

principal or main building or use occupied or devoted to a use incidental to the principal 
use. Included in this definition are private garages, storage sheds, workshops, animal 
shelters, pool houses, etc., when detached from the principal buildings, and carports 
attached to the principal building when at least 75 percent open or unenclosed.  

 
Building/structure, alteration means any act or process that changes or alters some 

or all of the exterior architectural features of a structure, including, but not limited to, the 
addition onto or reconstruction of any structure.  
 

Building/structure, principal, means a building in which the main or principal use 
is, or is intended to be conducted.  

 
Campgrounds means land containing five or more campsites which are located, 

established, or maintained for occupancy by people in temporary living quarters, such as 
tents, recreational vehicles, or travel trailers which are primarily used for recreation or 
vacation purposes.  
 

Canopy tree means a deciduous tree that forms the top layer of vegetation in a forest. 
Examples of such trees include oaks, hickories, maples, and poplars, among others.  

 
Cemetery, accessory, means a portion of property used for the interment of the dead. 

An accessory cemetery is located at the site of another principal use such as a religious 
institution or place of worship. A cemetery shall not be used for the preparation, 
embalming or cremation of bodies.  

 
Cemetery, family, means a family plot used for the interment of the dead of a family 

member related by blood, marriage, or adoption. A cemetery shall not be used for the 
preparation, embalming, or cremation of bodies.  

 
Cemetery, principal, means property used principally for the interment of the dead, 

which use may include the commercial sale and location of burial lots, plots, crypts, or 
vaults for use exclusively on the subject property. A cemetery shall not be used for the 
preparation, embalming, or cremation of bodies.  
 

Certificate of occupancy (C of O) means a certificate issued by the building official 
which certifies that a structure has been erected in accordance with all applicable county 
zoning, development and building codes, the effect of which shall permit the occupancy 
of a building.  
 
         Certificate of occupancy, Temporary (TCO) means a temporary 30, 60 or 90-day 
certificate issued by the building official which certifies that a structure has been erected 
in accordance with all applicable county codes, which allows for the stocking of shelves, 



46 
 

furnishing of space, or installation of specialized equipment prior to the final inspection 
and issuance of the certificate of occupancy. 

 
Commercial development means the changing of land characteristics through 

development, redevelopment, and/or construction of any use other than single or two-
family residential is classified as a commercial development, such as: apartments and 
condominiums; commercial parks, centers, and subdivisions; industrial parks; 
manufactured home and RV parks; and, similar developments for profit, sale, lease, or 
any combination having owner-rental characteristics.  

 
Community sewer system means infrastructure to remove waste water within a 

development that is not connected to a public sewer system where the lots are not on 
individual septic tanks. Such systems shall be approved by the SCDHEC.  

 
Community water system means infrastructure to deliver water within a 

development that is not connected to a public water system where the lots are not on 
individual wells. Such systems shall be approved by the SCDHEC.  

 
Conditional use means a use of land or structure, which is permitted in a zoning 

district with conditions for approval, as specified in chapter 14.08.  
 
Condominium means a unit in a multi-unit structure owned by an individual who has 

shared use of all common areas associated with that structure with the other individuals 
who occupy the same multi-unit structure.  

 
Day care services means and includes any home, center, agency, or place, however 

styled, where children, elderly, and other persons not related to the operator are received 
for custodial care, apart from their parents, whether for compensation, reward, or 
otherwise during part or all of the day and for any number of successive days.  

 
Density means the number of dwelling units per acre of land developed or used for 

residential purposes.  
 
Developer means a person, individual, partnership, or corporation (or agent therefor) 

that undertakes the activities covered by these regulations.  
 
Development means any manmade change to real estate, including, but not limited 

to, the construction of buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, 
paving, excavation, or drilling operations.  

 
Domestic animal shelter means a pen, shelter, or structure where no more than three 

dogs or small domestic animals, not to include farm animals, such as horses, cows, goats, 
swine including pot-bellied pigs, sheep, ponies, grazing animals, and fowl of any kind, 
are boarded and kept.  

 



47 
 

Drainage means the removal of surface or groundwater from land by drains, 
grading, or other means.  

 
Driveway means a paved or unpaved area used for ingress and egress to a property 

from a street or road by motor vehicles.  
 
Dwelling means a building or portion of a building constructed for human habitation, 

typically with cooking, sleeping, bathing, and toilet facilities.  
 
Dwelling unit means a single unit that fits the description of a dwelling.  
 
Dwelling, apartment. See Dwelling, multi-family.  
 
Dwelling, detached, means a single dwelling unit, surrounded by open space or 

yards and which is not attached to any other dwelling by any means.  
 
Dwelling, duplex, means a single building containing two dwelling units.  
 
Dwelling, multi-family, means a single building containing five or more dwelling 

units.  
 
Dwelling, patio house, means a single-family detached or semi-detached dwelling 

unit. It is built on a small lot generally enclosed by walls, which provide privacy. The 
term is synonymous with zero lot line dwellings.  

 
Dwelling, quadruplex, means a single building containing four dwelling units.  
 
Dwelling, residential designed manufactured home, means a single-family dwelling 

unit built according to the Federal Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety 
Standards (245 CFR 3280) HUD Code, 6-15-76, and which:  

1. Has a minimum width over 20 feet (multiple section);  
2. Has a minimum of 900 square feet of enclosed living area;  
3. Has a minimum 3:12 roof pitch; and has a type of shingle commonly used in 

standard residential construction;  
4. Is covered with an exterior material customarily used on site built homes, 

including vinyl or aluminum lap siding, wood, masonite, or other materials 
similar to the exterior siding commonly used in standard residential 
construction; and  

5. Has a roof overhang of not less than eight inches.  
 
Dwelling, single-family, means a single building containing one dwelling unit. 
 
Dwelling, standard designed manufactured home, means a single-family dwelling 

unit built according to the Federal Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety 
Standards (24 CFR 3280) HUD Code, 6-15-76, and which does not meet the definition of 
a residential designed manufactured home.  



48 
 

 
Dwelling, townhouse, means a series of attached single-family dwelling units on 

separate lots, which may or may not have a common roof and are separated from each 
other by common or shared vertical walls.  

 
Dwelling, triplex, means a single building containing three dwelling units.  
 
Dwelling, zero lot line, means a zero lot line dwelling is a single family detached 

unit which instead of being centered on a lot, is placed against at least one of the side lot 
lines. The term is synonymous with patio homes.  

 
Easement means a strip of land extending along a property line or across a lot, for 

which a limited right of use has been granted for a public or quasi-public purpose and 
within which the owner of the property shall not erect any trees or permanent structures.  

 
Emergency services means police department, fire department, rescue squad, 

emergency medical technicians, ambulatory services, or similar services that respond in 
the event of an emergency.  

 
Evergreen tree means a coniferous or other type of tree that remains green 

throughout the year.  
 
Family means one or more persons related by blood, marriage, adoption, or 

guardianship, and not more than four persons not so related, except that mentally and 
physically handicapped persons for whom care is provided on a 24-hour basis shall be 
construed to be a family, in accordance with the provisions of S.C. Code 1976, § 6-7-830.  

 
Family group development means a group of up to six individual detached dwelling 

units allowed on a single lot of record occupied only by persons related by blood, 
marriage, adoption, or guardianship, where all units comply with the density and setback 
requirements for the zoning district where the lot is located, except where prohibited in 
the RS, CC, VC, LID and ID zoning districts.  
 
         Farm Strusture means a structure less than 5,000 sq. ft., located on no less than 
five (5) acres in the RC-1, RC-2, RD-1 or RD-2 zoning districts that is being used as a 
farm for agricultural production purposes, which is not a public livestock area or a 
residential dwelling unit, which does not have cooking or sleeping amenities or facilities, 
with or without restroom facilities, a SCDHEC approved septic tank system and electric 
service not to exceed 200 Amps, where the use is exclusively associated with the 
production, harvesting, storage, drying or raising and growing of agricultural 
commodities, including livestock, fowl and bees for honey, or similar commonly known 
commodities.  Further, the owner agrees to prohibit public access to the structure and sign 
the “Farm and Accessory Use Structure Non-Conversion Affidavit” which certifies that 
the structure cannot be converted to a residential dwelling unit or a commercial use, 
without prior proper zoning and building permit approvals for such conversion, as may be 



49 
 

allowed by the zoning and building codes in effect at the time of conversion and change 
of use request.  
 

Federal manufactured home construction and safety standards means regulations 
promulgated by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) governing 
the design and construction of manufactured housing. These standards also set 
performance requirements for heating, plumbing, air conditions, thermal, and electrical 
systems.  

 
Floor means the top surface of an area in a building that is walked on and makes 

contact with people’s shoes, from the basement floor to the top floor of a building.  
 
Floor area ratio means an intensity measure of land use derived at by dividing the 

total floor area of a building by the total site area.  
 
Fuel supply services means a business that distributes petroleum, biodiesel, or 

similar fuel products for motor vehicles. This does not include gas-selling stations or 
convenience stores, which are a type of automotive service. Such businesses may have 
above-ground or below-ground tanks.  

 
Garage, private means a structure built to park vehicles inside of it that is for private 

use only.  
 
Garage, public means a structure built to park vehicles inside of it that is used by the 

general public.  
 
Grandfathered/Legal Nonconformity means and describes the status accorded 

certain properties, uses, structures and activities that legally existed prior to the date of 
adoption of the current/active zoning ordinance which changed its classification from 
conforming to nonconforming, where the nonconformity now exists as a legal 
nonconformity, and where the nonconformity may continue without limitation unless 
discontinued or abandoned for six (6) months, which then requires the nonconformity to 
be brought into compliance with the current codes in effect at the end of that six (6) 
month period of discontinuance and/or abandonment.  

 
Gross floor area (GFA) means the combined sum of the floor area, measured 

horizontally, where the floor area for every floor or story of a building is added to the 
sum, including basements and attics, measured from the exterior faces of the structure. It 
does not include unenclosed porches or detached accessory buildings.  
 

Habitable dwelling means a dwelling meeting the minimum habitability 
requirements of this chapter, and other applicable regulations.  

 
Hazard to air navigation means an obstruction determined to have a substantially 

adverse effect on the safe and efficient utilization of the navigable airspace of an airport.  
 



50 
 

Heavy construction contractor means a construction contractor that utilizes heavy 
equipment including but not limited to earthmoving equipment and/or cranes.  

 
Height means the vertical distance measurement from the top of a structure or 

vegetation to the ground directly beneath the structure or vegetation.  
 
Home occupation means any occupation within a dwelling, or an accessory building 

clearly incidental thereto, carried on by a member or members of the family residing on 
the premises, which in no way changes the residential character or nature of the 
neighborhood.  
 

Improvement means any man-made immovable item that becomes part of, placed 
upon, or affixed to the ground or a structure.  

 
Instrument runway means a runway equipped with a precision electronic navigation 

or landing aid suitable to assist the landing of aircraft by an instrument approach under 
restricted visibility conditions.  

 
Kennel, outdoor, means any outdoor place or structure used in whole or in part for 

the purpose of keeping, housing, or raising 24 or more animals in any combination, 
outside of a fully enclosed structure, whether the animals are boarded, pet animal rescues, 
or household pets.  

 
Larger than utility runway means a runway that is constructed for and intended to 

be used by propeller driven aircraft greater than 12,500 pounds maximum gross weight 
and jet-propelled aircraft.  

 
Livestock means the keeping or raising of cattle, sheep, goats, swine, horses, 

donkeys, mules, burros, buffalo, llamas, or similar animals.  
 

Lot means a parcel of land considered as a unit. The terms "lot," "lot of record," 
"property," or "tract," whenever used in these chapters, are interchangeable.  

 
Lot area means the horizontal area contained within the boundary lines of a lot.  
 
Lot depth means the horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines.  
 
Lot line means a line bounding a lot which divides one lot from another or from a 

street or any other public or private space.  
 
Lot of record means a lot, the boundaries of which are filed as a legal record.  
 
Lot width means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured at right 

angles to its depth along a straight line parallel to the front lot line at the minimum 
required building setback line.  

 



51 
 

Lot, corner, means a lot located at the intersection of two or more streets. 
  

 
 
Lot, existing, means a lot that was recorded prior to the adoption of the ordinance 

from which this chapter is derived (December 5, 2000) which is the same as when it was 
initially recorded.  

 
Lot, interior, means a lot, other than a corner lot, which has frontage on only one 

street other than an alley.  
 
Lot, through or double frontage, means a lot which has street frontage on two 

opposing ends of the lot.  
 
Lot, flag, means a lot having only its narrow access way to the lot (aka the flag pole) 

fronting onto a public or private road or access easement, with the bulk of the lot (aka the 
flag) set back from the road.  (See lot definition detail above.) 
 

Manufactured home park means a lot with the size and improvements needed to 
support the long-term parking of three or more manufactured homes, which may include 
resident services and facilities.  

 
Manufactured home park space means the individual space within a manufactured 

home park designed to accommodate one unit.  
 
Manufacturing, heavy, means the assembly, fabrication, production or processing of 

materials that have greater than average impacts on the environment, or that have 



52 
 

significant impacts on the use and enjoyment of other properties due to the generation of 
noise, smoke, fumes, odors, glare, health or safety hazards, or uses that otherwise do not 
constitute "light manufacturing," or any use where the area occupied by outdoor storage 
of goods and materials used in the assembly, fabrication, production or processing 
exceeds 25 percent of the floor area of all buildings on the lot. The term "heavy 
manufacturing" shall include, but not be limited to, the following: enameling, lacquering, 
plating or galvanizing of metals; foundries or mills producing iron and steel products; 
industrial chemical manufacture; meat packing plants; mixing plants for concrete or 
paving materials and products; oxygen and other gaseous manufacture and/or storage; 
pottery, porcelain, and vitreous china manufacture; wholesale poultry dressing; pressure 
treating of wood; stonecutting; tire recapping and retreading; and, tobacco and textile 
products manufacturing. (Not including resource extraction, mining, or drilling, or 
recycling and salvaging operations.)  

 
Manufacturing, light, means the assembly, fabrication, production or processing of 

materials using processes that ordinarily do not create noise, smoke, fumes, odors, glare, 
or health or safety hazards outside of the building or lot where such assembly, 
fabrication, production or processing takes place, where such processes are housed 
entirely within a building, or where the area occupied by outdoor storage of goods and 
materials used in the assembly, fabrication, production or processing does not exceed 25 
percent of the floor area of all buildings on the lot. (Not including heavy manufacturing, 
resource extraction, mining, or drilling, or recycling and salvaging operations.)  

 
Marina means a facility located along a shoreline that may have docks, moorings, 

supplies and services for watercraft and passengers, to include storage, docking, sales and 
repair and construction activities.  

 
Mini-warehouse means a building or buildings in a controlled-access and fenced 

compound that contains individual, compartmentalized spaces for the commercial dead 
storage of customer's goods or wares.  

 
Mixed occupancy means any building that is used for two or more occupancies 

classified by different occupancy use groups.  
 
Mixed use building means a two-story or taller building in which the ground floor 

contains a commercial retail or service business with at least one of the floors above 
containing one or more residential dwelling units.  
 

Modular building unit or modular structure means any structure other than a 
mobile or manufactured home, constructed off site, and transported to the point of use for 
installation. When meeting the requirements of the Modular Building's Construction Act 
(S.C. Code 1976, § 23-43-10), said structure may be located in any zoning district.  
 

Nonconformity, means any lot, use, structure, sign or vegetation which exists that 
does not conform to the current requirements of this chapter. 

 



53 
 

Nonconformity, legal means any lot, use, structure, sign or vegetation legally in 
existence prior to the effective date of the ordinance from which this chapter is derived, 
but which fails, by reason of such adoption, revision or amendment, to conform to the 
present requirements of this chapter. 
 

Nonresidential use means a principal use of land or structure for other than 
residential purposes (i.e., commercial, industrial, institutional).  

 
Office, professional, means an office building that houses professional services, such 

as accounting, engineering, architectural, and legal, which typically doesn’t involve the 
on-site retail sale of goods.  

 
Outdoor market means a use involving the retail sale of items outside an enclosed 

permanent structure on the same property or by the same organizer(s) more than four 
days per year, such as, farmers markets and flea markets.  
 

Open space ratio means the intensity of land use as derived by dividing the total 
amount of open space area within the site by the total site area.  

 
Parcel – see lot.  
 
Parcel, existing, means a lot that was recorded prior to the adoption of the ordinance 

from which this chapter is derived (December 5, 2000) which is the same as when it was 
recorded.  

 
Park, public means a public recreational facility which may include commercial 

activities for recreational uses only, open space and public gardens.  
Park model/travel trailer means a recreational vehicle primarily designed and 

intended to provide temporary living quarters for recreation, camping, or seasonal use. It 
is built on a single chassis, mounted on wheels with a gross trailer area not exceeding 400 
square feet in the setup mode. Each park model shall be certified by its manufacturer as 
complying with ANSI A119.5.  

 
Personal care services means services provided by licensed professional stylists, 

aestheticians, and therapists including but not limited to hair care, nail care, waxing, 
massage therapy, and similar spa services.  

 
         Place of worship means a building or structure, or group thereof, which by design 
and construction are primarily intended for conducting organized religious services 
whose site may include an accessory area for the interment of the dead in a cemetery. 
Day care centers (which have enrollment capacities in excess of 25 enrollees) and/or 
schools operated by the church on the facilities of the church shall be considered separate 
principal uses. 
 

Plat means a map or drawing upon which the developer's plan of a subdivision or 
commercial development is presented for approval.  



54 
 

 
Precision instrument runway means a runway with an instrument approach 

procedure utilizing an instrument landing system (ILS) or precision approach radar 
(PAR).  
 

Premises means a lot, plot, or parcel of land including the buildings thereon, under 
control by the same owner or operator together with all included land within the property 
boundaries of the premises.  

 
Produce stand means the sale of any form of agricultural or horticultural products at 

a retail stand located on the same site where the products are grown. Off-site produce 
stands shall be considered temporary uses and shall meet the requirements of such.  

 
Recreation, commercial means any establishment whose main purpose is to provide 

the general public with an amusing or entertaining activity and where tickets are sold or 
fees are collected for the activity. Includes, but not limited to, skating rinks, water parks, 
miniature golf courses, arcades, bowling alleys, but not billiard halls and movie theaters. 

 
Recreation, private means clubs or recreation facilities for which a membership 

charge may be made and which are open only to bona fide members and their guests. A 
private recreational facility may not be open or available to members of the general 
public 

Recreational group quarters means any combination of two or more of the 
following uses:  

1. Housing, including patio homes, single-family detached dwellings, townhomes, 
and condominiums;  

2. Resort accommodations including inns and cottages, but not hotels or motels; 
and  

3. Recreational facilities including golf courses, marinas, horse stables and tracks, 
trails, tennis courts, swimming and activity centers, hunting and shooting facilities and 
ecotourism activities.  

Recreational vehicle means a motorized vehicle intended to travel over streets and 
highways that is designed to serve as a temporary dwelling unit with cooking, sleeping, 
bathing and restroom facilities.  

 
Recreational vehicle park means a site where three or more recreational vehicles are 

in use for residential or camping purposes.  
 
Residential care facilities means an institutional facility in which supervision, care, 

therapeutic, or medical services are provided for three or more persons in a residential 
setting and capacity.  

 
Riparian buffer means land adjacent to a stream where vegetation is strongly 

influenced by the presence of water. Designated riparian buffers shall remain undisturbed 
to protect the native vegetation and water quality.  

 



55 
 

Runway means a defined area on an airport prepared for the landing and takeoff of 
aircraft along its length.  

 
Scrap (junk) and waste means any materials consisting of waste, discarded or 

salvage matter which is bought, sold, exchanged, stored, baled, packed or disassembled 
for profit, trade or hire, and shall include any vehicle damaged so as not to comply with 
state or federal safety regulations, incapable of self-propulsion or partially dismantled if 
retained on the premises whether for repair or not. The term "junk" shall also mean, but 
not be limited to, old, nonfunctioning, or scrap metals, rope, rags, paper, trash, tires, 
rubber, appliances, other old ferrous or non-ferrous material, barrels or drums, industrial 
or commercial equipment, fixtures or machinery, batteries, cardboard, plastic, pallets, 
motors, rubbish, debris; wrecked, dismantled or disabled motor vehicles or parts thereof.  

 
Seasonal sales means the retail sale of items related to the season of the year 

including, but not limited to, fireworks, pumpkins, Christmas trees, flowers, and produce.  
 
Seasonal worker housing means temporary housing located on the site of an 

agricultural use for migrant workers present during peak planting or harvesting seasons 
for a crop.  

 
Sexually oriented business, for purposes of this chapter, means and includes the 

following:  
A. "Adult arcade" means any place to which the public is permitted or invited 

wherein coin, slug or card-operated or electronically, electrically, or 
mechanically controlled still or motion picture machines, projectors, or other 
image-producing devices are maintained to show images to five or fewer 
persons per machine at any one time, and where the images so displayed are 
distinguished or characterized by the depicting or describing of specified sexual 
activities or specified anatomical areas.  

 
B. "Adult bookstore or adult video store" means a commercial establishment, 

which, as one of its principal business purposes, offers for sale or rental for any 
form of consideration any one or more of the following:  
1. Books, magazines, periodicals or other printed matter, or photographs, 

films, motion pictures, videocassettes or video reproductions, slides or other 
visual representations which depict or describe specified sexual activities or 
specified anatomical areas; or  

2. Instruments, devices, or paraphernalia, which are designed for use in 
connection with specified sexual activities. A commercial establishment 
may have other principal business purposes that do not involve the offering 
for sale or rental of material depicting or describing specified sexual 
activities or specified anatomical areas and still be categorized as an adult 
bookstore or adult video store. Such other business purposes will not serve 
to exempt such commercial establishment from being categorized as an 
adult bookstore or adult video store so long as: one of its principal business 
purposes is the offering for sale or rental for consideration the specified 



56 
 

materials which depict or describe specified sexual activities or specified 
anatomical areas.  

 
C. "Adult cabaret" means a nightclub, bar, restaurant or similar commercial 

establishment, which regularly features:  
1. Persons who appear in a state of nudity;  
2. Live performances which are characterized by the exposure of specified 

anatomical areas or by specified sexual activities; or  
3. Films, motion pictures, videocassettes, slides, or other photographic 

reproductions, which are characterized by the description of specified 
sexual activities or specified anatomical areas.  

 
D. "Adult motel" means a hotel, motel or similar commercial establishment 

which:  
1. Offers accommodations to the public for any form of consideration; 

provides patrons with closed-circuit television transmissions, films, motion 
pictures, videocassettes, slides, or other photographic reproductions which 
are characterized by the depiction or description of specified sexual 
activities or specified anatomical areas; and has a sign visible from the 
public right-of-way which advertises the availability of this adult type of 
photographic reproductions;  

2. Offers a sleeping room for rent for a period of time that is less than ten 
hours; or  

3. Allows a tenant or occupant of a sleeping room to sublet the room for a 
period of time that is less than ten hours.  

 
E. "Adult motion picture theater" means a commercial establishment where, for 

any form of consideration, films, motion pictures, videocassettes, slides or 
similar photographic reproductions are regularly shown which are characterized 
by the depiction or description of specified sexual activities or specified 
anatomical areas.  

 
F. "Adult theater" means a theater, concert hall, auditorium or similar 

commercial establishment which regularly features persons who appear in a 
state of nudity or live performances which are characterized by the exposure of 
specified anatomical areas or by specified sexual activities.  

 
G. "Sexual encounter center" means a business or commercial enterprise that, as 

one of its primary business purposes, offers for any form of consideration:  
1. Physical contact in the form of wrestling or tumbling between persons of 

the opposite sex; or  
2. Activities between male and female persons and/or persons of the same sex 

when one or more of the persons is in a state of nudity or seminude.  
 

         Sign, means any communication device, structure, or fixture that incorporates 
graphics, symbols, or written copy intended to promote the sale of a product, commodity, 



57 
 

or service, or to provide direction or identification for a premises or facility.  Please see 
Chapter 14.08-6.030 for specific sign types and definitions. 

 
Sign, abandoned, means a sign structure not containing a sign, or not in use for 120 

continuous days, or a sign advertising a business no longer occupying the site on which 
the sign exists, or to which it refers.  

 
Sign face means the area or display surface, measured in square footage, used for the 

commercial message.  
 
Specified anatomical areas means and includes any of the following:  
A. Less than completely and opaquely covered human genitals, pubic region, 

buttocks, anus or female breasts below a point immediately above the top of the 
areolae;  

 
B. Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and 

opaquely covered.  
 
Specified criminal act includes criminal sexual conduct, in any degree; criminal 

sexual conduct with a minor, in any degree; assault with intent to commit criminal sexual 
conduct; spousal sexual battery; engaging a child for sexual performance; producing, 
directing or promoting a child for sexual performance; lewd act on a minor; incest; 
prostitution; assignation or pandering; buggery; indecent exposure; obscenity offenses; 
and the out of state or federal counterparts to the preceding sexual offenses whether or 
not referred to by a different name.  

 
Specified sexual activities means and includes the following:  
A. The fondling or other intentional touching of human genitals, pubic region, 

buttocks, anus, or female breasts.  
B. Sex acts, normal or perverted, actual or simulated, including intercourse, oral 

copulation, or sodomy.  
C. Masturbation, actual or simulated.  
D. Human genitals in a state of sexual stimulation, arousal or tumescence.  
E. Excretory functions as part of or in connection with any of the activities set forth 

in subsections A through D of this definition.  
 

South Carolina manufactured housing board is authorized by state statute to 
regulate the construction, repair, modification, installation, tie-down, hook-up, and sale of 
manufactured homes in South Carolina, which utilizes the Federal Manufactured Housing 
Construction and Safety Standards, promulgated by HUD, and contained in the board's 
Manufactured Housing Regulations, current edition.  

 
Special exception means permission granted by the zoning board of appeals to 

conduct a use with unique circumstances on a specific property.  
 



58 
 

Street means any public or private thoroughfare (drive, avenue, or boulevard) or 
space more than 18 feet in right-of-way width which has been designed, constructed and 
designated for motor vehicle traffic.  

 
Street, major, includes all state primary and federal aid highways and streets that 

serve to circulate traffic, having signals at assigned intersections, and stop signs on side 
streets and/or having controlled access and channelized intersections.  

 
Street, minor, means a street designed principally to travel within a neighborhood 

from house to house and exit onto a major street.  
 
Street, private, means a street not dedicated for public use or maintenance.  
 
Structure. As defined by the International Building Code, current edition.  
 
Structure, accessory, means a subordinate structure on the same lot as the principal 

or main structure which is devoted to a use incidental to the principal use, such as private 
garages, storage sheds, farm structures, workshops, animal shelters, pool houses, etc., 
when detached from the principal buildings.  

 
Structure, principal, means a structure in which the principal or main use is 

conducted.  
 

         Structural alteration means any change in the supporting members of a building, 
such as load-bearing walls, beams, trusses or girders, or any change in the dimension or 
configuration of the roof or exterior walls. 
 

Subdivision means the division of an existing parcel or lot into two or more 
developable lots, or other divisions of land for sale, legacy, or building development, 
including all divisions of land involving a new street or a change in existing streets and 
includes the re-subdivision of land.  

 
Subdivision, conservation, means the grouping and condensing of lots in order to 

conserve land, open space, and unique natural resources and allow innovation in the 
design of the subdivision. Overall density does not change in a conservation subdivision.  
 

Subdivision, exempt, means a subdivision which meets the following conditions:  
1. Involves the division of land into parcels of five acres or more where no new 

street is involved; or  
2. Includes the combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots 

where the total number of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to 
the standards of this chapter and other applicable regulations;  

3. Includes cemetery lots;  
4. Includes a single pre-existing lot or record.  
 



59 
 

Subdivision, family, is a subdivision of land by a property owner among his 
immediate family members as a gift or for nominal consideration.  

 
Subdivision, major, is any subdivision other than an exempt or minor subdivision.  
 
Subdivision, minor, is one which does not involve the creation of more than 15 lots 

fronting onto an existing public or private street.  
 
Temporary use means a use not permanently located on a site that may include a 

special event, sale, or temporary structure.  
Tree, canopy, means a tree of a species which, at maturity, can be expected to reach 

a height of more than 35 feet under normal growing conditions in the local climate. The 
tree shall have a caliper of at least 2½ inches at the time of planting measured six inches 
up from the highest root.  

 
Tree, significant, means any tree, other than a pine tree, measuring 30 inches 

diameter at breast height (DBH).  
 

Tree, understory, means a small deciduous tree that forms the layer of vegetation 
under the canopy trees in a forest. Examples of such trees include dogwoods, sourwoods, 
fruit trees, among others. An understory tree may also be referred to as an ornamental 
tree.  

 
Use means the purpose or activity, for which land or any building thereon is 

designed, arranged or intended, or for which it is occupied or maintained.  
 
Use, accessory. See Building, accessory.  
 
Use, principal, means the primary purpose for which the land is used.  
 
Utility runway means a runway that is constructed for and intended to be used by 

propeller driven aircraft weighing less than 12,500 pounds maximum gross weight fueled 
and loaded.  

 
Variance means a modification of the area regulations of this chapter, granted by the 

zoning board of appeals, where such modification will not be contrary to the public 
interest, and where, owing to conditions peculiar to the property, a literal enforcement of 
the requirements of this chapter would result in unnecessary and undue hardship, and 
where such modification will not authorize a use of the property which is not permitted 
within the zoning district in which the property is located.  
 

Vegetation means any plant object of natural growth.  
 
Visual runway means a runway intended solely for the operation of aircraft using 

visual approach procedures.  
 



60 
 

Waste management services means a business that conducts the collection of 
garbage or recyclables from roll-off or roll-out garbage containers or dumpsters. The 
term "waste management services" does not include landfills or recycling operations.  
 

Wetlands means those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground 
water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support a prevalence of vegetation 
typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include 
swamps, marshes, and bogs. For official determination if an area is classified as a 
wetland contact the SCDHEC.  

 
Yard means an open space that lies between the principal or accessory building or 

buildings and the nearest lot line. Such yard is unoccupied and unobstructed from the 
ground upward except as may be specifically provided by this chapter.  

 
Yard, front, means a yard extending the full width of the front of a lot between the 

front (street) right-of-way line or property line and the front building line. Where more 
than one street abuts the lot, the front yard is the more narrow of the street frontages 
and/or the street frontage to which the property is addressed. 

 
Yard, rear, means a yard opposite of the front yard, extending the full width of the 

lot in the area between the rear lot line and the rear building line.  
 
Yard, required, means that part of a yard between a lot line and the minimum 

required building setback line, within which no structure shall be located except as 
provided by this chapter.  

 
Yards, side, means the yards extending the full length of the lot in the areas between 

the side lot lines and the sides of a building.  
 

Zoning district means a specifically delineated area or district within which specific 
zoning and development regulations and requirements govern the use, placement, spacing 
and size of the land and buildings.  

 
Zoning permit means written permission issued by the director or his designee for 

the construction or enlargement of a structure, the installation of a sign, or the conducting 
of a use.  
  
ARTICLE 14.04-7. - FORMS AND EXAMPLES  
 
Sections: 
 

14.04-7.010. - Letter of credit example.  
14.04-7.020. - Road maintenance agreement.  

 
 
 



61 
 

14.04-7.010. - Letter of credit example.  
 

Bank Letterhead 
IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT FOR PERFORMANCE 

Date:  Month/Date/Year  LOC No.:  
   
Lender:  Applicant:  
Name of Financial Institution  Name of individual or Corporation  
C/O (Contact Person)  C/O (Contact Person)  
Address  Address  
City/State/Zip  City/State/Zip  
   
Beneficiary:  Project Name:  
Colleton County  Give project name with phase #  
C/O Planning Department   
31 Klein Street   
Walterboro, SC 29488   
   
Amount:  Expiration Date:  
Insert amount of LOC  Date of Expiration  
  

We  (Bank)  hereby issue our irrevocable standby letter of credit No.  (LOC # )  
in your favor for the account of  (Applicant)  , up to the aggregate amount of exactly 
USD  (LOC amount)  .  

 
Requested drafts presented in compliance with the terms of this letter of credit shall 

be accompanied by a statement indicating:  
 
"  Applicant  , as Principal, has failed to complete all improvements for  (Name 

of Development)  in accordance with the requirements of the Colleton County Land 
Development Regulations".  

 
No partial drafts shall be allowed under the terms of this letter of credit by the 

applicant or the beneficiary.  
 
Except as otherwise stated herein, this letter of credit is subject to the uniform 

customs and practices for documentary credits  (Edition)  , established by the 
International Chamber of Commerce Publication  (Number)  .  

 



62 
 

 (Bank)  , as surety, hereby agrees that drafts drawn under and in compliance 
with the terms of this letter of credit will be duly honored on presentation at our counters 
at the address shown on the letterhead and/or  (address of South Carolina branch (if 
address on letterhead is not in South Carolina) and/or upon facsimile to (bank facsimile 
number))  on or prior to  (Date)  , at which time this agreement shall expire.  
 
(Signature)  SIGNATURES MUST BE IN BLUE INK  
  
(Typed Name) (Title)   
  
 NOTARIZED  
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



63 
 

14.04-7.020. - Road maintenance agreement.  
 

 



64 
 

 



65 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



66 
 

2. Title 14 – Land Management, Chapter 14.08 – Zoning, of the Colleton County Code of 
Laws (the same being inclusive of and one with the Originating and Amending Ordinances), 
and all subparagraphs thereof, is hereby amended in its totality to read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 14.08. - ZONING  
 
ARTICLE 14.08-1. - PURPOSE AND LEGAL PROVISIONS  

 
 Sections: 
 

14.08-1.010. - Title.  
14.08-1.020. - Authority.  
14.08-1.030. - Applicability.  
14.08-1.040. - Conflicting provisions and validity 
14.08-1.050. - Conformance with adopted plans.  
14.08-1.060. - Vested rights.  
14.08-1.070. - Development agreements.  
14.08-1.080. - Effective date.  

 
14.08-1.010. - Title.  
This chapter shall be known and may be cited as the Zoning Ordinance of Colleton 
County, South Carolina. The Colleton County Official Zoning Map designating the 
various zoning districts shall be titled and known as the zoning map.  
 
14.08-1.020. - Authority.  
In pursuance of authority conferred by S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-710 and for:  

A.  Promoting health, safety, and general welfare of the community;  
B.  Lessening congestion in the streets;  
C.  Securing safety from fire;  
D.  Providing adequate light and air;  
E.  Providing for adequate transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks, and 

other public improvements;  
F.  Protecting scenic and unique areas, in accordance with the comprehensive plan; 

the county council does ordain and enact into law the articles and sections set 
forth in this chapter.  

   
14.08-1.030. - Applicability.  
A.  The provisions of this ordinance shall apply within the county and outside of any 

municipal jurisdictional boundaries as shown on the zoning map.  
 
B.   Any violation of the previous zoning ordinance will continue to be a violation and 

subject to penalties and enforcement under article 14.08-8, unless the use, 
development, construction, or other activity complies with the provisions of this 
chapter, in which case enforcement action shall cease, except collecting penalties for 
violations that occurred prior to the effective date of the ordinance from which this 
chapter is derived.  



67 
 

 
C.   Any legal nonconformity under the previous zoning ordinances (Ordinance Nos. 99-

O-25 and 9-7-2010) will remain a legal nonconformity under this chapter, until 
brought into conformance with this chapter, or if it becomes conforming because of 
the adoption of the ordinance from which this chapter is derived.  

 
D.  Variances approved prior to the effective date of the ordinance from which this 

chapter is derived shall remain valid until their expiration date. Construction may 
continue in accordance with the development standards in effect at the time, 
provided the permit remains valid and has not lapsed.  

 
E.  No provision of this chapter shall require a change in the plans, construction, or 

designated use of any structure for which approval was granted prior to the effective 
date of the ordinance from which this chapter is derived, provided the permit remains 
valid and has not lapsed.  

 
F.  No previously approved lot shall be deemed an unusable lot under the provisions of 

this chapter.  
 
G.   Any use legally established without special exception approval prior to the effective 

date of the ordinance from which this chapter is derived, which is located in a zoning 
district that now requires special exception approval, shall not be considered 
nonconforming. Expansions and modifications of such uses shall be subject to article 
14.08-9.  

 
H.  PDDs approved prior to the adoption of the ordinance from which this chapter is 

derived are "grandfathered" under this chapter and shall adhere to the site plan and 
provisions of the PDD under which the PDD was approved.  

 
14.08-1.040. - Conflicting provisions and validity.  
A.  Whenever the regulations of this chapter conflict with any statutes in affect, the 

regulations which requires more restrictive standards shall govern.  
 
B.  Should any section or provision of this chapter be declared invalid or 

unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such declaration shall not 
affect the validity of the chapter as a whole or any part thereof which is not 
specifically declared to be invalid or unconstitutional.  

 
C.  All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed to the extent 

necessary to give this chapter full force and effect.  
 
D.  If the provisions of this chapter are inconsistent with those of the state or federal 

government, the more restrictive provision shall control, to the extent permitted by 
law.  

 



68 
 

E.  If the provisions of this chapter are inconsistent with one another, or if they conflict 
with provisions found in other adopted county ordinances, the more restrictive 
provision will control. No text amendment, zoning variance or condition of approval 
attached to a development approved under this chapter shall have the effect of 
nullifying, abrogating or diminishing the provisions of any other county ordinance.  

 
F.  This chapter is not intended to abrogate, annul, enforce, or otherwise interfere with 

any private easement, agreement or other private legal relationship. The county is 
only responsible for enforcing this chapter. Restrictive covenants affidavits shall be 
signed by the applicant or property owners for all applicable permit applications in 
compliance with S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-1145, that states:  
1.  In an application for a permit, the local planning agency must inquire in the 

application or by written instructions to an applicant whether the tract or parcel 
of land is restricted by any recorded covenant that is contrary to, conflicts with, 
or prohibits the permitted activity.  

 
2.  If a local planning agency has actual notice of a restrictive covenant on a tract 

or parcel of land that is contrary to, conflicts with, or prohibits the permitted 
activity:  
 
a. In the application for the permit;  
 
b. From materials or information submitted by the person or persons 

requesting the permit; or  
 
c. From any other source, the local planning agency must not issue the zoning 

permit unless it receives confirmation from the applicant that the restrictive 
covenant has been released for the tract or parcel of land by action of the 
appropriate authority or property holders or by court order.  

 
3.  As used in this section:  

a. The term "actual notice" is not constructive notice of documents filed in 
local offices concerning the property, and does not require the local 
planning agency to conduct searches in any records offices for filed 
restrictive covenants;  

 
b. The term "permit" does not mean an authorization to build or place a 

structure on a tract or parcel of land; and  
 
c. The term "restrictive covenant" does not mean a restriction concerning a 

type of structure that may be built or placed on a tract or parcel of land.  
 

14.08-1.050. - Conformance with adopted plans.  
A.  The regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter and all new developments shall be 

consistent with and designed in conformance with county adopted plans, including 



69 
 

but not limited to the comprehensive plan, corridor plans, small area land use plans, 
transportation plans, and recreation plans.  

 
B.  Public projects including new streets, structures, utilities, squares, parks, or other 

public grounds, open space or buildings for any use, whether publicly or privately 
owned, shall not be constructed or authorized in the county until the location, 
character, and extent of it have been submitted to the planning commission for 
review and comment as to the compatibility of the proposal with the comprehensive 
plan in accordance with S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-540. In the event that the planning 
commission finds the proposal to be in conflict with the comprehensive plan, the 
commission shall transmit its findings and the particulars of the nonconformity to the 
entity proposing the facility. If the entity proposing the facility determines to go 
forward with the project which conflicts with the comprehensive plan, the entity 
shall publicly state its intention to proceed and the reasons for the action. A copy of 
this finding must be sent to the county council, the planning commission, and 
published as a public notice in a newspaper of general circulation at least 30 days 
prior to awarding a contract or beginning construction. Telephone, sewer, gas, or 
electric suppliers, utilities and providers, whether publicly or privately owned, whose 
plans have been approved by the county council or a state or federal regulatory 
agency or who are acting in accordance with a legislatively delegated right are 
exempt from this provision. These utilities must submit construction information to 
the planning commission.  

 
14.08-1.060. - Vested rights.  
Pursuant the provisions of the Vested Rights Act, Act 287, adopted in 2004 by the state 
legislature, the following standards are established to specify the point at which a 
development is considered to have obtained a vested right:  

A.  A vested right is attached to a development project once the developer or 
landowner has:  
1.  Single-phased developments. Satisfied all conditions of site plan approval 

placed upon the proposed project by county staff and the planning 
commission.  

2.  Multi-phased developments. Satisfied all conditions of site plan approval 
that are placed on the proposed phase of development by county staff and 
the planning commission.  

 
B.   Such vested right shall extend for an initial period of two years. Within 120 days 

of expiration of the initial two-year vesting period, the developer or landowner 
may request, in writing, to the director of the county planning and development 
department, hereinafter (director), a one-year extension of the vesting period. 
Extensions of vested rights shall be given in one-year increments and shall not 
exceed five extensions, for a total vesting period of seven years.  

 
C.  Requests for extensions shall be presented to the planning commission for 

consideration. The planning commission must approve the annual extension 
unless an amendment to the land development regulations has been adopted that 



70 
 

prohibits approval. Upon expiration of a vested right, a building permit may be 
issued for development only in accordance with applicable land development 
regulations.  

 
D.  A site specific development plan for which a variance, regulation, or special 

exception is necessary does not confer a vested right until the variance, 
regulation or special exception is obtained.  

 
E.  Variances or special exceptions approved by the zoning board of appeals prior to 

planning commission approval of a site specific development plan do not create 
vested rights until the planning commission or planning department approval of 
the development plan is obtained and all conditions for approval satisfied.  

 
14.08-1.070. - Development agreements.  
Requests for development agreements shall be processed pursuant to S.C. Code 1976, 
title 6, chapter 31, as amended. Development agreements require planning commission 
review and comment.  
   
14.08-1.080. - Effective date.  
The ordinance from which this chapter is derived shall become effective on May 3, 2022. 
Upon such date, this chapter and chapter 14.04 shall supersede, repeal, and replace the 
Colleton County Land Management Ordinance.  
   
 
ARTICLE 14.08-2. - ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.08-2.010. - Purpose, interpretation, and general provisions.  
14.08-2.020. - Establishment of base zoning districts.  
14.08-2.030. - Resource Conservation Zoning District (RC-1).  
14.08-2.040. - Resource Conservation Zoning District – 2 (RC-2).  
14.08-2.050. - Resource Development Zoning District (RD-1).  
14.08-2.060. - Resource Development Zoning District – 2 (RD-2).  
14.08-2.070. - Suburban Residential Zoning District (RS).  
14.08-2.080. - Community Commercial Zoning District (CC).  
14.08-2.090. - Village Commercial Zoning District (VC).  
14.08-2.100. - Urban Development Zoning District (UD-1).  
14.08-2.110. - Urban Development Zoning District – 2 (UD-2).  
14.08-2.120. - Industrial Zoning District (ID).  
14.08-2.130. - Light Industrial Zoning District (LID). 
14.08-2.140. - Planned development district (PDD). 
14.08-2.150. - Overlay districts. 

 
14.08-2.010. - Purpose, interpretation, and general provisions.  
A.  Purposes of zoning.  



71 
 

1.  A zoning ordinance is adopted for the general purposes of guiding development 
in accordance with existing and future needs of the community and to promote 
the public health, safety, and welfare as established by S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-
710. The intent of zoning, according to the 1994 South Carolina Comprehensive 
Planning Act, is:  
a. To provide for adequate light, air, and open space;  
 
b. To prevent the overcrowding of land, avoid undue concentration of 

population, and lessen congestion in the streets;  
 
c. To facilitate the creation of a convenient, attractive, and harmonious 

community;  
 
d. To protect and preserve scenic, historic, or ecologically sensitive areas;  
 
e. To regulate the density and distribution of populations and the uses of 

buildings, structures, and land for trade, industry, residence, recreation, 
agriculture, forestry, conservation, airports and approaches thereto, water 
supply, sanitation, protection against floods, public activities, and other 
purposes;  

 
f. To facilitate the adequate provision or availability of transportation, police 

and fire protection, water, sewage, schools, park, and other recreational 
facilities, affordable housing, disaster evacuation, and other public services 
and requirements;  

 
g. To secure safety from fire, flood, and other dangers; and  
 
h. To further the public welfare in any other regard specified by a local 

governing body.  
 
2.    In order to further the purposes listed in subsection A.1 of this section, a zoning 

ordinance may regulate the following:  
a. Use of buildings, structures, and land;  
 
b. Size, location, height, bulk, orientation, number of stories, erection, 

construction, reconstruction, alteration, demolition or removal in whole or 
in part of buildings and other structures, including signage;  

 
c. Density of development, use or occupancy of buildings, structures or land;  
 
d. Areas and dimensions of land, water and air space to be occupied by 

buildings and structures, and the size of yards, courts and other open spaces;  
 



72 
 

e. Amount of off-street parking and loading that must be provided, and the 
restrictions or requirements related to the entry or use of motor vehicles on 
the land;  

 
f. Other aspects of the site plan including, but not limited to, tree preservation, 

landscaping, buffers, lighting, and curb cuts; and  
 
g. Other aspects of the development and use of land or structures necessary to 

accomplish the purposes set forth throughout the Comprehensive Planning 
Act.  

 
B.  Use interpretation.  

1.   Each zoning district has uses permitted by right, conditional uses, and special 
exception uses. Lists are shown for each district placing uses under one of the 
three categories. Uses not expressly permitted are prohibited. The following 
describes the processes the three categories must adhere to:  
a. Uses permitted by right. Administrative review and approval by the director 

or his designee subject to district provisions and other applicable 
requirements only.  

 
b. Conditional uses. Administrative review and approval by the director or his 

designee subject to district provisions, other applicable requirements, and 
conditions for approval as outlined in article 14.08-3.  

 
c. Special exceptions. Zoning board of appeals review and approval subject to 

district provisions, other applicable requirements, and conditions of 
approval. Some special exceptions may also be subject to conditions 
outlined in article 14.08-4.  

 
2.    A mix of two or more uses on the same lot of record is permitted as long as each 

use listed is permitted within the zoning district. The requirements for approval 
of the most restricted use shall apply.  

 
C.  Zoning map and interpretation.  

1.   The county is hereby divided into zoning districts as shown on the county zoning 
map which, together with all explanatory matter thereon, is hereby adopted by 
reference and declared to be part of this chapter.  

 
2.   The zoning map is maintained in the form of a machine-readable representation 

of a geographic phenomenon stored for display or analysis by a digital 
computer. The digital zoning database stored in the Geographical Information 
System (GIS) is hereby designated, established, and incorporated as part of these 
regulations and the originals thereof, which are on file at the offices of the 
Information Technology (IT) department, shall be as much a part of these 
regulations as if they were fully described in these regulations. Upon adoption of 



73 
 

the ordinance from which this chapter is derived and any amendment thereto, 
the IT department may produce a paper version of the zoning map.  

 
3.   Where uncertainty exists as to the boundaries of any district shown on the zoning 

map, the director or his designee shall employ the following rules of 
interpretation:  
a. Centerline. Where a boundary line lies within and follows a street or alley 

right-of-way, a railroad right-of-way, or utility easement, the boundary shall 
be construed to be in the center of such street or alley right-of-right, railroad 
right-of-way, or utility easement forming the boundary between two 
separate zoning districts is abandoned or removed from dedication, the 
district boundaries shall be construed as following the centerline of the 
abandoned or vacated road bed or utility easement.  

 
b. Edge line. Where a boundary line follows the edge of a street or alley right-

of-way, a railroad right-of-way, or utility easement, the boundary shall be 
construed to be on the edge of such street or alley right-of-way, railroad 
right-of-way, or utility easement. If such a street or alley right-of-way, 
railroad right-of-way, or utility easement forming the boundary between 
two separate zoning districts is abandoned or removed from dedication, the 
district boundaries shall be construed as following the edge of the 
abandoned or vacated road bed or utility easement.  

 
c. Lot line. Boundaries indicated as approximately following lot lines shall be 

construed as following such lot lines. In the event that a district boundary 
line divides a lot or tract, each part of the lot or tract so divided shall be 
used in conformity with the regulations established by this chapter for the 
district in which said part is located.  

 
d. County/municipal limits. Boundaries indicated as approximately following 

county/municipal limits or extraterritorial boundary lines shall be construed 
as following the county/municipal limits or extraterritorial boundary lines.  

 
e. Watercourses. Boundaries indicated as approximately following the 

centerlines of streams, rivers, canals, lakes, or other bodies of water shall be 
construed to follow such centerlines.  

 
f. Extensions. Boundaries indicated as parallel to or extensions of street or 

alley rights-of-way, utility easements, lot lines, city limits, county lines, or 
extraterritorial boundaries shall be so construed.  

 
g. Scaling. In a case where a district boundary does not coincide with any 

boundary lines as above and no distances are described by specific 
ordinance; the boundary shall be determined by the use of the scale 
appearing on the map.  

 



74 
 

h. Interpretation. Where the director or his designee determines that physical 
features existing on the ground, or actual property lines or other man-made 
boundary lines used to depict zoning district boundaries, are different than 
those shown on the zoning map, the zoning board of appeals shall have the 
authority to interpret zoning district boundaries.  

 
D.  General provisions and exceptions. In addition to the requirements listed below as 

well as any district specific requirements, further requirements may be set forth in 
article 14.08-3 for those uses listed as conditional.  
1.  Lot size and configuration.  

a. County and municipal uses, utility substations or sub-installations shall not 
be subject to the minimum lot size requirements.  

 
b. Family cemeteries with less than 15 internments shall not be subject to 

minimum lot size requirements.  
 
c. All new lots shall front upon a public road, private road, or private access 

easement in accordance with article 14.04-5. Each lot shall have a minimum 
frontage of 30 feet on said road or easement.  

 
d. Any combination of not more than two single-family detached dwellings 

and/or manufactured dwellings and their customary accessory structures 
may hereafter be erected on any lot, provided all lot area and setback 
requirements are met for both units and so arranged to ensure public access, 
except as allowed under a family group development.  

 
2.  Setbacks.  

a. The required front, side, and rear yards for individual lots shall be measured 
inward toward the center of said lot from all points along the respective 
front, side, and rear property lines of the lot. Once the yard areas of a given 
lot have been established, the remaining area of the lot which is not 
included in any required front, side, or rear yard shall be known as the 
"buildable" area within which the approved structures shall be placed.  

 
b. Where a property abuts a street right-of-way or access easement, the setback 

shall be measured from the edge of the right-of-way line or access 
easement. Where lots may only be accessed by water, the front setback is 
applied from the high-water mark along the waterside with the access.  



75 
 

 
 
c. Corner lots shall be considered to have two fronts with the secondary front yard 

setback 75 percent of the primary front yard setback for the district. The primary 
front is defined as the street frontage to which the E-911 address for the lot is 
assigned.  

 
d. Where the minimum lot width is not met at the front setback for the district, a front 

setback line shall be established where the minimum lot width for the district is met 
provided that a minimum of 30 feet of street frontage is provided.  

 
e. Where the majority of lots in a block fronting on the same side of a street between 

two intersecting streets are lawfully occupied with buildings having greater or 
lesser front yard depth than required by these regulations, no building hereafter 
erected or altered shall vary in the front yard setback by more than five feet from 
the average depth of said existing front yard setbacks without written approval of 
contiguous property owners. However, in no case shall setbacks be less than 15 
feet. See following diagram.  



76 
 

 
 
f. Whenever more than one principal building is located on a lot, the required yards 

shall be maintained around the group of buildings and buildings shall be separated 
by a horizontal distance that is at least equal to the height of the highest adjacent 
building. Accessory buildings are to be separated from principal or other accessory 
structures by at least five feet.  

 
g. On any corner lot in any district, no planting shall be placed or maintained and no 

fence, building, wall, or other structure shall be constructed at any point between a 
height of 2 feet and nine feet above the upper face of the nearest curb (or street 
center line if no curb exists) within the sight triangle. The sight triangle is the area 
bounded on two sides by the street right-of-way lines and on the third side by a 
straight line connecting points on the two street right-of-way lines as required by 
the site triangular and vertical vision clearance illustration. However, poles and 
support structures less than 12 inches in diameter may be permitted in such areas.  

 
h. The side and rear setbacks in the CC, UD-1, and UD-2 districts shall not apply to 

the shared property line of attached buildings.  
 
i. The space in any required yard shall be open and unobstructed except for the 

ordinary projections of window sills, cornices, eaves, window air conditioning 
units, and other architectural features (i.e., siding, bricks and overhangs) 
provided that such features shall project no more than two feet into any required 
yard.  
 

 



77 
 

Requirements by Street Type  
(Measured along R.O.W. Line) 

  
"A"  
(Distance  
in Feet)  

"B"  
(Distance  
in Feet)  

 Minor  Major  
15  Driveway  10  10  
30  Minor street  20  30  
45  Major street  20  30  

  

 

 
 

j. Steps and HVAC units may project into a required yard a distance not to 
exceed five feet but no closer than three feet of a property line. Fences, walls, 
hedges, and septic lines may be located in any setback, so long as they remain 
on the property and don’t create sight-triangle issues.  

 
k. Utility substations shall be exempt from district setback requirements.  

 
3.  Height.  



78 
 

a. The height of a building or structure shall be measured from the average grade 
elevation within 20 feet of the structure or from the base of a tree when 
computing height in the airport compatibility zone, to the highest point of the 
building, structure, or tree.  

 
b. The height limitations of this chapter shall not apply to the following (except in 

the AC-O):  
i. Belfries.  

ii. Chimneys.  
iii. Church spires.  
iv. Conveyors.  
v. Cooling towers.  

vi. Cupulas.  
vii. Domes.  

viii. Elevator and stair bulkheads.  
ix. Fire towers.  
x. Flagpoles.  

xi. Ornamental towers and spires.  
xii. Public monuments.  

xiii. Public utility poles.  
xiv. Silos.  
xv. Skylights.  

xvi. Smoke stacks.  
xvii. Stage towers or scenery lofts. 

  
Such features shall be erected only to such height as is necessary to accomplish 
the purpose they are intended to serve and no height extension shall serve as a 
place for human habitation.  

 
c. The height of communication towers and antennas, and water tanks shall also 

be exempt from district height requirements, provided such structures shall be 
separated from any adjoining residential use by a distance equal to one foot for 
each one foot in height, or if engineered to collapse in on themselves, the 
distance away from the residential use as established by the engineer provided 
that the conditions in section 14.08-3.020(GG) are met.  

 
d. All unincorporated property on Edisto Island shall be permitted to build up to a 

height of 50 feet.  
 

E.   Other requirements. In addition to zoning district regulations, see the following 
sections for other requirements:  

1. See article 14.08-3 for conditional and special exception uses.  
2. See article 14.08-4 for landscaping, buffering, and environmental protection.  
3. See article 14.08-5 for parking.  
4. See article 14.08-6 for signage.  



79 
 

5. See article 14.08-7 for variances, special exceptions, appeals, and zoning board of 
appeals.  

6. See article 14.08-8 for permits, site plans, administration, and planning 
commission. 

7. See article 14.08-9 for nonconformities. 
8. See article 14.08-10 for zone changes, zoning and comprehensive plan map and 

text amendments. 
  
14.08-2.020. - Establishment of base zoning districts.  
Base zoning districts are created to provide comprehensive land use regulations 
throughout the county. There are nine base zoning districts that provide for a variety of 
uses that are appropriate to the character areas in which they are located in accordance 
with the county comprehensive plan. These base zoning districts are as follows and they 
shall comply with all of the general and specific requirements of this chapter.  

1.  Resource Conservation: RC-1 and RC-2.  
2.  Rural Development: RD-1 and RD-2.  
3.  Suburban Residential: RS.  
4.  Community Commercial: CC.  
5.  Village Commercial: VC.  
6.  Urban Development: UD-1 and UD-2.  
7.  Light Industrial: LID.  
8.  Industrial: ID. 
9.  Planned Development District: PDD.  

 
14.08-2.030. - Resource Conservation Zoning District (RC-1).  
A.  Purpose. The RC-1 Zoning District was established to protect fragile wetlands, 

marshes, beaches, sand dunes, rivers, creeks, islands, and other natural resources 
critical to the ecosystems within the ACE Basin. This is the most restrictive zoning 
district in the county and requires large lot development due to its environmentally 
sensitive resources. Most of the lands in this district are already protected by land 
conservancies; however, many large undeveloped tracts of land not suited for dense 
development within the ACE Basin are not under any type of permanent protection. 
This district allows for a low density development pattern that would help preserve 
the environmental characteristics of those areas, protecting them from the potential 
impacts of more concentrated development. 

 
B.  Uses. 

1.  Permitted uses   
a. Agricultural production, crops.  
b. Agricultural support services.  
c. Cemeteries, family and accessory (excluding cemeteries as the principal 

use).  
d. Emergency services.  
e. Farms and ranches, general.  
f. Fishing, hunting, trapping (commercial, excludes hunting and fishing 

camps).  



80 
 

g. Forestry.  
h. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
i. Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
j. Places of worship.  
k. Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
l. Public and private utilities (excluding electric generation, steam, and air 

supply).  
m. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
n. Storage, indoor (up to 5000 square feet).  

 
2.  Conditional uses (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c. Conservation subdivisions.  
d. Home occupations.  
e. Hunting and fishing camps, temporary.  
f. Family care home for the handicapped.  
g. Family group development.  
h. Gun clubs and outdoor shooting ranges.  
i. Manufactured homes (on individual lots). 
j. Temporary uses (except fireworks stands).  

 
3.  Special exceptions  (See article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  

a. Bed and breakfast inns.  
b. Communications towers.  
c. Golf courses and country clubs.  
d. Marinas.  
e. Mining.  
f. Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions. 
g. Recreational group quarters.  
h. Taxidermy and wild game processing.  
i. Park model trailers, campers and RVs as Living accommodations (on 

individual lots but not on Edisto Island).  

 
C.     Dimensional requirements - (RC-1) Zoning District.*  

Residential 
Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard 
Requirements  

Max. 
Height  

Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min. 
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 5 
acres  

1 dwelling  
per 5 
acres  

150  35  20  50  40  

  



81 
 

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 5 acres  150  35  20  50  40  
*See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  

   
 

14.08-2.040. - Resource Conservation Zoning District-2 (RC-2).  
A.  Purpose. Many lands within the ACE Basin are suitable for low to moderate density 

development near and adjacent to areas where small scale community crossroads 
exist. Although near and adjacent to larger more environmentally sensitive areas 
within the RC-1, the lands with the RC-2 can support smaller lot development.  

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a. Agricultural production, crops.  
b. Agricultural support services.  
c. Cemeteries, family and accessory (excluding cemeteries as a principal use).  
d. Civic, fraternal, professional, and political organizations.  
e. Emergency services.  
f. Farms and ranches, general.  
g. Fishing, hunting, trapping (commercial, excludes hunting and fishing 

camps).  
h. Forestry.  
i. Fuel supply services (excluding automobile gas stations).  
j. Golf courses and country clubs.  
k. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
l. Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
m. Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
n. Places of worship.  
o. Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
p. Public and private utilities (excluding electric generation, steam, and air 

supply).  
q. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
r. Storage, Indoor (up to 5,000 square feet).  

 
2.  Conditional uses (see article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c. Bed and breakfast inns.  
d. Conservation subdivisions.  
e. Family care home for the handicapped.  
f. Family group development.  



82 
 

g. Gun clubs and outdoor shooting ranges.  
h. Home occupations.  
i. Hunting and fishing camps, temporary.  
j. Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
k. Park model trailers, campers and RVs as living accommodations (on 

individual lots)  
l. Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (see article 14.08-7 for special exceptions and article 

14.08-3 for any conditions).  
a.  Camps and recreational vehicle parks.  
b.  Communications towers.  
c.  Marinas.  
d.  Mining.  
e.  Recreational group quarters.  
f.  Schools, elementary and secondary.  
g.  Taxidermy and wild game processing.  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (RC-2).*  

Residential Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback (ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 1 acre  
(43,560 sf)  

1 dwelling  
per acre  100  35  20  50  40  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 1 acre  
(43,560 sf)  100  35  20  50  40  

 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
 
14.08-2.050. - Rural Development Zoning District-1 (RD-1).  
A.  Purpose. The RD-1 Zoning District was established to conserve, sustain, and 

protect rural areas and resources, particularly agricultural/farm lands and areas of 
high flood potential. It is intended to accommodate low density residential uses, 
agricultural and farming uses, and related support services.  

 
          
             
           



83 
 

           
          
         District. 
 
B.  Uses.  

1. Permitted uses .  
a. Agricultural production, crops.  
b. Agricultural support services.  
c. Animal services (no outdoor kennels).  
d. Building and special trade contractors (excluding heavy construction).  
e. Cemeteries.  
f. Civic, fraternal, professional, and political organizations.  
g. Emergency services.  
h. Farms and ranches, general.  
i. Farm supply stores.  
j. Fishing, hunting, trapping (commercial, excludes hunting and fishing 

camps).  
k. Forestry.  
l. Fuel supply services (excluding automobile gas stations and truck stops).  
m. Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
n. Golf courses and country clubs.  
o. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
p. Landscape services.  
q. Marinas.  
r. Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
s. Places of worship.  
t. Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
u. Public and private utilities.  
v. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
w. Taxidermy and wild game processing.  
x. Warehousing and storage (indoor, excluding mini-storage).  

 
2. Conditional uses  (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c. Bed and breakfast inns.  
d. Campgrounds and recreational vehicle parks.  
e. Conservation subdivisions.  
f. Family care home for the handicapped.  
g. Family group development.  
h. Gun clubs and outdoor shooting ranges.  
i. Home occupations.  
j. Hunting and fishing camps, temporary.  
k. Lumber and saw mills.  
l. Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
m. Mining.  



84 
 

n. Park model trailers, campers and RVs as living accommodations (on 
individual lots but not on Edisto Island).  

o. Seasonal worker housing.  
p. Temporary uses.  

 
3. Special exceptions . (see article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  

a. Automotive services and other repair.  
b. Animal services (with outdoor kennels). 
c. Building materials and supply.  
d. Communications towers.  
e. Day care centers.  
f. Health care services (excluding hospitals).  
g. Heavy construction contractors.  
h. Personal care services.  
i. Residential care facilities.  
j. Recreational group quarters.  
k. Schools, elementary and secondary.  
l. Schools, instructional.  
m. Schools, vocational.  
n. Solid waste landfill (excluding hazardous waste).  
o. Waste management services (excluding hazardous waste).  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (RD-1).*  

Residential Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 1 acre  
(43,560 sf)  

1 dwelling  
per acre  100  25  10  20  40  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 1 acre  
(43,560 sf)  100  25  10  20  40  

 
 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
 
14.08-2.060. - Rural Development Zoning District -2 (RD-2).  
A.  Purpose. This district is very rural in nature, though more developed than the RD-1 

district. This district serves as a transition between the lower density RD-1 and 
higher density RS district. It allows for agricultural uses, rural residential 



85 
 

development, and low intensity supporting uses. Most of the lands within this district 
are not heavily farmed or in significant flood prone areas. Some services may be 
available or planned with this district allowing for a greater density of residential 
development than the RD-1, but not as dense as the RS District.  

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a.  Air strips (private use).  
b.  Agricultural production, crops.  
c.  Agricultural support services.  
d.  Animal services (no outdoor kennels).  
e.  Building and special trade contractors (excluding heavy construction).  
f.  Cemeteries.  
g.  Civic, fraternal, professional, and political organizations.  
h.  Emergency services.  
i.  Farms and ranches, general.  
j.  Farm supply stores.  
k.  Fishing, hunting, trapping (commercial, excludes hunting and fishing 

camps).  
l.  Forestry.  
m.  Fuel supply services (excluding truck stops).  
n.  Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
o.  Golf courses and country clubs.  
p.  Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
q.  Health care services (excluding hospitals).  
r.  Landscape services.  
s.  Libraries.  
t.  Marinas.  
u.  Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
v.  Office uses, general (up to 5,000 square feet).  
w.  Personal care services.  
x.  Places of worship.  
y.  Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
z.  Public and private utilities.  
aa.  Reserved.  
bb.  Schools, elementary and secondary.  
cc.  Schools, college and university.  
dd.  Schools, instructional.  
ee.  Schools, vocational.  
ff.  Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
gg.  Taxidermy and wild game processing.  
hh.  Warehousing and storage (indoor, excluding mini-storage).  

 
2.  Conditional uses (see article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a.  Accessory structures.  
b.  Animal production (excluding hogs).  



86 
 

c.  Bed and breakfast inns.  
d.  Conservation subdivisions.  
e.  Family care home for the handicapped.  
f.  Family group development.  
g.  Gun clubs and outdoor shooting ranges.  
h.  Home occupations.  
i.  Hunting and fishing camps, temporary.  
j.  Lumber and saw mills.  
k.  Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
l.  Mining.  
m.  Park model trailers, campers and RVs as living accommodations (on 

individual lots).  
n.  Residential care facilities.  
o.  Seasonal worker housing.  
p.  Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (See article 14.08-7 for special exceptions and article 

14.08-3 for any conditions).  
a.  Automotive services and other repair.  
b.  Animal services (with outdoor kennels).  
c.  Campgrounds and recreational vehicle parks.  
d.  Communications towers.  
e.  Day care centers.  
f.  Heavy construction contractors.  
g.  Manufactured home parks.  
h.  Outdoor markets.  
i.  Retail uses.  
j.  Restaurants and drinking establishments.  
k.  Recreational group quarters.  
l.  Solid waste landfill (excluding hazardous waste).  
m.  Waste management services (excluding hazardous waste).  
n.  Wholesale trade.  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (RD-2).*  

Residential Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 ½ acre  
(21,780 sf)  

2 dwellings  
per acre  80  25  10  20  40  

  

Nonresidential Uses  
Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  

Min.  
Width  

Front  
Setback  

Side  
Setback  

Rear  
Setback  

Structure  
Height  



87 
 

Size  (ft.)  (ft.)  (ft.)  (ft.)  (ft.)  

 ½ acre  
(21,780 sf)  80  25  10  20  40  

 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
   
 
14.08-2.070. - Suburban Residential Zoning District (RS).  
A.  Purpose. The purpose of this district is to foster, sustain, and protect areas in which 

the principal use of land is for single-family dwellings and related support uses in 
areas at the edge of municipal boundaries within a suburban environment. This 
district is the transition district between the RD-1 and RD-2 Districts and more 
intense urban districts.  

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a. Agricultural production, crops and horses (excluding all other livestock).  
b. Cemeteries, family and accessory (excluding principal use).  
c. Emergency services.  
d. Forestry.  
e. Golf courses and country clubs.  
f. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
g. Libraries.  
h. Places of worship.  
i. Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
j. Public and private utilities (excluding electric generation, steam, air supply 

and water/sewer treatment).  
k. Schools, elementary and secondary.  
l. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  

 
2.  Conditional uses (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (horses only).  
c. Conservation subdivisions.  
d. Family care home for the handicapped.  
e. Home occupations.  
f. Single-family attached residential.  
g. Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (See article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  

a. Bed and breakfast inns.  
b. Marinas.  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (RS).*  
Residential Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Max. 



88 
 

Uses  Requirements  Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 
¼ acre  
(10,890 
sf)  

4 
dwellings  
per acre  

80  25  5  10  40  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 ¼ acre  
(10,890 sf)  80  25  10  30  40  

 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
  
 
14.08-2.080. - Community Commercial Zoning District (CC).  
A.  Purpose. The Community Commercial Zoning District was established to 

provide small scale, very low intensity commercial development at rural crossroads 
in convenient and strategic locations of the county to meet "community needs". The 
community commercial districts are intended to be located nearest to the RD-1, RD-
2 and RC-2 areas at major intersections or established rural/community crossroads.  

    
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a.   Agricultural production, crops.  
b.   Animal services (no outdoor kennels).  
c.   Auditorium/Indoor public assembly.  
d.   Automotive parking and garages (as a principal use).  
e.   Banks.  
f.   Building and special trade contractors (excluding heavy construction).  
g.   Bus and transit terminals and stops.  
h.   Cemeteries, family and accessory (excluding principal use).  
i.    Civic, fraternal, professional, and political organizations.  
j.    Emergency services.  
k.   Farm supply stores.  
l.    Financial services and offices.  
m.   Forestry.  
n.   Funeral homes and services.  
o.   Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
p.   Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
q.   Health care services.  



89 
 

r.   Landscape services.  
s.   Libraries.  
t.    Laundry and dry cleaning services.  
u.   Marinas.  
v.   Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
w.   Office general and professional.  
x.   Personal care services.  
y.   Places of worship.  
z.   Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
aa.   Public and private utilities (excluding electric generation, steam, and air 

supply).  
bb.  Railroad stations.  
cc.   Restaurants and drinking establishments.  
dd.  Retail uses.  
ee.   Schools, elementary and secondary.  
ff.   Service uses (indoor).  
gg.  Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
hh.  Telecommunications (excluding towers).  
ii.   Wholesale trade 

          
3.  Conditional uses  (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a.   Accessory structures.  
b.   Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c.   Automotive services and gas stations (no major repair or long-term vehicle 

storage, excluding  truck stops).  
d.   Bed and breakfast inns.  
e.   Day care centers.  
f.   Family care home for the handicapped.  
g.   Home occupations.  
h.   Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
i.    Mixed use buildings.  
j.    Residential care facilities.  
k.   Temporary uses.  

 
4.  Special exceptions  (See article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  

a.   Animal services (with outdoor kennels).  
b.   Automotive services (with major repair or long-term vehicle storage).  
c.   Communications towers.  
d.   Heavy construction contractors.  
e.   Mini-warehouses.  
f.   Outdoor markets.  
g.   Park model trailers, campers and RVs as living accommodations (on 

individual lots)  
 
C.  Dimensional requirements in the (CC) Zoning District.*  
Residential Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Max. 



90 
 

Uses  Requirements  Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 
½ acre  
(21,780 
sf)  

2 
dwellings  
per acre  

80  
 25  5  10  40  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 ½ acre  
(21,780 sf)  100  25  5  10  40  

 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  

 
14.08-2.090. - Village Commercial Zoning District (VC).  
A.  Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate existing or developing 

community or "village" areas that have a mix of uses and commercial/community 
activities that are much greater than the influence of a country store at a Community 
Commercial District/rural crossroads, but not enough density to yet be classified as a 
town. Examples include Jacksonboro and Green Pond.  

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a. Agricultural production, crops.  
b. Animal services (no outdoor kennels).  
c. Auditorium/indoor public assembly.  
d. Automotive parking and garages (as a principal use).  
e. Automotive sales and rental.  
f. Banks.  
g. Building and special trade contractors (excluding heavy construction).  
h. Bus and transit terminals and stops.  
i. Cemeteries, family and accessory (excluding principal use).  
j. Civic, fraternal, professional, and political organizations.  
k. Emergency services.  
l. Farm supply stores.  
m. Financial services and offices.  
n. Forestry.  
o. Funeral homes and services.  
p. Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
q. Golf courses and country clubs.  
r. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  



91 
 

s. Health care services.  
t. Hospitals.  
u. Hotels, motels, and inns.  
v. Landscape services.  
w. Libraries.  
x. Laundry and dry cleaning services.  
y. Marinas.  
z. Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
aa. Offices, general.  
bb. Personal care services.  
cc. Places of worship.  
dd. Public and private parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
ee. Public and private utilities (excluding electric generation, steam, and air 

supply).  
ff. Railroad stations.  
gg. Restaurants and drinking establishments.  
hh. Retail uses.  
ii. Schools, elementary and secondary.  
jj. Service uses (indoor).  
kk. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
ll. Telecommunications (excluding towers).  
mm. Warehousing and storage (indoor).  
nn. Wholesale trade.  

 
2.  Conditional uses (see article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c. Automotive services and gas stations (no major repair or long-term vehicle 

storage) 
d. Bed and breakfast inns.  
e. Day care centers.  
f. Family care home for the handicapped.  
g. Home occupations.  
h. Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
i. Mixed use buildings.  
j. Residential care facilities.  
k. Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (see article 14.08-7 for special exceptions and article 

14.08-3 for any conditions).  
a. Animal services (with outdoor kennels).  
b. Automotive services (with major repair or long-term vehicle storage).  
c. Communications towers.  
d. Heavy construction contractors.  
e. Mini-warehouses.  
f. Outdoor markets.  



92 
 

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (VC).*  

Residential 
Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard 
Requirements  

Max. 
Height  

Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 
½ acre  
(21,780 
sf)  

2 
dwellings  
per acre  

100  25  5  10  40  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 ½ acre  
(21,780 sf)  100  25  5  10  40  

 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
 
14.08-2.100. - Urban Development Zoning District-1 (UD-1).  
A.  Purpose. The UD-1 Zoning District is intended to accommodate urban growth in 

areas outside of municipalities. The UD-1 is an appropriate transition district 
between the RS and UD-2 Districts. The UD-1 district accommodates lower intensity 
uses than the more intense UD-2 district. 

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a. Air strips and airports.  
b. Agricultural production, crops.  
c. Agricultural support services.  
d. Animal services (no outdoor kennels).  
e. Auditorium/indoor public assembly.  
f. Automotive parking and garages (as a principal use).  
g. Automotive sales and rental.  
h. Banks.  
i. Building and special trade contractors (excluding heavy construction).  
j. Bus and transit terminals and stops.  
k. Cemeteries.  
l. Civic, fraternal, professional, and political organizations.  
m. Distribution.  
n. Emergency services.  
o. Farms and ranches, general.  
p. Farm supply stores.  



93 
 

q. Financial services and offices.  
r. Fishing, hunting, trapping (commercial, excludes hunting and fishing 

camps).  
s. Forestry.  
t. Fuel supply services.  
u. Funeral homes and services.  
v. Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
w. Golf courses and country clubs.  
x. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
y. Health care services.  
z. Hospitals.  
aa. Hotels, motels, and inns.  
bb. Landscape services.  
cc. Libraries.  
dd. Laundry and dry cleaning services.  
ee. Marinas.  
ff. Motion picture and sound industries.  
gg. Movie theater.  
hh. Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
ii. Pawn shops.  
jj. Personal care services.  
kk. Places of worship.  
ll. Professional offices.  
mm. Public, private and commercial parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
nn. Public and private utilities (excluding power generation from non-renewable 

sources).  
oo. Railroad stations.  
pp. Research facilities.  
qq. Restaurants and drinking establishments.  
rr. Retail uses.  
ss. Schools, elementary and secondary.  
tt. Schools, college and university.  
uu. Schools, instructional.  
vv. Schools, vocational.  
ww. Service uses (indoor).  
xx. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
yy. Telecommunications. (excluding cell towers) 
zz. Two-family residential dwellings (duplexes).  
aaa. Warehousing and storage (indoor, excluding mini-storage).  
bbb. Wholesale trade.  

 
2 .  Conditional uses (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c. Automotive services and gas stations (no major repair or long-term vehicle 

storage).  



94 
 

d. Bed and breakfast inns.  
e. Boarding and rooming houses.  
f. Camps and recreational vehicle parks.  
g. Conservation subdivisions.  
h. Day care centers.  
i. Family care home for the handicapped.  
j. Family group development.  
k. Home occupations.  
l. Hunting and fishing camps, temporary.  
m. Light manufacturing. (indoors) 
n. Lumber and saw mills.  
o. Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
p. Mining.  
q. Mixed use buildings.  
r. Multi-family residential.  
s. Park model trailers, campers and RVs as living accommodations (on 

individual lots).  
t. Residential care facilities.  
u. Temporary uses.  

 
3 .  Special exceptions  (See article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  

a. Animal services (with outdoor kennels).  
b. Automotive services (with major repair or long-term vehicle storage).  
c. Communications towers.  
d. Gun clubs and skeet shooting ranges.  
e. Heavy construction contractors.  
f. Manufactured home parks.  
g. Mini-storage.  
h. Outdoor markets.  
i. Recycling (household paper, plastic, tins and glass).  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (UD-1) ).*  

Residential Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 1/6 acre  
(7,260 sf)  

6 dwellings  
per acre  70  25  5  10  60  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 ¼ acre  70  25  5  10  60  



95 
 

(10,890 sf)  
 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  

 
14.08-2.110. - Urban Development Zoning District-2 (UD-2).  
A.  Purpose. This district, in conjunction with UD-1, is intended to accommodate most 

of the projected growth in urban transition areas outside of municipalities. This 
district is intended to have most public facilities and infrastructure in support of 
urban development such as water, sewer, streets, and schools. The UD-2 district 
accommodates higher intensity uses than the UD-1 district.  

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a. Air strips and airports.  
b. Agricultural production, crops.  
c. Agricultural support services.  
d. Animal services (no outdoor kennels).  
e. Auditorium/indoor public assembly.  
f. Automotive parking and garages (as a principal use).  
g. Automotive sales and rental.  
h. Banks.  
i. Building and special trade contractors (excluding heavy construction).  
j. Bus and transit terminals and stops. 
k. Cemeteries.  
l. Reserved.  
m. Distribution.  
n. Emergency services.  
o. Entertainment uses (excluding pool/billiard halls and sexually oriented 

businesses).  
p. Farms and ranches, general.  
q. Farm supply stores.  
r. Financial services and offices.  
s. Fishing, hunting, trapping (commercial, excludes hunting and fishing 

camps).  
t. Forestry.  
u. Fuel supply services.  
v. Funeral homes and services.  
w. Greenhouses and nurseries, commercial.  
x. Golf courses and country clubs.  
y. Government buildings (excluding correctional facilities).  
z. Health care services.  
aa. Hospitals.  
bb. Hotels, motels, and inns.  
cc. Landscape services.  
dd. Libraries.  
ee. Reserved.  



96 
 

ff. Laundry and dry cleaning services.  
gg. Marinas.  
hh. Mini-storage.  
ii. Motion picture and sound industries.  
jj. Movie theaters.  
kk. Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
ll. Nonprofit organizations.  
mm. Pawn shops.  
nn. Personal care services.  
oo. Places of worship.  
pp. Professional offices.  
qq. Public, private and commercial parks and recreation (indoor and outdoor).  
rr. Public and private utilities (excluding power generation from non-renewable 

energy sources).  
ss. Railroad stations.  
tt. Research facilities.  
uu. Restaurants and drinking establishments.  
vv. Retail uses.  
ww. Schools, elementary and secondary.  
xx. Schools, college and university.  
yy. Schools, instructional.  
zz. Schools, vocational.  
aaa. Service uses (indoor).  
bbb. Single-family detached residential dwellings.  
ccc. Spectator sports (excluding automotive sports).  
ddd. Telecommunications.  
eee. Two-family residential dwellings (duplexes).  
fff. Warehousing and storage (indoor).  
ggg. Wholesale trade.  

 
2.  Conditional uses (see article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures.  
b. Animal production (excluding hogs).  
c. Automotive services and gas stations (no major repair or long-term vehicle 

storage).  
d. Bed and breakfast inns.  
e. Boarding and rooming houses.  
f. Camps and recreational vehicle parks.  
g. Conservation subdivisions.  
h. Day care centers.  
i. Family care home for the handicapped.  
j. Family group development.  
k. Heavy construction contractors.  
l. Home occupations.  
m. Hunting and fishing camps, temporary.  
n. Light manufacturing.  



97 
 

o. Lumber and saw mills.  
p. Manufactured homes (on individual lots).  
q. Mining.  
r. Mixed use buildings.  
s. Multi-family residential dwellings.  
t. Park model trailers, campers and RVs as living accommodations (on 

individual lots).  
u. Residential care facilities.  
v. Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (see article 14.08-7 for special exceptions and article 

14.08-3 for any conditions).  
a. Animal services (with outdoor kennels).  
b. Automotive services (with major repair or long-term vehicle storage).  
c. Bars and nightclubs (excluding sexually oriented businesses).  
d. Communications towers.  
e. Correctional facilities.  
f. Gun clubs and skeet shooting ranges.  
g. Manufactured home dealers.  
h. Manufactured home parks.  
i. Outdoor markets.  
j. Pool/billiard halls.  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (UD-2).*  

Residential Uses  

Density and Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Max.  
Density  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 1/6 acre  
(7,260 sf)  

6 dwellings  
per acre  70  25  5  10  60  

  

Nonresidential Uses  

Minimum Lot Size  Minimum Yard Requirements  Max. Height  
Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 ¼ acre  
(10,890 sf)  70  25  5  10  60  

 
14.08-2.120. – Industrial Zoning District (ID).  
A.  Purpose. The intent of this district is to accommodate certain industrial uses and 

other uses which, based on their operational characteristics, are incompatible with 
residential, social, medical, and commercial environs. As a result, the establishment 
of such districts shall be restricted to areas geographically removed or buffered from 
such environs.  



98 
 

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a.   Air strips and airports.  
b.   Agricultural production, crops.  
c.   Agricultural support services.  
d.   Automotive parking and garages (as a principal use).  
e.   Building and special trade contractors.  
f.   Bus and transit terminals and stops.  
g.   Cemeteries.  
h.   Distribution facilities.  
i.    Emergency services.  
j.    Forestry. 
k.    Funeral Homes and services.  
l.    Government buildings.  
m.   Manufactured home dealers.  
n.   Marinas.  
o.   Mini-warehouses. 
p.    Motion picture and sound industries.  
q.   Museums, historical sites, sightseeing, and similar institutions.  
r.   Professional offices.  
s.   Public parks and recreation.  
t.    Public and private utilities.  
u.   Railroad stations.  
v.   Research and testing facilities.  
w.   Restaurants and drinking establishments.  
x.   Retail uses.  
y.   Schools, vocational, business, and professional trade.  
z.    Service uses (indoor).  
aa.   Telecommunications and towers.  
bb.  Warehousing and storage (indoor).  
cc.   Waste management services (excluding hazardous waste).  
dd.  Wholesale trade.  

 
2.  Conditional uses (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a.   Accessory structures. 
b.    Animal production.  
c.   Animal services (with outdoor kennels).  
d.   Automotive services and gas stations (excluding truck stops). 
e.    Lumber and sawmills.  
f.   Manufacturing, heavy.  
g.   Manufacturing, light.  
h.   Mining.  
i.    Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (See article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  



99 
 

a.   Auditorium/stadium indoor/outdoor public assembly 
b.    Correctional facilities.  
c.   Crematories.  
d.   Fuel supply services (excluding gas stations).  
e.   Gun clubs and skeet shooting ranges.  
f.    Screened outdoor storage.  
g.   Salvage yard, junkyard, and recycling operations.  
h.   Sexually oriented businesses.  
i.    Solid waste landfill (excluding hazardous waste). 
j.     Spectator sports.  

 
C.  Dimensional requirements (ID).*  
ID District  Minimum District Size  Minimum District Buffer  Max. Height  
 5 acres  50 feet  60 feet**  
  

Nonresidential Uses (interior 
lots)  

Minimum Lot 
Size  

Minimum Yard 
Requirements  

Max. 
Height  

Min.  
Lot  
Size  

Min.  
Width  
(ft.)  

Front  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Side  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Rear  
Setback  
(ft.)  

Structure  
Height  
(ft.)  

 
½ acre  
(21,780 
sf)  

90  30  10  15  60**  

*See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
**Buildings in excess of 60 feet shall observe an additional setback from side and rear 
property lines of one foot for each one foot in height over 60 feet; not to exceed 80 feet.  
      
 
14.08-2.130. - Light Industrial Zoning District (LID).  
A.  Purpose. The intent of this district is to accommodate distribution, storage, 

processing, light manufacturing, and general commercial uses. Such uses are usually 
controlled operations, relatively clean, quiet, and free of objectionable or hazardous 
elements, such as smoke, noise, odor or dust. In addition, such uses usually operate 
and/or have storage within open or enclosed structures; and generating no nuisances.  

 
B.  Uses.  

1.  Permitted uses.  
a.   Banks.  
b.   Crop production.  
c.   Churches.  
d.   Distribution facilities.  
e.   Emergency services.  
f.   Forestry.  



100 
 

g.   Government buildings.  
h.   Healthcare services.  
i.    Hotels and motels. 
j.    Motion picture and sound industries.  
k.   Professional offices.  
l.    Public, private and commercial parks and recreation.  
m.   Public and private utilities.  
n.   Railroad stations.  
o.   Research facilities. (no outdoor testing) 
p.   Restaurants.  
q.   Retail.  
r.   Schools, vocational, business, and professional trade.  
s.   Service uses (indoor).  
t.    Telecommunications.  
u.   Utilities.  
v.   Warehousing and storage (indoor).  

 
2.  Conditional uses (See article 14.08-3 for conditions).  

a. Accessory structures. 
b. Animal service with outdoor kennels. 
c. Automotive services. 
d. Building and Special Trade Contractors 
e. Communication towers.  
f. Day care centers. 
g. Golf courses and country clubs.  
h. Light manufacturing. 
i. Lumber and sawmills. 
j. Mini-warehouses.  
k. Mining.  
l. Mixed use buildings. 
m. Temporary uses.  

 
3.  Special exceptions (See article 14.08-3 for any conditions).  

a. Auditorium/stadium indoor/outdoor public assembly. 
b. Crematories.  
c. Fuel supply services (excluding gas stations).  
d. Heavy Manufacturing. 
e. Screened outdoor storage. 
f. Spectator sports. 

 
 
C.  Dimensional requirements (LID).*  

Nonresidential Uses (interior 
lots)  

Minimum Lot 
Size  

Minimum Yard 
Requirements  

Max. 
Height  

Min.  Min.  Front  Side  Rear  Structure  



101 
 

Lot  
Size  

Width  
(ft.)  

Setback  
(ft.)  

Setback  
(ft.)  

Setback  
(ft.)  

Height  
(ft.)  

 
½ acre  
(21,780 
sf)  

90  30  10  15  60  

 *See section 14.08-2.010(D) for general provisions and exceptions to dimensional 
requirements.  
 
14.08-2.140. - Planned development district (PDD).  
A.  Purpose. The intent of this overlay is to allow for flexibility to improve the design, 

character, and quality of new mixed use developments and preserve natural and 
scenic features of open spaces. The text of the plan provides for specific uses, 
densities, setbacks, and other requirements for the PDD. These provisions are 
tailored to the specific development and may vary from the regulations for other 
zoning districts concerning use, setbacks, lot size, density, bulk, and other 
requirements.  

 
B.  Establishment.  

1.  In accordance with S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-740, in order to establish a PDD, 
which is a zone change from the base zoning to a PDD, the county council must 
amend the zoning ordinance text and zoning map, after having received a 
recommendation of approval from the planning commission.  

 
2.  A sketch plan showing the proposed PDD shall be presented for approval along 

with the request to establish a PDD. The sketch plan shall adhere to the 
requirements of this section and shall show the information required by section 
14.04-4.020.  

 
3.  Action by the planning commission and county council may be to approve the 

PDD, which may include specific modifications to the plan, or to deny the PDD. 
If the PDD zone change is approved, the applicant may proceed in accordance 
with the approved PDD plan as supplemented or modified, and shall comply 
with any time or priority limitations established for initiating and/or completing 
the PDD in whole, or in specified stages.  

 
4.  After a PDD has been approved, building and sign permits can then be issued in 

accordance with the approved PDD as a whole or in stages, or portions thereof, 
as approved.  

 
C.  Uses.  

1.  A PDD may include any use or combination of uses and intensity levels 
irrespective of existing zoning district requirements where it is to be located 
upon review and recommendation by the planning commission and approval by 
county council following a public hearing. (See Mikell v. Charleston County, 
386 SC 153, 687 S.E. 2d 326 (SC 2009).)  



102 
 

 
2.  Once approved, the proposed uses and no others shall be permitted. Said uses 

shall be identified and listed on the basis of classification and be binding on the 
applicant and any successor in title, so long as the PDD zoning applies to the 
land, unless otherwise amended by ordinance.  

 
D.  Development standards.  

1.  Minimum area requirements for establishing a PDD shall be five acres.  
 
2.  Residential density, setbacks, impervious surface ratios, and building heights 

shall be determined by the scale of the project in relation to its surroundings and 
its impact on existing and proposed support facilities (i.e., transportation, water, 
and sewerage systems, recreation facilities, fire and police protection, etc.).  

 
3.  Overall site design shall be harmonious in terms of landscaping, enclosures of 

principal and accessory uses, size of structures, street patterns, and use 
relationships. Variety in building types, heights, facades, setbacks, and size of 
open spaces shall be encouraged.  

 
4.  Parking and loading. Off-street parking and loading spaces for each PDD shall 

be supported by a parking plan designed by a licensed professional engineer to 
accommodate all uses proposed for the PDD, and as approved by the director.  

 
5.  Buffer areas shall be required for peripheral uses only, and shall be provided in 

accordance with article 14.08-4. Buffer areas not required for internal use. Other 
landscaping provisions apply.  

 
6.  Private streets may be permitted in a PDD provided such streets meet the design 

and construction standards for private streets as outlined in article 14.04-5.  
 
7.  Signage shall meet the requirements of article 14.08-6.  
 
8.  Development of a PDD shall be in accordance with all of the requirements of 

chapter 14.04.  
 
E.  Amendments to approved PDD.  

1.  Except as provided in this section, approved PDD plans shall be binding on the 
owner and any successor in title.  

 
2.  Minor changes in approved PDD site plans may be approved by the director or 

his designee on application by the applicant, upon making a finding that such 
changes are:  
 
a. In accordance with all applicable regulations in effect at the time of creation 

of the PDD district; or  
 



103 
 

b. In accordance with all applicable regulations currently in effect.  
 
3.  Major changes to an approved PDD shall require approval by the county 

council following recommendation by the planning commission. In reaching a 
decision as to whether the change is major, the director or his designee shall use 
the following criteria:  
a. Any increase in intensity or use resulting in added floor area, an increase in 

the number of dwelling or lodging units, or an increase in the amount of 
outside land area devoted to sales, displays, or demonstrations;  

 
b. Any change in parking areas resulting in an increase or reduction in the 

number of spaces;  
 
c. Structural alterations significantly affecting the size, form, style, and 

location of buildings as shown on the approved plan;  
 
d. Any reduction in the amount of open space or buffer area, or any change in 

the location or characteristics of open space;  
 
e. Any change in pedestrian or vehicular access or circulation.  
 
f. Any change in use or density.  

   
14.08-2.150. - Overlay districts.  
A.  Gateway and Corridor Overlay Districts (GC-O). 

1.  Purpose. The intent of the GC-O overlay is to specify the types of uses and 
additional development standards needed in the gateways or corridors which 
have significant influence on the overall character and appearance of the county.  

 
2.  Applicability. These overlays are as established on the zoning map as gateways 

(3,000-foot or 1,000-foot radius) and corridors (500 feet from centerline). These 
regulations shall apply to all new development and any existing development 
which meets the following criteria:  
a. Any change of use of a nonresidential property; and/or  
 
b. Any building expansion that increases the floor area of a nonresidential use 

by 20 percent or more or any parking addition of ten or more spaces.  
 
3.  Uses. All uses allowed in the base zoning district are allowed in the GC-O 

overlay except the following:  
a. Air strips and airports.  
 
b. Automotive parking and garages (as a principal use).  
 
 
 



104 
 

c. Camps and recreational vehicle parks.  
 
d. Manufactured homes parks.  
 
e. Mining.  
 
f. Correctional facilities.  
 
g. Flea markets.  
 
h. Gun clubs and skeet shooting ranges.  
 
i. Manufactured home dealers.  
 
j. Mini-warehouses.  
 
k. Pawn shops.  
 
l. Sexually oriented businesses.  

 
4.  Development standards.  

a. Driveways. Driveways shall be installed and improved in accordance with 
SCDOT standards.  

 
b. Outdoor lighting.  

i. Where outdoor lighting is provided, it shall be L.E.D. directional 
lighting designed and located to prevent light trespass onto abutting 
properties and located at least ten feet from side and rear property lines.  

ii. No flickering or flashing lights shall be permitted.  
 
c. Outdoor storage. Outdoor storage shall be located in the side or rear yard 

and shall be screened from view of any street with a solid fence and/or 
landscaping to achieve an opaque (solid) screen. Chain-link fences with 
slats shall not be permitted.  

 
d. Parking.  

i. Parking areas shall be located to the side or rear of the principal 
structure for all nonresidential uses.  

ii. Parking shall be paved with concrete, asphalt, or similar approved 
paving materials.  

iii. Parking spaces shall be marked and comply with A.D.A. Standards.  
 
e. Landscaping.  

i. A landscaped roadway yard shall be provided to start five feet behind 
the right-of-way property line and be a minimum of ten feet wide, and 
contain the following:  



105 
 

(1) Native shrubs shall be planted at a minimum rate of ten shrubs per 
50 linear feet of street frontage (minus the driveway width). At 
least 75 percent of the required shrubs shall be native evergreen 
species.  

(2) Street trees shall be planted outside the right-of-way at a minimum 
rate of one large maturing (canopy) tree per 50 linear feet. Where 
overhead power lines exist, then a minimum of two small maturing 
(ornamental) trees per 50 linear feet may be installed. 

 
ii. Any chain-link or similar fencing visible from the street must be 

screened with a minimum of one shrub or ornamental tree (min. six 
feet tall) every ten feet. 

 

  
 
B.  Airport Compatibility Overlay Zone (AC-O) – Lowcountry Regional Airport. 

1.  Purpose. It is the intent of the AC-O district to protect the dual interests of the 
Lowcountry Regional Airport (LRA) and the neighboring land uses, and to:  
a. Protect and promote the general health, safety, and welfare of people using 

and living in the vicinity of the Lowcountry Regional Airport (LRA) 
environ;  

 
b. Prevent the impairment and promote the utility and safety of the airport, and 

protect the significant investment of local, state and federal dollars into the 
development of the airport;  



106 
 

 
c. Promote land use compatibility between the airport and surrounding 

developments;  
 
d. Protect the character and stability of existing land uses; and  
 
e. Enhance environmental conditions in areas affected by the airport and its 

operations.  
 
2.  Boundaries. The boundaries of an airport district shall be determined by 

application of the following zones around the Lowcountry Regional Airport 
(LRA). The surfaces and zones are based on the Code of Federal Regulations, 
Title 14, Part 77 (14 CFR Part 77), paragraph 77.19. 
a. Primary Zone. 

i. The Primary Zone is longitudinally centered on a runway, extending 
200 feet beyond each runway end.  The elevation of any point on the 
primary surface is the same as the elevation of the nearest point on the 
runway centerline.  The width of the primary zones at the LRA are:  

        (1) Runway 5/23 – 1,000 feet. 
        (2) Runway 17-35 – 500 feet. 
          (3) Runway 9/27 – 500 feet. 

 
b. Approach zones.  

i. Approach zones include all land which lies directly under an imaginary 
runway approach surface longitudinally centered on the extended 
centerline of each runway. The inner edges of an approach surface are 
at the same width and elevation as the primary zone of each runway, 
unless otherwise specified.  

ii. The dimensions of an approach zone shall be determined on the basis 
of the following:  
1) The Runway Protection Zone is a trapezoidal shape located at the 

ends of each runway primary zone, and is identified as such on the 
LRA Layout Plan, which is not located herein due to lack of 
readability due to its large size, but it shall be made a part of this 
section as if included herein. 

 
The dimensions of the Runway Protection Zones for the LRA are: 
Runway 5 – 500 feet (inner width) x 1,700 feet (long) x 1,010 feet 
(outer width). 
Runway 23 – 1,000 feet (inner width) x 1,700 feet (long) x 1,510 
feet (outer width). 
Runway 17 – 500 feet (inner width) x 1,700 feet (long) x 1,010 
feet (outer width). 
Runway 35 – 500 feet (inner width) x 1,700 feet (long) x 1,010 
feet (outer width). 



107 
 

Runway 9 – 500 feet (inner width) x 1,000 feet (long) x 500 feet 
(outer width). 
Runway 27 – 500 feet (inner width) x 1,000 feet (long) x 500 feet 
(outer width). 

 
2) The Runway Approach Zone is dependent upon the runway type, 

(i.e. the type of aircraft the runway is rated for) and the approach 
minimum the runway is rated for. 

 
        The dimensions of the Runway Approach Zones at the LRA are: 
        Runway 5 – 500 feet (inner width) x 10,000 feet (long) x 3,500 
feet (outer width). 
        Runway 23 – 1,000 feet (inner width) x 50,000 feet (long) x 
16,000 feet (outer width). 
        Runway 17 – 500 feet (inner width) x 10,000 feet (long) x 3,500 
feet (outer width). 
        Runway 35 - 500 feet (inner width) x 10,000 feet (long) x 3,500 
feet (outer width). 
        Runway 9 – 500 feet (inner width) x 5,000 feet (long) x 1,500 feet 
(outer width). 
        Runway 27 – 500 feet (inner width) x 5,000 feet (long) x 1,500 
feet (outer width). 

 
c. Transitional zones.  

i. Transitional zones are the areas beneath the transitional surfaces.  The 
transitional zone extends from the edge of the primary surface and 
extends to the horizontal zone.  See subsection 4(b) for further 
descriptions of the transitional zone.  

ii. Transitional zone determination for heliports. These zones extend 
outward starting at 1.5 times the helipad surface to a horizontal distance 
of 4,000 feet at a slope of 8 to 1 measured from the approach and 
departure path centerline (see AC 150/5390 2c figure 2-7).  

 
d. Horizontal zones.  

i. The horizontal zone is established by an arc with a radius of 10,000 
feet, measured out from the centerline end of all runways and 
connecting where each runway arc intersects, all the way around the 
airport.  The horizontal zone does not include the approach or the 
transitional zones.  

 
e. Conical zones.  

i. The conical zone is the area that extends outward from the outer 
limits of the horizontal zone for a horizontal distance of 4,000 feet.  



108 
 

 
Code of Federal Air Regulations (FAR) Part 77.19 

 
3.  Prohibited uses in the airport zones. The following uses in subsections (a) and 

(b) below are prohibited in the airport zones, regardless of whether the base 
zoning district lists these uses as permitted:  
a. In all airport zones. Any use which would deleteriously:  

i. Create electrical interference with navigational signals or radio 
communications between the airport and aircraft;  

ii. Diminish the ability of pilots to easily distinguish between airport lights 
and other lights;  

iii. Create glare in the eyes of pilots using the airport;  
iv. Impair visibility in the vicinity of the airport;  
v. Create bird strike hazards, or otherwise endanger or interfere with the 

landing, takeoff, or maneuvering of aircraft using the airport.  
 
b. In the ultimate runway protection zone (See the Lowcountry Regional 

Airport Layout Plan).  
i. Single-family dwellings, including manufactured homes in excess of 

two units per acre;  
ii. Multi-family and cluster housing projects, manufactured home parks, 

and group housing;  
iii. Transient lodging, motels and hotels;  
iv. Hospitals, sanatoriums, and nursing homes;  
v. Schools and day care centers; and  
vi. Churches, theaters, auditoriums, and similar places of assembly.  

 
4.  Height restrictions. Except as otherwise provided herein, no structure or tree 

shall be located in any airport zone at a height in excess of the limits herein 
established for each of the following zones:  
a. Approach zones. Height limits within approach zones shall be determined 

by calculating a slope ratio (measured in feet outward and upward) from the 
elevation and end of each primary zone, as measured along the extended 
centerline of each runway, out to a prescribed horizontal distance and slope, 
as follows:  

 
 



109 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Approach Zone  
Height Limitations 

Horizontal Distance  
(Feet) 

Slope Ratio  
(Out and Up) 

                    Runway   5 10,000 34:1 

                    Runway 23 50,000 50:1 for the first 10,000 feet,  
Then 40:1 for 40,000 feet 

                    Runway 17 10,000 34:1 
                    Runway 35 10,000 34:1 
                    Runway   9     5,000 20:1 
                    Runway 27   5,000 20:1 

 
b. Airport transitional zone. Height limits within transitional zones shall be 

determined by measuring outward and upward at a 7:1 slope from the sides 
and same elevation as the runway to the point of intersection with the 
horizontal zone or conical zone.  

 
c. Horizontal zone. Height limits in the horizontal zone are established at 150 

feet above the airport elevation.  
 

d. Conical zone. Height limits in the conical zone are established by measuring 
out and up from the horizontal zone from an elevation of 150 feet above 
airport elevation  at a 20:1 slope to a height of 350 feet above airport 
elevation.  

 
5.  Noise restrictions.  

a. Noise restrictions shall apply within the approach zone of all instrument 
runways. Private airports shall be exempt from the provisions of this 
section.  

 
b. Where permitted in the approach zone, residential dwellings and portions of 

buildings which are open to the public shall be constructed to achieve an 
outdoor to indoor peak noise level reduction (NLR) of at least 30 decibels 
(db). Normal construction methods provide a NLR of 20 (db), so a 
reduction of only 10 additional decibels is required, which can be achieved 
through sound insulating materials.  All other permitted uses and structures 
are exempt from this section.  

 
c. A description of such methods and materials shall accompany all building 

applications for uses affected by this section, and shall be subject to 
approval by the director or his designee.  

 



110 
 

6.  Lighting regulations. No permitted use, subdivision, or development in an 
airport district shall have outdoor lighting or illumination arranged and/or 
operated in such a manner as to be misleading or pose a danger to aircraft 
operations, as determined by the Airport Manager.  

 
7.  Regulations applicable to existing structures.  

a. Filing of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Form #7460-1 - 
“Notice of Proposed Construction or Alteration” is required whenever a 
proposed structure is planned for development which breaks the plane of the 
100 feet out to 1 foot up 100:1 slope ratio away from an airport, as required 
by the FAA.  The FAA response to Form 7460-1 shall accompany all site 
and construction plans when submitting for a building permit application to 
the director. 

 
b. The owner of any existing structure or vegetation that is penetrating any 

referenced plane within an established airport district shall permit the 
installation, operation, and maintenance of whatever markers and lights 
deemed necessary by the FAA or the State Aeronautics Commission (SAC) 
to warn aircraft operators of the presence of an airport obstruction. These 
markers and lights shall be installed, operated, and maintained at the 
expense of the airport operator.  

 
c. However, the regulations prescribed in this section shall not be construed to 

require the removal, lowering, or other change or alteration of any existing 
structure or tree not conforming to these regulations when adopted, or 
otherwise interfere with the continuance of an existing use. Nothing 
contained herein shall require any change in the construction, or use of any 
structure, whose construction began prior to the adoption of these 
regulations.  The exceptions above are subject to the following constraints: 
 
i. Any trees that were not conforming to these regulations when adopted, 

must be maintained at the same height at the time the exception was 
granted. 

 
ii. Existing buildings that were not conforming to these regulations when 

adopted, may remain as long as the building is utilized for the same 
purposes as at the time the exception was granted.  The buildings may 
not be expanded, added to, or reconstructed in a manner that would 
increase the existing structures height beyond what existed when these 
regulations were adopted. 

 
8.  Variances.  

a. Any person who determines that the strict application of the height 
restrictions imposed in the AC-O will cause them an undue hardship may 
apply for a variance from such regulations to the zoning board of appeals. 
The application for a variance shall be accompanied by an explanation of 



111 
 

the hardship created where no other viable options exist for the 
development, along with a determination from the FAA as to the effect of 
the proposal on the operation of air navigation facilities and the safe, 
efficient use of navigable airspace.  

 
b. Additionally, no application for a variance may be considered by the board 

unless a copy of it is provided to the airport operator for advice as to the 
aeronautical effects of the variance. If the airport operator does not respond 
within 15 days after receipt, the board may act on its own to grant or deny 
the variance.  

 
c. Any permit or variance order granted, if such action is deemed advisable 

and reasonable, may contain conditions of approval, such as requiring the 
owner to install, operate, and maintain at the owner's expense, such 
markings and lights as may be deemed necessary by the FAA, the SAC, and 
the airport operator, or other such conditions deemed appropriate by the 
board.  

 
ARTICLE 14.08-3. - CONDITIONAL USES  
 
Sections: 
 

14.08-3.010. - Purpose.  
14.08-3.020. - Conditional use regulations. 

 
14.08-3.010. - Purpose.  
A.  The county finds that there are certain uses that exist which may be constructed, 

continued, and/or expanded provided they meet certain conditions for approval 
specific to their design and/or operation. Such conditions ensure compatibility 
among other uses. This article specifies those requirements that must be met by all 
the uses listed as conditional or special exception uses in any zoning district.  

 
B.  Each use shall be permitted in compliance with all conditions listed for the use in 

this article, plus any additional conditions deemed necessary by the director to make 
the conditional use more compatible with the surrounding properties and/or uses. 
Certain uses are also classified as special exceptions and require approval by the 
zoning board of appeals. These special exceptions may also be conditioned by the 
director for the board’s approval, and the board may add conditions of their own as 
deemed appropriate. 

  
 
14.08-3.020. - Conditional use regulations. 
A.  Accessory structures and uses.  

1.    Manufactured homes, campers, trailers or recreational vehicles cannot be used 
for storage or as any type of accessory structure, and only one shipping 
container may be used as an accessory structure per lot.  



112 
 

 
2.  No accessory use shall occupy any part of a dedicated easement, a required 

setback, a buffer yard, a landscaped area or any areas designated as parking and 
loading zones or areas.  

 
3.  Unless specifically stated in subsections A.5, A.6 and A.7 and Table 8 of this 

section, all accessory uses and structures shall observe all required setbacks, 
yard, and other requirements applicable to the principal building or use for the 
district where they are located.  

 
4.  Accessory structures shall be located within the buildable area on the same lot 

as the principal structure and observe the height limits for the district where they 
are located, but in no instance exceed the height of the principal structure.   

 
5.  Farm structures up to 5,000 square feet located on parcels two acres or larger in 

the RC-1, RC-2, RD-1 and RD-2 zones may be located no closer than 150 feet 
from the front property line; otherwise, no accessory structure may be located in 
a front yard.  Please also see paragraphs A.6 and A.7 and Table 8 below for 
more information. 

 
6. In the RD-1 and RD-2 Zoning Districts only, accessory structures of any size on 

agricultural properties of 5 acres or more, may be located in the front yard 
between the principal structure and be no closer than 50 feet from the front 
property line, if provided with a natural landscaped buffer which has the opacity 
of a solid wall in accordance with section 14.08-4.020 (D)(3), to ensure 
complete concealment of the structure from any public/private rights-of-way and 
on the sides facing any residential dwelling units located within 300 feet of the 
structure on any abutting properties. 

7.    Waterfront properties with or without an OCRM Critical Line may locate only 
one (1) accessory structure in the designated front yard under the following 
circumstances: 

a. One (1) accessory structure may be located in front of the principal 
dwelling unit (between the street and the front of the principal dwelling 
unit) when the minimum lot area is 50% larger than the minimum lot area 
requirement for the zoning district. 

 
b. When the accessory structure is to be located to the side or rear of the 

principal dwelling unit the accessory structure shall adhere to the 
minimum principal structure side yard setbacks for the zoning district and 
a minimum of 30 feet from the OCRM Critical Line or rear property line. 

 
c. Accessory structures shall be located a minimum of 15 feet from all other 

structures. 
 



113 
 

8. Where an accessory structure is erected in the required rear yard on a corner lot, it 
shall not be located any closer to the secondary street than the required primary 
front yard setback.  

 
9.  Customarily incidental accessory uses shall be located on the same lot as the 

principal structure or use, and except for properties utilized for agricultural 
purposes, a permanent accessory structure shall not be placed on the lot prior to 
the principle structure.  

 
9. Table 8 below describes the setbacks allowed and other information necessary for 

specific types of residential, waterfront, commercial and industrial accessory uses 
and structures. 

 

Accessory Use/  
Structure  

Allowed  
Location  

Allowable  
Encroachment 
into Principal 

Structure Setbacks  

Required  
Setback  Other  

Sheds and structures 
for dry storage and 

greenhouses  

Side or 
rear yard*  

Rear yard setback 
and side yard  

setback  

3 feet from 
property line  

Accessory structures shall be located a 
minimum of 15 feet from all other 

structures and overhead power lines.  
See subsection A.7 for requirements on 

waterfront properties. 

Domestic Animal 
Shelters and Pens  Rear yard  

Rear yard setback 
and side yard  

setback  

10 feet from  
property line  

This does not apply to the conditional 
or special exception use of animal 

services with outdoor kennels for 24 or 
more animals of any combination. 

Swimming pools & 
Spas, tennis courts, 

and recreational uses  
Rear yard  Rear yard setback  10 feet from  

property line  

All lighting shall be shielded down and 
away from adjoining residences.  Pre-
application meeting and special IBC 

safety requirements for pools and spas.  

Ground supported 
communication and 
reception antennas  

Side or 
rear yard  

Rear yard and side 
yard setback  

5 feet from 
property line  none  

Fences and walls  All yards  All yard setbacks  

Along property 
line. Driveway 

and sight-triangle 
setbacks are 

required.   

Less than 6 feet high - zoning permit. 
6 to 8 feet high - building permit. 

More than 8 feet high – ZBA variance 
required with hardship.  

Boat houses and 
docks  All yards  All yard setbacks  

Along property 
line where line 

meets  
water's edge  

Shall adhere to all FEMA and OCRM 
requirements and permits.  

Carport  
canopies  All yards  

Rear yard setback 
and side yard  

setback  

3 feet from 
property line  

Non-enclosed; square footage not to 
exceed 25% of principal residence  

Handicap access 
ramps,  

Ground mounted 
All yards  All yard setbacks  3 feet from 

property line  

Single-family;  
mobile homes;  
commercial;  



114 
 

solar panels,  
Gate houses,  

Hunting stands,  
Gazebos,  

Landscaping, 
features and  
Commercial 

accessory structures  

business;  
office; and, 
industrial  

Park model trailers, 
campers, and RVs as 
temporary Housing. 

Side and 
rear  Side and rear  5 feet  

Temporary use only up to one (1) year 
without ZBA approval, see subsection 

‘Y’ for all requirements, and all 
floodplain and floodway requirements 
apply, restrictive covenants apply, not 

allowed on Edisto Island.  

 
 *See subsection A.5, A.6 and A.7 of this section, for the requirements for accessory 
structures, including waterfront accessory structures, and farm structures allowed in the 
front yard setback. 
 
B.  Animal production. 

1. No livestock shall be kept on less than one acre of land.  
 
2. All livestock shall be kept within a fenced area. Any structure used for boarding 

or feeding livestock shall be located not less than 75 feet from any property line. 
Structures for boarding or feeding livestock existing at the time of adoption of 
this ordinance are exempt.  

 
3. This section shall not apply to dogs, cats, rabbits, small potbellied pigs, chickens 

(not to exceed 23 in number), or other similar household pets. Exotic pets are 
excluded from this list.  

 
4. All commercial livestock operations, including poultry, are required to meet 

SCDHEC regulations for operation.  
 
C.  Animal services with outdoor kennels. 

1. In any place or premises, used in whole or in part for the purpose of keeping, 
housing, or raising 24 or more animals in any combination whether 
commercially boarded, rescued, or household pets, they shall be kept a 
minimum of 300 feet from any property line, and the outdoor kennel place or 
premises shall meet in full the screening requirements of section 14.08-4.020 for 
commercial buffers. If allowed to roam freely on the property, outside of their 
kennels, those outside roaming areas shall also meet the same setback and 
screening requirements as the outdoor kennels. 

 
2. All outdoor kennels and roaming areas shall be located only in the rear or side 

yard area of any lot, whichever is determined by the director to be farthest from 
any abutting residences.  

         



115 
 

3.      Animal waste shall be regularly collected and contained in containers with lids 
to minimize noxious odors and the accumulation of flies and other disease carrying 
insects and vermin to minimize deleteriously affecting neighboring properties.  
Waste containment, and removal from the property at regular intervals, shall be as 
approved by the director, to minimize the spreading of diseases, the contamination of 
neighboring properties, the quality of air, and/or any waterways or water bodies. 

 
D.  Automotive services or other non-automotive repair services.  

1. Gas station pumps or other appliances shall be set back at least ten feet from the 
property line, and all service, storage, or similar activities connected with such 
use shall be conducted entirely on premises.  

 
2. Wrecked, damaged or inoperable vehicles, boats, heavy equipment, appliances, 

or above-ground fuel storage tanks shall be located behind the principal 
structure and shall not be visible from any public right-of-way. Such areas shall 
be screened in accordance with section 14.08-4.020(D) within 12 months of the 
adoption of these regulations. This conditional use cannot be grandfathered as a 
legal nonconforming use and shall be brought up to code as mentioned herein. 

 
3. A permanent structure with permanent restroom facilities must be provided on 

premises. 
 
4. No outdoor sound system shall be permitted which can be heard beyond the 

boundaries of the property.  
 
5. Nothing shall be stored or displayed within the public right-of-way.  

 
E.  Bed and breakfast inns. These inns are intended to provide a unique transient 

lodging experience in predominantly residential environs and care shall be taken to 
protect the environs that contribute to the experience of such lodging while 
promoting their use. Bed and breakfast inns, where permitted by this title, shall:  
1. Be occupied by the resident/owner.  
 
2. Serve no regularly scheduled meal other than breakfast.  
 
3. Maintain the interior architectural integrity and arrangement of the structure and 

shall not increase the number of guestrooms above the number of bedrooms in 
the original structure.  

 
4. Maintain the exterior architectural integrity of the structure and grounds and 

make changes only if compatible with the residential character of the area.  
 
5. Provide off-street parking of one space per guest room, plus two spaces for the 

resident, and sufficient off-street parking to accommodate private gatherings, 
when proposed by the applicant.  

 



116 
 

6. Be permitted one non-illuminated identification sign, not to exceed four square 
feet in sign face area.  

 
F.  Boarding and rooming houses.  

1. The maximum number of bedrooms shall be six rooms for guests plus one for the 
resident manager.  

 
2. The use shall be located in a structure which was originally constructed as a 

dwelling, with only one kitchen which shall only serve meals on premises to 
overnight residents and guests of the facility.  

 
3. Provide one off-street parking space per guest room and two spaces for the 

resident manager.  
 
G.  Campgrounds and recreational vehicle parks.  

1. The site shall be at least three acres.  
 
2. The site shall be developed in a manner that preserves natural features and 

landscape.  
 
3. The development shall not exceed the following dimensional requirements.  

a. Maximum impervious surface ratio shall not exceed 15 percent of the 
project site.  

 
b. Minimum setbacks for all structures and recreational vehicles shall be at 

least 100 feet from any street frontage and 50 feet from all other property 
lines.   

c. Maximum density shall not exceed ten vehicles per acre.  
 
d. Buffer yards shall meet the requirements of section 14.08-4.020 for 

commercial uses.  
 
4. Areas designated for parking, loading and driveways for travel lanes shall be 

separated from public streets by a distance of at least 150 feet from any street 
intersection and designed in a manner conducive for safe vehicular ingress and 
egress.  

 
5. All streets within RV parks shall be private and shall comply with the 

requirements of chapter 14.04.  
 
6. Each park site shall be serviced by public water and sewer or other systems 

approved by DHEC.  
 
H.  Conservation subdivisions. A conservation subdivision is a subdivision of five acres 

or more that preserves agricultural and forestry lands, natural and cultural features, 
and the rural character that would likely be lost through conventional development 



117 
 

practices, which allows the lot sizes to be reduced, subject to the following 
requirements:  
1. The density shall not exceed that permitted for the zoning district. A yield plan 

shall be provided at the pre-application meeting to demonstrate that the 
maximum permissible density has not been exceeded. Yield plans are 
conceptual in nature and they shall be realistic and not show development in 
areas that would not be permitted in a conventional subdivision, such as in 
wetlands, or where streets should be located.  

 
2. A minimum of 50 percent of the total area of the subdivision shall be set aside as 

common open space.  
 
3. Each site plan for a conservation subdivision shall follow a four-step design 

process as described below. When the conceptual site plan is submitted, 
applicants shall be prepared to demonstrate that these four steps were followed 
in determining the layout of their proposed streets, lots and open space 
conservation areas.  
a. Step #1. All conservation areas (primary and secondary) shall be identified, 

using an existing conditions survey. Primary areas shall consist of wetlands 
and other environmentally protected areas and secondary areas shall include 
the most sensitive and noteworthy natural, scenic and cultural resources.  

 
FIG 3.1: EXAMPLE OF AN EXISTING CONDITIONS SURVEY  

 
Source: Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (SEWRPC). 
"Conservation Subdivision Design." 2002.  
conservationsubdivisions/pdfs/conservation_subdivision_design_process.pdf  

 
b. Step #2. Potential house sites and lots are tentatively located since the 

proposed location of the houses on the lots represents a significant decision 



118 
 

with potential impacts on the ability of the subdivision to meet the 
evaluation criteria, and the applicant shall show these on the conceptual 
sketch plan. House sites should be located no closer than 30 feet to primary 
conservation areas.  

 
c. Step #3. Aligning proposed streets to provide vehicular access to each 

house in the most reasonable way that avoids, or minimizes, adverse 
impacts on the primary and secondary conservation areas. Wetland 
crossings shall be avoided. Street connections shall be provided to minimize 
the number of culs-de-sacs and facilitate easy access to and from homes 
throughout the subdivision.  

 
d. Step #4. Involves drawing in the lot lines where applicable. Setbacks are to 

be identified and in no case be less than five feet from any property line.  
 
e. All final plats shall be reviewed and approved by the director for 

compliance with the terms of this section.  
 
FIG. 3.2: EXAMPLE OF CONVENTIONAL SUBDIVISION VS. 
CONSERVATION SUBDIVISION  

 



119 
 

 
 

I.  Day cares. The following shall apply to commercial day cares not operated as a 
home occupation:  
1. The facility must be registered or licensed by the state, as required.  
 
2. There must be at least 100 square feet of outdoor play area for each child, with 

the play area being fenced to a height of at least four feet.  
 
3. All play equipment shall be located in the fenced area. Front yards shall not be 

used as play areas.  
 
4. Hours of operation shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. unless approved as 

a special exception, the hours of operation may be specified by the zoning board 
of appeals.  

 
5. No parking areas shall be permitted in the required setbacks.  
 
6. For loading and unloading children, one on-street space shall be provided for 

each 20 children enrolled, or fraction thereof.  
 
J.  Family care homes for the handicapped. In accordance with S.C. Code 1976, § 6-

29-770(E), family care homes for the handicapped are deemed residential uses and 
permitted in all districts where single-family homes are permitted, subject to the 
following conditions:  
1. The homeowner and immediate family plus up to nine mentally or physically 

handicapped residents are permitted to live in the home.  



120 
 

 
2. The operator of the home shall give prior notice to the local governing body 

advising of the exact site of the proposed home and identify the individual 
responsible for site selection.  

 
3. If the county objects to the selected site, it must notify the individual responsible 

for site selection within 15 days of receiving notice and must appoint a 
representative to assist in selecting a comparable alternate site. This triggers the 
following:  
a. The site selection representative of the entity proposing the project and the 

county representative select a third mutually agreeable person.  
 
b. The three people have 45 days to make a final site selection by majority 

vote.  
 
c. This final site selection is binding for both the proposing entity and the 

governing body.  
 
d. In the event that no selection has been made at the end of the 45-day period, 

the entity selecting the site may select the site without further proceedings.  
 
4. A home shall be licensed with the state before operating.  
 
5. Prospective residents of these homes must be screened by the licensing agency 

to ensure that the placement is appropriate.  
 
6. The licensing agency shall conduct reviews of these homes no less frequently 

than every six months for the purpose of promoting the rehabilitative purposes 
of the homes and their confirmed compatibility with their neighborhoods.  

 
7. No exterior signage is permitted.  
 
8. No lockdown, violent, or dangerous residents.  
 
9. Only incidental and occasional medical care may be provided.  

 
K.  Family group development.  

1. Family group developments may incorporate up to a maximum of six dwelling 
units of family members related by blood, marriage, or adoption on a single lot 
of record.  

 
2. The maximum of six dwelling units on a single lot only applies if the 

development density of dwelling units per acre, and the setbacks for every unit 
complies with the zoning district for the subject property. 

 



121 
 

3. Each dwelling unit shall be placed a minimum of 15 feet away from any other 
unit and be accessed by a minimum 15 foot wide driveway for the passage of 
emergency services vehicles.  

 
4. A special exception is required for any family group development that exceeds 

this threshold of six dwelling units on a single lot. The special exception can 
only be requested if the subject single lot has enough acreage to allow all six 
units to comply with the density, setback, access way, and space between units 
requirements. 

5. A notarized Family Group Development declaration/affidavit shall be recorded 
at the county register of deeds stating that all residents on the single lot are 
related by either blood, marriage or adoption and the land will not be subdivided 
in the future unless all of the requirements of this chapter and chapter 14.04 are 
met.  

    
 
L.  Gun clubs, outdoor shooting ranges and turkey shoots. The unique nature of this 

use is such that the following criteria shall be observed in siting any such use in the 
county:  
1. It shall be located west of I-95 and no closer than one/fourth mile to any existing 

residential use. Gunfire shall be oriented away from habitable areas. Areas east 
of I-95 shall require special exception approval by the zoning board of appeals. 
Hours of operation shall be extended to accommodate law enforcement training 
and certification for low-light conditions. 

 
2. The site upon which the use is proposed shall be suitable in size and topography, 

and preferably contain a wooded perimeter to buffer noise and improve the 
safety of any surrounding residents. 

 
3. Seasonal "turkey shoots." Separately, turkey shoots are temporary in nature, not 

lasting more than 60 days, shall meet the following requirements:  
a. Gunfire shall be no closer than 500 feet from any residential use, and not 

allowed from 11:00 p.m. until 8:00 a.m.  
 
b. Gunfire oriented towards residential uses shall be no closer than one-half 

mile. This distance may be reduced by the use of licensed engineer 
approved projectile absorbing barriers on the subject property.  

 
c. A site plan submitted to the director illustrating the shooting range, 

orientation of fire, topography of the land, and distances and locations of 
adjacent residential uses.  

 
d. Turkey shoots are allowed in the UD-2, RD-1, RD-2 and RC-1 zoning 

districts as a conditional use.  
 



122 
 

M. Heavy construction contractors. All outdoor storage of materials and equipment 
associated with a heavy construction contractor business shall be set back a 
minimum of 25 feet from property lines, 50 feet from any residential use, and be 
screened in accordance with section 14.08-4.020(D).  

 
N.  Home occupations.  

1. Customary home occupations (RS and UD-1 district only).  
a. The home occupation shall be carried on wholly within the dwelling and 

occupy no more than 25% of the principal building floor area, up to a 
maximum of 400 square feet.  

 
b. No exterior signs, merchandise, storage or articles shall be visible from 

outside the building.  
 
c. No more than one person not residing in the residence may be employed on 

site.  
 
d. No alteration away from the residential nature of the buildings or property 

is allowed.  
 
e. Only cars, vans and pickup trucks used primarily as passenger vehicles shall 

be allowed in the daily operations of the home occupation.  
 
f. The occupation shall not create any noxious fumes or odors, light 

emissions, noises or interference with radio or television reception that can 
be detected off of the premises.  

g. Home occupations may operate between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 8:00 
p.m. with no merchandise manufactured off premises and brought in for 
retail sales. 

 
2. Child care home occupation. In addition to the requirements for a customary 

home occupation, the following requirements shall apply to a child care home 
occupation:  
a. Child care home occupations shall be limited to a maximum of six children 

in addition to any children of the operator.  
 
b. A minimum of 100 square feet of outdoor play area per child shall be 

provided in the rear yard which shall be fenced to a minimum height of four 
feet.  

 
3.  Rural home occupations. For residential lots located in the RC-1, RC-2, RD-1, 

RD-2, and UD-2 districts, and in addition to the requirements for a customary 
home occupation, the following requirements shall also apply to a rural home 
occupation: 
a. A rural home occupation may be carried on within the principal dwelling or 

an accessory building, not to exceed 400 square feet. Any accessory 



123 
 

building used for a rural home occupation shall meet the principal structure 
setbacks for the district.  

b. Rural home occupations include carpentry, metal working, electrical, 
welding, plumbing, repair shops, professional and technical services, 
insurance and real estate services, personal care services, and retail, 
excluding the sale of firearms.   

 
4. Motor vehicle repairs and sales home occupations. In addition to the 

requirements for a customary home occupation, the following requirements shall 
apply to motor vehicle repairs and sales home occupations: 
a. The repair of motor vehicles at a place of residence is subject to the 

following restrictions:  
i. Only minor repairs and maintenance may be performed, which for the 

purposes of this subsection are defined as the:  
(1) Changing and replenishment of fluid levels, such as hydraulic 

fluid, windshield washer fluid, and lubricating oil.  
(2) Replacement of sparkplugs and wires.  
(3) Rotation of tires and checking of adequate pressure.  
(4) Replacement of drive belts and hydraulic lines.  

ii. Any other repairs shall be restricted to totally enclosed spaces and only 
accomplished on privately registered vehicles having current state 
license plates, or motor vehicles designated by the state as qualifying 
for any antique or horseless carriage designation.  

 
b. The sale of motor vehicles at a place of residence is subject to the following 

restrictions:  
i. No more than two vehicles at any given time.  
ii. The vehicle may be displayed by appropriate window or other attached 

signage.  
iii. The vehicle and associated signage may not be located in the public 

right-of-way.  
 
O.  Hunting and fishing camps.  

1. A maximum density of ten campers per acre is allowed.  
 
2. Any structure or camper shall be setback a minimum of 50 feet from property 

lines.  
 
3. Demonstrate compliance with SCDHEC waste treatment.  
 
4. All structures and campers within 100 feet of the front property line shall meet 

the buffer requirements found in section 14.08-4.020 (B) Street yard.  
 
P.  Lumber and saw mills. All outdoor storage of materials and equipment associated 

with a lumber or saw mill business shall be set back a minimum of 200 feet from the 
property line and screened in accordance with section 14.08-4.020(D).  



124 
 

 
Q.  Manufactured homes (on individual lots). Manufactured homes on individual lots 

shall:  
1. Be built according to the Federal Manufactured Housing Construction and 

Safety Standards Code (245 CFR 3280), enacted June 15, 1976. Manufactured 
housing built prior to the effective date of the code shall not be permitted for 
reasons of safety.  

 
2. Be installed in accordance with the Manufacture's Installation Manual. In the 

absence of such a manual, the home must be installed in accordance with the 
requirements of the state manufactured housing board regulations.  

 
3. Be under-skirted around the entire home with brick, masonry, vinyl, or similar 

materials designed and manufactured for outdoor installation.  
 
4. Have landing steps installed or constructed at each exterior doorway, in 

accordance with applicable building codes.  
 
5. Be provided with a sanitary sewer system approved by SCDHEC.  
 
6. It shall be unlawful for any such home to receive electricity except by use of this 

separate meter. It shall be unlawful for any public utility or electrical supplier to 
connect power to any manufactured home in the absence of all approved 
permits.  

 
R.  Manufactured home parks. The establishment and operation of a manufactured 

home park shall comply with the following design and development standards:  
1. The park site shall not be less than two acres, and have not less than 200 feet 

frontage on a publicly maintained street or road.  
 
2. The park shall be served by public water and sewer systems or other systems as 

approved by local DHEC officials. A storm drainage plan is required and subject 
to compliance with section 14.04-5.070(L).  

 
3. All manufactured home spaces shall abut upon an interior all-weather roadway 

subject to section 14.04-5.070(K)1 and shall have unobstructed access to a 
public street or road.  

 
4. All on-site roadway intersections shall be provided with a street light.  
 
5. Each individual home site shall be at least 25 feet from any other site and at least 

25 feet from the right-of-way of any street or drive providing common 
circulation.  

 
6. All homes shall be installed in accordance with the installation requirements of 

the state manufactured housing board regulations.  



125 
 

 
7. Not less than 15 percent of the park site shall be set aside and developed for 

common open space and recreational usage.  
 
8. Permanent space numbers shall be provided on each space and located to be 

visible from the street or driveway. Signs identifying space locations shall be 
provided at each street or driveway intersection.  

 
9. The maximum number of spaces shall not exceed eight per acre.  
 
10. Two parking spaces shall be provided for each designated space. Parking may 

be provided at the designated space or in community parking areas.  
 
11. Existing trees and other natural site features shall be preserved to the extent 

feasible.  
 
12. Buffer yards shall be provided on the perimeter of the park or court in accord 

with the requirements of section 14.08-4.020.  
 
13. The zoning permit may be revoked by the director or his designee for a violation 

of this title or other applicable ordinances and regulations governing the 
operations of such uses.  

 
14. A site plan showing the above required data, and in all other respects meeting 

the minimum requirements for a building permit shall accompany all 
applications to establish a manufactured home park.  

 
15. All pre-existing manufactured home parks at the time of the adoption of the 

ordinance from which this chapter is derived are considered legal 
nonconforming uses, and any expansions must comply with these requirements.  

 
S.  Manufacturing. All proposed manufacturing uses shall meet the following 

performance standards:  
1. The emission of visible smoke, dust, dirt, fly ash, particulate matter from any 

pipes, vents, or other openings, or from any other source into the air, shall 
comply with the regulations of the state department of health and environmental 
control (SCDHEC).  

 
2. There shall be no emission of odorous gases or other odorous matter in such 

quantities as to be offensive at the property line. Any process, which may 
involve the creation or emission of any such odor, shall be provided with a 
primary and a secondary back-up system to maintain control in the event of the 
primary system failure.  

 



126 
 

3. There shall be no direct or sky reflected glare, whether from floodlights, high 
temperature processing, combustion, welding or otherwise, so as to be visible 
from any residence.  

 
4. There shall be no emission of any fumes or vapors of a noxious, toxic or 

corrosive nature, which can cause damage or irritation to health, animals, 
vegetation, or any property.  

 
5. Activities which could produce any adverse effect on the temperature, motion or 

humidity of the atmosphere beyond the lot line shall not be permitted.  
 
6. The applicant for a facility which would utilize toxic matter in the process of 

manufacturing, fabricating, assembling, packaging, or any related activity, shall 
provide with the application a certificate from the SCDHEC, indicating 
compliance with the rules and regulations of such agency.  

 
7. All outdoor light fixtures shall be fully shielded and installed to prevent any 

light trespass onto any abutting property. Light-emitting-diode (LED) lighting 
shall be used. Light sources visible in residential or medical areas shall not 
exceed one-tenth footcandle, and in all other areas, shall not exceed one-half 
footcandle, measured at the property line.  

 
8. The applicant of a permit for a manufacturing or processing plant which would 

produce any of the above "objectionable elements" shall acknowledge in writing 
their understanding of the performance standards applicable to the proposed use 
and shall submit with the permit application, an agreement to conform with such 
standards at all times. Any violation of the agreement shall constitute a violation 
of this chapter and shall be treated accordingly. Enforcement of this agreement 
shall be precipitated by complaint from any person aggravated by the uses 
failure to comply with the provisions of this section. Where there is a problem in 
complying with any one of these performance criteria, the applicant shall 
mitigate a solution satisfactory to the director, or request a variance before the 
zoning board of appeals.  

 
T.  Commercial mining and extraction.  

1. Minimum lot size shall be five acres.  
 
2. All land disturbing activity shall be located at least 100 feet from any property 

line and at least 500 feet from any residential, religious, civic,, community 
service or day care use, school, or public park.  

 
3. All extractive uses shall be surrounded by a solid fence or berm at least eight 

feet high, located no less than 100 feet from any public right-of-way, and no less 
than 50 feet from any adjacent property.  

 



127 
 

4. Blasting may only be conducted between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., 
Monday through Friday. Loading and hauling operations are not permitted 
between the hours of 9:00 P.M. and 7:00 A.M. 

 
5. Operations shall not create any light, noise, smoke, odors, or dust at a level 

which creates a nuisance to any person of normal sensitivities at the property 
line.  

 
U.  Mixed use buildings. Dwelling units in a mixed use building shall not be located on 

the ground floor.  
 
V.  Multi-family residential.  

1. Such projects shall have a minimum of one acre.  
 
2. Not more than eight, nor fewer than three, townhouses may be joined together, 

with approximately the same (but staggered) front line.  
 
3. Minimum distance between buildings shall be 20 feet.  
 
4. Minimum lot width shall be 18 feet.  
 
5. Sidewalks not less than five feet in width, to meet ADA Standards, shall be 

provided along the front property line and the parking area side of each building.  
 
6. Not less than ten percent of the site shall be dedicated as common open space.  
 
7. No building shall exceed a length of 150 feet.  
 
8. All trash containers shall have a lid and be completely screened from view from 

the street and adjacent properties with fencing and/or landscaping.  
 
W.  Outdoor markets (including farmers markets, flea markets, etc.).  

1. Any sale of items where booths or spaces may be rented on the same property or 
by the same organizers more than four days per calendar year shall be 
considered an outdoor market, and all sales shall be conducted under cover of an 
approved structure or tent. 

 
2. Approved SCDHEC restroom facilities shall be provided but not located 

between the permanent structure or tent and the street right-of-way and be 
screened from view.  

 
3. Trailers for delivery or pickup may be stored temporarily on site for not more 

than three days at a time and shall be parked to the side or rear of the permanent 
structure.  

 



128 
 

4. When the outdoor retail market is not open for business, all items shall be 
removed or screened from view from the street and any adjacent residentially 
zoned properties.  

 
X.  Outdoor storage. Outdoor storage as an accessory use may be permitted provided 

such storage area does not occupy over 20 percent of the lots’ buildable area, is not 
located in any required setback yard, and is screened from public view as set forth in 
section 14.08-4.020(D).  

 
Y.  Park model trailers, campers and RVs as temporary living accommodations (on 

individual lots).  
1. All units must retain their axles, wheels and towing hitch and remain road-ready. 

Units are not to have a permanent foundation nor can they have any structurally 
and permanently attached additions, such as porches, decks, platforms, 
coverings, steps, stairs, landings, supports or related elements.  

 
2. Only one camper, park model trailer or RV is permitted per lot as a principle use 

and it shall comply with all district setbacks and buffers established for the 
principle use, not accessory use.  

 
3. Units may not be renter-occupied for income generation. 
 
4. Units must demonstrate compliance with all applicable restrictive covenants.  
 
5. No park model trailer, camper or RV may be permitted as a principle use on an 

individual lot of record within the unincorporated portion of Edisto Island. 
 
6. Units will comply with all provisions of the County's Floodplain Ordinance 

when located in a Special Flood hazard Area.  Units located in a floodway must 
receive a permit for each three (3) day stay, and up to six 3-day permits may be 
issued per calendar year per unit.  Units located in a floodway in excess of three 
(3) days per stay or 18 days per year must comply with the completion of a no-
rise-no-impact study performed by a licensed professional engineer.  

 
7. No more than 100 amp electrical service is to be provided on-site, and only after 

the site has a SCDHEC approved septic system installed. 
 
8. Units located within the Urban Development-1 district shall have a minimum of 

one acre lot size.  
 
9. These units are designed as temporary housing units only, and not recognized by 

the International Residential Codes as a permanent residential dwelling unit, 
where they can only be used as temporary housing for up to one (1) year, such 
as during construction or reconstruction of an active permitted onsite residence, 
where they are allowed in all zoning districts, unless prohibited by restrictive 
covenants, and may be granted an additional six months extension upon review 



129 
 

of the zoning board of appeals. They are considered Temporary Uses and must 
comply with the above stated conditions of approval, except where they are 
prohibited to be placed on Edisto Island.  

 
Z.  Produce stands (year-round and permanent).  

1. All produce grown on a lot under the same ownership as the lot upon which the 
produce stand is located is exempt for the provisions of this chapter.  

  
2. All other produce stands shall be considered temporary uses and shall follow the 

special requirements for temporary uses.  
 
AA.  Recreational group quarters.  

1. Recreational group quarters are located on lands intended for outdoor 
recreational purposes in combination with on-site residential dwellings.  

 
2. A minimum of 100 acres is required.  
 
3. Accessory uses and structures including golf courses, marinas, horse stables, 

trails, tennis courts, hunting preserves, shooting ranges, and similar type uses are 
permitted.  

 
4. All structures shall be set back a minimum of 500 feet from any property line.  
 
5. Hotels, motels, condominiums, apartments, and townhomes are not permitted.  

 
BB.  Residential care facilities.  

1. A minimum of two acres is required for a residential care facility.  
 
2. Structures shall be set back a minimum of 50 feet from all property lines.  

 
CC.  Salvage yards, junkyards, and recycling operations. The location of these uses 

shall be regulated by the following:  
1. No such use shall be located closer than 500 feet to any residential use, church, 

school, historical place or public park or within 50 feet of a public street right-
of-way.  

 
2. No material because it is discharged and incapable of being reused in some form 

shall be placed in open storage.  
 
3. No material shall be placed in open storage in such a manner that it is capable of 

being transferred out by wind, water, or other causes.  
 
4. All paper, rags, cloth and other fibers, and activities involving the same, other 

than loading and unloading, shall be within fully enclosed buildings.  
 



130 
 

5. All materials and activities not within fully enclosed buildings shall be enclosed 
by an opaque fence or wall or vegetative material, excluding points of ingress or 
egress, at least eight feet in height. No items may be stacked in a manner so that 
they protrude above the top of the opaque screen within 50 feet of the screen.  

 
6. Disposal of garbage unrelated to motor vehicles shall be in an approved 

container and regularly maintained. Open dumping of garbage is prohibited.  
 
7. Disposal of toxic/hazardous matter is prohibited without a state permit.  
 
8. Storage of items shall be so arranged as to permit easy access for firefighting 

purposes.  
 
DD. Seasonal worker housing.  

1. Seasonal worker housing shall be permitted on agricultural land of greater than 
20 acres.  

 
2. Seasonal worker housing shall be either permanent residential structures built to 

South Carolina Building Codes, HUD approved manufactured homes, or park 
model homes. Recreational vehicles may only be used for seasonal worker 
housing if they are located on the property no more than three months per 
calendar year.  

 
3. There shall be a minimum 30-foot easement and driveway to the housing that is 

suitable for access by emergency personnel.  
 
4. All seasonal worker housing shall be set back a minimum of 100 feet from all 

property lines.  
 
5. The farm operator shall provide a site plan showing the proposed location of 

seasonal worker housing.  
 
6. Sanitary sewer and water supply shall be provided as approved by the SCDHEC.  

 
EE.  Sexually oriented businesses.  

1. This section regulates sexually oriented businesses to uphold the health, safety, 
morals and general welfare of the county residents,, and to establish reasonable 
and uniform regulations to prevent the deleterious location and concentration of 
sexually oriented businesses in the county. The provisions of this section have 
neither the purpose nor effect of imposing a limitation or restriction on the 
content of any communicative materials including sexually oriented materials. 
Similarly, it is not the intent or effect of this section to restrict or deny access by 
adults to sexually oriented materials protected by the First Amendment, or to 
deny access by the distributors and exhibitors of sexually-oriented entertainment 
to the intended market. Neither is it the intent of this section to condone or 
legitimize the distribution of obscene material.  



131 
 

 
2. The county has conducted an extensive review of land use studies concerning 

the secondary effects of sexually oriented businesses in other cities including, 
Palm Beach Co., FL (2007), Ellicottville, NY (1998), Cleburne, TX (1997), 
Dallas, TX (1997), Houston, TX (1997), Newport News, VA (1996), New York, 
NY (1994), St. Croix Co., WI (1993), Oklahoma City, OK (1992), Garden 
Grove, CA (1991), Tucson, AZ (1990), Indianapolis, IN (1984).  

 
3. The clear conclusions to be drawn from these reports are that in areas 

surrounding adult-entertainment establishments crime increases, property values 
decrease, and the quality of life for residents declines. Specifically, the reports 
indicate that sex-related crimes and property crimes increase significantly in 
close proximity to sexually oriented businesses, including prostitution, 
pandering, exposing minors to harmful materials, possession and distribution of 
obscene materials and child pornography, possession and distribution of 
controlled substances and violent crimes against persons and property. Owing to 
the potentially objectionable operational characteristics of sexually oriented or 
adult uses, and the deleterious effect of such uses on existing businesses and/or 
residential areas around them, the location of such uses, where permitted by 
article 14.08-2, shall be tempered by the supplemental siting criteria of this 
section.  

 
4. No property line of such use shall be located within 1,000 feet (measured in a 

straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the nearest 
property line of any lot on which contains a building or structure from which 
any part is used as a sexually oriented business) of the nearest property line of 
the uses listed below and documented on a map drawn to scale of:  
a. A residence or an RS zone;  
b. A church or religious institution;  
c. Public or private schools and educational facilities;  
d. Public parks and recreational facilities;  
e. U.S. Highway 15, 17A, 17, and 21, and S.C. Highways 61, 63, 64, 174, 303, 

641, and the Walterboro Bypass, and Interstate 95;  
f. Another sexually oriented business;  
g. Day care facilities; or  
h. Licensed nursing home.  

 
5. It shall be a misdemeanor for a person to operate a sexually oriented business 

without a valid permit, issued by the responsible governing authority for the 
particular type of business. An application for a permit must be made on forms 
provided by the director. The premises must be inspected and found to be in 
compliance with the law by health, fire and building officials.  

 
6. Each permit shall expire at the end of each calendar year and may be renewed 

only by making application as provided herein prior to the end of each 
consecutive calendar year.  If an application and permit fee are not received 



132 
 

within 30 calendar days from the end of the previous year, the permit has 
expired and the business shall be required to shut down until a new application 
and fee are received before the end of the current year, to have a permit for the 
following calendar year.  

 
7. The annual permit fee for a sexually oriented business permit shall be $1,000.00.  
 
8. An applicant or permittee shall allow representatives of the county planning and 

development department, county sheriff's office, SCDHEC and/or county fire-
rescue or other governmental departments or agencies involved in code 
enforcement to inspect the premises of a sexually oriented business for the 
purpose of ensuring compliance with the law, at any time it is occupied or open 
for business.  

 
9. A person who operates a sexually oriented business and/or his agent or 

employee commits a misdemeanor if he refuses to permit such lawful inspection 
of the premises at any time it is occupied or open for business.  

 
10. The director shall suspend a permit and/or license for a period not to exceed 30 

days if he determines that a permittee and/or licensee has:  
 
a. Violated or is not in compliance with any section of this chapter; or  
 
b. Refused to allow an inspection of the sexually oriented business premises as 

authorized by this section.  
 
11. Revocation. The director shall revoke a permit and/or license if he determines 

that:  
a. A permittee gave false or misleading information in the material submitted 

as part of the application process.  
 
b. A permittee or an employee has knowingly allowed possession, use or sale 

of controlled substances on the premises.  
 
c. A permittee or an employee has knowingly allowed prostitution on the 

premises.  
 
d. A permittee or an employee knowingly operated the sexually oriented 

business during a period of time when the permittee's permit and/or license 
was suspended or revoked.  

 
e. A permittee or an employee has knowingly allowed any act of sexual 

intercourse, sodomy, oral copulation, masturbation, or other sexual conduct 
to occur in or on the permitted premises.  

 



133 
 

f. On two or more occasions within a 12-month period, a person or persons 
committed an offense, occurring in or on permitted premises, constituting a 
specified criminal act for which a conviction has been obtained, and the 
person or persons were employees of the sexually oriented business at the 
time the offenses were committed. The fact that a conviction is being 
appealed shall have no effect on the revocation of the permit.  

 
g. A permittee is delinquent in payment to the county for any taxes or permit 

fees past due.  
 
FF.  Solid waste landfills.  

1. Sanitary landfills.  
a. Sanitary landfills shall be located no closer than 1,000 feet from the nearest 

property line of any existing residential, recreational, religious, educational, 
medical or public use (measured in a straight line).  

 
b. A geotechnical engineering firm approved by the director shall render a 

written opinion that, in their best professional judgment, the formations 
being used to contain the waste are impermeable and that surrounding 
ground water sources will not be contaminated.  

 
c. The facility shall be enclosed by an opaque fence or wall structure on all 

sides visible from the street serving the facility and an opaque cyclone fence 
on the remaining unexposed boundaries.  Said screen fencing shall be a 
minimum of six feet tall.  

 
d. A plan showing restoration of the site upon completion of the landfill use 

shall accompany the request.  
 
2. Construction and demolition landfill.  

a. A construction and demolition landfill may be located internally up to, but 
not closer than 300 feet from any property line, and no property line of a 
landfill shall be located any closer than 300 feet from the nearest property 
line of a residential dwelling, school building, day care center, religious, 
recreational, or medical facility.  

 
b. No material shall be placed in open storage or areas in such a manner that it 

is capable of being transferred out by wind, water, or other causes.  
 
c. All materials and activities shall be screened in such fashion as not to be 

visible from off site. The provisions of this subsection may be waived by 
the director where such facility will be utilized for a period not to exceed 90 
days. Screen fencing shall meet the opacity of a solid wall and be a 
minimum of six feet tall. 

 



134 
 

d. A plan showing restoration of the site upon completion of the landfill use 
shall accompany the request.  

 
GG.  Telecommunications towers.  

1. All new towers (including antennas) shall be designed to accommodate 
additional antennas equal in number to the applicant's present and future 
requirements.  

 
2. All applicable safety code requirements shall be met.  
 
3. Towers shall not be painted or illuminated unless otherwise required by state or 

federal regulations.  
 
4. No tower shall be located in any marsh or wetlands.  
 
5. No tower shall be located within 1,000 feet of an existing tower, except where 

the applicant certifies that the existing tower does not meet the applicant's 
structural or technical design requirements, or that a co-location agreement 
could not be obtained.  

 
6. Towers shall be exempt from the maximum height requirements, except as 

provided in section 14.08-2.010(D)3.  
 
7. Tower shall be located so adequate setbacks are provided on all sides to prevent 

the tower's fall zone from encroaching onto adjoining properties. Should this fall 
zone encroach onto another property, a recorded easement may be prepared and 
signed by the adjacent property owner to ensure that no structure will be built 
within the fall zone. If the tower is designed to collapse within a specified “fall-
zone” this must be certified by a letter from a licensed professional engineer or 
the tower manufacturer. 

 
8. Permit requirements for the erection or replacement of a tower shall be 

accompanied by the following:  
a. One copy of the tower specifications, including the design characteristics 

and materials.  
b. A site plan drawn to scale showing: property boundaries; tower location and 

height; guy wires and anchors; existing structures; fall zone; CGI generated 
images, photographs or elevation drawings depicting design of proposed 
structures, parking, fences, landscape plan, and existing land uses on 
adjacent property (site plan not required for colocation on an approved 
existing structure).  

c. A map showing locations of applicant's tower, any existing towers within 
1,000 feet, and proposed towers planned for the future.  

d. Identification of all owners of all antennae and equipment to be located on 
the site.  

e. Written authorization from the site owner for the tower.  



135 
 

f. Evidence that a valid FCC license for the proposed activity has been issued.  
g. A line of sight analysis, drawing and/or CGI generated images showing the 

potential visual and aesthetic impacts on adjacent residential districts.  
h. A written agreement to remove the tower and/or antenna within 120 days 

after cessation of use.  
i. A certificate from a licensed professional engineer that the proposed facility 

and equipment will meet all FCC requirements, together with written 
indemnification of Colleton County and proof of liability insurance or 
financial ability to pay claims up to $1,000,000.00 in the aggregate related 
to the operation of the facility, at no cost to the county.  

 
HH.  Temporary/seasonal sales uses and structures.  

1. General provisions for all temporary uses and structures.  
a. The director or his designee is authorized to issue permits for temporary 

uses and structures specified in this section, including fireworks and 
Christmas sales. No temporary use may be established without receiving 
such permit and shall be valid for up to 30 days unless otherwise specified.  

 
b. Temporary use permits may be renewed no more than twice within one 

calendar year, for a total of three permitted use terms, provided use doesn’t 
create traffic congestion or a nuisance to surrounding uses. Any temporary 
use creating a nuisance may have its temporary permit revoked by the 
director. 

 
 
c. Temporary uses and structures shall be removed from the site after the 

permit has expired.  
 
d. All temporary uses shall:  

i. Not be detrimental to property or improvements in the surrounding area 
or to the public health, safety, or general welfare;  

ii. Be compatible with the principal uses taking place on the site;  
iii. Not have substantial adverse effects or noise impacts on any adjoining 

permanent uses or nearby residential neighborhoods;  
iv. Not include permanent alterations or in any way create damage to the 

site;  
v. Meet all the setbacks of the underlying base and any overlay zoning 

districts;  
vi. Comply with the maximum signage size for temporary signs;  
vii. Remove temporary signs associated with the use or structure after the 

activity ends;  
viii. Not violate the applicable conditions of approval that apply to a site or 

use on the site;  
ix. Not interfere with the normal operations of any permanent use located 

on the property; and  



136 
 

x. Contain sufficient land area to allow the temporary use, structure, or 
special event to occur, and accommodate the associated parking, traffic 
movement, port-a-potties, and waste receptacles, without disturbing 
principal parking areas, traffic flows and/or environmentally sensitive 
lands.  

 
2. Carnival, fair, circus, or special events.  

a. The total amount of required off-street parking spaces shall be determined 
by the director. If shared parking for the event is co-located on a parcel with 
an active use during the event, a shared parking agreement shall be 
approved by the director prior to the event.  The traffic management plan 
shall be approved by the director for any events with over 100 attendees that 
will enter and exit off of a local road or highway.  

 
 
b. All activities shall be located a minimum of 50 feet from all lot lines. Any 

concerts or events requiring amplified sound systems shall be approved in 
advance to be directed away from residential and medical uses and 
facilities.  Any stages, raised platforms, or scaffolding shall require 
inspection approvals from the building department prior to the start of the 
event. 

 
c. Demonstrate compliance with SCDHEC regulations for food safety, 

sewage, trash, and wastewater disposal and/or removal from the site.  
 

d.     Provide documentation on how electrical services will be provided to all 
food vendors, rides, attractions, and any other structures or devices which require 
additional electricity needs. 

 
e. Churches, places of worship, and/or religious institutions are exempt from 

the provisions of this section.   
 
3. Seasonal agricultural sales. This includes the sale of such items as Christmas 

trees, pumpkins, seasonal produce, and similar agricultural products, may be 
permitted in accordance with the following standards:  
a. The property contains an area not actively used that will support the 

proposed temporary sale of products without encroaching into or creating a 
negative impact on existing vegetated areas, open space, landscaping, traffic 
movements, or parking.  

 
b. The sale of goods shall not occur within the public right-of-way, or within 

50 feet of a dwelling.  
 
c. A minimum unobstructed pedestrian walkway of at least five feet in width 

along the front of the display shall be maintained in accordance with ADA 
Standards.  



137 
 

 
d. The range of goods or products available for sale shall be limited to 

products obtained primarily through farming or agricultural activities, 
including, but not limited to: grains and seeds; fruits; vegetables; nursery, 
floral, ornamental, and greenhouse products; forest products, including 
trees, Christmas trees, firewood, and pine straw; bees and bee biproducts; 
seafood; and dairy products.  Processed/prepared food products shall not be 
considered agricultural products.  

 
e. The itinerant sale of products from a vehicle that does not involve the 

display or short term storage of products on a property for a period of two 
days or longer, shall not be considered seasonal agricultural sales.  

 
f. The seasonal sale of agricultural products shall be allowed to operate from 

7:30 a.m. until 10:00 p.m.  
 
g. Seasonal sales shall be allowed on an individual lot for no more than 120 

days per calendar year.  
 
h. When seasonal sales are not in operation, the stand shall be properly closed 

up and maintained.  
 
i. Churches, places of worship, and/or religious institutions are exempt from 

the provisions of this section.   
 
4. Temporary construction trailers.  

a. Commercial construction trailers or equipment sheds used in conjunction 
with construction projects are allowed provided the following requirements 
are met.  

 
b. Authorization to place a commercial construction trailer onto a development 

site may be granted after the preliminary plans for the development or phase 
have been submitted. Multiple construction trailers are allowed; however, 
no sales may occur from the construction trailers.  

 
c. Such construction trailers may be located at a commercial or residential 

building site where a valid building permit exists.  
 
d. All construction trailers shall be located at least ten feet off of any street 

right-of-way.  
 
e. For construction projects or residential subdivisions valued at more than 

$1,000,000.00, one or more residential security guard houses may be 
installed which include sleeping, kitchen and full restroom facilities for 
overnight stay, provided the same conditions and requirements for 
construction trailers are met.  



138 
 

 
f. Authorization to relocate commercial construction trailers and/or residential 

guard houses from a completed phase to a future phase of the development 
may be approved by the director provided that the completed phase has 
received final approval for recording and no further improvements are 
required to close out that phase of work.  

 
g. Authorization to relocate a construction trailer and/or guard houses to a 

future phase of development does not grant the developer the right to begin 
site improvements in the future phase unless the preliminary plat for the 
next phase of construction has been approved  

 
5. Residential sales offices.  

a. Temporary or permanent commercial structures located in a subdivision 
may be used as sales offices for the subdivision development.  

 
b. Any temporary structure used as a sales office shall be located on a lot 

which is in compliance with the regulations of this chapter and meets all 
yard requirements for the applicable zoning district.  

 
c. Five off-street parking spaces plus two spaces for sales employees shall be 

provided on the lot where the sales office is located.  
 
d. A commercial trailer may be used as a temporary sales office, provided that 

the following conditions are met, as approved by the director:  
i. The trailer shall have underpinning installed from the bottom of the 

walls to the ground. 
ii. Landscaping shall be provided around the base of the trailer.  
iii. At the completion of the sales in a tract, or two years from the date the 

temporary sales office began operation, whichever is sooner, said sales 
office shall cease operation unless the director determines that 
substantial progress is being made in the selling of the lots and/or 
homes in the subdivision. Extensions may be so authorized by the 
director as required. The temporary sales office structure shall be 
removed after its use as a sales office has terminated and the lot shall 
be returned to a natural state, including the removal of any paved or 
graveled driveway and/or parking area used by the sales office.  All 
remaining bare soil areas shall be returned to a natural vegetative state 
(reseeded or sodded) immediately after removal of the sales office and 
driveway/parking area.  

 
6. Portable classrooms. Portable classrooms in any district for cultural, 

community, educational, or religious facilities are permitted for an indefinite 
period provided all required setbacks for the zoning district are met and the 
portable structure is located on the same site as the principal structure.  

 



139 
 

7. Tent sales and vendor sales from vehicles. Sale of commercial goods may be 
conducted within a tent or from a vehicle located on a lot with a legally 
established commercial principal use, provided the following criteria are met:  
a. A temporary permit is obtained prior to erecting the tent or parking the 

vehicle for sales.  
 
b. The tent or vehicle shall be located outside the normal flow of traffic and 

areas of ingress and egress.  
 
c. The tent or vehicle shall be located on an improved surface such as asphalt 

or gravel, and not within areas devoted to required landscaping, tree 
protection, or open space.  

 
d. The tent or vehicle shall be located to ensure the minimum number of 

required parking spaces for the principal use are maintained over the 
duration of the sale.  

 
e. The tent sale shall not include any signage other than that allowable as 

temporary signage.  
 
f. The hours of operation shall be from 7:30 a.m. until 10:00 p.m.  
 
g. The total number of days allowed for tent or vehicle sales per lot shall be 

limited to a maximum of 15 total days per calendar year.  
 
8. Yard and estate sales.  

a. Yard and estate sales may be conducted for a total of six days in any 
calendar year by civic or religious organizations, occupants of a residence, 
or in cooperation with neighbors for the purpose of selling household items.  

 
 
b. One on-premises sign and three off-premises signs no larger than six square 

feet each may be displayed 24 hours in advance of the sale and removed 
within 24 hours after the sale ends.  Signs shall not be located within the 
street right-of-way, or attached to street signs, trees or utility poles.  

 
9. Temporary emergency permits.  

a. Individual emergency. When a structure or building has been damaged or 
destroyed by fire, flood, wind or other forces majur, and strict compliance 
with zoning permit requirements will impair the health and safety of the 
affected individuals or the security of the premises, the director may declare 
an emergency condition and grant a temporary administrative permit in 
accordance with the following requirements:  
i. If the structure or building complies with all applicable requirements of 

this chapter, a nonrenewable, temporary administrative permit shall be 
issued for a period not to exceed one year.  



140 
 

ii. If the structure or building is a legal nonconformity, and less than 50 
percent of the appraised value has been damaged or destroyed, a 
nonrenewable, temporary administrative permit shall be issued for a 
period not to exceed one year.  

iii. If the use, structure or building is a legal nonconformity, and 50 percent 
or more of the appraised value has been damaged or destroyed, only 
emergency housing or the use of manufactured housing units for the 
conduct of emergency business operations while relocation efforts are 
in progress shall be allowed. The nonrenewable, temporary 
administrative permit shall be issued for a period not to exceed six 
months.  

 
b. Community emergency. Where a major disaster affects the health, safety or 

welfare of the general public and compliance with zoning permit 
requirements will delay remedial action, the director shall be authorized, 
upon approval of the county administrator, to waive zoning permit 
requirements for a period of time.  

  
 
ARTICLE 14.08-4. - LANDSCAPING, BUFFERING, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION  
 

Sections:  
14.08-4.010. - Purpose and applicability.  
14.08-4.020. - Landscaping types.  
14.08-4.030. - Landscaping and screening installation, protection, and 
maintenance. 
14.08-4.040. - Environmental Protection.  

 
14.08-4.010. - Purpose and applicability.  

This article regulates the protection, installation, and mandatory long-term 
management of trees and shrubs to minimize potential nuisances, such as visual impacts, 
noise, dust, odor, litter, and glare of lights, onto adjacent properties. The appropriate use 
of existing and supplemental landscaping enhances the appearance of developed 
properties with natural landscaping. Existing vegetation should be retained wherever 
possible.   
 
14.08-4.020. - Landscaping types.  
This section is designed to specifically address the application of landscaping to varying 
styles of development to enhance the appearance, health, and financial well-being of the 
community. The provisions are broken into four landscaping categories:  
*  Buffers (Type A)  
*  Street yards (Type B)  
*  Parking lot landscaping (Type C) 
* Other Screening and landscaping (Type D) 



141 
 

  
A. Type A landscaping: Buffers. 

1. Applicability. A buffer shall be required for all new commercial uses 
adjacent to any existing single or two-family residential use or adjacent to 
properties zoned RS, CC, VC, UD-1, UD-2, LID and ID. The expansion of 
a commercial use by more than 50 percent of building area or land area also 
requires compliance with this section.  

 
2. Buffer location, width, and composition.  

 
a. The buffer shall be located entirely on the property of the new or 

expanding use.  

 
 
b. The buffer shall begin 20 feet back from the street right-of-way line 

and extend the length of the property line separating two uses, or 100 
feet beyond the end of the use to be buffered.  

  
c. Type A landscaping functions as an opaque or solid screen with a 

minimum height of six feet.  
 
d. Shrub plantings shall have no unobstructed openings wider than four 

feet. At least 75 percent of the required shrubs shall be native evergreen 
species.  

 
e. No buildings, parking areas, sanitary containers, utilities, or other 

paved areas may be located within the required buffer area. A buffer 
may be used for passive recreation and may be interrupted by access 
driveways, as long as the sight triangle is adhered to.  

 
f. Composition of the buffer area may include a wall, solid fence, 

landscaped berm, planted vegetation, existing vegetation, or any 



142 
 

appropriate combination of these elements to be a minimum of six feet 
high as approved by the director.  

 
g. The use of existing vegetation to satisfy this requirement is encouraged. 

Supplemental planting may be required in addition to native materials 
to meet the screening and opacity requirements.  

 
h. The following table shows the minimum buffer width and composition 

for a new or expanding commercial use adjacent to an existing single or 
two-family residential use or property zoned RS, CC, VC, UD-1, UD-
2, LID and ID.  

New or Expanding Development Use  
Minimum  
Buffer  
Width  

Composition  
(per 100 linear feet)  

Civic, institutional/government  10 feet  2 canopy* trees, 20 shrubs**  
Commercial and Mixed-Use 15 feet  3 canopy* trees, 30 shrubs**  
Industrial  30 feet  4 canopy* trees, 60 shrubs**  
 *If overhead power lines exist, then a minimum of two ornamental trees may be installed 
in lieu of each required canopy tree affected.  
**A six-foot solid fence or wall may be used in lieu of shrubs for any buffer. Canopy or 
ornamental trees are still required.  

 
 



143 
 

B. Type B landscaping: Street yard.  
1. Applicability.  

a. A street yard shall be required for all new commercial uses within the 
CC, VC, UD-1, UD-2, LID and ID zoning districts. An expansion of an 
existing commercial use by more than 50 percent of building area or 
land area also requires compliance with this section.  

 
b. For districts in which a street yard is not required, landscaping 

complementary to the site and surroundings is required as approved by 
the director.  

 
2. Street yard location, width, and composition.  

a. The minimum street yard width is eight feet. The street yard shall be 
located outside of the right-of-way and on the property side of any 
required sidewalks.  

 
b. The minimum height for Type B landscaping adjacent to the street 

right-of-way is two feet at maturity.  
 
c. No buildings, parking areas, sanitary containers, items displayed for 

sale, or utilities may be located within the required street yard area. 
Driveways may cross the street yard for access to the site.  

 
d. Composition of the Type B landscaping may include a wall, fence, 

planted vegetation, existing vegetation, or any appropriate combination 
thereof.  

 
e. Shrubs shall be planted at a minimum rate of ten shrubs per 100 linear 

feet of street frontage (minus driveways). At least 75 percent of the 
shrubs shall be native evergreen species.  

 
f. Street trees shall be planted outside the right-of-way within the street 

yard at a minimum rate of one large maturing (canopy) tree per 100 
linear feet, or two small maturing (ornamental) trees in lieu of each 
required canopy tree where overhead power lines exist.  



144 
 

 
 

C. Type C landscaping (parking lot canopy).  
1. Applicability.  

a. A parking lot canopy is required within all parking lots except 
automobile sales display areas in the CC, VC, UD-1, UD-2, LID and 
ID.  

 
b. Landscaping between the building and the parking area that is 

complementary to the site and surroundings is encouraged.  
 
2. Location and composition.  

a. A minimum of one canopy tree shall be located within 60 feet of every 
parking space. The measurement shall be taken from the base of the 
tree.  



145 
 

 
 
b. Canopy trees shall be planted in a manner that provides shade for 

parking areas at maturity. Two ornamental trees shall be used in lieu of 
each required canopy trees under power lines. The use of existing 
vegetation to satisfy this requirement is encouraged.  

 
c. Each planting area shall be a minimum of 49 square feet, with a 

minimum dimension of seven feet.  
 
D. Type D - Other screening and landscaping.  

1. Screening shall be required for all open commercial or industrial storage 
areas (not devoted to retail sales) or trash containers of four or more cubic 
yards visible from any public street.  

 
2. Screening shall be accomplished by an opaque or solid divide not less than 

six feet in height or the height of the object to be screened, whichever is 
greater.  

 
3. Screening may be in the form of a berm, wall or fence, or an appropriate 

amount of landscaping as to provide the necessary amounts of screening as 
determined by the director to effectively screen the storage from view from 
any adjacent lot or street right-of-way. Chain-link fence with slats shall not 
be used to meet the requirement of this section.  

   
 
14.08-4.030. - Landscaping and screening installation, protection, and maintenance. 
A.     Fence, wall, and berm standards. Whenever a fence, wall, or berm is being 
installed, whether part of a screen or not, they shall meet the following requirements: 
 

1. Fences and walls must have the finished side facing outward. Fences shall be 
wooden, vinyl, wrought iron or a combination of these materials to achieve the 
opacity of a solid wall, as approved by the director. Chain-link fences and wood, 



146 
 

plastic, or metal chain-link fence slats are expressly prohibited. However, a 
black or green coated chain-link fence with evergreen hedges is acceptable. 
Fences shall not be tin, corrugated metal, plywood, wood pallets, or any plastic 
other than vinyl. Walls must be made of masonry materials such as poured 
concrete, rock, decorative block, concrete blocks covered with stucco, and/or 
brick.  

 
2. No wall or fence used as part of a screen shall be less than six feet tall.  All 

fences and walls are required to obtain a zoning permit prior to construction, 
regardless of height or location.  Fences or walls taller than six feet and shorter 
than eight feet require a building permit prior to construction.  Fences or walls 
taller than eight feet in height are required to obtain a height variance from the 
zoning board of appeals prior to obtaining a building permit to construct. The 
specific hardship, not created by the applicant, explaining why the height 
variance is being requested, must accompany the variance application.   

 
3. It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure, for their own protection, that any 

fence or wall installed near property boundaries is being installed completely on 
their property, so as not to create an undue civil dispute between property 
owners.  County Staff will not determine if a fence or wall is installed on the 
correct property, nor will they assist in any way in settling said dispute between 
parties.  These disputes can only be solved by SC licensed surveyors and/or 
engineers as a civil matter. 

 
4. Sight-Triangle and Visibility at Intersections.  No fence, wall, berm or 

landscaping shall block a motorist’s visibility, in any direction, from being able 
to safely see oncoming pedestrian, bicycle or motor vehicle traffic, when 
attempting to exit a property in accordance with the sight-triangle and visibility 
at intersections provisions outlined in paragraph H below. 

 
5.    Fence or wall “gate setbacks” required when fronting onto a street or road.  
Fence or wall gates that allow vehicles to enter or exit a property through a gate, off 
of a road or highway, require the gate to be setback a minimum of forty-five feet 
(45’-0”) from the right-of-way line being crossed, to allow the vehicle and an 
attached trailer to safely pull completely off of the road or highway before stopping 
to open or close the gate, so as not to interfere with the flow of traffic on the road or 
highway. 
 
6. Where a fence or wall is used as part of a required screen area, any required 

plantings accompanying the fence or wall shall be located on the street side of 
such fence or wall, opposite the new development.  

 
7. All berms shall be grassed and/or planted with other plant materials sufficient to 

prevent soil erosion. If a specific height for the screen is required, this can be 
obtained by the berm itself, or a combination of the height of the berm plus the 
height of the planted vegetation needed to meet that overall height requirement, 



147 
 

while also meeting the opacity of a solid fence or wall.   No berm shall exceed a 
slope greater than one foot of rise for every three feet in plane. At least 75 
percent of any required shrubs shall be planted on the slope of the berm facing 
the street, opposite the new development.  

 
B. Existing vegetation. If existing vegetation is located on the property being developed 

and it meets the screening requirements for height, width and opacity, further 
plantings and or improvements shall not be required. If the existing vegetation is 
deficient in meeting the screening requirements, the developer shall make needed 
improvements and/or additions as required by the director.  

 
C. Plant standards and plant installation standards. The following standards shall 

apply to all new plant material installed as general landscaping or as part of a screen 
required under these regulations:  
1. All plants and trees installed for general landscaping or as part of a screen fence 

shall be approved plants that are native to our area as defined by the American 
Nursery and Landscape Association's current edition of American Standard for 
Nursery Stock (ANSI Z60.1-2004). 

 
2. Invasive and/or exotic pest plants listed on the South Carolina Exotic Pest Plants 

website located at www.sc-eppc.org  are expressly forbidden from being planted 
as part of the general landscaping or screen fence requirements, where doing so 
could result in fines levied against the property owner.   

 
3. The minimum required size for a canopy tree at planting shall be two-inch 

caliper and/or 12 feet in height.  
 
4. The minimum required size for an understory tree at planting shall be one and 

one half-inch caliper and/or eight feet in height.  
 
5. The minimum required large screening shrub shall be the seven gallon container 

size and/or four to five feet in height.  
 
6. The minimum required small screening shrub shall be the three gallon container 

size and/or 18 inches in height. 
 
7. No large maturing trees shall be planted within 20 feet of an electrical 

distribution line. This does not include insulated low-voltage lines of 240 volts 
or less or telephone or cable lines.  

 
8. All plants shall be installed free from disease, in accordance with generally 

accepted and recommended planting practices and in areas that ensure the 
availability of sufficient soil, water, air and sunlight needed to sustain healthy 
growth.  

 

http://www.sc-eppc.org/


148 
 

9. No plants, and specifically no trees, shall be planted within an easement that 
could be intrusive to utilities, ingress/egress access to a property, or 
deleteriously impact proper drainage.  

 
D. Landscaping maintenance.  

1. The maintenance of all required landscaping shall be the responsibility of the 
property owner in order to fulfill the purpose for which it is established.  

2. Debris and litter shall be picked-up, and berms, fences, and walls shall be 
maintained at all times.   

3. Dead plants in the required landscaping shall be replaced promptly and during the 
growing season and all landscaping shall be protected from damage by erosion, 
motor vehicles, or pedestrians which could reduce its effectiveness.    

4. Failure to maintain landscaping as outlined in this section shall constitute a code 
violation which could result in fines and/or imprisonment. 

 
E. Tree protection.  

1. Trees to be protected.  
a. Any tree, excluding pine trees, measuring 30 inches DBH (diameter breast 

height) shall constitute a "significant or protected tree" and shall be 
protected to the extent that no person shall directly or indirectly destroy or 
remove any tree in violation of the terms of this section.  

 
b. Ordinary cutting, trimming and maintenance of any tree, and/or the cutting 

or removal of any tree that the county shall certify as required for public 
safety is permissible.  

 
c. The provisions of this section shall apply only to developments that meet 

any of the following criteria:  
i. Major subdivisions with lot sizes of less than one acre within the RS 

and UD-1 or UD-2 zoning districts.  
ii. Commercial developments in the UD-1, UD-2, LID or ID zoning 

districts on lots of ten acres or more.  
 
2. Tree survey required. As part of the application process for a subdivision 

preliminary plat or a commercial site plan approval, the applicant shall conduct 
a tree survey identifying the location of all significant or protected trees and said 
tree survey must accompany the preliminary plat or site plan review application 
packet. Said trees shall be shown on a survey plat and in the field be physically 
marked with brightly colored tape or other markings.  

 
3. Site design for tree protection.  

a. The design of any commercial development or subdivision shall take into 
consideration the location of all significant protected trees identified on the 
tree survey. Lot and site design shall minimize the need to fell significant 
protected trees, and the site plan shall include the following:  
i. Existing location and size of all significant protected trees;  



149 
 

ii. Significant protected trees to be removed;  
iii. Significant protected trees to remain;  
iv. Areas to be cleared;  
v. All proposed development structures and improvements.  

 
b. Where a zoning permit or subdivision approval has not been issued, the 

destruction of any significant tree, as defined by this section, without prior 
approval of the director shall be prohibited and constitute a code violation 
for every tree destroyed and for each day the violation has not been cured. 

 
4. Tree and root protection during development. During development, a minimum 

protective zone, marked by barriers, shall be erected at the drip line and 
maintained around all trees to be retained. Protective zones may be modified 
from the drip line with an approved mitigation plan acceptable to the director. 
There shall be no construction, pouring of concrete, paving, grading, operation 
of equipment or vehicles, or storage of materials within this protected zone.  

 
5. Tree replacement. Where significant trees have been approved to be removed as 

part of the zoning permit, or where removal is required due to acts of 
negligence, or where sites were cleared of significant trees in violation of this 
section, replacement trees shall be planted in accordance with either method (a.) 
or (b.) below as required by the director who shall specify the number, species, 
DBH, and location of replacement trees required:  
a. Combined DBH of replacement trees is equal to the DBH of the trees 

removed; or  
 
b. Individual replacement trees are of the largest transplantable DBH 

available. 
 
F. Relief from landscaping requirements.  

In the event that hardships created by the property, and not created by the owner, 
prevent the strict application of the landscaping requirements from being fulfilled in 
their entirety, such as topography or an unusually shaped lot, the director may alter 
the requirements of this section provided the spirit and intent of this article are 
maintained. Should this occur, the applicant shall submit a plan to the director 
showing existing site features that would screen the proposed use, plus any 
additional screening materials the developer may propose to have installed. If the 
director agrees that the adjusted site plan does meet the intent of these requirements, 
then the adjusted landscaping shall be installed according to the approved site plan. 
The mere desire of an owner to make a more intensive use or generate more profits 
from a greater economic use of the property cannot be grounds for reducing the 
landscaping requirements, since only a hardship not created by the owner can be 
accepted. 
 

 



150 
 

G. Sight-Triangle and Visibility at intersections. No hedge, shrubbery, tree, natural 
growth, sign, fence, wall, or other obstruction of any kind to vision which prevents a 
motorist from safely seeing oncoming pedestrian, bicycle and/or vehicular traffic 
from either direction will be permitted between two feet and nine feet above the 
center of the street where the projection of the sight triangles intersect the centerline 
of the street, in accordance with section 14.08-2.010, subsection D – general 
provisions, paragraph (2)(g).  In instances where SCDOT sight triangle provisions 
are applicable, such regulations shall prevail. 

   
 
14.08-4.040. - Environmental protection.  
A. Environmental buffers.  

1. A riparian buffer setback of not less than 30 feet or one-third the depth of a lot 
or parcel, whichever is less, shall be provided along the banks of all streams, 
rivers and shorelines. The buffer setback area for tidal waters shall be measured 
from the mean high tide line. The buffer setback area for rivers and streams shall 
be measured from the point on a sloped bank where natural vegetative growth 
begins, or from the edge of the bank if the bank is steep and elevated vertically 
above the surface of the water. 

 
2. The buffer area shall remain undeveloped except for piers, docks, utilities, and 

pervious access paths to the water, as approved by FEMA and Chapter 13.12.  
  
 
ARTICLE 14.08-5. - PARKING  
 
Sections: 

 
14.08-5.010. - Purpose and applicability.  
14.08-5.020. - Parking lot surface materials.  
14.08-5.030. - General design provisions for parking lots. 
14.08-5.040. - Parking ratios.  
14.08-5.050. - Shared parking and parking connectivity.  
14.08-5.060. – Standard parking dimensions.  
14.08-5.070. – Loading area requirements.  
14.08-5.080. – Parking lot maintenance.  
14.08-5.090. – Commercial driveways.  

 
14.08-5.010. - Purpose and applicability.  
A. The purpose of this article is to ensure adequate and well-designed parking is 

provided for new developments.  
 
B. This article applies to all new commercial developments and the expansion of 

existing parking areas by more than 50%. Single and two-family residential uses are 
subject to the minimum parking requirements of section 14.08-5.040(A).  

  



151 
 

14.08-5.020. - Parking lot surface materials.  
A. All primary front yard off-street commercial parking areas with more than ten spaces 

shall be paved with concrete, asphalt, County Engineer approved semi-pervious 
pavers, or other similar material(s). All other parking areas secondary to the primary 
parking areas, or any parking areas smaller than ten spaces may use gravel, crushed 
stone, or other County Engineer approved materials, so long as the materials are 
confined to the parking area, the driveway aprons and access to the site are paved and 
installed in accordance with SCDOT requirements on state roads, and the 
handicapped parking spaces are provided in accordance with ADA Standards.  Curb 
and gutters are optional.  
 

B. Paved parking areas shall have permanent lines demarcating each parking space.  
 

C. Where less than 20 parking spaces are required, places of worship may use grass as 
the parking surface, otherwise the requirements outlined in paragraph ‘A’ above shall 
apply. 

 
14.08-5.030. - General design provisions for parking lots.  
A. A maximum of two rows of parking spaces may be located in the front yard of the 

principal building and all other parking shall be located in the rear or side yards. For 
large-scale developments with large parking areas, parking may be shared and 
screened with outparcel buildings as shown in the diagram below:  

 
 
B. Off-street parking shall be provided on the same lot as the corresponding principal 

use.  
 



152 
 

C. Off-street parking and loading spaces, not to include parking structures, are 
permitted in all required yards and setback areas, but no closer than five feet to a 
residential property line and two feet to any other property line, where no required 
landscape buffers are required.  

 
D. Off-street parking areas shall be designed to facilitate large sanitation, emergency, 

and delivery type vehicles.  
 
E. Off-street parking areas shall be designed to prevent parked vehicles from: parking 

on or backing onto public rights-of-way, sidewalks or adjacent property; or, hitting 
any fence, wall, vegetation, utility, or structure.  

 
F. The size of any single surface parking area shall be limited to a maximum of three 

acres, unless divided by a street, building, or a landscaped area a minimum of ten 
feet wide.  

 
G. No surface parking or circulation driveway is permitted within any required buffer 

area.  
 
H. A stormwater management plan shall be provided to minimize off-site stormwater 

runoff, and not drain into or across public sidewalks or an adjacent property, except 
into a natural watercourse or a drainage easement. In areas where this condition may 
be impossible to meet, the director may exempt the developer from this requirement, 
provided that adequate provision is made for stormwater detention.  Stormwater 
retention is prohibited. 

 
I. Adequate lighting shall be provided for off-street parking areas used at night. 

Lighting shall be arranged so that light does not trespass onto, or interfere with 
traffic or adjacent residential properties. 

 
J. All off-street parking areas shall be landscaped in accordance with section 14.08-

4.020(C).  
 
K. Bicycle racks are encouraged for all parking areas with more than 50 spaces, and 

they may be placed in the front yard.  
 
L.     Adequate vehicle storage for drive-thru lanes shall be provided on-site to prevent 
vehicles from backing up into any street, public rights-of-way or adjacent properties 
during peak business hours. 
  
 
14.08-5.040. - Parking ratios.  
A. Parking ratios by use. 

1. The following are the recommended parking ratios for the uses indicated, except 
as shown as required.  For all other uses, a Parking Plan prepared by a licensed 



153 
 

professional engineer, as approved by the director, will be accepted in lieu of the 
following parking ratios:  

 
Use  Minimum  
Single-family and two-family 
residential (attached and 
detached)  

2 per dwelling unit (required) 

Multi-family residential  1 per bedroom  
Residential care facilities and 
hospitals  1 per 3 beds  

Commercial (office and retail)  1 per 300 square feet gross floor area  
Restaurants  1 per 4 seats  
Nightclubs and bars  1 per 75 square feet  
Warehousing/industrial  0.25 per 1,000 square feet gross floor area  
Hotel/motel/inn  1 per room  
Government buildings  1 per 300 square feet  
Civic and public assembly uses 
(not including schools)  1 per 4 seats  

Day care centers  1 per 10 children and 1 per employee  
Elementary and middle schools  1.5 per classroom  
High schools and colleges  10 spaces per classroom  

Drive-through  
(queuing/storage lanes)  

The sufficient number of car lengths of vehicle storage 
needed to prevent back-up into the street during peak 
business hours, as determined by an engineered Parking 
Plan, as approved by the director.  

Other  An engineered Parking Plan or the minimum of the most 
similar use(s) as determined by the director. 

  
2. The director can authorize a reduction to the minimum number of parking 

spaces required if the applicant can demonstrate through an engineered Parking 
Plan that the number of required spaces is excessive.  

 
3. Where more than one principal use will exist to use the same parking area, an 

engineered Parking Plan shall be submitted for approval by the director, to 
indicate the true number of parking spaces needed for all uses, taking into 
consideration the peak use hours for all uses, to prevent an underutilized sea of 
asphalt for the majority of time the parking area is used.  Please reference 
Section 14.08-5.050 - Shared Parking and parking connectivity below. 

 



154 
 

B. Parking spaces for the physically disabled. 
1. All commercial uses shall provide the following number of disabled parking 

spaces and van-accessible disabled parking spaces:  
Total Number of  
Standard 
Parking Spaces 
Required 

Minimum Number of Disabled 
Parking Spaces Required 

Minimum Number of Van-
Accessible Disabled 
Parking Spaces Required 

1—25 1 1 
26—50 2 1 
51—75 3 1 
76—100 4 1 
101—150 5 1 
151—200 6 1 
201—300 7 2 
301—400 8 2 
401—500 9 2 

500+ 2% of  
required total  

 
2. The number of disabled spaces shall be in addition to those standard spaces 

required. 
 
3. A minimum of one van-accessible disabled parking space shall be required, plus 

an additional one for each additional eight (8) regular disabled parking spaces 
required. 

 
4. All off-street disabled parking spaces, signage, curb-cuts and ramps shall be 

designed and located in accordance with the current ADA Design Standards.  
  
 
14.08-5.050. - Shared parking and parking connectivity.  
A. Shared parking. The joint use of shared off-street parking between two or more uses 

may be made by contract between all participating uses, as approved by the director, 
and it shall include at a minimum: a parking plan prepared by a licensed professional 
engineer; the days and hours of operation and peak hours for all uses; any overflow 
parking areas that may be utilized; any conflicts in usage time between the uses; and, 
how any conflicts shall be resolved.  

B. Parking connectivity. Adjacent parking lots shall be interconnected except where 
topographical issues prevent it. Each participating interconnected parking area may 
reduce their minimum required parking by five percent.  Reductions in excess of five 
percent shall require a parking plan prepared by a licensed professional engineer.  

   



155 
 

 
14.08-5.060. – Standard Parking dimensions.  
A. Parking space dimensions.  

1. Each standard parking space, shall be a minimum of 19 feet long by nine (9) feet 
wide.  

 
2. Ten percent of the total number of spaces may be compact spaces measuring 18 

feet long by 8.5 feet wide.  
 
3. Parallel spaces shall measure no less than 24 feet long by nine (9) feet wide.  

 
B. Parking lot dimensions. The following are dimensional standards for all required 

parking areas: 
  
 Angle of Parking Spaces  

Aisle Direction  0  
(parallel)  30  45  60  90  

(perpendicular)  
One-way  13 feet wide  14 feet wide  18 feet wide  20 feet wide  24 feet wide  
Two-way  19 feet wide  20 feet wide  21 feet wide  23 feet wide  24 feet wide  
 
14.08-5.070. - Loading area requirements.  
A. All uses shall provide off-street loading space sufficient for their requirements and 

arranged so that no vehicle shall project onto a public right-of-way or sidewalk.  
 
B. Off-street loading/unloading space shall be located on the same lot as the structures 

they serve.  
  
C.     No area allocated to loading and unloading facilities may be used to satisfy the area 
requirements for off-street parking, and vice-versa. 
              
D. Each loading space shall be a minimum of 12 feet wide by 40 feet in length and have 

a minimum vertical clearance of 14 feet.  
 
14.08-5.080. - Parking lot maintenance.  
Off-street parking areas shall be properly maintained and kept in good condition (free 
from potholes, etc.) with all parking space lines or markings kept clearly visible and 
distinct.  
  
 
14.08-5.090. – Commercial Driveways.  

A. Where required, landscaping, curbing, or other approved barriers shall be 
located along boundaries to control vehicle and pedestrian ingress and egress. 
Off-street parking areas shall be designed so that movement onto a public street 
is in a forward motion. Ingress and egress driveways to public streets must be 



156 
 

located at least 50 feet, measured along the curbline, from the intersection of the 
nearest curbline.  

 
B. Driveways shall be no less than twelve feet wide for one-way traffic and 20 feet 

wide for two-way traffic.  
 
C. Fourteen-foot-wide driveways are permissible for two-way traffic when:  

1. The driveway is not longer than 50 feet;  
2. The driveway provides access to not more than five parking spaces; and  
3. Sufficient turning radius and storage area is provided so no vehicles back 

onto a public street.  
 
D. In no case shall a driveway width exceed 36 feet, except as required by SCDOT.  
 
E. Driveways shall be as nearly perpendicular to the street right-of-way as possible 

and in all instances the sight triangle shall be maintained. 
 
F. Driveways are encouraged to line up with driveways across the street and be 

shared between adjacent uses wherever possible.  
 
ARTICLE 14.08-6. - SIGNS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.08-6.010. - Purpose and applicability. 
14.08-6.020. - General provisions.  
14.08-6.030. - Sign type descriptions.  
14.08-6.040. - Signs allowed by zoning district and special requirements.  
Signs not specifically listed in a category in Article 6 as an approved sign type 
are expressly prohibited.  
14.08-6.050. - Sign requirements by type.  
14.08-6.060. - Prohibited signs.  
 

14.08-6.010. - Purpose and applicability. 
A. This article regulates and controls signs and their placement throughout the county 

for the following purposes:  
1. To provide an aesthetically pleasing environment which is vital to the economic 

attractiveness of the county;  
2. To create a more productive, enterprising, and professional business 

atmosphere;  
3. To allow signs appropriate to the planned character and development of each 

zoning district;  
4. To ensure that permitted signs do not become a hazard or nuisance;  
5. To maintain the sight triangle and otherwise promote traffic, bicycle and 

pedestrian safety;  



157 
 

6. To prevent business and advertising signs from conflicting with public safety 
signs;  

7. To prevent the overcrowding of land;  
8. To facilitate fire and police protection;  
9. To protect and enhance the value of properties; and  
10. To promote the public safety and general welfare of the residents.  

 
B. The provisions of this article shall apply to the construction, erection, alteration, 

demolition, use, type, number, location, size, height, and maintenance of all signs. 
For all signs requiring a permit, it shall be unlawful for any person to erect, 
construct, demolish, enlarge, move, remove, or replace any sign, without first 
obtaining a sign permit from the planning and development department.  

 
14.08-6.020. - General provisions.  
A. Sign design guidelines.  

1. No sign shall be located within a sight (visibility) triangle as defined by this 
chapter.  

 
2. When a sign extends over an area where vehicles travel or park, the bottom of 

the sign structure shall be at least 14 feet above the ground.  
 
3. When a sign extends over a sidewalk, walkway, or other space accessible to 

pedestrians, the bottom of the sign structure shall be at least eight feet above the 
ground.  

 
4. Signs shall be constructed in accordance with all applicable provisions of the 

current building and electrical codes, and consist of durable all-weather 
materials.  

 
5. Images, logos, graphics, etc., painted on permanent signs or buildings must be 

performed in a professional and aesthetically pleasing manner. Permits for 
painted signs will only be issued to companies who are engaged as professional 
sign painters.  

 
6. Stacked or double-decked sign faces or side-by-side sign faces shall not be 

permitted except within 600 feet of the I-95 right-of-way.  
 
7. Illuminated signs shall not directly shine on abutting properties, simulate traffic 

control devices or emergency vehicles, intermittently switch on and off, change 
in intensity or color, or otherwise create the illusion of flashing or movement. A 
commercial sign within 100 feet of an existing residential structure shall not be 
illuminated between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.  

 
8. Billboards are required to be setback no less than ten feet from any property line 

while all other signs are to be setback no less than five feet, and in no instance 



158 
 

shall any part of any sign overhang across a property boundary or obstruct the 
sight triangle.  

 
B. Sign measurements.  

1. The area of a sign is determined by the outer dimensions of the frame or cabinet 
surrounding the sign face (Illustration 1). Sign area does not include foundations 
or supports. Only one side of a double-faced or V-shaped, freestanding sign is 
counted.  

 
2. For signage without a frame, the sign area shall include every portion of the sign 

that contains a sign display, symbol, or decoration.  
 
3. For signs constructed of individual pieces attached to a wall, sign area is 

determined by a perimeter drawn around all the pieces (Illustration 2).  
 
4. For signs containing multiple signage, the sum area of all signage on one side 

only is counted as one sign face (Illustration 3).  
 
5. The maximum surface area visible at one time on a round or three-dimensional 

sign is the sign area.  
 
6. For signs incorporated into awnings, #2 above applies by measuring the 

perimeter of the sign display, symbol, or any decorations.  
 
7. Clearances are measured from the ground directly beneath the sign to the bottom 

of the sign structure (Illustration 4).  
 

 



159 
 

 
C. Common signage plan required.  

1. A common signage plan shall be required for any sign permit involving:  
a. Two or more contiguous lots or parcels under the same ownership;  
b. A single lot or parcel with more than one principal use or building or where 

multiple lots exist which allows for one free-standing sign per lot; and  
c. A PDD (planned development district) project.  

 
2. The plan shall contain all information required for sign permits generally and all 

signs shall be consistent with regard to:  
a. Lettering or graphic style;  
b. Lighting;  
c. Location of each sign on the buildings;  
d. Materials; and  
e. Sign proportions.  

 
3. A common signage plan shall allow a total of one freestanding sign for each lot 

on each side of each lot which has street frontage.  
 
4. Once approved by the director, the common signage plan shall become binding 

on all participating businesses and uses, but it may be amended by filing a 
revised plan in conformance with the requirements of this chapter.  

 
5. All common signage plans for properties which contain existing signs shall 

include a schedule for bringing any nonconforming signs into compliance within 
three years.  

 
D. Maintenance and upkeep of signs. All signs and their components shall be kept in a 

good state of repair, in compliance with all building and electrical codes, and in 
conformance with the requirements of this chapter (unless deemed a legal 
nonconforming sign by article 14.08-9). Any sign determined to be unsafe shall 
require the property owner to be notified and directed to immediately remove the 
sign or bring it into compliance.  

  
 
14.08-6.030. - Sign type descriptions. 
         A sign is any communication device, structure, or fixture that incorporates graphics, 
symbols, or written copy intended to promote the sale of a product, commodity, or 
service, or to provide direction or identification for a premises or facility. The following 
are descriptions of the different types of signs regulated by this article:  

A. A-frame sign (sandwich board). A temporary ground sign with two sides 
attached at the top with hinges that allows the bottom to open up away from 
each other.  

 
B. Animated sign. Temporary signage that uses movement or change of lighting to 

depict action or creates a special effect or scene.  



160 
 

 
C. Awning sign. Permanent Signage painted onto or attached to a fabric or canvas 

awning.  
 
D. Banner. Temporary signage made of fabric or canvas advertising a special sale 

or event. A banner may be placed on a building wall or on freestanding stakes or 
fences.  

 
E. Billboard (off-premises sign). A large permanent sign which directs attention to 

a business, commodity, service, or entertainment conducted, sold, or offered at a 
location other than where the sign is located.  These are typically located along 
interstates and major highways. 

 
F. Building sign. Any permanent sign attached directly to any part of a building.  
 
G. Canopy sign. A permanent sign that is mounted or painted onto or attached to a 

canopy.  
 

CANOPY SIGN 

 
 
H. Changeable copy sign. A temporary or permanent sign or portion thereof with 

interchangeable characters, letters or illustrations that are changed manually or 
electronically. Signs with messages that change more than eight times per day 
are considered animated signs for purposes of this article. Signs where only the 
time and temperature portion of the sign change are not changeable copy signs 
for purposes of this article.  

 
I. Construction sign. A temporary sign indicating that a construction project is 

taking place which may include the contractor’s information and information 
about the construction project.  

 
J. Government sign. A temporary or permanent sign posted by local, state, or 

federal agencies which provide information to the community, including 
regulatory, traffic, welcome, and wayfinding signs, community bulletin boards, 
and directory signs.  

 
K. Statuary or Facsimile sign. A permanent three-dimensional object, molded or 

sculpted to look like an animal, a human figure, or some inanimate object like a 
donut or an automobile part, which may or may not contain advertising or 
information about the products or services sold on the premises.  

 
 



161 
 

STATUARY SIGN 

 
 
L. Freestanding on-premises signs. Any permanent, elevated, stand-alone and 

self-supporting sign located on the same property as the establishment being 
advertised that is not affixed to a building.  An elevated sign supported by a pole 
is a common freestanding on-premises sign. 

 
FREESTANDING ON-PREMISES SIGN 

 
 
M. Identification signs. A permanent sign giving the nature, logo, trademark, or 

other identifying symbol; address; or any combination thereof for a building, 
business, development, or establishment on the same property.  

 
 
 
 
 

 



162 
 

IDENTIFICATION SIGN 

 
 
N. Illuminated sign. A temporary or permanent sign that is illuminated either 

internally or externally.  
 
O. Incidental sign. A permanent informational sign, such as "no parking," 

"entrance," "loading only," "telephone," and other signs that provide similar 
directives, which don’t contain a commercial message.  

 
P. Inflatable sign. A temporary three-dimensional object, filled or inflated with air 

or gas, which may or may not contain commercial advertising that is used to 
attract attention.  

INFLATABLE SIGN 

 
 

Q. Legal/warning sign. A permanent sign erected to warn of danger or hazardous 
conditions or required or specifically authorized for a public purpose by any 
law, statute or ordinance, such as “No Trespassing”, “Private Property” and/or 
“Towing Enforced”.  

 
R. Marquee signs. A permanent sign painted onto or attached to a marquee (i.e., a 

movie theater).  
 

S. Neighborhood identification sign. A permanent sign identifying the name and 
located at the entrance of a residential subdivision or neighborhood.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



163 
 

NEIGHBORHOOD IDENTIFICATION SIGN 

 
 
T. Occupant/street number sign. A permanent sign affixed to a structure, mailbox, 

driveway entrance, etc., which serves to identify the address of the structure or 
occupant.  

 
U. Pennant. Any lightweight flexible material, which may or may not contain 

commercial advertising, attached along the length of a rope or wire,  designed to 
move in the wind as a temporary attention-getting device.  

 
V. Permanent sign. A permanent sign attached to a building, structure or the 

ground made of materials intended to last for long-term use.  
 
W. Political sign. A temporary sign announcing or supporting political candidates 

or issues in connection with any national, state or local election or referendum.  
 
X. Portable sign. A temporary sign designed to be transported, but not limited by 

means of wheels.  
 

Y. Poster sign. A small temporary sign advertising a business or commodity off-
premises that is intended to be read by pedestrians.  

 
Z. Projecting sign. A permanent sign supported by a building that projects outward 

more than 12 inches.  
 

AA. Real estate sign. A temporary sign advertising a property for sale or lease.  
 
BB. Roof sign. A permanent sign mounted on the roof of a building. 
 
CC. Unspecified, temporary sign. Any temporary sign that cannot be classified as 

another type of sign that is used for only a short period of time which is not 
permanently mounted.  

 
DD. Vehicular sign. A temporary sign not permanently attached to a vehicle parked 

in a manner solely to attract attention. Magnetic, painted on or wraps and other 
signs on vehicles are not covered or enforced by these regulations. 

 
 
 



164 
 

EE. Wall sign. Any permanent sign which displays only one sign face that is 
attached to a wall of a building.  

 
FF. Window sign. A temporary sign attached to or visible through a window from 

outside the building.  
 

 
 

 
    
 
14.08-6.040. - Signs allowed by zoning district and special requirements.  Signs not 
specifically listed in any category in Article 6 as an approved sign type are expressly 
prohibited. 
A. Noncommercial signs allowed in all zoning districts without a permit.  

1. Government signs. 
2. Identification signs. 
3. Incidental signs.  
4. Legal and warning signs.  
5. Occupant/street number signs. 
6. Political signs (temporary) 
7. Posters (temporary). 
8. Real estate (temporary)  

 
B. The maximum sign display area for all on-premises signs in the unincorporated 

areas of Edisto Island shall not exceed 50 square feet, regardless of the zoning 
district. 

 
C.     There is no height limit for any freestanding or billboard sign within 300 feet of I-
95. 
 



165 
 

D. Resource Conservation (RC-1 and RC-2).  
1. Signs allowed without a permit.  

a. Unspecified temporary signs.  
b. Window signs. 

 
2. Signs allowed with a permit.  

a. Canopy signs.  
b. Freestanding on-premises signs (excluding billboards).  
c. Neighborhood identification signs.  
d. Wall signs.  

 
3. Sign characteristics allowed.  

a. Changeable copy.  
b. Illuminated.  

 
E. Rural Development (RD-1 and RD-2).  

1. Signs allowed without a permit.  
a. A-frame signs (temporary).  
b. Pennants (temporary).  
c. Portable (temporary).  
d. Unspecified temporary signs.  
e. Window signs. 

 
2. Signs allowed with a permit.  

a. Banner (temporary).  
b. Canopy signs.  
c. Freestanding on-premises signs  
d. Marquee signs.  
e. Neighborhood identification signs.  
f. Projecting signs.  
  
g. Wall signs. 
h. Billboard signs. (within 300 feet of I-95 only).  

 
3. Sign characteristics allowed.  

a. Changeable copy.  
b. Illuminated.  

 
F. Suburban Residential (RS).  

1. Signs allowed without a permit.  
a. Construction signs for residential projects (temporary).  

 
2. Signs allowed with a permit.  

a. Neighborhood identification signs.  
 
3. Sign characteristics allowed.  



166 
 

a. Illuminated.  
 
G. Community Commercial (CC) and Village Commercial (VC).  

1. Signs allowed without a permit.  
a. A-frame signs (temporary).  
b. Inflatable signs (temporary).  
c. Pennants (temporary).  
d. Portable (temporary).  
e. Unspecified temporary signs.  
f. Window signs. 

 
2. Signs allowed with a permit.  

a. Banner (temporary).  
b. Billboards.  
c. Canopy signs.  
d. Freestanding on-premises signs.  
e. Marquee signs.  
f. Neighborhood identification signs.  
g. Projecting signs.  

    h.      Roof Signs 
i.  Wall signs.  

 
3. Sign characteristics allowed.  

a. Changeable copy.  
b. Illuminated.  

 
H. Urban Development (UD-1 and UD-2).  

1. Signs allowed without a permit.  
a. A-frame signs (temporary).  
b. Inflatable signs (temporary).  
c. Pennants (temporary).  
d. Portable (temporary).  
e. Unspecified temporary signs.  
f. Window signs. 

 
2. Signs allowed with a permit.  

a. Banner (temporary).  
b. Billboards.  
c. Canopy signs.  
d. Freestanding on-premises signs.  
e. Marquee signs.  
f. Neighborhood identification signs.  
g. Projecting signs.  
h. Roof signs.  
i. Wall signs.  

 



167 
 

3. Sign characteristics allowed.  
a. Animated.  
b. Changeable copy.  
c. Illuminated.  

 
I. Industrial (ID) and Light Industrial (LID).  

1. Signs allowed without a permit.  
a. Window signs. 

 
2. Signs allowed with a permit.  

a. Canopy signs.  
b. Freestanding on-premises signs.  
c. Marquee signs.  
d. Projecting signs.  
e. Wall signs.  

    f.      Roof Signs 
g.  Billboards.  

 
3. Sign characteristics allowed.  

a. Changeable copy.  
b. Illuminated.  

 
14.08-6.050. - Sign requirements by type.  
A. Permanent signs.  

1. Billboards: 
a. Maximum area:  378 sq. ft. (672 sq. ft. within 300 feet of I-95).  
b. Maximum height:  36 feet (no height limit within 300 feet of I-95, and 

where allowed by zoning district).  
c. Maximum number: one sign per 700-foot radius.  

   
2. Building signs: (includes canopy, marquee, projecting, roof, wall signs, and 

permanent window signs).  
a. Maximum area by district: (see table below) 

 
Zoning District  Maximum Area  
RC-1, RC-2, RD-1 and RD-2 10% of wall area  
CC, VC, UD-1, UD-2, ID and LID  25% of wall area  
     b.     Maximum height (for roof signs): 12 feet above highest point of roof.  

c. Maximum number: The number of signs is limited only by the maximum 
allowable sign area.  

 
3. Freestanding on-premises signs. (Billboards are not considered freestanding 

signs for this Article) 
a. Maximum area by district: * 

Zoning District  Maximum Area  



168 
 

RC-1 and RC-2  24 sq. ft.  
RD-1 and RD-2  80 sq. ft.  
CC and VC  72 sq. ft. + 12 per tenant up to combined total of 144 sq. ft.  
UD-1 and UD-2  1 square foot per linear foot of street frontage up to a total of 120 sq. ft.  
ID and LID  120 sq. ft. 
  * Special Exception approval required where sign area thresholds are requested to 
be exceeded. 
 

b. Maximum height by district: * 
Zoning District  Maximum Height ** 
RC-1 and RC-2  24 feet  
RD-1 and RD-2  24 feet  
CC and VC  36 feet  
UD-1 and UD-2  36 feet  
ID and LID  36 feet 
 * No height limit for billboard or freestanding signs within 300 feet of I-95, and where 
allowed by zoning district. 
** Special Exception approval required where height thresholds are requested to be 
exceeded with justification. 
 
    c.     Maximum number: One per street frontage of developed lot, except as 
allowed for common signage plans where multiple lots exist.  

 
4. Neighborhood identification signs.  

a. Maximum area:     32 sq. ft (area may be split between two signs on 
either side of entrance).  

b. Maximum height:     Six (6) feet tall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per street frontage entrance, except maximum area 

may be split between two signs on either side of the entrance.  
 
B. Temporary signs.  

1. A-frame signs.  
a. Maximum area:  12 sq. ft.  
b. Maximum height:  Four (4) feet tall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per business per street frontage.  
d. Display period:   During daylight hours only, every day.  
e. Other:    Signs on sidewalks shall not obstruct ADA or 

pedestrian traffic.  
 
2. Banners.  

a. Maximum area:  32 sq. ft.  



169 
 

b. Maximum height:  Six (6) feet tall if not displayed on a building wall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per business or organization per street frontage.  
d. Display period:   30 days per six-month period.  
e. Other:    Banners shall be properly secured and maintained at 

all times.  
 
3. Project identification signs.  

a. Maximum area:  120 sq. ft.  
b. Maximum height:  Ten (10) feet tall if not displayed on a building wall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per project or business per street frontage.  
d. Display period:   90 days, or project completion, whichever is longer.  
e. Other:    None.  

 
4. Inflatable signs.  

a. Maximum size:   500 cubic feet (total).  
b. Maximum height:  Maximum district height.  
c. Maximum number:  One per business or organization per street frontage.  
d. Display period:   30 days per one-year period.  
e. Other:    Shall be properly anchored and not interfere with 

airport traffic.  
 
5. Pennants.  

a. Maximum area:  N/A.  
b. Maximum height:  N/A.  
c. Maximum number:  N/A.  
d. Display period:   30 days per six-month period.  
e. Other:    None.  

 
6. Political signs.  

a. Maximum area:  32 sq. ft.  
b. Maximum height:  Six (6) feet tall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per candidate or issue per lot of record.  
d. Display period:   Calendar year of election; shall be removed within 

seven days of dropping out of election, losing a primary, or after general 
election.  

e. Other:    Shall not be displayed on utility poles and shall be 
placed no closer than five feet from a street or curb.  

 
7. Portable.  

a. Maximum area:  32 sq. ft.  
b. Maximum height:  Six (6) feet tall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per establishment or event per lot of record.  
d. Display period:   30 days per one-year period.  
e. Other:    Portable signs shall have no colored or flashing 

lights, or be wired to obstruct ADA, pedestrian, bicycle or vehicular traffic,  



170 
 

and they shall be anchored in accordance with the building codes.  
     

 
8. Posters.  

a. Maximum area:  Six (6) sq. ft.  
b. Maximum height:  Three (3) feet tall if not displayed on a building 

wall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per candidate or issue per lot of record.  
d. Display period:   30 days.  
e. Other:    Shall not be displayed on utility poles or in any 

public right-of-way and shall be placed no closer than five feet from a street 
or curb.  

 
9. Real estate signs.  

a. Maximum area:  12 sq. ft. for single and double-family residential 
properties and 24 sq. ft. for commercial properties and subdivisions.  

b. Maximum height:  Six (6) feet tall.  
c. Maximum number:  One per street frontage per lot or development and, 

three off-premises signs.  
 
10. Unspecified temporary signs.  

a. Maximum area:  Six (6) sq. ft.  
b. Maximum height:  Four (4) feet tall if not displayed on a building wall.  
c. Maximum number:  Six (6) signs per lot.  
d. Display period:   Ten days per month.  
e. Other:    None.  

 
11. Window signs (temporary).  

a. Maximum area:  50 percent of window.  
b. Maximum height:  N/A.  
c. Maximum number:  N/A.  
d. Display period:   N/A.  
e. Other:    None.  

 
14.08-6.060. - Prohibited signs.  
A. List of prohibited signs. All signs not expressly permitted by this article are 

prohibited. Such signs include but are not limited to:  
1. Signs painted on or attached to trees, fences posts, utility poles, stationary 

vehicles, or natural features.  
 
2. Signs displaying intermittent flashing or rotating lights resembling traffic 

signals, emergency response vehicles, or warning signals, using the words 
"stop," "danger," or any other word, phrase, symbol, or character in a manner 
that might mislead or confuse motorists.  

 
3. Signs in the public right-of-way except for the following:  



171 
 

a.  Public signs erected by a governmental body;  
b.  Informational signs for a public agency or utility regarding its facilities;  
c.  Church signs, in accordance with state law;  
d.  Historical signs and markers; and 
e.  Directional signs of a temporary nature not to exceed three (3) sq. ft. in area 

and 72 hours in duration for such events as yard sales, special events, public 
gatherings, etc., provided they are located no closer than 500 feet apart and 
removed immediately after the advertised event.  

 
4. Signs which are abandoned and/or no longer correctly direct people or that 

advertises an inactive business, lessor, owner, product, or service.  
 
5. Signs which have fallen into disrepair (dilapidated), are unsafe or otherwise 

structurally unsound and incapable of meeting the minimum safety requirements 
of the building codes.  

 
6. Any sign which obstructs the view of pedestrians, bicyclists or motorists using 

any street, approach to any street intersection, the exiting points of a lot, or 
which interferes with or obscures any traffic sign, device, or signal.  

 
7. Any sign located outdoors which obstructs free passage from any fire escape, 

downspout, window, door, stairway, ladder, or opening intended as a means of 
ingress or egress or which prohibits light or air.  

 
8. Any sign located to intentionally deny an adjoining property owner visual access 

to their existing sign.  
 
9. Signs placed on property without the written permission from the owner or 

agent.  
  
10. Inoperable derelict motor vehicles parked in one location more than 24 hours 

used as signage. 
 
B. Remedies for prohibited signs.  

1. In addition to other remedies and enforcement powers of this chapter, the 
director or his compliance officer(s) shall have the authority to remove and 
impound any prohibited signs or sign structures.  

 
2. The owner of an impounded sign or structure may recover same upon the 

payment of $50.00 for each sign or structure. If it is not claimed within ten days 
from the date of impoundment, the director shall have the authority to dispose of 
such sign or sign structure without notification or compensation to the owner.  

 
3. No provision of this section shall apply to any grandfathered or legal 

nonconforming sign or sign structure, but they shall be subject to the provisions 
for nonconforming signs in article 14.08-9.  



172 
 

   
 
ARTICLE 14.08-7. – ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS: SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS, 
VARIANCES, AND APPEALS  
 

Sections: 
14.08-7.010. - Establishment of the zoning board of appeals (ZBA).  
14.08-7.020. - Powers and duties of the ZBA.  
14.08-7.030. - Appeals from decisions of the director and compliance officers.  
14.08-7.040. - Variances.  
14.08-7.050. - Special exceptions.  

 
14.08-7.010. - Establishment of the zoning board of appeals (ZBA).  

The county zoning board of appeals (ZBA) is hereby established under the 
provisions of S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-780.  

A. Composition of the ZBA.  
1. The ZBA shall consist of five members appointed by the county council for 

overlapping terms of four years. One member first appointed shall serve for 
two years, two members first appointed shall serve for three years, and two 
members first appointed shall serve for four years. Three members shall 
constitute a quorum.  

2. Members shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified.  
3. Vacancies are filled for unexpired terms in the same manner as initial 

appointments.  
4. No more than one person shall represent a given profession. No member 

shall be the holder of an elected public office in the county.  
 
B. Compensation. Members of the ZBA shall serve without compensation. 

Reimbursement for actual expenses incurred in the performance of official 
duties may be reimbursed from budgeted funds pursuant to reimbursement 
policies and procedures for employees of the county.  

 
C. Removal of members. Members of the ZBA may be removed at any time by 

county council for cause. The existence of cause shall be discussed by the 
council in executive session as permitted by the Freedom of Information Act, 
S.C. Code 1976, § 30-4-70(a)(1), and the determination of removal shall be by 
vote in public session declaring a vacancy in the position without a statement of 
cause. Any fact which, in the discretion of council, is deemed to adversely affect 
the public interest, including general lack of attendance at meetings, or non-
attendance at any three (3) consecutive meetings, may constitute cause.  

 
D. Organization and rules of procedure. The ZBA shall organize, elect officers, 

and adopt rules of procedure as required by S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-790.  
 
 

 



173 
 

14.08-7.020. - Powers and duties of the ZBA.  
The ZBA shall have the following powers and duties in accordance with S.C. Code 

1976, § 6-29-800:  
A. To hear and decide appeals. To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there 

is error in any order, requirement, decision, or determination made by the 
director or compliance officers.  

 
B. To grant variances. To authorize upon appeal in specific cases a variance from 

the terms of this chapter as will not be contrary to the public interest where, 
owing to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the provisions of this 
chapter will, in an individual case, result in the unnecessary hardship so that the 
spirit of the chapter shall be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and 
substantial justice done. Such variance may be granted in such individual case of 
unnecessary hardship in accordance with the conditions for approval set out in 
section 14.08-7.040. No variance shall be granted for a reduction in minimum 
lot size except as an administrative variance as set forth in section 14.08-
8.030(D).  

 
C. To grant special exceptions. To permit uses by special exception as allowed for 

in the individual zoning districts of article 14.08-2 and subject to standards and 
conditions of section 14.08-7.050.  

 
14.08-7.030. - Appeals from decisions of the director and compliance officers.  

This process shall be followed for appeals. See the details following the chart below 
for each step.  

 
 



174 
 

 
A. Step 1: Application submitted. The appellant shall submit a completed 

application and fee in accordance with the schedule of fees not more than 30 
days from the decision of the director.  

 
B. Step 2: Administrative examination. Upon receipt of an application, the director 

shall examine it for completeness, and shall, within ten days, either return the 
application for additional information or after preparing the answer and/or case 
briefing, forward it to the ZBA for review and action.  

 
C. Step 3: Public notice. Public notice shall include announcing the application for 

appeal in a county newspaper of general circulation at least 15 days prior to the 
public hearing where the application will be heard. The notice shall state the 
nature of the appeal and the time, date, and place of the hearing.  

 
D. Step 4: Public hearing. The ZBA shall conduct a public hearing on all 

applications for appeals from decisions of the director and/or compliance 
officers.  

 
E. Step 5: Review and action. Appeal applications shall be heard and decided by 

the ZBA based on information presented by the applicant and the 
director/compliance officers relative to the specific ordinance provision being 
appealed.  

 
F. Step 6: Notification of decision.  

1. All applicants shall be notified in writing of final action.  
2. An approved appeal shall be accompanied by an order of the ZBA.  

 
G. Step 7: Appeals from ZBA decisions. Any person who may have a substantial 

interest in any decision of the ZBA may appeal said decision to the county 
circuit court by filing a written petition with the clerk setting forth plainly, fully, 
and distinctly wherein such decision is contrary to law. Such appeal shall be 
filed within 30 days after the decision of the ZBA is rendered.  

   
 
14.08-7.040. - Variances.  

This process shall be followed for variances. See the details following the chart 
below for each step.  



175 
 

 
 
A. Step 1: Application submitted. The applicant shall submit a completed variance 

application and fee in accordance with the schedule of fees.  Application shall 
include the written explanation of the hardship, which hardship has not been 
created by the applicant, which explains why the strict application of the Codes 
has created the undue hardship and created the need to request a variance.  No 
variance application shall receive a staff recommendation of approval without a 
legitimate hardship being provided. 

 
B. Step 2: Administrative examination. Upon receipt of an application, the director 

shall examine it for completeness, and shall, within ten days, either return the 
application for additional information or after creating the case briefing, 
schedule it for review and action by the ZBA at their next regularly scheduled 
meeting.  

 
C. Step 3: Public notice.  

1. Public notice shall include announcing the application for a variance in a 
county newspaper of general circulation at least 15 days prior to the public 



176 
 

hearing where the application will be heard. The notice shall state the nature 
of the change and the time, date, and place of the hearing.  

 
2. Notice of the public hearing shall be conspicuously posted on the subject 

property, where notices must be visible from each street that abuts the 
property.  

 
D. Step 4: Public hearing. The ZBA shall conduct a public hearing on all 

applications for variances.  
 
E. Step 5: Review and action.  

1. Applications for a variance shall be evaluated by the ZBA on the basis of 
the following conditions:  
a. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the 

particular piece of property that would create an undue hardship upon 
this particular land owner.  

b. These conditions do not generally apply to other properties in the 
district.  

c. Because of these conditions, the strict application of the regulations to 
the particular piece of property would effectively prohibit or 
unreasonably restrict the utilization of the property.  

d. The authorization of a variance will not be of substantial detriment to 
adjacent property or to the public good, and the character of the district 
will not be harmed by the granting of the variance. 

e. Explain how the variance is the smallest variance possible that will 
allow the property owner reasonable utilization of the property as is 
enjoyed by other properties in the same district.  

 
2. The ZBA may not grant a variance the effect of which would allow the 

establishment of a use not otherwise permitted in a zoning district, 
physically enlarge a nonconforming use of land, or change the zoning 
district boundaries shown on the zoning map. The fact that property may be 
utilized more profitably, or otherwise provide a benefit to this property 
owner not available to other property owners in the same district, should a 
variance be granted, shall not be considered grounds for a variance.  

 
3. The ZBA shall not reconsider an application for a variance for the same 

property, or portion thereof, within one year from the date of final 
determination and notification.  

 
4. An approved variance shall lapse and be of no further effect one year after 

the date the variance was approved by the ZBA unless a completed zoning 
permit is submitted in accordance with article 14.08-8, or if no zoning 
permit is required, unless construction has commenced and is being 
diligently pursued.  

 



177 
 

5. One one-year extension of a variance approval may be allowed by the ZBA 
if construction has commenced and is being diligently pursued. 
Applications for extensions of variance approvals shall be submitted to the 
director in writing at least 15 days prior to the expiration of the variance 
approval.  

 
F. Step 6: Notification of decisions.  

1. All applicants for variances shall be notified in writing of final action.  
2. An approved variance shall be accompanied by an order of the ZBA to 

direct the issuance of a permit.  
 
G. Step 7: Appeals from ZBA decisions. Any person who may have a substantial 

interest in any decision of the ZBA may appeal said decision to the county 
circuit court by filing a written petition with the clerk setting forth plainly, fully, 
and distinctly wherein such decision is contrary to law. Such appeal shall be 
filed within 30 days after the decision of the ZBA is rendered.  

   
 
14.08-7.050. - Special exceptions.  

This process shall be followed for special exception uses as listed for each zoning 
district in article 14.08-2. See the details following the below chart for each step.  

 

 
 



178 
 

A. Step 1: Application submitted. The applicant shall submit a completed special 
exception application and fee in accordance with the schedule of fees. Each 
application for a special exception that involves the construction or addition of 
building area, land area, or parking area shall be accompanied by a site plan as 
set forth in section 14.08-8.030(c)2.  

 
B. Step 2: Administrative examination. Upon receipt of an application, the director 

shall examine it for completeness, and shall, within ten days, either return the 
application for additional information or after creating the case briefing, 
schedule if for review and action by the ZBA at their next regularly scheduled 
meeting.  

 
C. Step 3: Public notice.  

1. Public notice shall include announcing the application for a special 
exception in a county newspaper of general circulation at least 15 days prior 
to the public hearing where the application will be heard. The notice shall 
state the nature of the change and the time, date, and place of the hearing.  

 
2. Notice of the public hearing shall be conspicuously posted on the subject 

property, where notices must be visible from each street that abuts the 
property.  

 
D. Step 4: Public hearing. The ZBA shall conduct a public hearing on all 

applications for special exceptions.  
 
E. Step 5: Review and action.  

1. Applications for a special exception shall be evaluated by the ZBA on the 
basis of the following conditions:  
a. Is it consistent with the recommendations contained in the county 

comprehensive plan and the character “description” of the underlying 
zoning district;  

 
b. Compatibility with existing uses in the vicinity and will not adversely 

affect the general welfare or character of the immediate community;  
 
c. Adequate provision is made for such items as: setbacks, buffering to 

protect adjacent properties from any potential adverse nuisances, such 
as noise, vibration, dust, glare, odor, traffic congestion and others;  

 
d. Where applicable, will be developed in a way that will preserve and 

incorporate any important natural features; and  
 
e. Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent roads shall not 

be hindered or endangered.  
 



179 
 

2. In granting a special exception, the ZBA may attach other conditions 
regarding the location, character, or other features of the proposed structure 
as the ZBA deems necessary to protect established property values in the 
surrounding area or to promote the public health, safety, or general welfare.  

 
3. Granting a special exception in one case does not bind the ZBA to grant a 

special exception in another similar case. Each case stands on its own facts. 
[Witherspoon v. City of Columbia, 291 SC 44, 351 S.E.2d 903 (1986)].  

 
4. The ZBA shall not reconsider an application for a special exception for the 

same property, or portion thereof, within one year from the date of final 
determination and notification.  

 
5. An approved special exception shall lapse and be of no further effect one 

year after the date the special exception was approved by the ZBA unless a 
completed zoning permit application is submitted in accordance with article 
14.08-8, or if no zoning permit is required, unless construction has 
commenced and is being diligently pursued.  

 
6. One one-year extension of a special exception approval may be allowed by 

the ZBA if construction has commenced and is being diligently pursued. 
Applications for extensions shall be submitted to the director in writing at 
least 15 days prior to the expiration of the special exception approval.  

 
F. Step 6: Notification of decisions.  

1. All applicants for special exceptions shall be notified in writing of final 
action.  

 
2. An approved special exception shall be accompanied by an order of the 

ZBA.  
 
G. Step 7: Appeals from ZBA decisions. Any person who may have a substantial 

interest in any decision of the ZBA may appeal said decision to the county 
circuit court by filing a written petition with the clerk setting forth plainly, fully, 
and distinctly wherein such decision is contrary to law. Such appeal shall be 
filed within 30 days after the decision of the ZBA is rendered.  

 
ARTICLE 14.08-8. – ADMINISTRATION 
 
Sections: 
 

14.08-8.010. - Purpose.  
14.08-8.020. – Director.  
14.08-8.030. - Permits.  
14.08-8.040. - Violations and penalties.  
 



180 
 

14.08-8.050. - Planning commission (PC).  
 
 14.08-8.010. - Purpose.  

This article sets forth the requirements for obtaining permits for zoning, building, 
signs, plats, zone changes, variances, conditional uses, special exceptions, and certificates 
of occupancy. It also defines the duties, powers, and limitations of the planning and 
development department director hereinafter (director) and the planning commission 
(PC), who are responsible for the administration and enforcement of this article.   
 
14.08-8.020. – Director.  
A. The various provisions of this chapter shall be administered by the director and 

designated planning staff and compliance officers. It shall be the duty of the director 
to carry out and enforce, remedy violations, and issue permits in compliance with 
this chapter.  

 
B. The director shall maintain a record of all zoning permits on file at his office, and 

copies shall be made available upon request.  
 

14.08-8.030. - Permits.  
A. Responsibility.  

1. It is the responsibility of the director or his designee to administer the 
requirements for processing applications and issuing permits according with the 
provisions of this section. The director shall collect such fees for the issuance of 
permits as are authorized by the fee schedule as adopted by the county council.  

 
2. It shall be the responsibility of an applicant to provide the required information 

needed and/or requested to process a permit application.  
 
B. Permits required.  

1. Generally.  
a. No building, structure, or sign requiring a permit or any part thereof shall be 

erected, added to, removed, or structurally altered, nor shall any excavation 
be commenced until the required permits have been issued.  

 
b. No building, structure, or land shall be converted, wholly or in part, to any 

other use until all applicable and appropriate licenses, certificates, and 
permits have been issued certifying compliance with this chapter. No 
zoning permit may be issued for any property where a violation of the 
nuisance ordinance, floodplain prevention ordinance, or building code 
exists unless the zoning permit is issued as part of the compliance action.  

 
c. No permits inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter shall be issued 

unless accompanied by an approved variance.  
 
d. The director may make or require inspections of any land disturbing 

activity, construction or maintenance requirement to ascertain compliance 



181 
 

with the provisions of this title and the approved permit applications, plats, 
plans, and/or certificates.  

 
e. The provisions of this section shall not apply to the necessary construction, 

replacement or maintenance by a public utility of its outside plant facilities, 
including such items as poles, cross-arms, guys, wires, cables, and drops.  

  
f. Failure to apply for and obtain the appropriate required permits, including 

building, zoning, sign and/or floodplain permits, prior to commencing any 
work shall require the issuance of a stop-work-order, which shall not be 
removed to allow further work to commence until applicant has submitted 
everything needed for all required permits, received approval on all permits, 
and paid a double-permit fee fine for each required permit.  Failure to 
comply and/or pay the double-permit fee fine may cause the property owner 
to be fined up to $500.00 and serve up to 30 days in jail in accordance with 
the Colleton County Codes.  Each day of violation of specific provision of 
this chapter shall constitute a separate offense. 

    
2. Zoning permit.  

a. A zoning permit shall be required in advance of:  
i. The issuance of a building permit.  
ii. Changing the use of any part of a structure or lot, including any 

increase in the number of dwelling units occupying a building or lot. A 
change in use shall mean that the new use is a different land use than 
the existing use.  

iii. The installation of a manufacturing or other industrial process whose 
operation may generate a public nuisance as set forth in section 14.08-
3.020(S).  

iv. Installation of any sign for which a permit is required.  
v. The establishment of a temporary use.  

 
b. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, no zoning permit is 

necessary for the following uses:  
i. Street or public utility repair;  
ii. Mailboxes, newspaper boxes, birdhouses, flag poles, pump covers, and 

doghouses;  
iii. Interior alterations and renovations which do not alter the footprint, 

elevation, height, structural support, or use of an otherwise conforming 
use and/or structure.  

 
c. When the director receives an application for a zoning permit whose 

proposed improvement and use described and illustrated conforms to all 
requirements of this chapter, he shall issue a zoning permit and return a 
signed copy to the applicant within ten days of receipt of the application.  

 



182 
 

d. When the director receives an application for a zoning permit whose 
proposed improvement and use described and illustrated does not conform 
to this chapter, he shall deny the issuance of a zoning permit, and so advise 
the applicant within ten days, citing the particular sections of this chapter 
with which the application does not comply.  

 
e. If the zoning permit is denied, the applicant may appeal the action of the 

director to the ZBA as provided for in article 14.08-7. Such appeal shall be 
made within 30 days of such permit denial.  

 
f. If the work described in any zoning permit has not begun within 180 days 

from the date of issuance thereof, said permit shall expire; it shall be 
canceled and written notice thereof shall be given to the applicant, unless 
extended by the director upon reapplication by the applicant, with payment 
of any reapplication fees.  

 
3. Building permits. A building permit shall be required of all proposed building 

and/or construction activity unless expressly exempted by adopted county 
building codes. 

a. One story detached accessory structures used as tool and storage sheds, 
playhouses, and similar uses, provided the floor area does not exceed 225 
square feet, regardless of cost, are exempt from permits per section 105 
Permits, paragraph 105.2 Work Exempt from Building Permit, of the IBC and 
IRC. 
 

b. Areas not affected.  This chapter shall not affect any incorporated areas of the 
County, except the Town of Cottageville, where the County has agreed to do 
all permitting and inspections until such  time the Town reacquires that ability. 

 
c. Other areas not affected.  This chapter shall not affect any parcel of land 

owned by the State or Federal Government, or any buildings or structures 
placed thereon. 

 
4. Sign permits. Where a sign permit is required by article 14.08-6, the permit 

application shall be accompanied by the following:  
a. A common signage plan, where applicable, in accordance with the 

requirements of section 14.08-6.020(C).  
 
b. Identification of landowner and/or leaseholder of property on which the 

sign is to be erected, including street address and property TMS parcel 
number.  

 
c. Name, street address, and email address of the sign owner.  
 



183 
 

d. Site plan sketch with dimensions (professional design not required) showing 
the location of the sign with respect to the property and right-of-way lines, 
buildings, setback lines, parking areas, existing signs, and buffer areas.  

 
e. Correct size, shape, configuration, face area, height, nature, number, and 

type of sign to be erected, including the size of letters and graphics.  
 
f. The value of the sign and sign structure.  
 
g. The director may waive any of the informational requirements listed above 

deemed unnecessary to process an application.  
 
5. Certificate of occupancy. (C of O) 

a. It shall be unlawful to use or occupy any building or premises until a 
certificate of occupancy (C of O) or temporary certificate of occupancy 
(TCO) has been issued stating the building and/or land conforms to the 
requirements of this chapter.   

 
b. Failure to obtain a certificate of occupancy shall be a violation.  
 
c. The director can issue a 30, 60, or 90 day (TCO) for projects with interior or 

exterior improvements that don’t effect the building’s structure or 
completion of construction, such as rack shelving, kitchen or processing 
equipment, or landscaping and/or parking that can’t be installed due to bad 
weather conditions, which allows the building to be occupied. A TCO may 
be issued for a period not to exceed three months. A final C of O shall not 
be issued until all required landscaping and/or parking is installed.  

 
C. Zoning permit application procedures. Each application for a zoning permit shall be 

accompanied by a site plan. The director may waive any informational requirements 
deemed unnecessary to process an application for minor and major site plans.  
1. Minor site plan.  

a. Minor site plans shall be required for single-family and two-family 
residential homes, and any development with:  
i. All accessory structures and any use with less than 2,500 square feet of 

building area;  
ii. Commercial developments or any use with less than ten parking spaces 

required or provided; and  
iii. Less than one acre of land with any nonresidential use.  

 
b. Minor site plans for a zoning permit do not have to be professionally drawn 

but it’s preferred they be drawn on the property survey. If not, they shall 
contain the following minimum information:  
i. Shape, acreage, and actual dimensions of the lot to be built upon;  
ii. Location of lot with respect to any rights-of-way, easements, and water 

features;  



184 
 

iii. Existing and proposed use of the building or land;  
iv. Location and size of existing and proposed structures, and any to be 

removed;  
v. Required building setback lines;  
vi. Required buffers and landscaping;  
vii. Location and dimensions of any required parking and driveways;  
viii. Private water/septic systems approval by DHEC (if applicable); and  
ix. Such other information as deemed necessary by the director.  

 
c. Two copies of the site plan shall be submitted for review with the zoning 

permit application.  
 
2. Major site plan.  

a. Major site plans shall be required for all other developments. 
 

b. Major site plans shall be professionally drawn and contain the following 
minimum information:  

i. All information required of general property surveys, in accordance 
with the Minimum Standards Manual for the Practice of Land 
Surveying in South Carolina;  

ii. Project title, owner names, addresses and email addresses, parcel 
number(s), and zoning;  

iii. North arrow;  
iv. Original submittal date;  
v. Revision dates;  
vi. Vicinity map;  
vii. Scale (between one inch equals 50 feet and one inch equals 200 feet);  
viii. Zoning district and any applicable overlay districts;  
ix. Adjacent property owner names, parcel numbers, and zoning;  
x. Shape, acreage, and actual dimensions of lot being built upon;  
 
xii. Location of lot with respect to any rights-of-way, easements, and water 

features;  
xiii. Existing and proposed use of the building or land;  
xiv. Location and size of all existing and proposed structures on the lot, and 

any to be removed;  
xv. Required building setback lines;  
xvi. Required buffers and landscaping;  
xvii. Location and dimensions of parking and driveways;  
xviii. Drainage plan by qualified professional engineer showing all 

structures and easements;  
xix. Boundaries of floodplains (if applicable);  
xx. Topography;  
xxi. Location of watercourses and any wetlands (if applicable);  
xxii. Private water, septic system, or well approval by DHEC (if 

applicable);  



185 
 

xxiii All applicable permits required by DHEC, including mining, 
wetlands, etc.; and  

xxiii. Such other information as deemed necessary by the director.  
 
D. Administrative variance. Administrative variances may be issued by the director for 

encroachments of a principal or accessory building into any required yard, up to a 
maximum of ten percent of the applicable required yard setback, provided that:  
1. The request involves only one encroachment into one required yard per lot;  
 
2. The encroachment is a result of a construction error by the property owner or 

designee;  
 
3. The encroachment cannot be corrected without substantial hardship and expense 

to the property owner;  
 
4. The encroachment will not substantially interfere with the convenient and 

enjoyable use of adjacent properties and will not pose any substantial danger to 
the public health, safety and welfare.   

 
14.08-8.040. - Violations and penalties.  
A. Complaints regarding violations. Whenever a violation of this chapter is alleged to 

have occurred, the director or compliance officer shall record and investigate such 
complaint, and take such action as provided by this chapter. Complaints may be filed 
in writing or verbally, stating fully the cause and basis thereof.  

 
B. Penalties for violations.  

1. Fine and/or imprisonment. Any violation of any provision of this chapter is 
punishable by fine of $500.00 and/or up to 30 days in jail. Each day's violation 
of any provision of this chapter shall constitute a separate offense.  

 
2. Withholding permits. The director shall deny any permits for any use or work 

which fails to comply with this chapter. The director or compliance officers 
shall withhold all other county permits for work which violates this chapter.  

 
3. Stop work orders. The director or compliance officers are authorized to issue a 

stop work order pursuant to S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-950(A), requiring work to 
cease until specific code violations are corrected. Failure to comply with a stop 
work order is a misdemeanor punishable under the general provisions of this 
Code. Issuance of a stop work order may be appealed to the ZBA. 

 
4. Ordinance summons. The director or compliance officers are authorized to 

issue an ordinance summons pursuant to county Code provisions for violations 
of this chapter.  

 



186 
 

5. Arrest warrant. The director, with concurrence of the county attorney, is 
authorized to request the issuance of an arrest warrant for violations of this 
chapter.  

 
6. Injunction. The director shall submit a request to the county attorney for 

institution of a civil action seeking an injunction prohibiting violation of this 
chapter when appropriate.   

 
14.08-8.050. - Planning commission (PC).  
A. Establishment of planning commission. The county planning commission (PC) is 

hereby established under the provisions of the S.C. Code, § 6-29-320.  
 
B. Powers and duties of the planning commission (PC).  

1. The PC shall undertake a continuing planning program for the physical, social, 
and economic growth, development, and redevelopment of the unincorporated 
areas of the county, and the Town of Cottageville, as long as the 
intergovernmental agreement is in effect. The PC may make, publish, and 
distribute maps, plans, reports, and recommendations relating to the 
development of its area of jurisdiction to county officials and outside agencies, 
such as, public utilities, civic, educational, professional, and other organizations 
and citizens. The PC, its members and employees, in the performance of its 
functions, may enter upon any land with consent of the property owner or after 
ten days' written notification to the owner of record, make examinations and 
surveys, and place and maintain necessary monuments and marks on them; 
provided, however, that the PC shall be liable for any injury or damage to 
property resulting therefrom. In general, the PC has the powers as may be 
necessary to enable it to perform its functions and promote the planning of its 
political jurisdiction.  

 
2. In the discharge of its responsibilities, the PC has the power and duty to:  

a. Periodically prepare and revise plans and programs for the development and 
redevelopment of its area of jurisdiction; and  

 
b. Prepare and recommend for adoption to the county council as a means for 

implementing the plans and programs in its area:  
i. The comprehensive plan and any required updates or revisions as 

mandated by the state; 
ii. Zoning ordinances and zoning district maps and appropriate revisions 

thereof;  
iii. Regulations for the subdivision or development of land and appropriate 

revisions thereof, and to oversee the administration of the regulations 
that may be adopted;  

iv. An official map and appropriate revisions showing the exact location of 
existing or proposed public streets, highways, utility rights-of-way, and 
public building sites, together with regulations to control their 
construction or erection, or changes in land use within the rights-of-



187 
 

way, building sites, or open spaces within its political jurisdiction or 
any portion thereof;  

v. A landscaping ordinance setting forth required planting, tree 
preservation, and other aesthetic considerations for land and structures, 
and any other ordinances deemed necessary;  

vi. A capital improvements program (CIP) setting forth projects required 
to create and implement plans, including an annual listing of the 
county’s prioritized capital projects by year for consideration by county 
council for implementation prior to preparation of the annual capital 
and fiscal year budget; and  

vii. Policies or procedures to facilitate implementation of planning 
elements.  

 
C. Composition of the commission.  

1. The PC shall consist of nine members appointed by county council for 
overlapping terms of four years. Five members first appointed shall serve four 
years, and four members first appointed shall serve two years, such terms to be 
decided by lot.  

 
2. To the extent possible, membership should be representative of the racial and 

gender composition of the county, and represent a broad cross section of the 
interests and concerns. No member shall be the holder of an elected public office 
in the county.  

 
3. Members shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified.  

 
D. Funding, expenditures, and contracts. The PC may cooperate with, contract with, 

or accept funds from federal and state government agencies, local general purpose 
governments, school districts, special purpose districts, including those of other 
states, public or charitable organizations, or private individuals or corporations; it 
may expend the funds; and it may carry out such cooperative undertakings and 
contracts as it considers necessary.  

 
E. Removal of members. Members of the PC may be removed at any time by county 

council for cause. The existence of cause shall be discussed by the council in 
executive session as permitted by the Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code, § 30-
4-70(a)(1), and the determination of removal shall be by vote in public session 
declaring a vacancy in the position without a statement of cause. Any fact which, in 
the discretion of council, is deemed to adversely affect the public interest, including 
general lack of attendance at meetings, or non-attendance at any three (3) 
consecutive meetings, may constitute cause.  

 
F. Organization and rules of procedure. The PC shall organize, elect officers, and 

adopt rules of procedure as required by S.C. Code 1976, § 6-29-360.  
   
 



188 
 

ARTICLE 14.08-9. - NONCONFORMITIES  
 
 Sections: 
 

14.08-9.010. - Purpose and applicability.  
14.08-9.020. - Continuation of a nonconforming situation.  
14.08-9.030. - Modification of nonconforming situations.  
14.08-9.040. - Discontinuance of a nonconforming situation.  
14.08-9.050. - Nonconforming lot of record.  
14.08-9.060. - Nonconforming signs.  
14.08-9.070. - Nonconforming landscaping and buffering.  
14.08-9.080. - Nonconforming parking and loading.  

 
14.08-9.010. - Purpose and applicability.  

The purpose of this article is to regulate, limit, and eventually eliminate the 
continued existence or expansion of any legal nonconforming (grandfathered) uses and 
structures put into use in accordance with the codes current at that time, or any 
nonconforming uses or structures established prior to, or after, the effective adoption date 
of these current regulations (or any amendment subsequent thereto). Any legal 
nonconformity created in compliance with the previous codes and any nonconformity 
created by these current regulations shall be regulated by the provisions of this article. 
Many nonconformities may continue but the provisions of this chapter are designed to 
minimize and eventually eliminate these nonconformities, so as not to deleteriously 
impact surrounding conforming properties and preserve the integrity of the area where 
they exist, and the intent of this chapter.  
 
14.08-9.020. - Continuation of a nonconforming situation.  
A. Nonconforming uses, buildings, or structures are declared to be noncompliant with 

the current and permitted development regulations in the districts where they are 
located.  

 
B. However, to avoid undue hardship, the lawful use of any such use, building, or 

structure determined to be nonconforming by the enactment, amendment, or revision 
of these current regulations may be continued (grandfathered) as a legal 
nonconformity, with the following exceptions:  
1. Existing scrap (junk) and waste yards shall meet in full the screening 

requirements of section 14.08-4.020(A). (Any active motor vehicle parts 
establishment which existed prior to the adoption of these current regulations 
that is primarily engaged in the dismantling of motor vehicles for the purpose of 
selling their parts and of which 75 percent of the income is derived therefrom, 
shall not be considered a scrap (junk) or waste yard for the purposes of this 
section.) The county shall have the right to request whatever documentation it 
deems necessary to administer this provision.  

 



189 
 

2. All new outdoor kennels, and those existing prior to the adoption of these 
current regulations shall meet in full the kennel requirements of section 14.08-
3.020(C).  

  
14.08-9.030. - Modification of nonconforming situations.  

A proposed change or modification to a nonconforming use shall be governed by the 
following:  

A. Change of nonconforming use.  
1. If a change from one nonconforming use to another nonconforming use is 

proposed and no structural alterations or additions are involved, the change 
may be permitted, provided:  
a. Nonconformity of dimensional requirements such as height, density, 

setbacks, or other requirements such as off-street parking and outdoor 
storage shall not be increased; and  

b. The proposed change will have little discernible impact over the 
existing nonconforming use.  

 
2. If a change to a permitted use is proposed which is nonconforming only as 

to dimensional requirements such as height, density, setbacks, or other 
requirements such as off-street parking, the change to a permitted use may 
be allowed, provided that all applicable requirements that can be reasonably 
complied with are met, and the change will have little discernible impact 
over the nonconforming use. 

 
3. Compliance with a requirement for a change to a permitted use is not 

reasonably possible if it cannot be achieved without adding land to the lot of 
the nonconforming use or moving the use if it is on a permanent foundation.  

 
4. Whenever a nonconforming use of land or building has been changed to a 

conforming use, such use shall not thereafter be changed back to a 
nonconforming use.  

 
B. Enlargement or expansion of nonconforming use. Since the intent of this 

chapter is to limit and eventually eliminate nonconforming buildings, uses, or 
land, the enlargement or expansion of a nonconformity shall not be permitted 
without approval from the ZBA as a variance to bring the nonconformity into 
conformance.  The hardship explaining why the variance is required is key in 
helping the ZBA understand the undue hardship created for the applicant, which 
does not allow them to do what other property owners in the district are allowed 
to do.  If the hardship does not justify the variance, staff will be unable to 
recommend the ZBA approve the variance request. 

 
C. Repair or alteration of nonconforming use, building, or structure. The repair 

or alteration of a nonconforming use shall in no way increase the nonconformity 
of said use, except as otherwise permitted by subsection B of this section.  

 



190 
 

D. Replacement of nonconforming use or structure.  
1. A building permit for the replacement of a nonconforming building or 

structure or a building or structure containing a nonconforming use, where 
damaged or destroyed by fire or other natural disaster, must be initiated 
within six (6) months from the time of the damage or destruction,  or forfeit 
the right of replacement.  

 
2. Replacement of a nonconforming manufactured home, where a 

manufactured home use is not permitted, shall be accomplished within 30 
days of removal, or forfeit nonconforming status, and if replaced shall not 
infringe on established setbacks, and shall meet in full the requirements of 
section 14.08-3.020(Q).  

   
14.08-9.040. - Discontinuance of a nonconforming situation.  

If a nonconforming use is discontinued and/or abandoned for a continuous period of 
more than six months, including any period of discontinuation before the effective date of 
adoption of these regulations, then that use shall not be renewed or reestablished and any 
subsequent use of the lot or structure shall be in compliance with these regulations.  
 
14.08-9.050. - Nonconforming lot of record.  
A. A nonconforming lot that exists prior to the adoption of these regulations may be 

built upon provided that the use of the land is in accordance with this chapter and all 
setbacks for the zoning district are met.  

 
B. Where the owner of a nonconforming lot does not own sufficient land to meet the 

setback requirements for the zoning district, such lot may be developed provided the 
minimum setbacks are not reduced by more than 25 percent. Setback reductions 
greater than 25 percent shall be referred to the ZBA for consideration. If, however, 
the owner of two or more adjoining lots with insufficient land dimensions decides to 
build on or sell off these lots, they must first be combined or summary plat into one 
lot of record, to bring the lot into compliance with the dimensional requirements of 
this chapter.  

  
14.08-9.060. - Nonconforming signs.  
A. The lawful use of any permanently mounted sign existing at the time of adoption of 

these regulations may be continued, except those declared abandoned or dilapidated, 
which shall be removed or have remedial action taken upon notification by the 
director.  

 
B. Any existing sign which is subsequently abandoned, or damaged to more than 60% 

of its replacement cost, shall be removed or brought into conformance with this 
chapter.  

 
C. An order under this section shall be issued in writing to the owner or responsible 

party of any such sign to comply within 30 days' time. Upon failure to comply with 



191 
 

such notice, the director may cause the sign to be removed and any costs of removal 
incurred in the process may be collected in a manner prescribed by law.  

  
14.08-9.070. - Nonconforming landscaping and buffering.  

In accordance with article 14.08-4, certain uses are required to provide and maintain 
buffering and/or landscaping on site. The following shall apply to nonconforming 
buffering and landscaping:  
A. Expansions of an existing use in building area, parking or loading area, or activity by 

more than 20 percent, which is deficient in landscaping and/or buffering, or any 
change in principal use cannot occur without the required screening and/or 
landscaping having first been installed to current codes.  

 
14.08-9.080. - Nonconforming parking and loading.  
A. On any lot which contains a use which does not comply with the off-street parking 

and loading regulations contained in article 14.08-5, no expansion or change of use 
shall be approved (except as herein provided), until the requisite number of off-street 
parking spaces and all paving requirements have been met.  

 
B. A zoning permit may be issued when a change of use and the number of off-street 

parking spaces required for the new use (per article 14.08-5) are within ten percent of 
the number of existing spaces provided. Such relief may be granted on a one-time 
basis per lot, and for unpaved lots, the additional parking spaces shall have a graded 
gravel, crushed-stone or similar dust-reducing surface.  

 
ARTICLE 14.08-10. – ZONE CHANGE AND MAP AND TEXT AMENDMENTS  
 
Sections: 
 

14.08-10.010. - Purpose.  
14.08-10.020. - Amendment initiation.  
14.08-10.030. - Application submittal.  
14.08-10.040. – Zoning, Development Code or Comprehensive Plan Text 
amendment process.  
14.08-10.050. – Zoning Map amendment (Zone Change) process.  

 
14.08-10.010. - Purpose.  

This article sets forth procedures for zone changes, amending text in the county 
zoning and development codes or comprehensive plan and amending the zoning map. 
The purpose is not to relieve particular hardships, nor confer special privileges or rights 
on any person, but only to make needed adjustments and improvements due to improved 
processes, changed conditions or changes in policy. Procedures for making these 
amendments are set forth herein.  
 
14.08-10.020. - Amendment initiation.  
A. Zoning and development code ordinances and comprehensive plan text amendments 

may be initiated by any of the following parties:  



192 
 

1. Director of planning and development.  
2. Planning commission.  
3. County council.  

 
B. Zoning map amendments may be initiated by any of the following parties:  

1. Property owner or agent of property owner.  
2. Option holder.  
3. Planning commission.  
4. County council.  

 
C. Parties not listed may petition the PC and/or council to initiate a change, but they are 

not bound to act on behalf of the petitioner.  
 

14.08-10.030. - Application submittal.  
A. An application form and fee, with a description of the proposed change shall be 

submitted to the director. The form and fee are waived for any amendment requested 
by a county official, board or county, state, or federal agency.  

 
B. Upon receipt of an application, the director shall examine it for completeness, and 

shall within ten days either return the application for additional information or after 
making any required change(s) and preparing the case briefing, forward it to the PC 
for review at their next regularly scheduled meeting.  

  
14.08-10.040. – Zoning, Development Code or Comprehensive Plan Text 
amendment process.  
A. Planning commission (PC) action.  

1. The director shall create the case briefing and forward all text amendment 
requests to the PC for review and recommendation. The PC shall act upon a 
completed application within 30 days after receipt thereof:  
a. To defer not more than 30 days; or  
b. To recommend either denial or approval.  

 
2. The decision shall be determined by a majority of those voting. Failure to act 

within said timeframe shall constitute a recommendation of approval.  
 
3. The PC may consider the proposed text amendment relative to the following:  

a. How it relates to and affects the zoning and/or development codes, or 
comprehensive plan.  

b. Changes in conditions since the adoption of the plan or ordinance.  
c. The need to correct an error or deficiency in the ordinance or the plan.  
d. Any benefits which would be derived from the amendment.  
e. Any cost to the government generated by the amendment in terms of 

expenditures for public improvements, facilities, and services.  
 
4. The PC shall forward its recommendation to the county council for final action 

following a public hearing.  



193 
 

 
B. County council action.  

1. Notice of public hearing shall announce the text amendment request in a county 
newspaper of general circulation at least 15 days prior to the public hearing 
where the amendment will be heard.  Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan 
requires a 30-day notice, as mandated by the state. The notice shall state the 
nature of the change and the time, date, and place of the hearing.  

 
2. County council shall consider the recommendation of the PC and vote to 

approve, deny, or modify a proposed amendment, or refer it back to the PC for 
further study, or take other action as it may deem necessary.  

 
C. Effect of approval. An approved text amendment ordinance shall become effective 

immediately after such adoption.  
 
D. Appeals. Any person who may have a substantial interest in any decision of the 

county council may appeal said decision to the county circuit court by filing with the 
clerk a written petition setting forth plainly, fully, and distinctly wherein such 
decision is contrary to law. Such appeal shall be filed within 30 days after the 
decision of the county council is rendered.  

 
14.08-10.050. – Zoning Map amendment (Zone Change) process.  
A. Planning commission (PC) action.  

1. The director shall create the case briefing and forward all map amendment 
requests to the PC for review and recommendation. The PC shall act on a 
completed application within 30 days after receipt thereof:  
a. To defer not more than 30 days; or  
 
b. To recommend either denial or approval.  

 
2. The decision shall be determined by a majority of those voting. Failure to act 

within said time frame shall constitute a recommendation of approval.  
 
3. The PC is encouraged to consider and recommend approval if the proposed map 

amendment meets the following criteria:  
a. The proposed amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan and the 

stated purpose of this chapter;  
 
b. The proposed amendment will allow development that is compatible with 

existing uses and zoning of nearby property;  
 
c. The county and other service providers will be able to provide adequate 

water and sewer supply, stormwater facilities, waste disposal and other 
public facilities and services to the subject property, while maintaining 
adequate levels of service to existing development;  

 



194 
 

d. The applicant provides documentation that the proposed amendment will 
not result in significant adverse impacts on other property in the vicinity of 
the subject tract or the environment, including air, water, noise, stormwater 
management, wildlife and natural resources; and  

 
e. The subject property is suitable for the proposed zoning classification 

considering such things as parcel size, parcel configuration, road access, 
and the presence of natural resources and amenities.  

 
4. The PC shall forward its recommendation to county council for final action 

following a public hearing.  
 
B. County council action.  

1. Notice of public hearing shall include announcing the map amendment 
ordinance request in a county newspaper of general circulation at least 15 days 
prior to the public hearing where the amendment will be heard, or 30 days for 
Comprehensive Plan amendments, as mandated by the state. The newspaper 
notice shall state the nature of the change and the time, date, and place of the 
hearing. Notice of public hearing for a zoning map amendment (zone change) 
shall also include posting the affected property. Such notice shall be posted at 
least 15 days prior to the hearing.  

 
2. County council shall consider the recommendation of the PC and vote to 

approve, deny, or modify a proposed amendment ordinance, or refer it back to 
the PC for further study, or take other action as it may deem necessary.  

 
C. Effect of approval.  

1. All applicants shall be notified in writing of final action.  
 
2. An approved map amendment ordinance shall become effective immediately 

after such adoption.  
 
D. Appeals. Any person who may have a substantial interest in any decision of the 

county council may appeal said decision to the county circuit court by filing with the 
clerk a written petition setting forth plainly, fully, and distinctly wherein such 
decision is contrary to law. Such appeal shall be filed within 30 days after the 
decision of the board is rendered.  

 
E. Consideration of denied applications. The PC shall not reconsider an application for 

change or relief to the same property or portion thereof, within one year from the 
date of final determination and notification.  

 
F. Consistency with comprehensive plan. Zoning regulations and map amendments 

shall be consistent with the comprehensive plan in accordance with S.C. Code 1976, 
§ 6-29-720(B).  

   



195 
 

 
 
3. Severability: 
 

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is 
held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Ordinance 
which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application and to this end, the 
provisions of this Ordinance are severable. 

 
4. Conflict: 
 

Provisions in other County Ordinances, Resolutions, policies, or by-laws in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 
 
 
ATTEST:     SIGNED: 
 
 
 
________________________                          __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk                               Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
                                                                                             
                                                                                             
 
 
____________________________   COUNCIL VOTE:  
Approved as to Form     OPPOSED: 
Sean Thornton, County Attorney 
 



353

347 348 349

342 343 344 345

338 339 340

332 333 334 335 336

323 324 325 326 327 328

316 317 318 319 320 321

308 309 310 311 312 313

300 301 302 303 304 305

289 290 291 292 293 294 295 296 297

277 278 279 280 281 282 283 284 285 286 287

266 267 268 269 270 271 272 273 274 275

255 256 257 258 259 260 261 262 263 264

243 244 245 246 247 248 249 250 251 252

230 231 232 233 234 235 236 237 238 239 240 241

217 218 219 220 222 223 224 225 226 227 228

202 203 204 205 206 207 208 209 210 211 212 213 214

188 189 190 191 192 193 194 195 196 197 198 199 200

172 173 174 175 176 177 178 179 180 181 182 183 184 185 186

155 156 157 158 159 160 161 162 163 164 165 166 167 168 169

139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152 153

123 124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137

105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 114 115 116 117 118 119 120

088 089 090 091 092 093 094 095 096 097 098 099 100 101 102 103

069 070 071 072 073 074 075 076 077 078 079 080 081 082 083 084 085

051 052 053 054 055 056 057 058 059 060 061 062 063 064 065 066 067 068

035 036 037 038 039 040 041 042 043 044 048

025 027 028 029 030 031 032

018 019 020 021 022

010 011 012 013 014

006 007 008 009

002 003

221

356

"82

"77

"68

"62

"57

"53

"42

"38

"33

"28

"22

"47

Legend
Taxmap Grids
R ep res en t a t io n :  C o l l et o n_ V ec t or . S D E _D A T A .S c al e

1" : 200'

1" : 400'

Highways
R ep res en t a t io n :  C o l l et o n_ V ec t or . D B O . S t an d ard

US Interstate Highway

US Highway

State Highway

Zoning Districts

RC1 - Resource Conservation 1

RC2 - Resource Conservation 2

RD1 - Rural Development 1

RD2 - Rural Development 2

RS - Suburban Residential

CC - Community Commercial

VC - Village Commercial

UD1 - Urban Development 1

UD2 - Urban Development 2

ID - Industrial

LI - Light Industrial

PDD - Planned Development District

¹

The information contained in this map is made available to the public as a service of the
Colleton County Technology Division. This information is intended for general reference
purposes only. Colleton County does not assume any liability for damages ariasing
from errors, ommisions, or use of this information. This information is offered to the public 
AS IS WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND.

Zoning Map
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
Updated on 3/25/2022

Source: ...\County GIS\Projects\Planning and Development\ZONINGMAPS_2022



036-00
@002

Ac= 129

036-00
@061

Ac= 120

025-00
@038

Ac= 113

036-00
@047

Ac= 112

036-00
@020

Ac= 233

036-00
@021

Ac= 124

025-00
@021

Ac= 99.3

024-00
@001

Ac= 222

036-00
@038

Ac= 150.5

024-00
@002

Ac= 148

035-00
@017

Ac= 134

035-00
@010
Ac= 71

036-00
@019
Ac= 76

036-00
@020

Ac= 233

036-00
@004

Ac= 105

025-00
@023
Ac= 80

025-00
@041

Ac= 83.6

035-00
@005

Ac= 106

037-00
@004

Ac= 146.9

024-00
@002

Ac= 148

035-00
@032
Ac= 50

024-00
@003

Ac= 58.4

037-00
@001

Ac= 334

025-00
@014
Ac= 38

036-00
@003
Ac= 37

035-00
@003

Ac= 100

025-00
@034

Ac= 44.6

025-00
@016

Ac= 38.2

036-00
@016

Ac= 38.6

036-00
@020

Ac= 233

036-00
@041

Ac= 65.2

036-00
@046

Ac= 42.2

036-00
@042
Ac= 32

025-00
@045

Ac= 38.6

036-00
@057

Ac= 37.9

036-00
@030

Ac= 37.4

036-00
@049

Ac= 37.4

035-00
@026

Ac= 110

036-00
@022
Ac= 99

025-00
@040

Ac= 49.9

035-00
@017

Ac= 134

035-00
@018

Ac= 53.8

035-00
@011

Ac= 25.2

036-00
@018

Ac= 36.7

025-00
@020

Ac= 176

036-00
@022
Ac= 99

036-00
@017

Ac= 32.3

036-00
@038

Ac= 150.5

035-00
@026

Ac= 110

036-00
@070

Ac= 46.3

03
5-

00
@

02
3

Ac
= 

82

025-00
@012
Ac= 21

036-00
@022
Ac= 99

035-00
@

035
Ac= 23.5

025-00
@018

Ac= 23.8

036-00
@044
Ac= 29

035-00
@002

Ac= 22.1

025-00
@024

Ac= 28.6

025-00
@013

Ac= 25.7

036-00
@004

Ac= 105

025-00
@007

Ac= 362

024-00
@001

Ac= 222

025-00
@040

Ac= 49.9

036-00
@015
Ac= 13

035-00

@
019

Ac= 5.8

026-00
@

002
Ac= 40.6

03
5-

00
@

02
6

Ac
= 

11
0

025-00

@
022

Ac= 11.5

024-00@011Ac= 9

035-00
@034

Ac= 126.4

036-00

@
014

Ac= 13.8

025-00

@
023

Ac= 80

03
6-0

5

@048

Ac=
 10.4

035-00

@
005

Ac= 106

036-00
@070

Ac= 46.3

03
6-

05
@

04
7

Ac
= 

10
.4

025-00

@019

Ac= 10.3

03
5-

00
@

03
1

Ac
= 

7.
1

036-00
@040

Ac= 17.3

054-00
@011

Ac= 208

03
6-

00
@

02
2

Ac
= 

99

02
4-

00
@

00
6

Ac
= 

7.
8

036-00

@012

Ac= 10.5

036-00

@046

Ac= 42.2

036-00@041Ac= 65.2

036-00

@045

Ac= 9

036-00

@
035

Ac= 14.3

02
5-0

0
@

043
Ac=

 7.1

03
6-0

5

@
013

Ac=
 6.4

025-00@036Ac= 6

025-00
@031Ac= 6

025-00
@011
Ac= 6

03
6-

06
@

04
0

Ac
= 

5.
7

025-00
@032
Ac= 6.1

025-00
@035
Ac= 6.1

035-00

@
021

Ac= 6.8

025-00
@037
Ac= 6.1

036-00

@
022

Ac= 99

03
6-

00
@

00
4

Ac
= 

10
5

02
5-

00
@

04
2

Ac
= 

5.
1

036-00@070Ac= 46.3

03
7-

00
@

00
4

Ac
= 

14
6.

9

025-00

@013

Ac= 25.7

036-00
@005
Ac= 5

036-00

@
035

Ac= 14.3

036-00@004
Ac= 105

025-00

@020

Ac= 176

036-00@006Ac= 4.7

036-00@018Ac= 36.7

036-05
@007

Ac= 3.6

036-00

@016

Ac= 38.6

025-0
0

@003

Ac= 234

035-00
@020
Ac= 3.9

02
4-

00
@

00
9

Ac
= 

20

036-00

@059

Ac= 3.3

02
5-0

0

@
041

Ac=
 83.6

035-00

@
033

Ac= 3.7

036-05

@
003

Ac= 3.5

037-00
@

006
Ac= 100

025-00

@007

Ac= 362

036-00

@037

Ac= 3

036-05
@

011
Ac= 1.9

036-05

@
010

Ac= 2.2

036-00

@039

Ac= 1.8

036-06

@
047

Ac= 1.5

036-0
0

@062

Ac= 1.4

SC 64W      BELLS HWY

S18      LODGE HWY

S 
75

   
   

S
AU

LS
 S

T

S
 1

8 
   

  A
S

H
TO

N
 R

D

TOBACCO RD

S
 8

2 
   

  H
IG

H
 C

O
TT

O
N

 R
D

S 
32

8 
    

 D
RY

 B
RAN

CH R
D

S 375      BACHMAN RD

S 89      MORNINGSTAR DR

S 648      M
C

C
U

N
E B

R
AN

C
H

 LN
W

O
N

D
ER

 LN

W
HIT

E O
AK L

N

S 18     
 LODGE HWY

S1
8 

   
  L

ODGE 
HW

Y

1 inch = 717 feet

Date: Wednesday, February 9, 2022

Lodge Pre Zoning MapColleton County Technology Department
31 Klein Street
Walterboro, SC 29488
(843) 782-4282
technology@colletoncounty.org

DISCLAIM ER: C ounty GIS data is  made available to the public
as  a service of the Colleton County  Technology Department.   This  
inform ation is intended for general reference purposes only. 
Colleton C ounty  does not assum e any liability for damage
aris ing from errors,  omissions or use of this  inform ation.  This
inform ation is offered to the public AS IS WITHOUT WAR RANTY
OF ANY KIND.

±

Legend
Rural_Development_2_RD2_Zone

Zone_CC



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
First Reading : April 5, 2022  I, ______________________, 
Committee Referral : N/A  Council Clerk, certify that this 
Committee Consideration Date : N/A  Ordinance was advertised for 
Committee Recommendation : N/A  Public Hearing on _________. 
Second Reading : May 3, 2022 
Public Hearing : June 7, 2022 
Third Reading : June 7, 2022 
Effective Date  : July 1, 2022  
 

ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-06 
 

 
COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY  

[To Provide for the Levy of Taxes in Colleton County, South Carolina, for the Fiscal Year 
July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 to Provide for All Other Appropriations Thereof; and to 
Provide for Other Matters Related Thereto.] 
 
 
 
 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
First Reading : April 12, 2022  I, ______________________, 
Committee Referral : N/A  Council Clerk, certify that this 
Committee Consideration Date : N/A  Ordinance was advertised for 
Committee Recommendation : N/A  Public Hearing on _________. 
Second Reading : May 3, 2022 
Public Hearing : June 7, 2022 
Third Reading : June 7, 2022 
Effective Date  : July 1, 2022  
 

ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-07 
 

 
COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY  

[To Authorize the Acquisition of Certain Real Estate and Appurtenant Interests by Colleton 
County, South Carolina by Mortgage Financing in the Amount of Not Exceeding $750,000; 
the Execution and Delivery of Certain Instruments, Including a Mortgage Note by Colleton 
County; and Other Matters Relating Thereto.] 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted : April 5, 2022 
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A    
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-13 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 

[A Resolution to Accept the Grant for the Colleton County Summer Feeding Program for 2022.] 
 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Colleton County Council deems it to be in the best interest of the County to continue its 

sponsorship/administration of the Summer Feeding Program with monitored scattered sites, delivered 
meals, in-house reporting and financial management; and 

 
2. The Summer Feeding Program is in the planning stage now to begin in June of 2022, and is projected to 

have no local match requirement. 
 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL DULY 
ASSEMBLED THAT: 
 
1. Acceptance of the SCDSS Summer Feeding Program Grant for FY22 and FY23 for operation of the 

Colleton County Summer Feeding Program under the sponsorship and administration of the County is 
hereby approved. 

 
2.  The County Administrator is hereby directed to implement the 2022 Summer Feeding Program and to 

amend the FY22 and FY23 budgets to reflect the appropriations in connection with the grant. 
 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
 
________________________   ________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
 
    COUNCIL VOTE:   
    OPPOSED: 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted :  April 5, 2022  
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A  
   
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-14 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 

[To Declare April as Fair Housing Month] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Colleton County Council desires that all its citizens be afforded the opportunity to attain a 

decent, safe, and sound living environment; and 
  
2.  Colleton County Council rejects discrimination on the basis of race, religion, color, sex, national 

origin, disability, and/or familial status in the sale, rental, or provision of other housing services; 
and 

 
3. The State of South Carolina enacted the South Carolina Fair Housing Law in 1989; and 
 
4. April is recognized nationally as Fair Housing Month. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL DULY 
ASSEMBLED THAT: 
   
The month of April is hereby designated Fair Housing Month for 2022. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    SIGNED: 
 
 
 
________________________    ________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk    Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 

COUNCIL VOTE:   
OPPOSED:   

 
 
 
 
 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted :  April 5, 2022  
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A    
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-15 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
 
[A Resolution to Approve a Policy of Non-Discrimination on the Basis of Disability Status and 
to Designate an ADA Coordinator.] 
 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Colleton County rejects discrimination on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 

or the treatment or employment in, all its programs or activities; and 
 
2. For effecting compliance with the nondiscrimination requirements contained in the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) regulations implementing Section 
504, a coordinator is designated annually by the Council. 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL DULY 
ASSEMBLED THAT: 
   
1. Colleton County Council does hereby approve a policy of non-discrimination on the basis of 

disability status in the admission or access to, or the treatment or employment in, all its 
programs or activities. 

 
2. A statement of such policy (attached and included herein by reference) with specific mention of 

federally assisted programs or activities shall be publicly disbursed. 
 
3. Further, the name and contact information of the 2022 County ADA Compliance Coordinator, 

Ms. Deadgrea Sadler, shall be included in said statement. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    SIGNED: 
 
 
________________________    __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk    Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
 

COUNCIL VOTE:   
OPPOSED:   

 



POLICY OF NONDISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS 
OF 

DISABILITY STATUS 
 
 
 
 
The Colleton County Council does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the 
admission or access to, or the treatment or employment in, its federally assisted programs 
or activities. 
 
 
 

Ms. Deadgrea Sadler 
PO Box 157 

Walterboro, SC  29488 
(843) 549-5221 

E-Mail: dsadler@colletoncounty.org 
TDD: 843-549-7144 

 
 
has been designated to coordinate compliance with the nondiscrimination requirements 
contained in the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) regulations 
implementing Section 504 (24CFR Part 8, dated June 2, 1988). 

mailto:dsadler@colletoncounty.org


Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted : April 5, 2022  
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A    
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-16 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
[A Resolution to Establish Priorities for the 2022 Annual CDBG County Needs 
Assessment.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. County Council is required to set priorities for the County in the annual CBDG needs 

assessment; and 
 
2. A Public Hearing was held at the Regular Meeting on March 1, 2022; and 
 
3. Eight areas have been identified as County priorities. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY 
COUNCIL DULY ASSEMBLED THAT:   
1. Colleton County Council hereby identifies the following areas as priorities for the 

2022 CDBG Needs Assessment: 
 

a) Public Facilities and Infrastructure - landfill recycling, boat landing upgrades, 
Walterboro and rural water and sewer implementation/upgrades and 
infrastructure, demolition in blighted areas, technology research and/or 
infrastructure, library technology upgrades, technology center expansion/ 
upgrades, and educational classroom technology 

b) Economic Development – development of speculative buildings, infrastructure, 
rail access, yards and spurs, roads, water, sewer and airport improvements 

c) Tourism and Marketing – beautification and litter control, billboard and other 
signage, video advertising. 

d) Housing – affordable housing. 
e) Public Safety – fire substations, fire training facilities, sheriff substations, and 

coronavirus preparedness, response and recovery 
f) Roads/Bridges/Drainage – road drainage improvements, dirt road 

improvements, culvert repairs 
g) Recreation – pedestrian/bike trails, and boat ramp improvements, parks 
h) Transportation – I-95 corridor, intersection improvements, exit 62/McLeod 

Road, street improvements sidewalks  
 
2. Colleton County Council has chosen to focus on the following planned actions.  It is 

anticipated that CDBG funds will be sought for the following activities: 



 
a) Public Infrastructure  
b) Economic Development  
c) Community Facilities/Enrichment. 

 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
 
 
________________________   ________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
       COUNCIL VOTE:   
       OPPOSED: 
 
 
 
 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted : April 5, 2022   
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A    
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-17 
 
COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 

[To Authorize a Five-Year Sole Source Purchasing Arrangement for Kenworth Trucks.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 

1. The Fleet Management Department is requesting the approval of a sole source 
purchasing arrangement for Kenworth Trucks; and   

 
2. Kenworth trucks have proved to be more reliable and save the County 

considerably on maintenance and repair costs over the life of the vehicle; and 
 

3. The standardization of equipment in order to ensure compatibility with existing 
equipment is of paramount importance; and 

 
4. The Fleet Management Department is seeking Council’s authorization to begin a 

five year sole source purchasing arrangement for Kenworth trucks. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY 
COUNCIL DULY ASSEMBLED THAT: 
 

1. The Colleton County Council hereby authorizes a sole source purchasing 
arrangement for Kenworth trucks by the Fleet Management department. 

 
2. Said designation shall extend for a period not to exceed five years. 

 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
 
________________________   ___________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
 
       COUNCIL VOTE:  
       OPPOSED: 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted :   April 5, 2022 
Committee Referral : N/A   
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A  
  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-18 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
[A Resolution to Award the Contract for the Resurfacing of South Carolina Department of 
Transportation Roadways and Colleton County Roadways.] 
 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. The County advertised a Request for Bids, CTC-24, for the resurfacing of SCDOT and 

Colleton County roadways within Colleton County; and 
 
2. Two companies responded to the Request for Bids, CTC-24; and 
 
3. The County evaluated the bids and certifies that procurement was handled correctly 

according to the Colleton County Purchasing Policy, and recommends the contract be 
awarded to Banks Construction Company, Inc. of North Charleston on behalf of the CTC. 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL 
DULY ASSEMBLED THAT: 
 
1. County Council hereby awards the contract on behalf of the CTC in accordance with Bid 

CTC-24 to Banks Construction Company, Inc in the amount of $2,274,000.65 for the 
resurfacing of SCDOT and Colleton County roadways. 
 

2. The County Administrator is hereby authorized to execute the contract on behalf of the 
County pending approval of same by the County Attorney. 

 
3. Funding for the County Roads Improvement Project is budgeted in the FY22 CTC Local 

Paving Fund. 
 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
 
 
_______________________   __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
    COUNCIL VOTE: 
    OPPOSED:  
 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted : April 5, 2022  
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A  
  

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-19 
 

 
COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 

 
[A Resolution to Authorize the Submittal of a Grant Application for the Bulletproof Vest 
Partnership (BVP) FY 2021 Award for the Purchase of Bulletproof Vests.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. The Sheriff’s Office as requested authorization for the submittal of a grant application to the 

Bulletproof Vest Partnership FY 2021 Grant Program in the amount of $35,671.20; and 
 
2. The Sheriff’s Office has requested approval for 50% match funding to be transferred from 

General Fund – Fund 100 Fund Balance for FY 2022 related to the application for the BVP 
FY 2021 Grant in the amount of $17,835.60 for the purchase of bulletproof vests. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL DULY 
ASSEMBLED THAT: 
   
1. County Council hereby authorizes the application to the Bulletproof Vest Partnership FY 

2021 Grant in the amount of $35,671.20 on behalf of the Sheriff’s Office for the purchase of 
bulletproof vests, and Colleton County Council authorizes the budgeting of matching funds 
to be transferred from General Fund – Fund 100 Fund Balance to the Special Revenue Fund 
– Fund 120 in the FY 2022 Budget to be used for the 50% match of $17,835.60. 

 
2. The Sheriff’s Department is responsible for preparing the grant application and for providing 

a copy of the grant application to the Finance Department. 
 
3. The Sheriff’s Department is responsible for notifying the Finance Department related to the 

award of this grant application. 
 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
 
 
__________________________   _____________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Clerk to Council   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
 
 
_____________________________  COUNCIL VOTE:  
Guerry L. “Buddy” Hill, Jr., Sheriff   OPPOSED:  



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted : April 5, 2022   
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A    
 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-20 

 
COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 

 
[To Authorize the Council Clerk to Advertise for Board Vacancies] 

 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Colleton County Resource and Development Board has one vacancy; and  

 
2. Colleton County Planning Commission has two vacancy; and 
 
3. The County Council is the appointing authority for Boards. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL DULY 
ASSEMBLED THAT: 
 
The Council Clerk is hereby directed to advertise for the vacancies. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
________________________   __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
    COUNCIL VOTE:  
    OPPOSED: 



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted : April 5, 2022 
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A    

 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-21 

 
COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 

 
[To Appoint Members to Board Vacancies.] 

 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. Colleton County Accommodations Tax Advisory Board has three vacancies (1 Lodging 

and/or Hospitality); and 
Applicant: Madison Terry  

 
2. Colleton Count Board of Assessment Appeals has one vacancy; and 

Applicant: Kelly Judy  
 
3. The County Council is the appointing authority for Boards. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL 
DULY ASSEMBLED THAT: 
 
The Council Hereby appoints the following: 
 
 
Colleton County Accommodations Tax Advisory Board: Madison Terry 
 
Colleton County Board of Assessment Appeals: Kelly Judy 
 
 
           
 
 
 
ATTEST:   SIGNED: 
 
 
________________________   __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk   Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 
       
              
    COUNCIL VOTE:  
    OPPOSED:  



Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted :  April 12, 2022 
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-22 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 

[To Declare April Child Abuse Prevention and Sexual Assault Awareness Month.] 
 
WHEREAS: 
 

1. South Carolina’s future prosperity is dependent on nurturing the healthy development of the 
1.1 million children currently residing in the diverse communities across our state; and  

 
2. Preventing child abuse, neglect, and sexual assault must be a community priority that 

requires individuals, families, child-serving organizations, schools, faith-based groups, 
businesses, government agencies, colleges, and civic leaders to support the physical, 
emotional, social and educational development and competency of all children and adults; 
and  

 
3. Child abuse and sexual assault are public health issues with serious societal consequences, as 

data shows the link between the abuse, neglect, and assault of children and adults and a wide 
range of costly medical, emotional, psychological and behavioral problems into adulthood; 
and  

 
4. One in ten children will be sexually abused before their 18th birthday, one in four women in 

their lifetime, and one in 33 men in their lifetime; and 
 

5. Parents and caregivers who have a circle of family and friends, know how to find help in 
times of need, and understand how their children grow are better equipped to take on life’s 
challenges and provide a safe, caring environment for their children; and  

 
6. Child abuse and violence prevention programs not only give individuals, families, and 

children the knowledge and resources to learn, grow, and thrive but also serve as a proven 
and effective way to reduce child abuse and neglect; and  
 

7. In 2020, Hopeful Horizons assisted a record number of women and children needing shelter 
114 women with 101 children. A total of 5,363 nights of safety were provided- average 
length of stay was 25 days; assisted 29 women and their children in moving from shelter 
housing to permanent housing; supported 78 women and their children with rent subsidies 
that helped them get back on their feet and in their own safe housing. 

 
8. In 2021, Hopeful Horizons family advocates served 384 families, 258 forensic interviews and 

50 forensic medicals.  



 
9. In 2021, Hopeful Horizon’s child therapy and services team provided services to 577 

children and teens. 
 

10. The County of Colleton, in conjunction with Hopeful Horizons and concerned citizens 
around the state, designates the month of April as Child Abuse Prevention and Sexual 
Assault Awareness Month while urging all citizens to dedicate themselves to protect the 
quality of life for every child and every adult. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL DULY 
ASSEMBLED THAT: 
 
County Council, hereby proclaims April 2022 as Child Abuse Prevention and Sexual Assault 
Awareness Month.  
 
ATTEST:    SIGNED: 
 
 
 
________________________    __________________________ 
Kaela Brinson, Council Clerk    Steven D. Murdaugh, Chairman 
 

COUNCIL VOTE:  
OPPOSED:   



{10000-108 / 00087829 / V} 

Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted :  April 12, 2022 
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-23 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 
[A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AMENDMENT OF THE AGREEMENT FOR 
DEVELOPMENT OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL PARK, BY AND BETWEEN 
CHARLESTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND COLLETON COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, PROVIDING FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A JOINTLY OWNED AND 
OPERATED INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK, SO AS TO INCLUDE ADDITIONAL 
PROPERTY IN CHARLESTON COUNTY AS PART OF THE JOINT COUNTY 
INDUSTRIAL PARK.] 
 
 WHEREAS, Charleston County, South Carolina and Colleton County, South Carolina 
(jointly the “Counties”) are authorized under Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution to jointly develop an industrial or business park within the geographical boundaries 
of one or more of the member Counties; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to promote the economic welfare of the citizens of the Counties by 
providing employment and other benefits to the citizens of the Counties, the Counties entered 
into an Agreement for Development for Joint County Industrial Park effective as of September 1, 
1995 (the “Original Agreement”), to develop jointly an industrial and business park (the “Park”), 
as provided by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and in accordance 
with Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, (the “Act”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Original Agreement was substantively amended by (i) the First 
Modification to Agreement for Development for Joint County Industrial Park, effective 
December 31, 2006 (the “First Modification”), which First Modification was approved by 
Charleston County Council Ordinance 1475, enacted December 5, 2006; and by Colleton County 
Council Ordinance 06-O-20 enacted January 2, 2007; (ii) the Second Modification to Agreement 
for Development of Joint Industrial Park, dated as of December 31, 2014 (the “Second 
Modification”), which Second Modification was approved by Charleston County Council 
Ordinance 1828, enacted on September 9, 2014, and by Colleton County Ordinance 14-O-13, 
enacted on December 11, 2014; and (iii)  the Third Modification to Agreement for Development 
of Joint Industrial Park, effective as of November 29, 2017 (the “Third Modification”), which 
Third Modification was approved by Charleston County Council Ordinance 1982, enacted on 
October 24, 2017, and by Colleton County Ordinance 17-O-08, enacted on November 7, 2017; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Original Agreement, as amended, is referred to herein as the 
“Agreement,” and 
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087829 / V} 2 

 WHEREAS, the Agreement contemplates the inclusion and removal of additional parcels 
within the Park from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Counties desire to amend the Agreement to include certain additional 
parcels in order to fulfil commitments made to companies which are considering expansion or 
location decisions;  



 

 {10000-108 / 00087829 / V} 3 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL: 
 
 SECTION 1. Colleton County hereby approves expansion of the Park premises located 
within Charleston County as set forth in the attached Exhibit A.  
 
 SECTION 2. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption by County 
Council. 
 
  
 
     COLLETON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
     By:  ________________________________ 
      Chairman, County Council of 
      Colleton County, South Carolina 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Clerk to County Council 
Colleton County, South Carolina 
 
Adopted:  ____________________, 2022 
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087829 / V} S-4 

EXHIBIT A 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 
CHARLESTON COUNTY ADDITIONAL PARCELS 

 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION FOR EACH PARCEL ADDED TO THE PARK BY THIS 
AMENDMENT AND INITIAL TAX YEAR (FOR TAXES WHICH WILL BE LEVIED ON 
PROPERTY OWNED ON DECEMBER 31 OF THE PRIOR CALENDAR YEAR). 
 
Parcels to be Added Property Description (TMS Number) Initial  

Tax Year 
Barzan Aeronautical 319-00-00-014 2021 
Grey Ghost Bakery 351-16-00-016 2021 
Ability Tri-Modal 390-00-00-001 2021 
Daye 390-00-00-451 2021 
Crosspoint VII 393-00-00-463 2021 
Argents Air Express 393-00-00-476 2021 
Carver Maritime 469-00-00-006 2021 
Beyond Distilling Company 470-01-00-005 2021 
Ray Mont 502-00-00-020 2021 
Project Thread 514-00-00-161 2021 
Omatie Software 517-00-00-245 2021 
Bourne Group 537-00-00-303 2021 
Your Crawl Space 629-00-00-305 2021 
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087829 / V} S-5 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS 
 

  
 
 
 
 



















































{10000-108 / 00087830 / V} 

 
Sponsor(s) : County Council 
Adopted :  April 12, 2022 
Committee Referral : N/A    
Committee Consideration Date : N/A    
Committee Recommendation : N/A  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-24 
 

COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY 
 

[A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AMENDMENT OF THE AGREEMENT FOR THE 
ESTABLISHMENT OF A MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK FOR 
PROPERTIES LOCATED IN A REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA, BY AND 
BETWEEN CHARLESTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND COLLETON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, PROVIDING FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A 
MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK, SO AS TO INCLUDE 
ADDITIONAL PROPERTY IN CHARLESTON COUNTY AS PART OF THE MULTI-
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK.] 
 
 WHEREAS, Charleston County, South Carolina and Colleton County, South Carolina 
(jointly the “Counties”) are authorized under Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution to jointly develop an industrial or business park within the geographical boundaries 
of one or more of the member Counties; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to promote the economic welfare of the citizens of the Counties by 
providing employment and other benefits to the citizens of the Counties, the Counties entered 
into an Agreement for the Establishment of a Multi-County Industrial/Business Park for 
Properties Located in a Redevelopment Project Area, effective as of December 6, 2016 (the 
“Agreement”), to develop jointly a multi-county industrial/business park (the “Park”), as 
provided by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and in accordance with 
Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, (the “Act”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement was initially approved by Charleston County Council 
Ordinance 1914, enacted on September 20, 2016, and by Colleton County Ordinance 16-O-08, 
enacted on December 6, 2016; and was further amended from time-to-time to add or remove 
property to or from the Park; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement contemplates the inclusion and removal of additional parcels 
within the Park from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Counties desire to amend the Agreement to include certain additional 
parcels in order to fulfil commitments made to companies which are considering expansion or 
location decisions;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COLLETON COUNTY COUNCIL: 
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087830 / V} 2 

 SECTION 1. Colleton County hereby approves expansion of the Park premises located 
within Charleston County as set forth in the attached Exhibit A.  
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087830 / V} 3 

 SECTION 2. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption by County 
Council. 
 
     COLLETON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
     By:  ________________________________ 
      Chairman, County Council of 
      Colleton County, South Carolina 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Clerk to County Council 
Colleton County, South Carolina 
 
Adopted:  ____________________, 2022 
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087830 / V} 4 

EXHIBIT A 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 
CHARLESTON COUNTY ADDITIONAL PARCELS 

 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION FOR EACH PARCEL ADDED TO THE PARK BY THIS 
AMENDMENT AND INITIAL TAX YEAR (FOR TAXES WHICH WILL BE LEVIED ON 
PROPERTY OWNED ON DECEMBER 31 OF THE PRIOR CALENDAR YEAR). 
 
 
Parcels to be Added Property Description (TMS Number) Initial  

Tax Year 
ViKor Scientific 460-00-00-034 2021 
Flagship III 461-13-01-056 2021 
Flagship III 461-13-01-057 2021 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 
 



 

 {10000-108 / 00087830 / V} 5 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS 
 

  
 
 
 
 














	4-5-22 RM
	AGENDA
	6:00 P.M.

	March 1, 2022 Virtual
	IMG-1479
	Gregory Kinsey
	Patrick Thomas
	22-O-03 Amend Title 9, Chapter 9.02 Public Nuisances Generally and Chapter 9.04 Litter
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-O-04 Amend Title 13, Chapters 13.04, 13.12, 13.16 and 13.20
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-O-05 Amend Title 14, Chapters 14.04 and 14.08
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-O-06 Title Only
	ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-06

	22-O-07 Mortgage 72 Bells Highway
	ORDINANCE NO.  22-O-07

	22-R-13 Summer Feeding 2022
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY
	WHEREAS:


	22-R-14 April Fair Housing Month
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-15 Non-Discrimination Disability Housing Policy
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY
	POLICY OF NONDISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS
	Ms. Deadgrea Sadler


	22-R-16 CDBG Needs Assessment Priorities
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY
	WHEREAS:


	22-R-17 Kenworth Sole Source
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	RESOLUTION NO. 22-R-17

	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-18 Award CTC paving bid
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-19 CCSO 2021 BPV Funding Grant Application
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-20 Boards and Commission Vacancies
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-21 Appoint Members to Board Vacancies
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-22 Declaring April Child Abuse Prevention and Sexual Assault Awareness Month
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	22-R-23 2021 MCIP. Colleton Co MCIP Resolution (00087829xA180D)
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	2021 MCIP. Colleton Co. Resolution. Property Descriptions (00096052xA180D)
	22-R-24 2021 TIF MCIP. Colleton Co. Resolution (00087830xA180D)
	Sponsor(s) : County Council
	COUNCIL-ADMINISTRATOR FORM OF GOVERNMENT FOR COLLETON COUNTY

	2021 TIF MCIP. Colleton Co. Resolution. Property Descriptions (00096051xA180D)

